ENCYCLOPEDIA OF Glass Science, Technology, History, and Culture

Glass Science, 7

Technology, History, and Culture

VOLUME

RICHET

Glass

Science, Technology, History, and Culture

VOLUME

2

RICHET

ENCYCLOPEDIA

**VOLUME 1** 

WILEY

EDITED BY

Encyclopedia of Glass Science, Technology, History, and Culture

# Encyclopedia of Glass Science, Technology, History, and Culture

Volume I

Pascal Richet Institut de Physique du Globe de Paris, Paris, France Earth and Environmental Sciences, Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität, Munich, Germany

Editorial advising

Reinhard Conradt UniglassAC GmbH, Aachen, Germany

Akira Takada University College London, London, UK Ehime University, Matsuyama, Japan

Infography

Joël Dyon Institut de Physique du Globe, Paris, France





Copyright © 2021 by The American Ceramic Society. All rights reserved. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Inc., Hoboken, New Jersey Published simultaneously in Canada.

No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted, in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, except as permitted by law. Advice on how to obtain permission to reuse material from this title is available at http://www.wiley.com/go/permissions.

The right of Pascal Richet to be identified as the editor of this work has been asserted in accordance with law.

Registered Office

John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 111 River Street, Hoboken, NJ 07030, USA

Editorial Office

111 River Street, Hoboken, NJ 07030, USA

For details of our global editorial offices, customer services, and more information about Wiley products visit us at www.wiley.com.

Wiley also publishes its books in a variety of electronic formats and by print-on-demand. Some content that appears in standard print versions of this book may not be available in other formats.

#### Limit of Liability/Disclaimer of Warranty

In view of ongoing research, equipment modifications, changes in governmental regulations, and the constant flow of information relating to the use of experimental reagents, equipment, and devices, the reader is urged to review and evaluate the information provided in the package insert or instructions for each chemical, piece of equipment, reagent, or device for, among other things, any changes in the instructions or indication of usage and for added warnings and precautions. While the publisher and authors have used their best efforts in preparing this book, they make no representations or warranties with respect to the accuracy or completeness of the contents of this work and specifically disclaim all warranties, including without limitation any implied warranties of merchantability or fitness for a particular purpose. No warranty may be created or extended by sales representatives, written sales materials or promotional statements for this work. This work is sold with the understanding that the publisher is not engaged in rendering professional services. The advice and strategies contained herein may not be suitable for your situation. You should consult with a professional where appropriate. Neither the publisher nor author shall be liable for any loss of profit or any other commercial damages, including but not limited to special, incidental, consequential, or other damages. The fact that an organization, website, or product is referred to in this work as a citation and/or potential source of further information does not mean that the publisher and authors endorse the information or services the organization, website, or product may provide or recommendations it may make. Further, readers should be aware that websites listed in this work may have changed or disappeared between when this work was written and when it is read. Neither the publisher nor authors shall be liable for any loss of profit or any other commercial damages, including but not limited to special, or other damages, including but not limi

For general information on our other products and services or for technical support, please contact our Customer Care Department within the United States at (800) 762-2974, outside the United States at (317) 572-3993 or fax (317) 572-4002.

Wiley also publishes its books in a variety of electronic formats. Some content that appears in print may not be available in electronic formats. For more information about Wiley products, visit our web site at www.wiley.com.

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication data applied for

ISBN: 978-1-118-79942-0

#### Cover Design: Wiley

Cover Images: Courtesy of S. Di Pierro, Saint-Gobain Research Paris; Christian Patzig, Fraunhofer Institute for Microstructure of Materials and Systems, Halle Germany; Dominique de Ligny, Friedrich Alexander Universität Erlangen-Nürnberg; Nicolas Villeneuve, Université de La Réunion

Set in 10/12pt Warnock by SPi Global, Pondicherry, India

 $10 \hspace{0.2cm} 9 \hspace{0.2cm} 8 \hspace{0.2cm} 7 \hspace{0.2cm} 6 \hspace{0.2cm} 5 \hspace{0.2cm} 4 \hspace{0.2cm} 3 \hspace{0.2cm} 2 \hspace{0.2cm} 1$ 

# Contents

List of Contributors xxiii Preface *xxxi* 

# Volume I

1

General Introduction 1 Pascal Richet, Reinhard Conradt and Akira Takada ۱v

- A Historical Random Walk 2
- 2 Some Basic Concepts of Glass Science 7

#### Section I. Glassmaking 23

- 1.1 Glass Production: An Overview 25
  - Reinhard Conradt
- Introduction 25 1
- 2 Industrially Manufactured Glasses 26
- Process-controlling Properties 28 3
- Glass Composition its Relevance to Glass Properties 34 4
- 5 Perspectives 36

#### Raw Materials for Glassmaking: Properties and Constraints 39 1.2 Simonpietro Di Pierro

- Introduction 39
- 1 2
- Raw-material Specifications 40
- From Raw Materials to Melt 45 3
- 4 Special Raw Materials 48
- Perspectives 50 5

#### 1.3 Fusion of Glass 53

- Reinhard Conradt
- Introduction 53 1
- 2 Overview of Industrial Processes 54
- 3 Batch Preparation 54
- The Conversion of Batch into Melt 57 4
- Fining, Refining, Homogenization 62 5
- Energetics of Glass Melting 63 6
- 7 Perspectives 64

#### Primary Fabrication of Flat Glass 67 1.4

Toru Kamihori

- Introduction 67 1
- Overview 68 2
- 3 Updraw Processes 70
- 4 Roll Out Process 71
- 5 Float Process 72
- Downdraw Processes 77 6
- 7 Perspectives 78

Fabrication of Glass Containers 81 1.5 Christian Roos Introduction 81 1 2 Principles of Glass-Container Forming 82 Glass-Container Forming Processes 84 3 Making of the Gob: Forehearth, Feeder, and Shears 87 4 IS-Forming Machine 88 5 Hot-End Handling, Hot-End Coating, and Annealing 91 6 7 Cold-End Handling and Inspection 91 8 Perspectives 92 Continuous Glass Fibers for Reinforcement 95 1.6 Hong Li and James C. Watson 1 Introduction 95 2 Commercial Glass Fibers 95 3 Manufacturing of Glass Fibers 100 Markets and Applications 106 4 Perspectives 108 5 1.7 Simulation in Glass Processes 111 Patrick J. Prescott and Bruno Purnode Introduction 111 1 2 A Brief Overview 111 3 Fundamental Phenomena, Governing Equations, and Simulation Tools 113 Simulations in Glass Manufacturing Processes: A Few Examples 117 4 5 Simulation Data Management 123 Perspectives 125 6 Section II. Structure 127 Basic Concepts of Network Glass Structure 129 2.1 Alex C. Hannon Introduction 129 1 2 The Zachariasen–Warren Random Network Model 130 3 Silica – The Archetypal Glass 131 Microcrystalline Models 133 4 5 Modifiers and Non-Bridging Oxygens 133 Intermediate-Range Order 137 6 7 Chalcogenide Glasses 138 Perspectives 139 8 Structural Probes of Glass 141 2.2 Grant S. Henderson Introduction 141 1 Diffraction (Scattering) 143 2 3 X-ray Absorption Techniques 147 4 Nuclear Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy 149 5 Vibrational Spectroscopies 151 6 Other Techniques 155 7 Perspectives 157 2.3 Microstructure Analysis of Glasses and Glass Ceramics 159 Christian Patzig and Thomas Höche Introduction 159 1 Scanning Electron Microscopy 160 2 Transmission Electron Microscopy 163 3 Scanning Probe Microscopy 168 4

- 5 X-Ray Microscopy 170
- 6 Perspectives 170

- **2.4** Short-range Structure and Order in Oxide Glasses 173 Jonathan F. Stebbins
- 1 Introduction 173
- 2 One-component Oxide Glass Formers 173
- 3 Modifying the Network: Silicates and Phosphates 175
- 4 Modifying the Network: Borates and Germanates 176
- 5 Network Cations in Aluminosilicates 177
- 6 Short-range Order and Modifier Cations 178
- 7 Interactions of Network Modifiers and Network Order/Disorder 178
- 8 Perspectives 180

# 2.5 The Extended Structure of Glass 183

George Neville Greaves

- 1 Introduction 183
- 2 Extended Structure of Glass: The Need for a Multiplicity of Techniques 185
- 3 Structural Order over Different Length Scales 187
- 4 Structural Aspects of Density Fluctuations 190
- 5 Models of Glass Structure 191
- 6 Structural Heterogeneity in Glasses *192*
- 7 Perspectives 194

# 2.6 Structure of Chemically Complex Silicate Systems 197

- Bjorn Mysen
- 1 Introduction 197
- 2 Glass and Melt Polymerization 197
- 3 Metal Oxide–SiO<sub>2</sub> Systems 199
- 4 Aluminum and Aluminate 202
- 5 Ferric and Ferrous Iron 203
- 6 Minor Components in Silicate Glasses and Melts 205
- 7 Perspectives 205
- 2.7 Topological Constraint Theory of Inorganic Glasses 207
- Prabhat K Gupta
- 1 Introduction 207
- 2 Concepts of the Topological Constraint Theory 208
- 3 Polyhedral Constraint Theory 210
- 4 The Bond Constraint Theory 212
- 5 Temperature-Dependent Constraints 214
- 6 Topological Constraint Theory, Thermodynamics, and the Potential Energy Landscape Formalism 217
- 7 Perspectives 218
- 2.8 Atomistic Simulations of Glass Structure and Properties 221
- Akira Takada
- 1 Introduction 221
- 2 Basics of Numerical Simulations 222
- 3 Monte-Carlo Simulations 224
- 4 Molecular Dynamics Simulations 225
- 5 Modeling: Simulation Techniques and Examples 226
- 6 Perspectives 230
- 2.9 First-principles Simulations of Glass-formers 233
- Walter Kob and Simona Ispas
- 1 Introduction 233
- 2 Ab Initio Simulations 234
- 3 Structural Properties 236
- 4 Vibrational Properties 238
- 5 Calculations of NMR Spectra 241
- 6 Perspectives 241

Section III. Physics of Glass 245 Glass Formation 249 3.1 Michael I. Ojovan Introduction 249 1 Glass and Relaxation 250 2 Kinetic Theory of Vitrification 250 3 The Viscosity Factor 252 4 Structural Factors 253 5 Glass-Liquid Transition 255 6 Perspectives 258 7 Thermodynamics of Glasses 261 3.2 Jean-Luc Garden and Hervé Guillou Introduction 261 1 Basics of Nonequilibrium Thermodynamics 261 2 3 Supercooled Liquids 263 4 Glass as a Nonequilibrium Substance 264 5 Nonequilibrium Thermodynamics of the Glass Transition 266 Physical Aging 269 6 Perspectives 270 7 3.3 The Glass Transition and the Entropy Crisis 273 Purushottam D. Gujrati Introduction 273 1 Important Concepts and Theories 273 2 Nonsingular Glass Phenomenology 277 3 Nonequilibrium Formulation: Brief Review 278 4 Nonequilibrium Relaxation in Internal Equilibrium 280 5 The Free Volume and the Communal Entropy 281 6 7 The Unifying Approach for Glasses 283 8 Perspectives 285 Atomic Vibrations in Glasses 287 3.4 Bernard Hehlen and Benoît Rufflé 1 Introduction 287 Atomic Vibrations in Disordered Solids 288 2 3 Vibrations and Thermal Properties 289 Inelastic Spectroscopy in Glasses 291 4 5 Vibrational Spectra 292 The Boson Peak 296 6 Perspectives 298 7 Density of Amorphous Oxides 301 3.5 Michael J. Toplis Introduction 301 1 Measuring the Density of Amorphous Oxides 302 2 Measured Density Variations 305 3 Practical Applications 309 4 Perspectives 309 5 Thermodynamic Properties of Oxide Glasses and Liquids 313 3.6 Pascal Richet and Dominique de Ligny

- 1 Introduction 313
- 2 Thermodynamic Functions 314
- 3 Low-temperature Heat Capacity and Entropy 318
- 4 High-temperature Properties 322

- 5 Reaction Thermodynamics 326
- 6 Perspectives 327
- 3.7 Structural and Stress Relaxation in Glass-Forming Liquids 331
- Ulrich Fotheringham
- 1 Introduction 331
- 2 Structural Relaxation: A Few Examples 331
- 3 Structural Relaxation 332
- 4 Shear Viscoelasticity 339
- 5 Bulk Viscoelasticity 344
- 6 Perspectives 346

# 3.8 Hyperquenched Glasses: Relaxation and Properties 349

Yuanzheng Yue

- 1 Introduction 349
- 2 Fictive Temperature and Cooling Rates 349
- 3 Sub- $T_{\rm g}$  Relaxation 351
- 4 Anomalous Relaxation 352
- 5 Modeling of Sub- $T_{g}$  Relaxation 353
- 6 Boson Peak 354
- 7 Resolving Glass Problems Via Hyperquenching-Annealing Calorimetry 354
- 8 Perspectives 357
- 3.9 Polyamorphism and Liquid–Liquid Phase Transitions 359
- Paul F. McMillan and Martin C. Wilding
- 1 Introduction 359
- 2 Liquid–Liquid Phase Transitions and Polyamorphism 359
- 3 Classic Systems Exhibiting Polyamorphism 365
- 4 Perspectives 369

# 3.10 Pressure-Induced Amorphization 371

- Paul F. McMillan, Denis Machon and Martin C. Wilding
- 1 Introduction 371
- 2 First Observation of PIA: Metastable Melting vs. Mechanical Destabilization of Ice Ih 371
- 3 SiO<sub>2</sub> and AlPO<sub>4</sub>: "Memory Glass" Effects 373
- 4 SnI<sub>4</sub> and Cu<sub>2</sub>O: Examples of Compositionally Driven Instability 373
- 5 Nanocrystalline Materials 374
- 6 Zeolites as Examples of "Perfect Glass" Formation 375
- 7 Configurational Energy Landscapes 376
- 8 Perspectives 377

# 3.11 Mechanical Properties of Inorganic Glasses 379

- Russell J. Hand
- 1 Introduction 379
- 2 The Importance of Flaws 379
- 3 Moduli and Hardness 380
- 4 Fracture Toughness and Strength 383
- 5 Flaws and Strength 385
- 6 Chemically Assisted Crack Growth Stress Corrosion 387
- 7 Improving the Practical Strength of Glass 388
- 8 Perspectives 389

# 3.12 Strengthening of Oxide Glasses 391

- K. Stefan R. Karlsson and Lothar Wondraczek
- 1 Introduction 391
- 2 Strength and Stresses *391*
- 3 Elimination of Surface Flaws 393
- 4 Thermal Strengthening 395

- Contents
  - 5 Chemical Strengthening 398
  - 6 Strengthening by Coating 401
  - 7 Perspectives 402

# **3.13 Radiation Effects in Glass** 405

- Nadège Ollier, Sylvain Girard and Sylvain Peuget
- 1 Introduction 405
- 2 Point Defects 406
- 3 Vitreous Phase Stability and Bubble Formation 408
- 4 Glass Network Evolution Under Irradiation 408
- 5 Optical Properties 409
- 6 RIA and Emission 409
- 7 Effect on Mechanical Properties 411
- 8 Mitigation of Radiation Effects 412
- 9 Perspectives 412

# **3.14 Amorphous Ices** *415*

- Robert F. Tournier
- 1 Introduction 415
- 2 Ice Phase Transitions 416
- 3 Predictions of Glass–Glass and Liquid–Liquid Transitions 418
- 4 Numerical Applications to Water 421
- 5 Supercluster Formation at the Glass Transition of Strong Liquids 426
- 6 Perspectives 426

# Section IV. Transport Properties 429

- **4.1 Viscosity of Glass-Forming Melts** 431 Joachim Deubener
- 1 Introduction 431
- 2 General Aspects and Definitions 432
- 3 Structural Aspects 433
- 4 Technological Aspects 434
- 5 Temperature Dependence of Viscosity 437
- 6 Composition Dependence 440
- 7 Dependence on Time and Strain Rate 444
- 8 Dependence on Microstructure 445
- 9 Perspectives 447

# 4.2 Ionic and Electronic Transport 453

- Jean-Louis Souquet
- 1 Introduction 453
- 2 Ionic Conductivity and Diffusion 454
- 3 Ionic Transport Mechanisms 455
- 4 Ionic Transport Above the Glass Transition: An Entropic Mechanism 458
- 5 Electronically Conductive Glasses 459
- 6 Perspectives 462

# 4.3 Diffusion in Oxide Glass-forming Systems 465

- Huaiwei Ni and Nico de Koker
- 1 Introduction 465
- 2 Physical and Chemical Description of Diffusion 465
- 3 Experimental Methods for Determining Diffusivity 467
- 4 Influence on Diffusivity of Species Properties 467
- 5 Compositional Control 470
- 6 Temperature and Pressure Effects 472
- 7 Insights from Molecular Dynamics Simulations 473
- 8 Perspectives 474

4.4 Chemical Diffusion in Multicomponent Glass-forming Systems 477

- Mathieu Roskosz and Emmanuelle Gouillart
- 1 Introduction 477
- 2 Conceptual and Experimental Approaches 478
- 3 Tracer vs. Chemical Diffusion 479
- 4 Diffusion in Multicomponent Systems 480
- 5 Available Chemical Diffusion Data 482
- 6 Perspectives 484
- 4.5 Thermal Diffusivity and Conductivity of Glasses and Melts 487
- Anne Hofmeister and Alan Whittington
- 1 Introduction 487
- 2 Theory 487
- 3 Measurement Techniques 490
- 4 Thermal Diffusivity and Conductivity Data: Key Variables 493
- 5 Perspectives 499
- 4.6 Atomistic Simulations of Transport Properties 501
  - Junko Habasaki
- 1 Introduction 501
- 2 MD Simulations: Conditions and Potentials 501
- 3 Dynamics 502
- 4 Insights into Dynamic Heterogeneities 505
- 5 Mixed Alkali Effect 508
- 6 Glass Transition and Thermodynamic Scaling 509
- 7 Perspectives 509

# Section V. Chemistry of Glass 511

- 5.1 Chemical Analyses and Characterization of Glass 515
  - Thomas Bach, Reiner Haus and Sebastian Prinz
- 1 Introduction 515
- 2 Gravimetry and Glass Digestion 517
- 3 X-Ray Fluorescence 517
- 4 Inductively Coupled Plasma Methods 518
- 5 Atomic Absorption Spectroscopy 520
- 6 Microprobe Analyses 521
- 7 Special Elements 521
- 8 Resistance to Chemical Attack 523
- 9 Analyses of Glass Defects 525
- 10 Perspectives 525
- **5.2** Phase Equilibria and Phase Diagrams in Oxide Systems 529 *Ilya Veksler*
- 1 Introduction 529
- 2 Thermodynamic Principles 530
- 3 Basic Topological Types of Binary T-x Diagrams 532
- 4 Ternary Diagrams 537
- 5 Some Phase Diagrams for Glass-Forming Systems 538
- 6 Perspectives 541
- 5.3 Thermodynamic Models of Oxide Melts 545 Giulio Ottonello
- 1 Introduction 545
- 2 General Considerations 546
- 3 Thermodynamic Models 548
- 4 First-Principles Calculations 555
- 5 Perspectives 556

5.4

1 2

3

4 5

5.5

1

2 3

4

5

5.6

1 2

3

4

5

6

5.7

1

2 3

4

5 6

7

8 5.8

1

2

3 4

5

5.9

1

2

3

4 5

6

7 8

1

2

Edgar D. Zanotto, Jürn W. P. Schmelzer and Vladimir M. Fokin Introduction 559 Crystal Nucleation and Classical Nucleation Theory 560 Basic Models of Crystal Growth in Supercooled Liquids 564 Overall Crystallization and Glass-forming Ability: The Johnson-Mehl-Avrami-Kolmogorov Approach 565 Perspectives 567 Solubility of Volatiles 571 Bjorn Mysen Introduction 571 Principles and Concepts 571 Reactive Volatiles in Silicate Glass and Melt 573 Nonreactive Volatiles in Silicate Glass and Melt 578 Perspectives 579 Redox Thermodynamics and Kinetics in Silicate Melts and Glasses 581 Reid F. Cooper Introduction 581 Oxidation/Reduction Thermodynamics 581 Oxidation/Reduction Kinetics 586 Open-System Redox Dynamics 586 Closed-System (or Internal) Redox Dynamics 593 Perspectives 595 **Optical Basicity: Theory and Application** 597 John A. Duffy Introduction: The Need for a Suitable Basicity Scale for Oxide Melts 597 Theoretical Foundation of Optical Basicity 597 Redox Equilibria in Network Melts 600 Optical Basicity and Electronic Polarizability 601 Chemical Reactions: Changes in Structure and Bonding 601 High and Low Optical-Basicity Materials 604 Optical Basicity and Electronegativity 604 Perspectives 606 The Glass Electrode and Electrode Properties of Glasses 609 Anatolii A. Belyustin and Irina S. Ivanovskaya Introduction 609 Types and Properties of Glass Electrodes 610 Glass Structure as Viewed by the Glass Electrode 612 Theories of the Glass Electrode 614 Perspectives 616 Electrochemistry of Oxide Melts 619 Christian Rüssel Introduction 619 Thermodynamics of Redox Equilibria 619 Experimental Aspects 620 Standard Potentials and Equilibrium Constants 621 Diffusion Coefficients 623 Voltammetric Sensors: Quantitative Determinations of Polyvalent Elements 624 Impedance Spectroscopy 625 Perspectives 626 5.10 Glass/Metal Interactions 629 Carine Petitjean, Pierre-Jean Panteix, Christophe Rapin, Michel Vilasi, Eric Schmucker and Renaud Podor Introduction 629 Wetting, Sticking, and Adhesion Phenomena 629

Nucleation, Growth, and Crystallization in Inorganic Glasses 559

- 3 Control of High-Temperature Chemical Interactions at the Metal/Molten Glass Interface 631
- 4 Characterization of the Glass/Metal Interaction 632
- 5 Corrosion of Metals and Alloys by Molten Glass 635
- 6 Perspectives 638

# 5.11 Durability of Commercial-type Glasses 639

- Marie-Hélène Chopinet, Hervé Montigaud, Patrice Lehuédé and Sylvie Abensour
- 1 Introduction 639
- 2 Chemical Processes and Parameters 639
- 3 Alteration as Related to Glass Composition 641
- 4 Post-Production Corrosion of Flat and Container Glass 642
- 5 Characterization Methods 644
- 6 Protection Methods 645
- 7 Perspectives 645

# 5.12 Mechanisms of Glass Corrosion by Aqueous Solutions 647

Roland Hellmann

- 1 Introduction 647
- 2 Early Models 648
- 3 Leached-layer Model 648
- 4 Coupled Interfacial Dissolution-Reprecipitation (CIDR) 652
- 5 Rates of Dissolution and Element Release 657
- 6 Perspectives 660

# Section VI. Glass and Light 663

#### 6.1 Optical Glasses 665

- Alix Clare
- 1 Introduction 665
- 2 Basic Features 666
- 3 Transmitted Light  $T_{in}$  667
- 4 Glass Properties 670
- 5 Glass Responses 671
- 6 Interaction of Optical Components with Light 673
- 7 Perspectives 674

# 6.2 The Color of Glass 677

- Georges Calas, Laurence Galoisy and Laurent Cormier
- 1 Introduction 677
- 2 Background on Color Processes 677
- 3 Crystal-Field-Driven Glass Color 681
- 4 Variation of Glass Coloration 685
- 5 Temperature Dependence of the Optical Absorption Spectra of Glasses: Thermochromism 687
- 6 Charge-Transfer Processes: From Amber Glasses to Lunar Glasses 688
- 7 Absorption by Organized Clusters and Nanophases 689
- 8 Perspectives 690

#### 6.3 Photoluminescence in Glasses 693

- Lothar Wondraczek
- 1 Introduction 693
- 2 Inelastic Light Scattering Through Photoluminescence 694
- 3 Photoluminescence and Glass Chemistry 697
- 4 Efficiency, Lifetime, and Quenching Effects 700
- 5 Applications 701
- 6 Perspectives 702

# 6.4 Optical Fibers 705

- John Ballato
- 1 Introduction 705
- 2 Optical Properties and Fiber Designs 706

# 3 Optical Fiber Glasses 711

- 4 Optical Fiber Fabrication 714
- 5 Applications 718
- 6 Perspectives 718

# 6.5 Fluoride and Chalcogenide Glasses for Mid-infrared Optics 721

- Bruno Bureau and Jacques Lucas
- 1 Introduction 721
- 2 Glass Transparency in the Infrared Region 721
- 3 Fluoride Glasses: Formation and Structure 723
- 4 Applications of Fluoride Glasses 724
- 5 Chalcogenide Glasses 726
- 6 Chalcogenide Glass Applications 730
- 7 Perspectives 732

### 6.6 Optoelectronics: Active Chalcogenide Glasses 735

- Jong Heo and Kai Xu
- 1 Introduction 735
- 2 Active Chalcogenide Glasses Doped with Rare-Earth Ions 735
- 3 Optical Fiber Amplifiers 736
- 4 Mid-Infrared Lasers 739
- 5 Chalcogenide Quantum Dots 743
- 6 Perspectives 747

#### 6.7 Modification Technologies of Glass Surfaces 751

- İlkay Sökmen, Sener Oktik and Klaus Bange
- 1 Introduction 751
- 2 Hot-End Processes in Glass Production 752
- 3 Cleaning 754
- 4 Strengthening 756
- 5 Modification of the Surface Topography 757
- 6 Structuring and Texturing 757
- 7 Applications 758
- 8 Perspectives 760

# 6.8 Thin-Film Technologies for Glass Surfaces 763

- Sener Oktik, İlkay Sökmen and Klaus Bange
- 1 Introduction 763
- 2 Deposition Techniques 764
- 3 Thin Films 766
- 4 Transparent Conducting Oxides 767
- 5 Miscellaneous Uses 772
- 6 Perspectives 772

### 6.9 Glass for Lighting 775

- Hiroki Yamazaki and Shigeru Yamamoto
- 1 Introduction 775
- 2 Glass for Incandescent and Electric Discharge Lamps 776
- 3 Glass for Solid-State Lighting 781
- 4 Perspectives 784

# 6.10 Screens and Displays 787

Kei Maeda

- 1 Introduction 787
- 2 Cathode-Ray Tubes 788
- 3 Glasses for Flat-Panel Displays 790
- 4 Liquid-Crystal Displays 793
- 5 Plasma-Display Panels 794

- 6 Organic Light-Emitting Diodes 795
- 7 Device Configuration 795
- 8 Perspectives 796

# Volume II

#### Section VII. Inorganic Glass Families 799

# 7.1 Extraterrestrial Glasses 801

- Guy Libourel
- 1 Introduction 801
- 2 Chondrules: The Oldest Glasses of the Solar System 802
- 3 The Lunar Glass-Bead Factory 805
- 4 Cosmic Spherules 808
- 5 Terrestrial Versus Extraterrestrial *810*
- 6 Perspectives *811*
- **7.2 Geological Glasses** 815
- Cristina P. De Campos and Kai-Uwe Hess
- 1 Introduction 815
- 2 Compositional Diversity of Natural Glasses 815
- 3 Fulgurites: The Petrified Lightnings 817
- 4 Impact-Related Glasses 817
- 5 The Basalt Factory 820
- 6 Siliceous Glasses 822
- 7 The Fate of Natural Glasses 825
- 8 Compositional vs. Rheological Variability 826
- 9 Perspectives 828
- 7.3 Corrosion of Natural Glasses in Seawater 831
- Roland Hellmann
- 1 Introduction 831
- 2 From Basalt Glass to Palagonite 831
- 3 Seafloor Basalt Alteration by Abiotic and Biotic Processes 832
- 4 Alteration Enhancement by Microorganism Metabolic Processes 832
- 5 Biotic Corrosion Models 833
- 6 Abiotic Corrosion Models 836
- 7 The Abiotic vs. Biotic Alteration Debate 838
- 8 Which Mechanism Controls Basalt Glass Corrosion? 839
- 9 Perspectives 840

### 7.4 Metallurgical Slags 843

- Kenneth C. Mills
- 1 Introduction 843
- 2 Basic Constraints: A Summary 844
- 3 From Composition to Reactivity 846
- 4 Slag Properties 847
- 5 Transport Properties 849
- 6 Thermodynamic Properties 853
- 7 Perspectives 854

# 7.5 Water Glass 857

- Hans Roggendorf
- 1 Introduction 857
- 2 Fabrication of Water Glass 857
- 3 Materials and Chemical Stability and Structure 859
- 4 Properties of Water Glass 863
- 5 Applications of Water Glass 863
- 6 Perspectives 864

Borosilicate Glasses 867 7.6 Randall E. Youngman Introduction 867 1 2 Borosilicate Applications 867 Vycor: A Composition-Structure Case Study 870 3 Structural Aspects 871 4 Temperature and Pressure Variations of Network Structure 874 5 Perspectives 876 6 7.7 Glass for Pharmaceutical Use 879 Daniele Zuccato and Emanuel Guadagnino Introduction 879 1 2 Glass Products and Types 879 3 Production of Pharmaceutical Glasses and Containers 880 4 Physical Resistance 882 5 Chemical Resistance 883 Surface Interactions with Pharmaceutical Products 885 6 Internal/External Treatments for Chemical/Mechanical Resistance 887 7 Perspectives 888 8 7.8 Oxynitride Glasses 891 Stuart Hampshire and Michael J. Pomeroy Introduction 891 1 Solubility of Nitrogen in Glasses 891 2 Glass Formation in M-Si-Al-O-N Systems and Its Representation 892 3 Structure of Oxynitride Glasses 893 4 Effects of Composition on Properties 895 5 Oxynitride Glass-Ceramics 898 6 Phosphorus Oxynitride Glasses 899 7 8 Lower-Temperature Preparation Methods 899 9 Perspectives 899 7.9 Phosphate Glasses 901 Andrew James Parsons Introduction 901 1 2 Structure 902 Synthesis 904 3 4 Physical Properties 906 5 Optical Properties 908 Chemical Properties 911 6 Other Applications 914 7

8 Perspectives 914

#### 7.10 Bulk Metallic Glasses 919

Dmitri V. Louzguine-Luzgin and Akihisa Inoue

- 1 Introduction 919
- 2 Glass Formation 920
- 3 Structure 923
- 4 Mechanical Properties 925
- 5 Deformation Behavior at Room Temperature 927
- 6 Magnetism: Properties and Applications 931
- 7 Other Properties and Applications 932
- 8 Perspectives 934
- 7.11 Glass-Ceramics 937
- Monique Comte
- 1 Introduction 937
- 2 History and Present Uses of Glass-Ceramics 937

- 3 Properties of Glass-Ceramics 943
- 4 Examples of Glass-Ceramics 945
- 5 Perspectives 949

### Section VIII. Organically Related Glasses 951

# 8.1 Biogenic Silica Glasses 955

- Jacques Livage and Pascal Jean Lopez
- 1 Introduction 955
- 2 A Slowly Awakening Scientific Interest 956
- 3 Biogenic Silica 958
- 4 The Low-Temperature Silica Factories 962
- 5 Biomimetism and Applications 963
- 6 Biogenic Silica in the Global Ecosystem 964
- 7 Perspectives 964

### 8.2 Sol–Gel Process and Products 969

- Rui M. Almeida and M. Clara Gonçalves
- 1 Introduction 969
- 2 Sol–Gel Processing 970
- 3 Advantages and Drawbacks of the Sol–Gel Process 974
- 4 Sol–Gel Products and Applications 974
- 5 Perspectives 978

#### 8.3 Silica Aerogels 981

- Wim J. Malfait, Jannis Wernery, Shanyu Zhao, Samuel Brunner, and Matthias M. Koebel
- 1 Introduction 981
- 2 Synthesis 982
- 3 Properties 983
- 4 Applications 986
- 5 Markets and Industrial Production 986
- 6 Silica Hybrid Aerogels, Aerogel Composites, and Non-silica Aerogels 988
- 7 Perspectives 988

# 8.4 Bioactive Glasses 991

- Delia S. Brauer and Julian R. Jones
- 1 Introduction 991
- 2 Melt-Derived Bioactive Glasses 991
- 3 Bioactive Sol–Gel Glasses 993
- 4 Degradation and Apatite Formation 994
- 5 Biological Response 996
- 6 Therapeutic Ions in Bioactive Glasses 997
- 7 Applications of Bioglasses 998
- 8 Perspectives 1001

## 8.5 Dental Glass-Ceramics 1005

- Wolfram Höland and Marcel Schweiger
- 1 Introduction 1005
- 2 History and Present Uses of Dental Glass-Ceramics 1006
- 3 Properties of Dental Glass-Ceramics 1006
- 4 Examples of Dental Glass-Ceramics 1007
- 5 Perspectives 1010

#### 8.6 Relaxation Processes in Molecular Liquids 1013

- Thomas Blochowicz, Ernst A. Rössler and Michael Vogel
- 1 Introduction 1013
- 2 From the Boiling Point Down to the Glass Transition 1015
- 3 Binary Glass-Forming Liquids 1021
- 4 Secondary Relaxations 1024

xviii	Contents

- 5 Plastic and Glassy Crystals 1026
- 6 Perspectives 1027
- 8.7 Physics of Polymer Glasses 1031 Jean-Pierre Cohen-Addad
- 1 Introduction 1031
- 2 Polymeric Chains 1032
- 3 Polymeric Liquids 1033
- 4 Polymer Transformations *1036*
- 5 Glass Transitions and Aging 1036
- 6 Polymer Products 1039
- 7 Perspectives 1040
- 8.8 Introduction to Polymer Chemistry 1043 Oliver Weichold
- 1 Introduction 1043
- 2 Polymer Synthesis *1045*
- 3 Polymerization Processes 1050
- 4 The Solid State 1052
- 5 Perspectives 1054

#### 8.9 Hybrid Inorganic–Organic Polymers 1057 Karl-Heinz Haas and Gerhard Schottner

- 1 Introduction 1057
- 2 Sol–Gel for Hybrid Materials 1057
- 3 Coatings *1061*
- 4 Particles 1065
- 5 Bulk Materials, Fibers, and Composites 1065
- 6 Perspectives 1066

# Section IX. Environmental and Other Issues 1069

# 9.1 Structural Glass in Architecture 1071

- Freek Bos and Christian Louter
- 1 Introduction 1071
- 2 Scheme Design 1071
- 3 Float-Glass Processing for Structural Applications 1074
- 4 Design and Detailing *1077*
- 5 Connections 1079
- 6 Perspectives 1083
- 9.2 Tempered and Laminated Glazing for Cars 1091 René Gv
- 1 Introduction 1091
- 2 A Brief History from the Early Twentieth Century to Today's Huge Market *1091*
- 3 Glazing Functions 1092
- 4 Manufacturing 1097
- 5 Perspectives 1101

#### 9.3 Stone and Glass Wool 1103

- Yuanzheng Yue and Mette Solvang
- 1 Introduction 1103
- 2 Classification of Man-Made Vitreous Wool 1104
- 3 Fiber Spinning Technologies 1104
- 4 Melt Viscosity and Fiber Spinnability *1106*
- 5 Physical Properties of Stone and Glass Wool 1108
- 6 Biopersistence and Biodurability 1110
- 7 Perspectives 1111

9.4 Glasses for Solar-energy Technologies 1113 Joachim Deubener and Gundula Helsch Introduction 1113 1 2 The Energy Problem 1113 Solar Electricity 1114 3 Solar Heat 1117 4 Solar Fuels 1120 5 6 Solar Water Treatments 1121 7 Perspectives 1122 Sulfide-glass Electrolytes for All-solid-state Batteries 1125 9.5 Akitoshi Hayashi and Masahiro Tatsumisago 1 Introduction 1125 2 Classification of All-solid-state Batteries 1126 3 Sulfide Glasses 1127 4 Sulfide Glasses as Solid Electrolytes 1128 Bulk-type Batteries with Sulfide Electrolytes 1130 5 Interfacial Design 1131 6 7 Perspectives 1133 9.6 The World of the Flat-glass Industry: Key Milestones, Current Status, and Future Trends 1135 Bernard J. Savaëte Introduction 1135 1 A Short Overview: Processes and Products 1135 2 3 The Float-glass World 1139 4 Perspectives 1145 Design and Operation of Glass Furnaces 1147 9.7 Christoph Jatzwauk 1 Introduction 1147 2 The Furnace Families 1148 3 Melter 1152 4 Heat Management 1155 5 Furnace Design 1159 NO<sub>x</sub> Emissions 1161 6 7 Perspectives 1162 9.8 Physics and Modeling of Glass Furnaces 1165 Reinhard Conradt and Erik Muijsenberg Introduction 1165 1 2 Furnace Parameters 1166 3 The Physics of Glass Furnaces 1166 Modeling of Glass Furnaces 1173 4 5 Perspectives 1176 9.9 Glass Cullet: Sources, Uses, and Environmental Benefits 1179 Nicola Favaro and Stefano Ceola Introduction 1179 1 Basic Features of Cullet 1180 2 3 Glass Recycling 1182 4 Separation Technologies 1184 5 Miscellaneous 1186 Environmental Aspects 1187 6 7 Perspectives 1188 9.10 Immobilization of Municipal and Industrial Waste 1191 Soraya Heuss-Aßbichler and Athanasius P. Bayuseno

1 Introduction *1191* 

#### xx Contents

- 2 Municipal Solid Waste Incineration Residues 1192
- 3 Environmental Impact of MSWI Residues 1199
- 4 Special Residues *1201*
- 5 Perspectives 1203

# 9.11 Nuclear Waste Vitrification 1205

- Olivier Pinet, Etienne Vernaz, Christian Ladirat, and Stéphane Gin
- 1 Introduction 1205
- 2 History of Nuclear Waste Vitrification 1205
- 3 Nuclear Glasses 1206
- 4 Long-Term Stability of Nuclear Glass 1209
- 5 Industrial Implementation of Nuclear Waste Vitrification 1213
- 6 Perspectives 1217
- 9.12 The International Commission on Glass (ICG) 1219

John M. Parker

- 1 Introduction: Origins of ICG and Founding Members 1219
- 2 ICG as an Organization 1219
- 3 The ICG Committees 1222
- 4 Public Activities *1223*
- 5 Perspectives 1228

# Section X. History 1231

- 10.1 Obsidian in Prehistory 1237
  - Robert H. Tykot
- 1 Introduction 1237
- 2 Geological Formation, Properties, and Sources 1238
- 3 Obsidian Use in Prehistory 1238
- 4 Obsidian Studies 1240
- 5 Provenance Analysis Methods 1241
- 6 The Issue of Obsidian Sources: The European Region *1243*
- 7 Obsidian Artifacts Studied in the Western Mediterranean 1243
- 8 Obsidian Trade and Socioeconomic Systems 1245
- 9 Conclusions and Closing Perspectives 1247

# 10.2 Ancient Glass, Late Bronze Age 1249

- Andrew J. Shortland and Patrick Degryse
- 1 Introduction 1249
- 2 Early Glass: From Faience to Glassmaking 1250
- 3 Chemical Composition: The Analytical Standpoint 1251
- 4 Material Sources 1254
- 5 The Issue of Provenance 1255
- 6 The Isotopic Clues 1256
- 7 Perspectives 1258

# **10.3 Roman Glass** 1261

- lan C. Freestone
- 1 Introduction 1261
- 2 Glass Synthesis 1261
- 3 Provenance and Location of Glassmaking 1263
- 4 Color Generation and Control 1265
- 5 Secondary Production and Consumption *1267*
- 6 Recycling, Shifts in Production, and Decline 1269
- 7 Perspectives 1270
- **10.4** Glass and the Philosophy of Matter in Antiquity *1273 Marco Beretta*
- 1 Introduction 1273
- 2 Near Eastern Views on Glass 1273

- 3 The Glass of the Greek Philosophers 1275
- 4 Glass and Alchemy 1276
- 5 The Byzantine Connection 1280
- 6 Perspectives 1282

# 10.5 Ancient Glassworking 1285

- E. Marianne Stern
- 1 Introduction 1285
- 2 Basic Features of Glass Shaping 1286
- 3 Early Shaping Methods 1288
- 4 The Slow Blowing Revolution 1295
- 5 Decoration 1297
- 6 Special Techniques *1299*
- 7 Secondary Glassworking 1302
- 8 A Short Retrospective Overview 1304
- 9 Perspectives 1305

# 10.6 Glazes and Enamels 1309

- Philippe Colomban
- 1 Introduction 1309
- 2 Preparation and Thermal Constraints 1311
- 3 Composition and Microstructure *1312*
- 4 Coloration 1316
- 5 Enamels 1320
- 6 Glazes 1322
- 7 Perspectives 1324

# **10.7 Venetian Glass** *1327*

- Marco Verità
- 1 Introduction 1327
- 2 Raw Materials and Glassmaking 1328
- 3 The Origins of Venetian Glass 1329
- 4 Venetian Renaissance Glass 1331
- 5 Façon de Venise Glass and Competition 1337
- 6 Other Italian Glassmaking Traditions *1337*
- 7 Perspectives 1338

# 10.8 Stained Glass Windows 1341

# John M. Parker and David Martlew

- 1 Introduction 1341
- 2 Making Glass Sheets 1342
- 3 Social Context 1346
- 4 Glass Decoration 1348
- 5 Leading 1352
- 6 Later Trends: Nineteenth to Twentieth Century 1354
- 7 Conservation 1356
- 8 Perspectives 1357

# 10.9 Furnaces and Glassmaking Processes: From Ancient Tradition to Modernity 1361

- Marie-Hélène Chopinet and Pascal Richet
- 1 Introduction 1361
- 2 The Written Sources 1362
- 3 Furnaces 1364
- 4 Plate Glass *1372*
- 5 Container Glass 1375
- 6 Perspectives 1381
- 10.10 Glass, the Wonder Maker of Science 1387
- Pascal Richet
- 1 Introduction 1387

xxii Contents

- 2 The Source of Optics 1388
- 3 The Enabler of Chemistry 1395
- 4 Hotness and Air Weight Measured 1399
- 5 From Electrostatics to Subatomic Physics 1404
- 6 Perspectives 1408

# 10.11 A History of Glass Science 1413

- Pascal Richet
- 1 Introduction 1413
- 2 Glass: An Impossible Definition? 1414
- 3 The Origins 1415
- 4 The Early Modern Period (Sixteenth to Eighteenth Centuries) 1418
- 5 The Chemical Revolution 1420
- 6 The Crystal Connection 1421
- 7 The Multiple Roots of Glass Science 1423
- 8 Perspectives 1433

# **10.12 Glass Museums** 1441

- Dedo von Kerssenbrock-Krosigk
- 1 Introduction 1441
- 2 The Invention of the Glass Museum 1442
- 3 Glass Museums 1443
- 4 Types of Glass Collections *1443*
- 5 The Corning Museum of Glass 1450
- 6 Glass Museums: Purpose and Concerns 1451
- 7 Perspectives 1452
- **11.1 Postface A Personal Retrospective** 1457 C. Austen Angell

Subject Index 1463 Name Index 1489

# List of Contributors

#### Functions and affiliations at the time of publication of the Encyclopedia

#### Abensour, Sylvie

Analytical Chemistry Group Manager Expertise Department on Crystalline and Composite Materials, Saint-Gobain Research Paris 39 Quai Lucien Lefranc, 93300 Aubervilliers, France – 5.11: Durability of Commercial-type Glasses.

#### Almeida, Rui M.

Catedrático, Departamento de Engenharia Química, CQE Instituto Superior Técnico Universidade de Lisboa Av. Rovisco Pais 1049-001 Lisboa, Portugal – 8.2: Sol-gel Processes and Products.

#### Angell, C. Austen

Regent's Professor, School of Molecular Sciences Arizona State University Tempe, AZ 85287-1604, USA – 11.1: Postface – A Personal Retrospective.

#### Bach, Thomas

Head of Laboratory, Dorfner Analysenzentrum und Anlagenplanungsgesellschaft mbH (ANZAPLAN) Scharhof 1, 92242 Hirschau, Germany – 5.1: Chemical Analyses and Characterization of Glass.

#### Ballato, John, J. E.

Sirrine Endowed Chair in Optical Fiber, and Professor Department of Materials Science and Engineering and the Center for Optical Materials Science and Engineering Technologies (COMSET) Clemson University, Clemson SC 29631, USA

– 6.4: Optical Fibers.

#### Bange, Klaus

Consultant, MK Consulting GmbH, Burgunderstr. 8, 55270 Jugenheim, Germany – 6.7: Modification Technologies of Glass Surfaces;

6.8: Thin-Film Technologies for Glass Surfaces.

#### Bayuseno, Athanasius P.

Professor, Centre for the Waste Management Department of Mechanical Engineering Diponegoro University, Tembalang Campus Semarang 50275, Indonesia

- 9.10: Immobilization of Municipal and Industrial Waste.

#### Belyustin, Anatolii A. (deceased)

Former Professor of Physical Chemistry, Chemistry Institute c/o Saint Petersburg State University Physical Chemistry Department, Saint Petersburg State University, Universitetskii prospect, 26, Petrodvorets 198504 Saint Petersburg, Russia

– 5.8: The Glass Electrode and Electrode Properties of Glasses.

#### Beretta, Marco

Professor of History of Science Dipartimento di Filosofia e Comunicazione Università di Bologna, via Zamboni 38, 40126 Bologna, Italy – 10.4: Glass and the Philosophy of Matter in Antiquity.

#### Blochowicz, Thomas

Privatdozent, Institut für Festkörperphysik Technische Universität Darmstadt, Hochschulstraße 6-8 64289 Darmstadt, Germany – 8.6: Relaxation Processes in Molecular Liquids.

#### Bos, Freek

Assistant Professor Concrete Structures Unit Structural Design, Department of the Built Environment, Eindhoven University of Technology (TU/e), PO Box 513, 5600 MB Eindhoven The Netherlands – 9.1: Structural Glass in Architecture.

#### Brauer, Delia S.

Professor for Bioactive Glasses Otto Schott Institute of Materials Research Friedrich Schiller University Jena Fraunhoferstr. 6, 07743 Jena, Germany – 8.4: Bioactive Glasses.

#### Brunner, Samuel

Research Scientist, Laboratory for Building Energy Materials and Components, EMPA Überlandstrasse 129, 8600 Dübendorf Switzerland – 8.3: Silica Aerogels.

#### Bureau, Bruno

Professor, Université de Rennes I, Verres et Céramiques Institut des Sciences Chimiques, UMR-CNRS 6226 35700 Rennes, France – 6.5: Fluoride and Chalcogenide Glasses for Mid-infrared Optics.

#### xxiv List of Contributors

#### Calas, Georges

Professor, Institut de Mineralogie, de Physique des Matériaux et de Cosmochimie, Sorbonne Université UMR CNRS 7590, Muséum National d'Histoire Naturelle, IRD, 4 Place Jussieu 75005 Paris, France – 6.2: The Color of Glass.

#### Ceola, Stefano

Researcher, Stazione Sperimentale del Vetro Via Briati 10, 30141 Venice, Italy – 9.9: Glass Cullet: Sources, Uses, and Environmental Benefits.

#### Chopinet, Marie-Hélène

Former Senior Research Engineer Saint-Gobain Research Paris, 90 rue Duhesme 75018 Paris, France – 5.11: Durability of Commercial-type Glasses; 10.9: Furnaces and Glassmaking Processes: From Ancient Tradition to Modernity.

#### Clare, Alix

Professor, Kazuo Inamori School of Engineering Alfred University, Alfred, NY 14802, USA – 6.1: Optical Glasses. Cohen-Addad, Jean-Pierre (deceased) Former Professor, Laboratoire LiPhy Université J. Fourier, Grenoble 38402 Saint-Martin d'Hères, France – 8.7: Physics of Polymer Glasses.

#### Colomban, Philippe

Emeritus Research Director, CNRS Laboratory "From Molecule to Nano-object: Reactivity, Interaction & Spectroscopies," Sorbonne Universités, 4 place Jussieu, 75252 Paris Cedex 05, France – 10.6: Glazes and Enamels.

#### Comte, Monique

Research Engineer, Advanced Materials Research Group, Corning European Technology Center Corning SAS, 77210 Avon, France – 7.11: Glass-Ceramics.

#### Conradt, Reinhard

Uniglass AC GmbH, Nizzaallee 75 52072 Aachen, Germany, President Deutsche Glastechnische Gesellschaft Former Professor of Glass and Ceramic Composites RWTH Aachen University, Aachen 52072, Germany – General Introduction; 1.1: Glass Production: An Overview; 1.3: Fusion of Glass; 9.8: Physics and Modeling of Glass Furnaces.

#### Cooper, Reid F.

Professor, Department of Earth, Environmental and Planetary Sciences, Brown University, Box 1946, Providence RI 02912, USA – 5.6: Redox Thermodynamics and Kinetics in Silicate Melts and Glasses.

#### Cormier, Laurent

Research Director, Institut de Mineralogie de Physique des Matériaux et de Cosmochimie Sorbonne Université, UMR CNRS 7590, Muséum National d'Histoire Naturelle, IRD, 4 Place Jussieu 75005 Paris, France – 6.2: The Color of Glass. de Campos, Cristina P., Visiting Professor Earth and Environmental Sciences Ludwig-Maximillians-Universität LMU Theresienstr. 41/III Munich 80333, Germany – 7.2: Geological Glasses.

#### Degryse, Patrick

Professor, Department of Earth and Environmental Sciences – Geology, Center for Archaeological Sciences KU Leuven, Celestijnenlaan 200E Box 2408, BE-3001, Leuven Belgium and Faculty of Archaeology Universiteit Leiden, Leiden the Netherlands

- 10.2: Ancient Glass Late Bronze Age.

#### de Koker, Nico

Research Fellow, Department of Civil Engineering University of Stellenbosch, 7600, South Africa – 4.3: Diffusion in Oxide Glass-forming Systems.

#### de Ligny, Dominique

Chair of Glass and Ceramics Department of Materials Science and Engineering Friedrich Alexander Universität Erlangen-Nürnberg Martensstr. 5, 91058 Erlangen, Germany – 3.6: Thermodynamic Properties of Oxide Glasses and Liquids.

#### Deubener, Joachim

Professor of Glass Science and Engineering Institute of Non-Metallic Materials Clausthal University of Technology 38678 Clausthal-Zellerfeld, Germany – 4.1: Viscosity of Glass-forming Melts; 9.4: Glass for Solar-energy Technologies.

#### Di Pierro, Simonpietro

Director, Expertise Department on Crystalline and Composite Materials, Saint-Gobain Research Paris 39 Quai Lucien Lefranc 93300 Aubervilliers, France – 1.2: Raw Materials for Glass Making: Properties and Constraints.

#### Duffy, John A. (deceased)

Former Emeritus Professor of Chemistry University of Aberdeen, Old Aberdeen AB24 3UE Scotland, UK – 5.7: Optical Basicity: Theory and Application.

#### Dyon, Joël

Designer and Project Manager Institut de Physique du Globe de Paris 1 rue Jussieu, 75005 Paris, France.

# Favaro, Nicola

Laboratory Director, Stazione Sperimentale del Vetro Via Briati 10, 30141 Venice, Italy – 9.9: Glass Cullet: Sources Uses, and Environmental Benefits.

#### Fokin, Vladimir M.

Senior Research Fellow Vavilov State Optical Institute ul. Babushkina 36-1, 193 171 Saint Petersburg, Russia – 5.4: Nucleation, Growth, and Crystallization in Inorganic Glasses.

#### Fotheringham, Ulrich

Senior Principal Scientist Central Research and Technology Development Schott AG, 55014 Mainz, Germany – 3.7: Structural Shear, and Stress Relaxation in Glass-forming Liquids.

### Freestone, Ian, C.

Professor, Institute of Archaeology, University College London 31–34 Gordon Square, London WC1H 0PY, UK – 10.3: Roman Glass.

#### Galoisy, Laurence

Maître de conférences, Institut de Mineralogie de Physique des Matériaux et de Cosmochimie Sorbonne Université, UMR CNRS 7590 Muséum National d'Histoire Naturelle, IRD 4 Place Jussieu, 75005 Paris, France – 6.2: The Color of Glass.

#### Garden, Jean-Luc

R&D Engineer, CNRS, Institut Néel and Université de GrenobleAlpes, F-38042 Grenoble, France- 3.2: Thermodynamics of Glasses.

#### Gin, Stéphane

Research Director, CEA DEN/DTCD Marcoule 30207 Bagnols sur Cèze, France – 9.11: Nuclear Waste Vitrification.

#### Girard, Sylvain

Professor, Laboratoire Hubert Curien, Univ Lyon UJM Saint-Etienne, CNRS, IOGS, UMR 5516 18 rue du professuer Benoît Lauras 42000 Saint-Etienne, France – 3.13: Radiation Effects in Glass.

#### Gonçalves, M. Clara

Professora auxiliar, Departamento de Engenharia Química, CQE, Instituto Superior Técnico Universidade de Lisboa Av. Rovisco Pais 1049-001 Lisboa, Portugal – 8.2: Sol-gel Processes and Products.

#### Gouillart, Emmanuelle

Director, CNRS-Saint-Gobain Laboratory of Glass Surface and Interfaces, Saint-Gobain Research Paris 39 quai Lucien Lefranc, 93303 Aubervilliers cédex, France – 4.4: Chemical Diffusion in Multicomponent Glass-forming Systems.

#### Greaves, Neville G. (deceased)

Distinguished Research Fellow Department of Materials Science and Metallurgy University of Cambridge, Cambridge CB3 0FS, UK – 2.5: The Extended Structure of Glass.

#### Guadagnino, Emanuel

European Pharmacopeia Expert, Italian Delegate via Paolo Erizzo 20, Venezia (Ve) 30126, Italy – 7.7: Glass for Phamaceutical Use.

#### Guillou, Hervé

Maître de conférences, CNRS Institut Néel and Université de Grenoble Alpes 38042 Grenoble, France – 3.2: Thermodynamics of Glasses.

#### Gujrati, Purushottam D.

Professor, Department of Physics Department of Polymer Science The University of Akron, Akron OH 44325, USA – 3.3: The Glass Transition and the Entropy Crisis.

#### Gupta, Prabhat K.

Emeritus Professor, Department of Materials Science and Engineering The Ohio State University, Columbus OH 43235, USA – 2.7: Topological Constraint Theory of Inorganic Glasses.

#### Gy, René

Department Manager, Thermomechanics & Modelling Saint-Gobain Research Paris, 39 Quai Lucien Lefranc 93302 Aubervilliers, France – 9.2: Tempered and Laminated Glazing for Cars.

#### Haas, Karl-Heinz

Research Scientist, Fraunhofer-Institut für Silicatforschung, Neunerplatz 2, D-97082 Wuerzburg Germany – 8.9: Hybrid Inorganic–Organic Polymers.

#### Habasaki, Junko

Assistant Professor, School of Materials and Chemical Technology, Tokyo Institute of Technology 4259 Nagatsuta-chi, Yokohama, Kanagawa 226-8502 Japan – 4.6: Atomistic Simulations of Transport Properties.

#### Hampshire, Stuart

Emeritus Professor of Materials Science Materials and Surface Science Institute University of Limerick, Limerick V94 T19PX, Ireland – 7.8: Oxynitride Glasses.

# Hand, Russell J.

Professor of Glass Science & Engineering Department of Materials Science & Engineering University of Sheffield, Sir Robert Hadfield Building Mappin Street, Sheffield S1 3JD, UK – 3.11: Mechanical Properties of Inorganic Glasses.

# Hannon, Alex C.

Research Scientist, ISIS Facility R3, Rutherford Appleton Laboratory Chilton, Didcot, Oxon OX11 0QX, UK – 2.1: Basic Concepts of Network Glass Structure.

#### Haus, Reiner

Managing Director, Dorfner Analysenzentrum und Anlagenplanungsgesellschaft mbH (ANZAPLAN), Scharhof 1, 92242 Hirschau, Germany

- 5.1: Chemical Analyses and Characterization of Glass.

#### xxvi List of Contributors

#### Hayashi, Akitoshi

Professor, Department of Applied Chemistry Faculty of Engineering, Osaka Prefecture University 1-1 Gakuen-cho, Naka-ku, Sakai Osaka 599-8531, Japan – 9.5: Sulfide Glass Electrolytes for All-solid-state Batteries.

#### Hehlen, Bernard

Professor, Laboratoire Charles Coulomb, UMR 5221 CNRS, Université de Montpellier, 34095 Montpellier, France – 3.4: Atomic Vibrations in Glasses.

#### Hellmann, Roland

Senior Scientist, ISTerre- Geochemistry Group CNRS, Université Grenoble Alpes 38058 Grenoble Cedex 9, France – 5.12: Mechanisms of Glass Corrosion by Aqueous Solutions; 7.3: Corrosion of Natural Glasses in Seawater.

#### Helsch, Gundula

Senior Scientist, Institute of Non-Metallic Materials, Clausthal University of Technology Zehnterstraße 2a, 38678 Clausthal-Zellerfeld, Germany – 9.4: Glass for Solar-energy Technologies.

#### Henderson, Grant S.

Professor, Department of Earth Sciences, University of Toronto 22 Russell St., Toronto, Ontario M5S 3B1, Canada – 2.2: Structural Probes of Glass.

#### Heo, Jong

Professor, Department of Materials Science and Engineering Pohang University of Science and Technology (POSTECH), Gyeongbuk 790784, Republic of Korea

- 6.6: Optoelectronics: Active Chalcogenide Glasses.

#### Hess, Kai-Uwe

Academic Staff, Department for Earth and Environmental Science, Ludwig-Maximilians Universität München, Theresienstr. 41/III, 80333 Munich, Germany – 7.2: Geological Glasses.

#### Heuss-Aßbichler, Soraya

Professor, Section of Mineralogy Petrology and Geochemistry Department for Earth and Environmental Science Ludwig-Maximilians Universität München Theresienstr. 41/III, 80333 Munich, Germany – 9.10: Immobilization of Municipal and Industrial Waste.

#### Höche, Thomas

Head of the Optical Materials and Technologies Department, Fraunhofer Institute for Microstructure of Materials and Systems IMWS

Walter-Huelse-Strasse 1, D-06120 Halle (Saale), Germany

- 2.3: Microstructure Analysis of Glasses and Glass Ceramics.

#### Hofmeister, Anne

Research Professor, Department of Earth and Planetary Sciences Washington University, St. Louis, MO 63130, USA

- 4.5: Thermal Diffusivity and Conductivity of Glasses and Melts.

#### Höland, Wolfram

Former Head of Fundamental Research on Glass and Ceramics, Ivoclar Vivadent AG, R&D, Bendererstr. 2, 9494 Schaan, Principality of Liechtenstein – 8.5: Dental Glass Ceramics.

#### Inoue, Akihisa

Professor, International Institute of Green Materials, Josai International University, Togane 283-8555, Japan; School of Materials Science and Engineering Tianjin University, Tianjin 300072, China; Department of Physics, King Abdulaziz University, Jeddah 22254, Saudi Arabia; National University of Science and Technology (MISIS), Leninsky prosp. 4 Moscow 119049, Russia – 7.10: Bulk Metallic Glasses.

#### Ispas, Simona

Maître de conférences, Laboratoire Charles Coulomb Université de Montpellier, CNRS, 34095 Montpellier France – 2.9: First-principles Simulations of Glass Formers.

#### Ivanovskaya, Irina, S.

Former Senior Researcher, Chemistry Institute c/o Saint Petersburg State University Physical Chemistry Department, Saint Petersburg State University Universitetskii prospect, 26, Petrodvorets 198504 Saint Petersburg, Russia – 5.8: The Glass Electrode and Electrode Properties of Glasses.

#### Jatzwauk, Christoph

Managing Director F.I.C. Germany GmbH Eichenstraße 51, 92637 Weiden, Germany – 9.7: Design and Operation of Glass Furnaces.

#### Jones, Julian R.

Professor of Biomaterials, Department of Materials, Imperial College London, Exhibition Road, London SW7 2AZ, UK – 8.4: Bioactive Glasses.

# Kamihori, Toru

Deputy General Manager, Director, Glass Process Division, AGC Inc., Innovative Technology Laboratories Technology General Division, 1-1 Suehiro-cho Tsurumi-ku, Yokohama-shi Kanagawa 230-0045, Japan – 1.4: Primary Fabrication of Flat Glass.

#### Karlsson, K. Stefan R.

Senior Scientist, RISE Glass (Former Glafo) Division of Built Environment, RISE Research Institutes of Sweden, SE-351 96 Växjö, Sweden – 3.12: Strengthening of Oxide Glasses.

#### Kob, Walter

Professor, Laboratoire Charles Coulomb, Université de Montpellier CNRS, 34095 Montpellier, France – 2.9: First-principles Simulations of Glass Formers.

# Koebel, Mathias M.

Head, Laboratory for Building Energy Materials and Components,
EMPA, Überlandstrasse 129
8600 Dübendorf, Switzerland
- 8.3: Silica Aerogels.

#### Ladirat, Christian

Deputy Manager of Waste Containment and Vitrification Service, Commissariat à l'Énergie Atomique DEN/DTCD Marcoule, 30207 Bagnols sur Cèze, France – 9.11: Nuclear Waste Vitrification.

#### Lehuédé, Patrice

Free Researcher, Centre de Recherche et Restauration des Musées de France, 14, quai François Mitterrand
75001 Paris, France
- 5.11: Durability of Commercial-type Glasses.

#### Li, Hong

Senior Scientist, Nippon Electric Glass US, Fiber Glass Science & Technology, PPG Industries, 940 Washburn Switch Rd., Shelby, NC 28150-9089, USA

- 1.6: Continuous Glass Fibers for Reinforcement.

#### Libourel, Guy

Professor, Université Côte d'Azur, Observatoire de la Côte d'Azur CNRS, UMR 7293 Lagrange, Boulevard de l'Observatoire CS34229, 06304 Nice Cedex 4, France – 7.1: Extraterrestrial Glasses.

#### Livage, Jacques

Emeritus Professor, Collège de France and French Academy of Sciences

Laboratoire de Chimie de la Matière Condensée de Paris CNRS, UMR-7574, 4 place Jussieu, 75252 Paris Cedex 05 France

- 8.1: Biogenic Silica Glasses.

#### Lopez, Pascal Jean

Research Director and Director of the Observatoire Hommes-Milieux Port Caraïbe, Biologie des Organismes Aquatiques et Écosystèmes (BOREA), UMR CNRS 7208

Muséum National d'Histoire Naturelle, Sorbonne Université; IRD-207 Université Caen Normandie; and Université des Antilles, 75005 Paris, France

- 8.1: Biogenic Silica Glasses.

#### Louter, Christian

Professor of Building Construction Institute of Building Construction Faculty of Civil Engineering Technische Universität Dresden 01062 Dresden, Germany – 9.1: Structural Glass in Architecture.

#### Louzguine-Luzgin, Dmitri V.

Professor, Principal Investigator, Laboratory Director, WPI Advanced Institute for Materials Research and AIST-Tohoku Mathematics for Advanced Materials – Open Innovation Laboratory, Tohoku University Aoba-Ku, Sendai 980-8577, Japan – 7.10: Bulk Metallic Glasses.

#### Lucas, Jacques

Emeritus Professor, French Academy of Sciences, Université de Rennes I

Verres et Céramiques, Institut des Sciences Chimiques UMR-CNRS 6226, 35700 Rennes, France

- 6.5: Fluoride and Chalcogenide Glasses for Mid-infrared Optics.

#### Machon, Denis

Maître de conférences, Institut Lumière Matière Université Claude Bernard Lyon 1, 10 rue Ada Byron 69622 Villeurbanne Cedex, France – 3.10: Pressure-Induced Amorphization.

#### McMillan, Paul F.

Sir William Ramsay Professor of Chemistry Christopher Ingold Laboratory, Department of Chemistry, University College London, 20 Gordon Street London WC1H 0AJ, UK – 3.9: Polyamorphism and Liquid–Liquid Phase Transitions; 3.10: Pressure-Induced Amorphization.

#### Maeda, Kei

Fellow, Asahi Glass Company Inc. Research Center, 1150 Hazawa-cho, Kanagawaku Yokohama 221-8755, Japan – 6.10: Screens and Displays.

## Malfait, Wim J.

Group Leader Superinsulation Materials, Laboratory for Building Energy Materials and Components, EMPA Überlandstrasse 129, 8600 Dübendorf, Switzerland – 8.3: Silica Aerogels.

#### Martlew, David (deceased)

Glass Technologist, 15 Cecil Drive, Eccleston, St Helens, UK – 10.8: Stained Glass Windows.

#### Mills, Kenneth C. (deceased)

Former Professor, Department of Materials Imperial College, London SW7 2AZ, England, UK – 7.4: Metallurgical Slags.

#### Montigaud, Hervé

R&D Engineer, Associate Researcher Surface du Verre et Interfaces Saint-Gobain Research Paris, UMR 125 CNRS 39 Quai Lucien Lefranc, 93303 Aubervilliers Cedex, France – 5.11: Durability of Commercial-type Glasses.

#### Muijsenberg, Erik

Vice-president, Glass Service a.s Rokytnice 60, 75501 Vsetin, Czech Republic – 9.8: Physics and Modeling of Glass Furnaces.

#### Mysen, Bjorn

Senior Staff Member, Geophysical Laboratory Carnegie Institution for Science, 5251 Broad Brach Rd Washington, DC 20015, USA – 2.6: Structure of Chemically Complex Silicate Systems; 5.5: Solubility of Volatiles.

#### Ni, Huaiwei

Professor of Geochemistry, CAS Key Laboratory of Crust-Mantle Materials and Environments School of Earth and Space Sciences, University of Science and Technology of China, Hefei 230026, China

- 4.3: Diffusion in Oxide Glass-forming Systems.

#### Ojovan, Michael I.

Professor, Department of Materials, Imperial College London London SW7 2AZ, UK

- 3.1: Glass Formation.

#### xxviii List of Contributors

#### Oktik, Sener

Chief Technology Officer, Türkiye Şişe ve Cam Fabrikaları A.Ş., Science and Technology Center Cumhuriyet Mah. Şişecam Yolu Sok. No:2 41400 Gebze-Kocaeli, Turkey – 6.7: Modification Technologies of Glass Surfaces; 6.8: Thin-Film

Technologies for Glass Surfaces.

#### Ollier, Nadège

Research Scientist, Laboratoire des Solides Irradiés Ecole polytechnique, CNRS, CEA, 91128 Palaiseau Cedex, France – 3.13: Radiation Effects in Glass.

#### Ottonello, Giulio

Former Chair of Geochemistry, Laboratorio di Geochimica at DISTAV, University of Genoa Corso Europa 26: 16132 Genova, Italy – 5.3: Thermodynamic Models of Oxide Melts.

#### Panteix, Pierre-Jean

Research Engineer, CNRS, Institut Jean Lamour UMR 7198; Campus ARTEM, 2 allée André Guinier BP 50840, 54011 Nancy Cedex, France – 5.10: Glass/Metal Interactions.

### Parker, John M.

MA (Cantab), FSGT, FIMMM, CEng Professor Emeritus Department of Materials Science and Engineering Sheffield University Sir Robert Hadfield Building, Mappin Street Sheffield S10 5TX, UK – 9.12: The International Commission on Glass (ICG); 10.8: Stained Glass Windows.

#### Parsons, Andrew James

Senior Research Fellow, Faculty of Engineering University of Nottingham, University Park Nottingham NG7 2RD, UK – 7.9: Phosphate Glasses.

#### Patzig, Christian

Senior Research Scientist, Fraunhofer Institute for Microstructure of Materials and Systems IMWS Walter-Huelse-Strasse 1, D-06120 Halle (Saale), Germany – 2.3: Microstructure Analysis of Glasses and Glass Ceramics.

#### Petitjean, Carine

Maître de conférences, Université de Lorraine Institut Jean Lamour UMR 7198, Campus ARTEM, 2 Allée André Guinier, BP 50840, 54011 Nancy Cedex, France – 5.10: Glass/Metal Interactions.

#### Peuget, Sylvain

Senior Research Scientist, Commissariat à l'Énergie Atomique, Nuclear Energy Division, BP 17171, 30207 Bagnols-sur-Ceze Cedex, France

- 3.13: Radiation Effects in Glass.

#### Pinet, Olivier

Head of Research Laboratory for the Development of Conditioning Matrices, Commissariat à l'Énergie Atomique, DEN/DTCD Marcoule, 30207 Bagnols sur Cèze, France – 9.11: Nuclear Waste Vitrification.

#### Podor, Renaud

Research Engineer CNRS, Institut de Chimie Séparative de Marcoule, UMR 5257; Bât. 426, BP 17171, 30207 Bagnols sur Cèze Cédex, France

– 5.10: Glass/Metal Interactions.

#### Pomeroy, Michael J.

Professor, Materials Science and Technology, Materials and Surface Science Institute, University of Limerick Limerick V94 T19PX, Ireland – 7.7: Oxynitride Glasses.

\_ \_ . . .

# Prescott, Patrick J.

Senior Engineer, Owens Corning Science & Technology Center, Granville, OH 43023, USA – 1.7: Simulation in Glass Processes.

#### Prinz, Sebastian

Business Development Director, Dorfner Analysenzentrum und Anlagenplanungsgesellschaft mbH (ANZAPLAN), Scharhof 1, 92242 Hirschau, Germany – 5.1: Chemical Analyses and Characterization of Glass.

#### Purnode, Bruno

Senior Research Associate Owens Corning Science & Technology Center Granville, OH 43023, USA – 1.7: Simulation in Glass Processes.

#### Rapin, Christophe

Professor, Université de Lorraine Institut Jean Lamour UMR 7198 Campus ARTEM, 2 Allée André Guinier, BP 50840 54011 Nancy Cedex, France – 5.10: Glass/Metal Interactions.

#### Richet, Pascal

Senior Physicist, Institut de Physique du Globe de Paris
1 rue Jussieu, 75005 Paris, France
– Preface; General and Section Introductions; 3.6: Thermodynamic
Properties of Oxide Glasses and Liquids; 10.9: Furnaces and
Glassmaking Processes: from Ancient Tradition to Modernity;
10.10: Glass, the Wonder Maker of Science; 10.11: A History of
Glass Science; Indexes.

#### Roggendorf, Hans

Professor, Nonmetallic-inorganic Materials, Martin-Luther-Universität Halle-Wittenberg, Institute of Physics D-06099 Halle (Saale), Von-Danckelmann-Platz 3 Germany – 7.5: Water Glass.

#### Roos, Christian

Professor, Department of Mineral Engineering, RWTH Aachen Nizzaallee 75, Aachen, Germany

- 1.5: Fabrication of Glass Containers.

#### Roskosz, Mathieu

Professor, Cosmochimie, IMPMC, CNRS UMR 7590, Muséum National d'Histoire Naturelle, 57 rue Cuvier, 75231 Paris Cedex 05, France

 - 4.4: Chemical Diffusion in Multicomponent Glass-forming Systems.

### Rössler, Ernst A.

Emeritus Professor, Experimentalphysik II Universität Bayreuth, 95441 Bayreuth, Germany – 8.6: Relaxation Processes in Molecular Liquids.

#### Rufflé, Benoît

Professor, Laboratoire Charles Coulomb, UMR 5221 CNRS Université de Montpellier, 34095 Montpellier, France – 3.4: Atomic Vibrations in Glasses.

#### Rüssel, Christian

Professor, Otto-Schott-Institut, Jena University Fraunhoferstr. 6, 07743 Jena, Germany – 5.9: Electrochemistry of Oxide Melts.

#### Savaëte, Bernard

Founder and President, BJS.Différences 33 Rue Jules Ferry, 92400 Courbevoie, France – 9.6. The World of the Flat-glass Industry: Key Milestones, Current Status and Future Trends.

# Schmelzer, Jürn W.P.

Leading Research Scientist (retired), Institut für Physik Universität Rostock, Wismarsche Str. 43-45 18057 Rostock, Germany – 5.4: Nucleation Growth, and Crystallization in Inorganic Glasses.

#### Schmucker, Éric

Research Scientist, Commissariat à l'Énergie Atomique, Université Paris-Saclay, 91191 Gif-sur-Yvette, France – 5.10: Glass/Metal Interactions.

#### Schottner, Gerhard

Research Scientist, Fraunhofer-Institut für Silicatforschung, Neunerplatz 2, D-97082 Wuerzburg Germany – 8.9: Hybrid Inorganic–Organic Polymers.

#### Schweiger, Marcel

Director, Inorganic Chemistry R&D, Ivoclar Vivadent AG, R&D, Bendererstr. 2, 9494 Schaan, Principality of Liechtenstein – 8.5: Dental Glass Ceramics.

#### Shortland, Andrew J.

FSA FGS, Professor of Archaeological Science, Director Cranfield Forensic Institute, Director of Research Cranfield Defence and Security Cranfield University Wilts SN6 8LA, UK – 10.2: Ancient Glass Late Bronze Age.

#### Sökmen, Ilkay

Surface Technologies Manager, Türkiye Şişe ve Cam Fabrikaları A. Ş., Science and Technology Center

Cumhuriyet Mah. Şişecam Yolu Sok. No:2 41400 Gebze-Kocaeli, Turkey

– 6.7: Modification Technologies of Glass Surfaces; 6.8: Thin-Film Technologies for Glass Surfaces.

#### Solvang, Mette

Chief Engineer, Group Research & Development Rockwool International A/S, 2640 Hedehusene Denmark

– 9.3: Stone and Glass Wool.

#### Souquet, Jean-Louis

Emeritus Professor, Laboratoire d'électrochimie et de physicochimie des matériaux et des interfaces PHELMA, BP 75, 38402 Saint Martin d'Hères Cedex France

- 4.2: Ionic and Electronic Transport.

#### Stebbins, Jonathan F.

Professor, Department of Geological Sciences Stanford University, Stanford, CA 94305-2115, USA – 2.4: Short-range Structure and Order in Oxide Glasses.

#### Stern, E. Marianne

Independent Researcher, Nieuwe Passeerdersstr. 186 1016XP Amsterdam, The Netherlands – 10.5: Ancient Glassworking.

#### Takada, Akira

Visiting Professor, University College London Gower Street, London W1E 6BT, UK, and Ehime University, 10-13 Dogo-Himata Matsuyama, Ehime 790-8577 Japan. Former Junior Fellow Research Center, AGC Inc., 1150 Hazawa-cho Yokohama 221-8755, Japan – General Introduction; 2.8: Atomistic Simulations of Glass Structure and Properties.

#### Tatsumisago, Masahiro

Professor, Department of Applied Chemistry, Faculty of Engineering, Osaka Prefecture University 1-1 Gakuen-cho, Naka-ku, Sakai, Osaka 599-8531, Japan – 9.5: Sulfide Glass Electrolytes for All-solid-state Batteries.

#### Toplis, Michael J.

Research Director, CNRS, Institut de recherche en astrophysique et planétologie, Observatoire Midi Pyrénées, Université de Toulouse, 31400 Toulouse, France – 3.5: Density of Amorphous Oxides.

#### Tournier, Robert F.

Emeritus Research Director, Institute of Engineering Institut Néel and CNRS, Grenoble INP 38042 Grenoble, Université de Grenoble Alpes, France – 3.14: Amorphous Ices.

#### Tykot, Robert H.

Past President, Society for Archaeological Sciences Professor, Department of Anthropology Director, Laboratory for Archaeological Science & Technology University of South Florida, Tampa, FL 33620, USA – 10.1: Obsidian in Prehistory.

#### Veksler, Ilya

Research Scientist, GFZ German Research Centre for Geosciences, Telegrafenberg, 14473 Postdam, Germany – 5.2: Phase Equilibria and Phase Diagrams in Oxide Systems.

#### Verità, Marco

LAMA Laboratory, Università IUAV di Venezia 30135 Venice, Italy and Retired Researcher Stazione Sperimentale del Vetro, Murano, Venice Castello 3371, 30122 Venice, Italy – 10.7: Venetian Glass.

#### xxx List of Contributors

#### Vernaz, Étienne

Former Research Director, Commissariat à l'Énergie Atomique, DEN/DTCD Marcoule 30207 Bagnols sur Cèze, France – 9.11: Nuclear Waste Vitrification.

# Vilasi, Michel

Professor, Université de Lorraine, Institut Jean Lamour UMR 7198 Campus ARTEM, 2 Allée André Guinier BP 50840, 54011 Nancy Cedex, France – 5.10: Glass/Metal Interactions.

#### Vogel, Michael

Professor, Institut für Festkörperphysik, Technische Universität Darmstadt, Hochschulstraße 6-8, 64289 Darmstadt Germany

- 8.6: Relaxation Processes in Molecular Liquids.

#### von Kerssenbrock-Krosigk, Dedo

Head, Glass Museum Hentrich, Kunstpalast Ehrenhof 4-5, 40479 Düsseldorf, Germany – 10.12: Glass Museums.

#### Watson, James C.

#### Former Associate Director

Nippon Electric Glass US, Fiber Glass Science & Technology, PPG Industries, Inc., 940 Washburn Switch Rd., Shelby, NC 28150-9089, USA

- 1.6: Continuous Glass Fibers for Reinforcement.

#### Weichold, Oliver

Professor, Engineered Polymer Composites, Institute of Building Materials Science, RWTH Aachen University Schinkelstrasse 3, 52062 Aachen, Germany – 8.8: Introduction to Polymer Chemistry.

#### Wernery, Jannis

Group Leader Building Integration Laboratory for Building Energy Materials and Components, EMPA, Überlandstrasse 129, 8600 Dübendorf, Switzerland – 8.3: Silica Aerogels.

#### Whittington, Alan

Professor, Department of Geological Sciences
The University of Texas at San Antonio
One UTSA Circle, San Antonio, TX 78249, USA
- 4.5: Thermal Diffusivity and Conductivity of Glasses and Melts.

#### Wilding, Martin C.

Research Fellow, University of Manchester at Harwell Harwell Science and Innovation Campus Didcot, Oxfordshire OX11 0DE, UK – 3.9: Polyamorphism and Liquid–Liquid Phase Transitions; 3.10: Pressure-Induced Amorphization.

#### Wondraczek, Lothar

Professor, Otto Schott Institute of Materials Research University of Jena, Fraunhoferstrasse 6, 07743 Jena Germany – 3.12: Strengthening of Oxide Glasses; 6.3: Photoluminescence in Glasses.

#### Xu, Kai

Professor, State Key Laboratory of Silicate Materials for Architectures (SMART) Wuhan University of Technology Wuhan 430070, China – 6.6: Optoelectronics: Active Chalcogenide Glasses.

#### Yamamoto, Shigeru

Executive Technical Adviser, Nippon Electric Glass 7-1, Seiran 2-Chome, Otsu, Shiga 520-8639, Japan – 6.9: Glass for Lighting.

#### Yamazaki, Hiroki

Group General Manager, Nippon Electric Glass 7-1, Seiran 2-Chome, Otsu, Shiga 520-8639, Japan – 6.9: Glass for Lighting.

#### Youngman, Randall E.

Research Scientist, Science & Technology Division Corning Incorporated, Corning, NY 14831, USA – 7.6: Borosilicate Glasses.

#### Yue, Yuanzheng

Professor, Department of Chemistry and Bioscience
Aalborg University, 9220 Aalborg, Denmark
– 3.8. Hyperquenched Glasses: Relaxation and Properties; 9.3: Stone and Glass Wool.

#### Zanotto, Edgar D.

Professor of Materials Science, Center for Research Technology, and Education in Vitreous Materials (CeRTEV), Department of Materials Engineering Federal University of São Carlos, 13.565-905 São Carlos, SP, Brazil –5.4: Nucleation Growth, and Crystallization in Inorganic Glasses.

#### Zhao, Shanyu

Research Scientist, Laboratory for Building Energy Materials and Components, EMPA Überlandstrasse 129, 8600 Dübendorf, Switzerland – 8.3: Silica Aerogels.

#### Zuccato, Daniele

Senior Expert Quality, Pharmaceutical Systems Schott AG, Hattenbergstraße 10, 55122 Mainz, Germany – 7.7: Glass for Phamaceutical Use.

# Preface



When art meets glassmaking: the visit of the Duchess of Berry (1798–1870) in 1824 to the plate-glass factory of the Royal Manufacture of Saint-Gobain as depicted by Édouard Pingret (1788–1869). The stifling heat, the noise of the furnaces, and the danger for the workers of the molten glass poured from the pot and spread with the steel roller on the large table (Chapter 10.9) have all vanished. Only the theatrical aspect of the scene remains, highlighted by the tall curtain, the duchess's light-colored dress echoing the worker's white smocks, and the children watching the show from the balcony. *Source*: Photo courtesy Saint-Gobain Archives.

The *Encyclopedia* has been designed to satisfy the needs and curiosity of a broad audience interested in the nature, properties, fabrication, and history of glass and looking for consistent, comprehensive, and up-to-date information in a single book. More than 100 chapters involving even more glass experts have been written in a perspective that combines the various aspects of this unique material, be they scientific, technological, industrial, historical, or cultural. Whether coming from academia or industry, the authors have in common a long practice of glass. Their goal is to be informative without being pedantic, to be concrete without being boring, and to give a balanced overview of the field - in a word, to allow a large readership to understand both the amazing properties of the vitreous state and its pecularities compared with those of other states of matter. Excluding the socalled spin glasses and other kinds of disordered physical systems, the Encyclopedia restricts itself to what is now termed structural glass.

In all chapters, the authors discuss glass from a materials-science standpoint, but their purpose is not to review in any detail the latest advances of interest to specialists only. Rather, in the form of scholarly introductions, it is to present every topic at a uniform level and in a self-consistent manner. In this way, the main points will be grasped and key information of fundamental or practical use will be made available. The neophyte reader will then be able to consult the specialized literature and, in particular, the select bibliography appended to each chapter.

This approach does not imply that only elementary features are presented, but that concepts are appropriately introduced and any technical information clearly explained so as to avoid the common defect underlined in 1911 by the astronomer Percival Lowell (1855–1916) who emphasized in Mars and its Canals that "nothing in any branch of science is so little known as its articulation, — how the skeleton of it is put together, and what may be the mode of attachment of its muscles." Whereas a very few chapters give a flavor of current technicalities involved in glass research, newly investigated topics are also considered with the goal of ensuring that the Encyclopedia remains a useful reference over an extended period of time. Although those views that are at this moment very speculative are generally not discussed at length, they may be stated in the final Perspectives of the chapters.

Given the diversity of topics treated, the name of *Encyclopedia* (*Kuklos paideia*, cycle of enlightenments, in Greek) is particularly appropriate. The surprising fact is that such a reference work was not existing at all for glass, in general, even though more than hundreds of thousands of encyclopedias have now been devoted to any topic worth of attention, including glass art in particular. The

*Encyclopedia* consists of 10 sections preceded by a general introduction and concluded by a postface. It begins with glassmaking and continues with structural, physical, and chemical properties. The stage is then set to turn to issues pertaining to light, to the main inorganic glass families, to organically related glasses, to environmental and other industrial issues, and, finally, to the main facets of the rich glass history. Even in more than 100 chapters, it has not been possible to deal with every important topic relevant to glass. A few more chapters would have been welcomed, but their advantages would not have outweighted the inconvenience of a longer publication time, especially for the *Encyclopedia* contributors.

Each section is preceded by a short introduction summarizing in a few sentences the contents of its chapters for helping readers to decide which ones fit their own interest best. Another purpose of these introductions is to show that, from the first to the last, the chapters are telling a consistent story. Although efforts have been made to avoid overlap, some limited duplication was inevitable to make sure that most contributions could be read independently of the others. Of course, boundaries between chapters or sections are not always clearcut, so that some arbitrariness has been involved in their delineation. And whereas the scientific and technology contents of the chapters will probably speak for themselves, it might be useful to note that historical aspects are dealt with not only in the last section but also elsewhere each time they can help to open deeper perspectives. As for the *Culture* included in the title of the Encyclopedia, it is explicitly treated only in the very last chapter but pervades a great many others, for example, in the history section where beautiful pieces of art are in particular reproduced.

At the end of this endeavor, it is now a pleasure to acknowledge (i) the encouragement initially provided by R. Conradt, N.G. Greaves, J. Livage, J. Lucas, B. Mysen, A. Takada, and Y. Yue when the project took shape; (ii) the warm welcome this project received through G. Geiger and A. Lekhwani when submitted to the American Ceramic Society and John Wiley & Sons; (iii) the invaluable help then brought all the way by Reinhard Conradt and Akira Takada through their constant advice, support, friendship, and careful reviewing work; (iv) the great many graphics and pictures neatly prepared by Joël Dyon to highlight the matter presented in numerous chapters; (v) the efforts of 151 authors working in 23 countries who participated in this ambitious endeavor and went responsively throughout an editorial process aimed at ensuring an overall homogeneity of style and content, and incorporated in their texts the relevant historical and cultural aspects evoked by the Encyclopedia title; (vi) the thoughtful comments and apt observations provided

by nearly 200 reviewers whose names are included at the beginning of every chapter to recognize publicly their contributions; (vii) the original pictures or help in different matters generously provided by colleagues, friends, and institutions whose names are mentioned at the relevant places; (viii) the Humbold Stifftung, the Ludwig-Maximilans-Universität, and Donald Dingwell for the fruitful work done in Munich; (ix) the so many things about glass or high-temperature techniques and processes discussed over the years with T. Atake, J.-L. Bernard, Y. Bottinga, R. Conradt, K.-U. Hess, R. Kerner, B. Mysen, G. Ottonello, J.-P. Petitet, J. Roux, A. Sipp, J.F. Stebbins, A. Takada, C. Téqui, and other colleagues too numerous to be mentioned; (x) the Table of ion data compiled by J.F. Stebbins, the help provided at various stages of this study by É. Fareau, B. Gasparyan, K.-U. Hess, A. Hofmeister, K. Meliksetian, B. Mysen, and M. Wolf as well as thoughtful comments by J.M. Parker and R.F. Tournier on the section introductions; (xi) and finally Michael Leventhal who oversaw the project at Wiley, Stefanie Volk for copy editing and Viniprammia Premkumar for smooth and responsive production of the book.

The *Encyclopedia* is dedicated to them and to all people whose efforts throughout the ages made glass the astonishing, ubiquitous material it has become.

# Select Additional Reading

# The Vitreous State

- Bach, H. and Krause, D. (eds.) (1992–2020). Schott Series on Glass and Ceramics, 7 vols. Berlin: Springer.
- Binder, K. and Kob, W. (2011). *Glassy Materials and Disordered Solids*, 2nd ed. Singapore: World Scientific.
- Blanshard, J.M.V. and Lillford, P.J. (1994). *Glassy Sate in Food*. Loughborough: Nottingham University Press.
- Donth, E. (2001). The Glass Transition. Berlin: Springer.
- Doremus, R.H. (1994). *Glass Science*, 2e. New York: Wiley.
- Gutzow, I. and Schmelzer, J. (2013). The Vitreous State:
- *Thermodynamics, Structure, Rheology, Crystallization.* Heidelberg: Springer.
- Kerner, R. (2006). *Models of Agglomeration and Glass Transition*. London: Imperial College Press.
- Leuzzi, L. and Nieuwenhuizen, L. (2008). *Thermodynamics* of the Glassy State. New York: Taylor & Francis.
- Mackenzie, J.D. (ed.) (1960–1964). *Modern Aspects of the Vitreous State*, 3 vols. London: Butterworth.
- Nemilov, S.V. (1995). *Thermodynamic and Kinetic Aspects* of the Vitreous State. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.
- Rawson, H. (1967). *Inorganic Glass Systems*. London: Academic Press.
- Scholze, H. (1991). *Glass. Nature, Structure, and Properties.* New York: Springer.

- Shelby, J.E. (1997). *Introduction to Glass Science and Technology*. Cambridge: Royal Society of Chemistry.
- Simmons, C.J. and El-Bayoumi, O.H. (1993). *Experimental Techniques of Glass Science*. Westerville, OH: *American Ceramic Society*.
- Varshneya, A. (2014). Fundamentals of Inorganic Glasses. Sheffield: Society of Glass Technology.
- Zarzycki, J. (ed.) (1991). Glasses and Amorphous Materials. Materials Science and Technology. Weinheim: VCH.
- Zarzycki, J. (1991). *Glasses and the Vitreous State*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

# **Glass Systems and Properties**

- Affatigato, M. (ed.) (2014). *Modern Glass Characterisation*. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley.
- Bange, K., Durán, A., and Parker, J.M. (eds.) (2014). *Making Glass Better: ICG Roadmaps of Glass R&D with a 25-Year Horizon*. Madrid: Cyan.
- Cable, M. and Parker, J.M. (1992). *High-Performance Glasses*. Glasgow: Blackie.
- Carroll, M.R. and Holloway, J.R. (eds.) (1994). *Volatiles in Magmas. Reviews in Mineralogy*, 30. Washington, DC: Mineralogical Society of America.
- Cowie, J.M.G. and Arrighi, V. (2008). *Polymers: Chemistry and Physics of Modern Materials*, 3e. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.
- Ebewele, R.O. (2000). *Polymer Science and Technology*. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.
- Louzguine-Luzgin, D.V. (2018). *Metallic Glasses and Their Composites*. Materials Research Forum LLC: Millersville, PA.
- Musgraves, J.D., Hu, J., and Calvez, L. (2019). *Springer Handbook of Glass*. Berlin: Springer.
- Mysen, B.O. and Richet, P. (2018). *Silicate Glasses and Melts*, 2nd ed. Amsterdam: Elsevier.
- Odian, G. (2004). *Principles of Polymerization*, 4e. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley-Interscience.
- Painter, P.C. and Coleman, M.M. (2009). *Essentials of Polymer Science and Engineering*. Lancaster, PA: DEStech Publishing.
- Paul, A. (1990). *Chemistry of Glass*, 2e. London: Chapman and Hall.
- Pye, L.D., Montenero, A., and Joseph, I. (2005). *Properties of Glass-Forming Melts*. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.
- Rao, K.J. (2002). *Structural Chemistry of Glasses*. Oxford: Elsevier.
- Richardson, F. (1974). *Physical Chemistry of Melts in Metallurgy*, 2 vols. London: Academic Press.

Suryanarayana, C. and Inoue, A. (2011). *Bulk Metallic Glasses*. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.

Stebbins, J.F., McMillan, P., and Dingwell, D.B. (eds.) (1995). Structure, Dynamics and Properties of Silicate Melts. xxxiv Preface

*Reviews in Mineralogy*, 32. Washington, DC: Mineralogical Society of America.

- Takada, A., Parker, J.M., Durán, A., and Bange, K. (eds.) (2018). *Teaching Glass Better*. Madrid: Cyan.
- Tomozawa, M. and Doremus, R.H. (eds.) (1977–1985). Treatise on Materials 2. Science and Technology: Glass I-IV. New York: Academic Pressn.
- Uhlmann, D.R. and Kreidl, N.J. (1983–1990). Glass Science and Technology, 1. Glass-Forming Systems; 2. Processing;
  3. Viscosity and Relaxation; 4A. Structure, Microstructure, and Properties; 4B. Advances in Structural Analysis; 5. Elasticity and Strength in Glass. New York: Academic Press.
- Vogel, W. (1994). Glass Chemistry, 2e. New York: Springer.
- Wolf, M.B. (1984). *Chemical Approach to Glass*. Amsterdam: Elsevier.
- Zanotto, E.D. (2013). *Crystals in Glass: A Hidden Beauty*. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley.

# **Compilations of Glass Data**

- Bansal, N.P. and Doremus, R.H. (1986). Handbook of Glass Properties. Orlando: Academic Press.
- Mazurin, O.V., Streltsina, M.V., and Shvaiko-Shvaikovskaya, T.P. (1987). *Handbook of Glass Data. Part A. Silica Glass and Binary Silicate Glasses*. Amsterdam: Elsevier.
- Mazurin, O.V., Streltsina, M.V., and Shvaiko-Shvaikovskaya, T.P. (1987). *Handbook of Glass Data. Part C. Ternary Silicate Glasses*. Amsterdam: Elsevier.

- Mazurin, O.V., Streltsina, M.V., and Shvaiko-Shvaikovskaya, T.P. (1993). *Handbook of Glass Data. Part E. Single-Component, Binary, and Ternary Oxide Glasses*: Supplements to Parts A, B, C, and D. Amsterdam: Elsevier.
- Turkdogan, E.T. (1983). *Physicochemical Properties of Molten Slags and Glasses*. London: The Metals Society.

# Glass Art

- Various authors. Histoire du verre. Paris: Massin; F. Slitine (2005). L'Antiquité; Du Pasquier, J. (2005). Le Moyen Age and (2007). Les chefs-d'oeuvre de l'Islam; Bellanger, J. (2006). L'Aube des temps modernes 1453–1672 and (2008) Du Baroque aux lumières; Ennès, (2006). Au carrefour de l'art et de l'industrie. Le XIXe siècle.
- Hérold, M. and David., V. (eds) (2014). Vitrail, Ve-XXIe siècle. Paris: Editions du Patrimoine.
- Koob, S. (2006). *Conservation and Care of Glass Objects*. London: Archetype Publications.
- Page, J.-A. (ed.) (2006). *The Art of Glass: Toledo Museum of Art.* Toledo and London: Toledo Museum of Art and D. Giles Ltd.
- Ricke, H. (2002). Glass Art: Reflections of the Centuries. Masterpieces from the Glasmuseum Hentrich in Museum Kunst Palast. Düsseldorf, Munich: Prestel.
- Tait, H. (ed.) (1991). *Five Thousand Years of Glass.* London: The British Museum.
- Weiß, G. (1966). *Ullstein Gläserbuch. Eine Kultur- und Technikgeschichte des Glases.* Berlin: Frankfurt am Main and Vienna: Ullstein.
# **General Introduction**

Pascal Richet,<sup>1</sup> Reinhard Conradt<sup>2</sup> and Akira Takada<sup>3,4</sup> <sup>1</sup>Institut de Physique du Globe de Paris, Paris, France

<sup>2</sup> UniglassAC GmbH, Aachen, Germany

<sup>3</sup> University College London, London, UK

<sup>4</sup> Ehime University, Matsuyama, Japan



Figure 1 Obsidian core found in the sixth to fifth millennia BCE Aknashen Neolithic site in Armenia. As indicated by the flake scars, large flakes were detached in a single final strike by an experienced stone knapper. Source: Photo P. Richet.

Encyclopedia of Glass Science, Technology, History, and Culture, Volume I, First Edition. Pascal Richet. © 2021 The American Ceramic Society. Published 2021 by John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

# 1 A Historical Random Walk

# 1.1 The Glass Age

"Among the so many, so varied products, which attest to the industrial genius of mankind, there are very few that have uses as numerous as *glass*, whose properties are so wonderful," pointed out in 1868 Georges Bontemps (1799–1883), a famous nineteenth-century glassmaker [1], who added: "no matter could replace glass in the most important of its uses." At the same time, the great popularizer Louis Figuier (1818–1894) stated that it would be too long to list "the services that glass provides to science, the arts, industry, domestic needs, to the individual acts of man in society, to the poor and the rich, to the ignorant and to the learned." Stressing that "household economics, science, civilization, progress and well-being, we owe almost all this to glass," Figuier concluded that "born with primitive societies, glass will only disappear with civilization" [2].

Certainly, Bontemps and Figuier could not have guessed that organic polymers known as *plastics* would replace mineral glass in some of its traditional uses. Ironically, however, not only has mineral glass found many more, such as light guide in optical fibers (Chapter 6.4) or scaffold for bone regeneration (Chapter 8.4) to name only two of the latest, but most organic polymers are also glasses in the physical sense of the term. Since its very first origins, the vitreous state has thus opened astonishing ways to create original materials, to satisfy the most diverse needs and even to discover the world at large.

Unlike other well-established materials, glass has gone through more developments in the past 50 years than in two millennia from both industrial and technological standpoints. Whether overwhelming in the glazing of skyscrapers or hidden in telecommunication networks, glass has become still more ubiquitous in the modern environment than at Bontemps and Figuier's time so that claiming that we are now living in the Glass Age is not an overstatement [3, 4]. Whereas original glass compositions have, for instance, been designed for innovative lighting, screen, and display applications (Chapters 6.9 and 6.10), even the traditional products used for glazing and containers are now taking advantage of various new functionalities (Chapters 6.7 and 6.8). But what might be the most fascinating modern feature of glass is the way in which the material can be engineered to satisfy the most opposite requirements. Long celebrated for light transmission (Chapter 6.1), glass can be made opaque to a wide range of electromagnetic radiations from infrared to X-ray wavelengths through addition of appropriately absorbing elements (Chapters 3.13 and 6.2). Chemical inertness is

another major traditional asset of glass, which is in contrast purposely avoided in *water* glass (Chapter 7.5) and bioactive glasses (Chapter 8.4) whose usefulness rests on their intrinsically high chemical reactivity. And whereas extremely low impurity levels are required in optical fibers and other optoelectronic devices (Chapters 6.3–6.6), storage of municipal and nuclear waste relies on the capacity of glass matrices to incorporate large amounts of a great many elements (Chapters 9.10 and 9.11).

Additional examples are not needed here to illustrate further the point as they will be found in numbers in the *Encyclopedia*. It is more appropriate to stress that most of these engineering developments have relied on the improved understanding of the glassy state brought by a better knowledge of its physical, chemical, and structural properties. What a long way has therefore been traveled since man made acquaintance with a strange, dark rock differing from all others by its luster and especially, when split into pieces, by its extremely sharp edges that even flint could not match!

# 1.2 An Economic Forerunner

Obsidian (Figure 1), a natural glass found in volcanic provinces in various parts of the Earth, has been known from time immemorial. From arrowheads (Figure 2) to blades of any kinds and purposes (Figure 3), its unique properties made it so valuable to hunter-gatherers that it was the very first item to be extensively exchanged over long distances [5]. Well before any man-made object was produced, obsidian thus embodied at an early stage of human evolution the economic notion of competitive advantage, which eventually resulted in its real trade (Chapter 10.1). At the heart of a dynamic corridor between Eurasia and Africa, present-day Armenia played a significant role in this history as a material source for a wide area in the Near East, initially through moving communities that were carrying their tools with them [6]. Armenia is also important because of the new light it has recently shed on the far-reaching issue of the expansion of archaic Homo sapiens out of Africa.

According to a claim often made, this expansion followed the important technical change from bifacial to Levallois technique of stone knapping (Figure 3, cf. [7] for their differences). At the Nor Geghi-I site, near Yerevan, both types of tools actually coexist within alluvial sediments sandwiched in between lava flows dated to



**Figure 2** The delicate stone knapping of an arrowhead made possible by obsidian in Pre-Colombian present-day Arizona. *Source*: Photo courtesy Alexandra Navrotsky.

441 000  $\pm$  6 000 and 197 000  $\pm$  7 000 years [8]. From a fundamental standpoint, the synchronic use of both techniques by a single human group at this site thus indicates instead that, after human dispersion, the transition occurred independently within geographically distinct areas. From a practical standpoint, the change allowed better tools to be obtained so much faster from a large core (Figure 1) and with little waste. One could in fact conclude from the incredibly high abundance of artifacts buried in a Middle-Paleolithic site such as Barozh 12 [9], next to the Arteni Complex Volcano (Eastern Armenia), that the concept of disposable object was born with obsidian in the Paleolithic!

Man-made glass appeared considerably later, only three and a half millennia ago in the Late Bronze Age in a wide area ranging from the Near East to Egypt and Greece (Chapter 10.2). The vividly colored but expensive material newly produced was originally the preserve of elites who had recognized its aesthetic and practical interest. After 15 centuries of technical improvements and decreases of production costs, it became a basic commodity in the Roman Empire as acknowledged by Petronius (first century CE) in the Satyricon where one of his characters uttered: "You will forgive me if I say that personally I prefer glass; glass does not smell. If it were not so breakable I should prefer it to gold; as it is, it is so cheap" [10]. This chemical inertness achieved at reduced cost was of course one of the early assets of glass. As we now know, others were resulting from its lack of long-range atomic order, which makes forming in the most diverse shapes and sizes possible, produces optical isotropy, gives much flexibility in terms of raw materials and coloring elements thanks to the almost limitless extent of its solid solutions, and is at the source of mechanical properties in principle limited only by the strength of interatomic bonds thanks to the lack of weak grain boundaries.

How was it figured out that glass could completely lose its vivid colors, which first attracted man's interest, we do not know. The transparency now so closely associated



**Figure 3** The striking stone-knapping difference between a biface (left) and Levallois point and blade, all made from obsidian (right); length: 20 cm: (a) Acheulean hand axe produced by serial removal of small flakes with a soft hammer (Kuchak-3 open-air site, Aparan Depression, Central Armenia); (b) Levallois Mousterian point, with its plano-convex profile, produced before the repreparation of core convexities, and the recurrent method, in which multiple Levallois flakes are detached before repreparation (Barozh-12 open-air site, Ararat Depression, Eastern Armenia); (c) Regular flake of the Chalcolithic period produced by pressure flaking from a prismatic core with the aid of a lever (Mastara-1 settlement, Ararat Depression). *Source*: Photos courtesy Boris Gasparyan.

with glass was first achieved for very special pieces such as cups made in Achaemenid Persia in the fifth century BCE (Chapter 10.0, Figure 1a). But it took several more centuries before transparency became common. The existence of pure, natural carbonates commonly termed natron was the key ingredient to achieve it at a large scale at the beginning of our era [11]. Especially in the Levant, the competitive edge acquired by glassmakers thanks to this substance was such that it led to the establishment of a world market: finished items and glass ingots were traded along well-established commercial routes to be exported as far as East Africa and India [12], the ingots to be shaped locally in small workshops (Chapter 10.3). A first glimpse at globalization?

# 1.3 A Multifaceted Material

Glass has always aroused much curiosity by its virtue of embodying almost unlimited possibilities for transforming matter. Until the end of the nineteenth century, industrial illustrations of such transformations were the metamorphoses undergone by the large glass pieces that were first blown before being opened and flattened to yield flat panes with the neat fire finish required for transparency (Chapter 10.8). Nowadays, who has never been captivated by the work of a blower, by the action of a delicately controlled fire that gives birth to the most surprising shapes and, in a way, makes the material living for an instant? Even the proverbial brittleness of glass is part of this powerful imaginative world: its fracture indeed seems as unpredictable as it is dramatic, as illustrated by a tempered drinking glass suddenly exploding after several bounces when falling onto the ground.

To this kind of amazement also contributed early the miracles wrought by glass ever since it first restored sight to visually impaired people in the thirteenth century (Chapter 10.10). It is thus no wonder that Leonardo da Vinci (1452-1519) devoted efforts to design a device for machining eyeglasses. Shortly after, the transparent glazing of windows opened houses on the outside world at about the same time as the telescope and the microscope led to the discovery of the universe from the infinitely large to the infinitely small (Chapter 10.10). Grinding of optical lenses was then extensively practiced by Galileo Galilei (1564-1642) himself and considered a trade worth earning a living by the eminent philosopher Baruch Spinoza (1632-1677). That glassmaking had something special is actually indicated by the fact that, in France, it was long the only trade that the nobility could practice as gentlemen glassmakers without losing its special status.

To acknowledge all what civilization was owing to this material, the polymath and glassmaker Mikhail Vasilyevich Lomonosov (1711-1765) wrote in Russia a long poem entitled Letter on the use of Glass. "A whole year would hardly suffice me to reach the end of worthy praise for Glass" [13], Lomonosov thus claimed when mentioning not only the telescope, the microscope, or the barometer, but also the thrilling electrical researches of his time based on the accumulation of charges on the glass disks of electrostatic machines (Chapter 10.10). Such was the interest raised by the vitreous (positive) and resinous (negative) electricities "that people of all genders and ranks were then begging for the favor of being subjected to electric shock, to the point that the noble and courageous Professor Georg Matthias Bose (1710-1761) said with philosophical heroism: I would not regret dying of an electric shock, since the account of my death would provide the subject of an article in the Memoirs of the Royal Academy of Sciences of Paris" [14]. Could this admirable philosophical heroism have been elicited by a material other than glass?

At the same period, glass became the source of another kind of emotions when the famous Benjamin Franklin (1706-1790) was inspired by "the sweet tone that is drawn from a drinking glass, by passing a wet finger around the rim" [15] to design in 1761 the glass armonica whereby it was a set of overlapping wet glass cones of different sizes that was rotating to emit a sweet, ethereal, or pathetic tone through the friction of fingers. The instrument met with rapid success such that, beginning with Wolfgang Amadeus Mozart (1756-1791) [16], quite a few great composers wrote short pieces for it. The fashion for glass was such that a German living in Paris named Beyer presented in 1785 to the Académie des Sciences his forte-piano with glass plates, acted upon by woolcovered hammers, which Franklin christened glass-cord [17]. And it was a flute made from lead-crystal glass that the Parisian instrument maker Claude Laurent (d. 1848) patented in 1806 and produced in white, cobalt-blue, and uranium-green hues; in spite of its weight, its musical qualities and reduced temperature-induced pitch changes ensured its popularity for several decades [18].

This select series of anecdotes probably makes it unnecessary to emphasize again the importance of glass in daily and social life stressed above by Bontemps and Figuier. It might in contrast be useful to mention that the antique tradition or ornamental glass was revived at the same period by Georges Frédéric Strass (1701–1773), who became the French King's jeweler, when he invented *strass*, or *rhinestone*, a high-lead crystal glass bearing various metal oxides that is still made today to imitate precious stones.

# 1.4 The Silica Paradoxes

# 1.4.1 Biogenic Silica vs. Flint

Historically, glass owes its importance to silicates. But what substances could have replaced silicate glasses in their diversity of uses on a silicon-free planet? The question would be moot if carbon – the next of kin of silicon in the Periodic Table – and, therefore, life and human beings would have also been lacking. More seriously, however, reflecting on the origin of the silica sources used in glassmaking is not a futile exercise.

It is not widely known that 15 billion tons of *biogenic* silica glass are yearly produced in seawater by diatoms, sponges, and some other living organisms. Such a biological production has major effects on the Earth's global ecosystem and has now become a *biomimetic* source of inspiration for designing wholly new materials (Chapter 8.1). Interestingly, biogenic silica also had noteworthy implications for glassmaking because of its recycling into the opal or microcrystalline quartz of *flint*. Flint, or *chert* as it is called in geology, is commonly found as abundant nodules horizontally embedded in limestone (Figure 4). Its deposition thus requires carbonate

**Figure 4** The abundant beds of black flint present in a 80-m high limestone cliff of the English Channel at the Pointe du Chicard in Yport (Normandy). Same beds of the Upper Cretaceous used in the past for making *flint* glass in England on the other side of the Channel. Height visible on the picture: 10 m. *Source*: Photo P. Richet. dissolution followed by silica precipitation and, thus, percolating waters undersaturated with respect to calcium carbonates but oversaturated with respect to silica. Without going into the details of the process and of its control by pH and geological context [19, 20], it will suffice here to state that biogenic silica accumulating at the bottom of the sea is the source of the dissolved silica that reprecipitates as flint. And it happens that flint was the raw material used in England from the seventeenth century to remedy the lack of sand pure enough for making optical glass and luxury ware (Chapter 10.10).

In passing, one can also note that silica has been biogenically produced relatively late in evolution compared with calcite and aragonite, the main  $CaCO_3$  polymorphs, but then met with immense success especially with diatoms. A major reason was the advantages of an amorphous compared with a crystalline substance in terms of optical or mechanical properties for the materials protecting the living organisms (Chapter 8.1); amorphous calcium carbonates do exist, but they serve instead as intermediate reaction steps, which are short lived and thus end up crystallizing [21], which is not surprising as molten  $CaCO_3$  is





**Figure 5** The strong contrast between the potential energy changes induced by variations of Si–O distances and S–O–Si angles indicated by the calculated surfaces of constant energy of  $H_6Si_2O_7$  clusters. *Source*: After [23].

not itself a good glass-forming liquid. Interestingly, formation of biogenic silica would have first been a way to evacuate toxic Si at too high concentrations from cells. By a twist of evolutionary history, it would have become a protecting device so efficient for organisms [22] that it has since then played a major role in the global ecosystem, causing, for instance, the Si concentrations to be so low in seawater.

# 1.4.2 A Quantum-Chemical Factory: The Production of Silica Sand

Although glassmaking would have been possible without sand, it is unlikely that flint would have led to the invention of glass as it requires thorough grinding to become a reactive raw material. Regardless of grinding costs, it is also doubtful that flint would have been a silica resource widespread and convenient enough for an expanding glass industry. The fundamental importance of silica sand thus remains undisputed. Geologically, sand is produced via the weathering of granite and related SiO<sub>2</sub>-rich igneous rocks. The most abundant rock of the Earth's crust, granite is made up of quartz and alkali [(Na,K)AlSi<sub>3</sub>O<sub>8</sub>] and plagioclase [(Na<sub>x</sub>,Ca<sub>1-x</sub>)Al<sub>2-x</sub>Si<sub>2+x</sub>O<sub>8</sub>] feldspars. Whereas feldspars progressively transform into clay under the action of meteoric waters, quartz resists and accumulates as sand either on the spot or downstream.

The very presence of quartz at the Earth's surface appears to be a clear geochemical anomaly, however, which thus deserves some explanation. With typical 75 wt % SiO<sub>2</sub>, the melts from which granite crystallizes represent the end products of *magma differentiation* (Chapter 7.2). Owing to their very high viscosities, they rarely rise up to the Earth's surface to erupt as obsidian flows but crystallize slowly instead at some depth to yield large-grained rocks. These melts are the last produced after partial crystallization of primary magmas, which form themselves deep in the Earth's mantle by partial melting of SiO<sub>2</sub>-poor, MgO-rich rocks (~45 wt % for both oxides, along with ~7 % FeO, 2 % Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, 1 % CaO, and a few ‰ at most alkali oxides). Because oxygen bonds more strongly with silicon than with the other elements (Table A.1), one might think that  $SiO_2$ -rich minerals should be the most refractory. As a result, the  $SiO_2$  content of primary magmas should be lower than that of their source rock and decrease further through partial crystallization on their way up to the Earth's surface. Such a trend is opposite to the  $SiO_2$  increase observed. It is in contrast consistent with the fact that cristobalite, the high-temperature polymorph of  $SiO_2$  at room pressure, is less refractory than lime (CaO), periclase (MgO), and even forsterite (Mg<sub>2</sub>SiO<sub>4</sub>) whose melting temperatures are about 600, 800, and 175° higher than the 2000 K of cristobalite, respectively.

The paradox lies in the fact that bond strengths are usually considered within the framework of ionic forces, which are by definition nondirectional. Now, directionality is an inherent feature of Si-O bonding in view of its markedly covalent character. Because electron delocalization through polymerization and creation of Si-O-Si linkages is not large enough to constrain geometrically the arrangements of the SiO<sub>4</sub> tetrahedra, the same energy variations are, for instance, caused in H<sub>6</sub>Si<sub>2</sub>O<sub>7</sub> clusters by a small 0.02 Å change of the Si–O bond length and by a large 20° modification of the O-Si-O inter-tetrahedral angles (Figure 5). Bending of these linkages is thus so easy that configurational rearrangements take place without involving much energy [24]. The fact is most simply illustrated by the transitions of  $\alpha$ -quartz and  $\alpha$ -cristobalite to their dynamically disordered  $\beta$ -forms near 573 and 250 °C, respectively. Hence, fusion of these minerals does not require the breaking of bonds involved in ionic crystals. The SiO<sub>2</sub> enrichment and resulting quartz crystallization induced by magma differentiation are thus mainly driven by the sp<sup>3</sup> hybridization of silicon orbitals, which causes largely polymerized crystals to melt at temperatures much lower than would be expected from the Si-O and Al-O bond strengths [24]. In other words, the existence of silica sand originates in a quantum-chemical effect, without which glassmaking would not have existed.

#### 2.1 From Metastability to Relaxation

The silica issue illustrates how answers to apparently simple problems can require in-depth analyses for which theoretical concepts presented in various chapters of the *Encyclopedia* should prove useful. To help readers whose knowledge of the glassy state is minimal, however, the rest of this introduction will be devoted to a brief presentation of some basic concepts pertaining to glass and nonequilibrium systems, which will thus not need to be commented upon in specific chapters.

In preamble, it would be useful to define precisely what a glass is before discussing any of its properties. In accordance with its intrinsically disordered nature, however, glass might be pleasantly defined as a material that is difficult to define in an unambiguous or fully consistent manner. In Chapter 10.11, a glass is nonetheless defined as a macroscopically homogeneous amorphous solid whose properties (physical, chemical, or structural) vary with its preparation conditions. Usual definitions differ depending on whether the emphasis is put on the disordered atomic structure of the material or on the existence of a glass transition separating a solid material at lower temperature from a supercooled liquid at higher temperatures. Because glass structures depend on the type of system considered, they are described in widely different ways for oxides, metals, or organic polymers so that they do not lend themselves to a brief, general presentation.

Although a glass transition cannot always be observed, its phenomenology and its implications on glass properties are in contrast common not only to all glass-forming liquids, but also to partially disordered systems such as *plastic crystals.* In view of their dual practical and theoretical importance, the main features of the glass transition will thus be summarized here in a qualitative way. Without making any reference to recent advances in the field, the purpose is simply to describe the phenomenology of vitrification and its effects on physical properties, to introduce some of the groundbreaking concepts that have been proposed to account for them, and to highlight some simplifying features thanks to which intrinsically complex glass problems become more tractable.

A main source of difficulty is that the *time* parameter must be considered because of the kinetic nature of the glass transition. In the backdrop is the way in which the Gibbs free energy of a glass-forming liquid would be minimized under given experimental conditions and, thus, the kinetics at which physical properties *relax* after changes in intensive thermodynamic variables (Chapter 3.7). The largest and most rapid decrease of the Gibbs free energy would of course be ensured by crystallization. To bypass it, it has been known from time immemorial that a melt must be cooled rapidly enough. Other things being equal, vitrification is favored by large freezing-point depressions near eutectic compositions, which result in increased viscosities and reduced thermodynamic driving forces for crystallization.

With very few exceptions (e.g. [25]), however, supercooled liquids do crystallize more or less rapidly upon prolonged annealing. Perhaps also influenced by the early twentieth-century conception that glasses were supercooled liquids (Chapter 10.11), a commonly held assumption is that any glass would eventually crystallize. This assumption is in fact plainly contradicted by the 4.6-billion year old glasses found in meteorites (Chapter 7.1). What has ensured their long-term preservation has been the extremely dry conditions of extraterrestrial space, which have prevented them from weathering. Since their  $SiO_2$ poor compositions would make them prime candidates for ready devitrification, the almost infinite metastability enjoyed by these glasses is especially significant. The crystallization issue will thus be left aside in the following.

# 2.2 Relaxation: Phenomenological Aspects

Atomic mobility is the hallmark of the molten state as illustrated by the ready flow of a liquid adjusting to the shape of its container. Contrary to crystals where atomic positions are fixed and strongly constrained by long-range symmetry, liquids are characterized by dynamic disorder, i.e. by unceasing atomic rearrangements. This structural incompatibility between a crystal and a liquid makes any progressive transformation of one phase into the other impossible. In contrast, the vitrification of liquids is clearly a continuous process during which disordered structures become frozen in as revealed by progressively increasing viscosities, which eventually becomes so high that the materials have mechanically become a solid.

At high temperatures, the liquid is in internal thermodynamic equilibrium because its properties are time independent and uniquely determined by two intensive variables, usually taken to be pressure and temperature. At high viscosities, however, this simplicity no longer holds true as seen if one exerts a stress on the liquid at constant temperature or change the temperature at constant stress (Figure 6a). For a window glass [26], a constant, equilibrium shear viscosity is, for example, reached more rapidly in the former case than in the latter but this difference does not need to be commented upon here because pressure and temperature changes are of a different nature. Of greater importance is that Boltzmann superposition principle (Chapter 10.11) applies because, if both perturbations are simultaneously exerted, the response of the system is the sum of the two individual responses (Figure 6a).

In practice, temperature changes matter most. When high viscosities are measured at successively lower temperatures and then at higher temperatures (Figure 6b), two conclusions follow: (i) the time needed to reach the



**Figure 6** Viscosity relaxation of window glass (*Source*: Data from [26]). (a) Time dependence of the viscosity at 788 K after: (1) application of a 110 MPa stress; (2) a temperature change from 819 to 788 K with this stress; (3) exerting simultaneously these stress and temperature changes. (b) Attainment of the equilibrium viscosity; sample equilibrated at 795 K, then quickly brought for equilibration at 788 K and at 777 K (open symbols) before following the same procedure for reversing the equilibrium values first measured at 788 and 795 K (open symbols).

constant equilibrium values increases tremendously with decreasing temperatures; (ii) the approach to equilibrium is slower when the sample was previously equilibrated at a lower than at a higher temperature. Hence, the rate at which these changes occur depends not only on temperature but also on the thermal history of the sample, i.e. on the instantaneous structure as well. Because thermodynamic equilibrium is reached when the structure has adjusted to the new intensive parameters, the process is termed *structural relaxation*.

To characterize the rate at which the shear viscosity ( $\eta$ ) or any other property *Y* approaches a new equilibrium value, *Y*<sub>e</sub>, one defines the relaxation time,  $\tau$ <sub>Y</sub>, as



**Figure 7** Viscosity of window glass; solid line VFT fit to the data; dashed line: Arrhenius fit made to the high-temperature measurements; arrow: onset of departure from the equilibrium viscosity; solid squares and line: isostructural viscosities. *Source*: Data from [26, 27].

$$\tau_Y = -(Y_t - Y_e)/(\partial Y/\partial t), \tag{1}$$

where  $Y_t$  is the value actually measured at time *t*. If  $\tau_Y$  were constant, the relaxation would be exponential:

$$(Y_t - Y_e) = (Y_0 - Y_e) \exp(-t/\tau_Y),$$
(2)

where  $Y_0$  is the initial Y value, so that after a time  $\tau_Y$ , the variation of Y would be a fraction 1/e of the initial departure from the equilibrium value. Regardless of the actual non-exponential nature of relaxation, measurements, for example, made on window glass at 777 K point to relaxation times much higher than one hour (Figure 6b). A measurement performed in only a few minutes would thus refer to a fixed configuration, i.e. to a glass. Depending on the timescale of the experiment, one observes that the nature of response is thus either liquid- or solid-like.

The glass *transition range* is that temperature interval where, depending on the timescale of the experiment performed, time-dependent observations are made. It signals the change from the liquid state, where a great many different atomic configurations are unceasingly explored, to another state where atoms become trapped in fixed positions and properties become again time independent. In statistical–mechanical jargon, this change is said to represent the loss of *ergodicity* and, thus, of internal thermodynamic equilibrium.

Experimentally, the loss of equilibrium can be readily followed by viscometry. Over an interval as wide as  $10-10^{15.5}$  Pa.s, the viscosity of a glass-forming melt can be reproduced empirically with the Vogel–Fulcher–Tammann (VFT) equation (Chapters 4.1 and 10.11):

$$og \eta = A + B/(T - T_1), \tag{3}$$

where A, B, and  $T_1$  are constants (Figure 7). If only hightemperature measurements are considered, then a simpler Arrhenius equation is generally adequate, viz.

$$\log \eta = \log \eta_0 + \Delta H_\eta / RT, \tag{4}$$

where  $\eta_0$  is a pre-exponential term and  $\Delta H_\eta$  the activation enthalpy for viscous flow. Consistent with the aforementioned effects of thermal history (Figure 6b), the increasing departure of the viscosities from an Arrhenius fit made to the high-temperature data (Figure 7) indicates that, independently of any thermal-energy decrease, the structural rearrangements induced by lower temperatures progressively hinders viscous flow. The effect is still more apparent when measurements are made rapidly such that structural relaxation does not take place. Under these conditions, the *isoconfigurational* viscosity is indeed lower than the viscosity of the equilibrium supercooled liquid at the same temperature (Figure 7).

# 2.3 The Glass Transition

# 2.3.1 Standard Glass-Transition Temperature

For the experimental timescales of the order of a few minutes typical of measurements of macroscopic properties, one observes that, regardless of chemical composition, time-dependent results begin to be observed when the viscosity becomes higher than about  $10^{12}$  Pa. For convenience and comparison purposes, one defines the *standard* glasstransition temperature,  $T_{g}$  as the temperature at which the viscosity of the liquid reaches this value of  $10^{12}$  Pa.s.

# 2.3.2 Volume Effects

The enhanced thermal expansion coefficient observed upon heating of a glass rod in dilatometry experiments is one of the most familiar manifestations of the glass transition (Figure 8a). The marked increase over an interval of about 50 K is rapidly followed by sample collapse because the viscosity rapidly decreases so much that the sample begins to flow under its own weight before structural relaxation is complete. As a result, the volume thermal expansion coefficient  $[\alpha = 1/V (\partial V/\partial T)_P = 3/l (\partial l/\partial T)_P]$  may be rigorously determined from the slope of the dilatometry curve for the glass, but not for the supercooled liquid.

In dilatometry experiments, one usually defines the glass-transition temperature as the intersection of the tangents to the lower- and higher-temperature curves. This temperature generally differs somewhat from the standard  $T_g$  simply because the glass transition depends on the particular experimental conditions of the experiment. With respect to enthalpimetry, dilatometry has the advantage of yielding absolute values of the property of interest, namely, the volume (and density). The influence of thermal history on density can thus be readily determined (which is why it was observed as early as in 1845, cf. Chapter 10.11). In contrast, the thermal expansion coefficient of glasses generally does not markedly





**Figure 8** Volume effects of the glass transition. (a) Linear thermal expansion coefficient of E glass (Chapter 1.6) heated at 10 K/min; l = sample length (*Source*: Data from [28]). (b). Dependence of the volume of a glass on its fictive temperature.

depend on thermal history. At least above room temperature. The volumes of glasses produced at different cooling rates will then plot as a series of parallel lines (Figure 8b). To characterize the state of the glass, it suffices to know the temperature at which equilibrium was lost, which is directly given by the intersection of the glass and supercooled volumes (Figure 8b). This parameter is called the *fictive temperature* ( $\overline{T}$ ), which thus represents the temperature at which the configuration of the glass would be that of the equilibrium liquid (Chapter 10.11). Knowing  $\overline{T}$ , it is then straightforward to determine the glass volume as a function of the fictive temperature, for example, at room temperature (Figure 8b).

### 2.3.3 Frequency Dependence

For exploring further the kinetics of the glass transition, one can vary the experimental timescale not only through changes of the heating rate for a given technique, but through changes of the technique itself. In view of their relative simplicity, acoustic measurements of the adiabatic compressibility are especially interesting in this respect. For an isotropic solid, this compressibility is related to the velocities of compressional ( $v_p$ ) and transverse ( $v_s$ ) acoustic waves by:

$$\beta_{S} = 1 / \left[ \rho \left( \nu_{p}^{2} - 4/3\nu_{s}^{2} \right) \right], \tag{5}$$

where  $\rho$  is the density. In a liquid of low viscosity, the attenuation of compressional waves is so rapid that one can usually consider that these waves do not propagate at all, in which case the compressibility reduces to

$$\beta_{\rm S} = 1/\rho v_{\rm p}^{2}.\tag{6}$$

Acoustic measurements are typically made with transducers working at MHz frequencies. Under these conditions, the response of the material to the compression exerted adiabatically by the acoustic waves is probed at timescales of the order of  $10^{-6}$  seconds. To be induced by an acoustic wave, configurational changes must thus take place at timescales at least  $10^{6}-10^{7}$  shorter than those of dilatometry or calorimetry experiments. Their onset is thus correlatively observed at much higher temperatures. For a sodium silicate (Figure 9a), they are revealed above 700 °C by a temperature interval where  $\nu_{\rm p}$  decreases markedly and becomes frequency-dependent. With respect to dilatometry or calorimetry experiments, the glass transition shifts from about 500 to 900 °C, with a difference of about 50° between the measurements made at 1 and 5.6 MHz. At higher temperatures, equilibrium values of the compressibility are finally measured near 1100 °C when the ultrasonic velocity becomes independent of frequency.

Experiments can be made at even shorter timescales when hypersonic sound velocities are measured by Brillouin inelastic scattering of photons by phonons (Chapter 2.2). At the timescales of the order of  $10^{-10}$  seconds of these interactions, the glass transition shifts to higher still temperatures. For calcium aluminosilicates (Figure 9b), relaxed compressional velocities are typically observed only above 2200 °C [30] where they begin to match the values determined by ultrasonic methods (Figure 9b). The first effect noticed when the temperature is increased is a slight kink (at around 750 °C in Figure 9b), which disappears if the velocities are plotted against the volume of the sample instead of its temperature. This kink thus signals the increase in thermal expansion at the volume glass transition, whereas structural relaxation at the extremely short timescale of Brillouin scattering experiments becomes significant only at much higher temperatures. Interestingly, the shear sound velocities can then be measured for the supercooled liquid



**Figure 9** Frequency dependence of the glass transition range. (a) Compressional acoustic-wave velocities of sodium disilicate measured at the frequencies (MHz) indicated (*Source*: Data from [29]); larger width of the glass transition range than in dilatometry because of the actual distribution of relaxation times. (b) Compressional hypersonic sound velocities measured for 36 SiO<sub>2</sub>·16 Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>·48 CaO melt (mol %) by Brillouin scattering and ultrasonic methods. *Source*: Data from [30, 31].



Figure 10 Time dependence of the boundary between the glass and liquid phases of  $CaAl_2Si_2O_8$ . Source: Data from [32].

well above the standard glass-transition temperature as long as its viscosity is not too low [32]. The material is not really a "glass" because its configuration changes rapidly with temperature, but a "glass-like" material whose solid-like part of its acoustic properties may be probed. Finally, another noteworthy feature of the glass transition range is its markedly increasing width apparent from Figures 8b to 9a and b, which originates in the fact that a distribution of relaxation times, and not a single time, must be considered. Complete relaxation is thus controlled by the slowest mechanisms whose retarding effects are the greatest for the shortest experimental timescales.

In conclusion, the question as to whether a given substance is a liquid or a glass cannot be answered if the observational timescale is not specified. One must consider instead that the transition between the two kinds of phases is represented by a curve in the timescaletemperature plane (Figure 10). The picture is actually still more complex because the glass transition also depends on pressure. With the exception of some open 3-D network structures,  $T_{\rm g}$  generally increases with pressure because an increasing compaction makes configurational rearrangements more difficult. At constant timescale, the glass transition is thus represented by another curve in the pressure-temperature plane (Figure 11). And the description is still more complex if the effects of composition are also considered. If all factors are dealt with together, the glass transition then becomes a



**Figure 11** Pressure dependence of the glass transition of atactic polystyrene. *Source*: Zero-frequency Brillouin scattering data from [33].

hypersurface in the pressure-temperature-composition-timescale space.

# 2.3.4 An Irreversible Transition

The glass transition was first signaled by anomalous increases of the heat capacity, and its kinetic nature by the dependence of these anomalies on the thermal histories of the samples investigated (Chapter 10.11). Such effects are clearly apparent in early  $C_p$  measurements made on B<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> (Figure 12a) where three different temperature intervals are distinguished [34]. Above about 270 °C, the liquid phase is in internal thermodynamic equilibrium because its heat capacity is uniquely defined by temperature (and pressure). In the 270–100 °C interval, internal equilibrium is lost as  $C_{\rm p}$  is no longer defined by temperature only. The measurements made upon heating and cooling differ and  $C_p$  differences of up to 20% are found between samples initially cooled rapidly and slowly. Also noteworthy is the fact that the observed C<sub>p</sub> hysteresis prevents a reversible thermodynamic pathway from being followed. It points instead to the creation of entropy through cycling in this interval and, therefore, demonstrates the irreversibility of the glass-liquid transformation.

Below 100 °C,  $C_p$  depends again only on temperature. If integrated from 270 to 100 °C, however, the  $C_p$  and  $C_p/T$ differences between the rapidly and slowly cooled samples represent enthalpy and entropy differences, respectively. These are constant below 100 °C as the glass  $C_p$ does not depend sensitively on thermal history. They can be readily calculated for any two glasses, like a volume difference, if their fictive temperatures are known (Chapter 3.6). An important conclusion then follows: the existence of an entropy difference at 0 K between



**Figure 12** Irreversibility of the glass transition: heat capacity hysteresis measured for boron oxide upon cooling and upon heating of a slowly (S) and rapidly (R) cooled glass [34]. (b) Enthalpy and C<sub>p</sub> differences between glasses cooled at different rates q; Sup. liq.: enthalpy of the equilibrium supercooled liquid.

two samples implies that glasses have a residual entropy at 0 K: hence, glasses do not obey the third Law of thermodynamics because of the irreversible nature of the glass transition (cf. Chapters 3.6 and 10.11).

In more detail, the  $C_{\rm p}$  hysteresis results from the observed contrast between a smooth decrease upon cooling and sharp increases upon heating followed by overshoots right at the end of the transition (Figure 12a). The former decrease simply points to the progressive loss of atomic mobility with decreasing temperatures. Upon

heating, the situation is more complicated because relaxation resumes at the temperature at which it vanished on cooling, but its first effect is to lower the enthalpy of the glass to bring it closer to the equilibrium values of the supercooled liquid (Figure 12b). At higher temperatures, the enthalpy curve of the material has already crossed that of the supercooled liquid when relaxation becomes almost complete at the timescale of the experiment. The heat capacity then increases rapidly (Figure 12b) in a way that depends on thermal history. The rise is highest for samples initially cooled down at the slowest rates, whose enthalpy is initially the lowest, or for samples heated at the highest rates. If the heating and cooling rates are increased, the transition shifts to higher temperatures because the decrease of the experimental timescale must be matched by an analogous decrease of the relaxation time (Figure 12b).

Determination of a glass-transition temperature is more complicated in calorimetry than in dilatometry because of the complex shapes of the observed  $C_p$  variations or even of the endothermic peaks recorded in thermal analysis. This temperature may, for instance, be taken as the inflection point of the  $C_p$  increase upon heating, but it can alternatively be defined in different ways so that is generally needed to specify which particular one has been selected [35].

### 2.3.5 The Case of Plastic Crystals

This description of the glass transition applies to a variety of kinetically controlled processes in crystals. Plastic crystals, characterized by low entropy of fusion and an unusually high plasticity, are good examples of disordered systems with three-dimensional long-range order. When the high-temperature form of cyclohexanol (ChI), for instance, crystallizes at 299 K, the C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>12</sub>O molecules order in a face-centered cubic lattice but their regular shape allows them to maintain orientational mobility by rotations around the lattice points. It is through a transition to the low-temperature polymorph (ChII), which is stable below 265 K, that this dynamics vanishes and the orientational disorder disappears [36]. With rapid cooling rates, the ChI form can be obtained metastably and kept for long periods of time below 180 K. On further cooling, a transition is eventually observed near 160 K (Figure 13). The orientational disorder of  $C_6H_{12}O$ molecules is then frozen in within the crystal. In contrast to the ChII form, whose entropy is zero at 0 K, ChI has a residual entropy of 4.7 J/mol K. The similarity with the glass transition phenomenology is such that the name of glassy crystals has been proposed for crystals where rotation of molecular groups is freed above a glass-like transition temperature and gives rise to relaxation



**Figure 13** The calorimetric signature of orientational disorder in cyclohexanol plastic crystal. Measurements made upon heating with a gap from slightly above the glass-transition temperature  $T_g$  and the melting temperature  $T_f$  because of rapid transformation into the stable, ordered polymorph. *Source*: Data from [36].

phenomena much more complex than summarized here (Chapter 8.6).

### 2.3.6 Maxwell Model

In view of the continuous pathway between the liquid and glass states, glass-forming liquids cannot be purely Newtonian when they approach the glass transition. In fact, they are viscoelastic, with an elastic component that becomes increasingly important near  $T_{g}$ . More precisely, application of a shear stress first causes an elastic strain, which would be recovered if the stress were released, and then a viscous deformation. The response of a viscous melt subjected to stress thus is made up of an instantaneous, elastic response along with a delayed response. By combining the simplest representations of elasticity and viscous flow, Maxwell model has as a mechanical analogue a spring and a dash pot placed in series [37]. Its important result is that, if stresses are applied at low frequencies, as usually the case in viscometry, then a simple relationship holds between the viscosity, relaxation time, and shear modulus at infinite frequency  $(G_{\infty})$ ,

$$\eta = G_{\infty} \tau. \tag{7}$$

The fact that the glass transition is observed at values close to  $10^{12}$  Pa.s for widely different kinds of liquids thus indicate that  $G_{\infty}$  also weakly depends on composition, with a mean value of about 10 GPa, which varies by less than a factor of 10 with either temperature or composition at least for oxide glass-forming liquids [38, 39]. Compared with the tremendous variations of viscosity with temperature and composition,  $G_{\infty}$  thus is almost constant. If the viscosity is known, structural relaxation times can be readily estimated from Eq. (7).

# 2.4 Configurational Properties

# 2.4.1 Equivalence of Relaxation Kinetics

It is usually more difficult to account for the kinetics of a reaction than for its thermodynamics. Relaxation in glassforming systems does not depart from this rule. Whereas a single-order parameter such as the fictive temperature may be appropriate for characterizing the volume or enthalpy of a glass, relaxation kinetics requires models much too complex to be discussed here (see Chapter 3.7). One can nonetheless have a first look at the mechanisms involved in relaxation by examining whether their kinetics varies or not with the particular property considered.

As done for viscosity, the kinetics of volume equilibration can, for instance, be measured by isothermal dilatometry experiments. If samples with the same thermal history are studied, comparisons between the relaxation kinetics of different properties can be made in terms of normalized variables

$$Y = (Y_t - Y_{\infty}) / (Y_0 - Y_{\infty}),$$
(8)

where  $Y_t$ ,  $Y_{\infty}$ , and  $Y_0$  are the property *Y* at time *t*, initial time, and equilibrium, respectively. To within experimental errors, experiments on E glass, for example, show in this way the same kinetics for viscosity and volume (Figure 14).

More general conclusions are readily derived from comparison between different glass-transition temperatures even though these are not necessarily defined in the same way in different kinds of measurements. What is important is that they be defined consistently and refer to samples with the same thermal histories. For volume



**Figure 14** Kinetics of equilibration for the viscosity and volume of E glass. Differences between the ascending branches mainly due to the uncertainties on the  $Y_0$  values caused by unrecorded relaxation during the initial thermal equilibration of the sample. *Source*: Data from [28].

and enthalpy, the latter condition is fulfilled in dilatometry experiments and differential thermal analyses performed simultaneously, whose results can also be compared with standard glass-transition temperatures (Figure 15). The close 1 : 1 correspondences found in this way for the three temperatures of silicates, calcium aluminosilicates, titanosilicates, and borosilicates over a 400 K



**Figure 15** Equivalence of the relaxation kinetics for the enthalpy, volume, and viscosity illustrated by 1 : 1 correlations between the relevant glass-transition temperatures determined by differential thermal analysis (DTA), dilatometry (dil), and viscometry (vis, i.e. standard  $T_{g}$ ). BNC: sodium borosilicate; WG: window glass; E: E glass; Ab: NaAlSi<sub>3</sub>O<sub>8</sub>; Di: CaMgSi<sub>2</sub>O<sub>6</sub>; N:Na<sub>2</sub>O; S: SiO<sub>2</sub>; T: TiO<sub>2</sub>; Ca.xx. yy: xx mol % SiO<sub>2</sub>, yy % Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> · *Source*: Data from [28].

interval thus confirm the equivalence of the relaxation kinetics for differing properties [28]. In other words, one must conclude that the same configurational changes are involved in enthalpy, volume, or viscosity relaxation at least in oxide systems, which illustrates their overall cooperative nature.

# 2.4.2 Vibrational vs. Configurational Relaxation

The equivalence of relaxation kinetics allows an important distinction to be made between vibrational and configurational contributions to the properties of glass-forming liquids. In preamble, one should note that relaxation in solids does not need to be specifically addressed, as long as macroscopic properties are concerned, because it takes place at the  $10^{-14}$  – $10^{-12}$  seconds timescale of atomic vibrations. This instantaneous vibrational response persists in liquids where it combines with the configurational response whose timescale markedly decreases with increasing temperatures (Figure 16). For volume, isothermal dilatometry experiments near the glass transition may yield these two contributions (Figure 17) whose relative magnitudes directly reflect the increase in thermal expansion at the glass transition [40]. For the compressibility, another approach may take advantage of experiments made at different timescales. As described above, in certain temperature ranges, ultrasonic measurements yield the equilibrium adiabatic compressibility whereas Brillouin scattering experiments probe only its vibrational part. The configurational compressibility is then given by the difference between these two results [32]. That such determinations are actually scarce is not too problematic for second-order thermodynamic properties because, at least as a first approximation, one can assume that the vibrational contribution is represented by the glass property and the configurational one by the variations of these



**Figure 16** Relative importance of configurational and vibrational relaxation with increasing temperatures for a given property Y(a) after instantaneous temperature jumps  $\Delta T$  (b). *Source*: Data from [40].



**Figure 17** Vibrational and configurational contributions to the volume change of  $CaMgSi_2O_6$  liquid after an abrupt temperature decrease from 982 to 972 K. *Source*: Data from [40], cf. Chapter 3.5.

properties at the glass transition. In silicate systems, the configurational heat capacity can thus be written

$$C_{\rm pl}^{\rm conf}(T) = C_{\rm pl} - C_{\rm pg}(T_{\rm g}), \qquad (9)$$

where the subscripts l and g refer to the liquid and glass phases, respectively, and a further simplification arises from the fact that  $C_{pg}(T_g)$  may be considered to be the Dulong–Petit harmonic limit of 3 R/g atom (R = gas constant) the isochoric heat capacity [41].

#### 2.4.3 A Microscopic Picture

The vibrational/configurational split can be simply illustrated by a schematic one-dimensional representation of interatomic potentials (Figure 18). Contrary to crystals, where these potentials have a long-range symmetry, glasses have essentially a short-range order because the bond angles and distances between next-nearest neighbor atoms are not constant but spread over a range of values. The minima of potential energy, which determine the glass configuration, are separated by barriers with varying heights and shapes [43]. When thermal energy is delivered to the glass, the subsequent temperature rise is associated only with increasing amplitudes of vibration of atoms within their potential energy wells. Like for any solid, the heat capacity of the glass is, therefore, only vibrational in nature.



**Figure 18** One-dimensional schematic representation of interatomic potentials. Inset: potential-energy landscape for a strong and a fragile liquid (*Source*: After [42]). C: crystal; IG: ideal glass; MC: metastable crystal.

At sufficiently high temperature, thermal energy increases to the point that atoms can overcome the barriers that separate their own from the neighboring potential energy wells (Figure 18). This onset of atomic mobility signals structural relaxation. If the relaxation time is longer than the experimental timescale, however, only the vibrational heat capacity is measured. If the temperature is increased further, or if time is sufficient for the new equilibrium configuration to be attained during the measurement, then the configurational heat capacity is also measured. When integrated over all atoms, the configurational heat capacity represents the energy differences between the minima of the potential energy wells that are explored as temperature increases (Figure 18).

The glass transition can thus be viewed as the point from which atoms begin to explore positions characterized by higher potential energies. Regardless of the complexity of this process at a microscopic level, this spreading of configurations over states of higher and higher potential energy is the main feature of atomic mobility. As a consequence, configurational heat capacities are positive. This feature, in turn, is consistent with the fact that any configurational change must cause an entropy rise when the temperature increases as required by Le Chatelier principle. As for relaxation times, they decrease with rising temperatures because large thermal energies allow potential energy barriers to be overcome more easily.

Another general feature of interatomic potentials is their anharmonic nature: displacements of the vibrating atoms from their equilibrium positions are not strictly proportional to the forces exerted on them. Because increasing vibrational amplitudes result in increasing interatomic distances (Figure 18), the thermal expansion coefficient is generally positive for glasses. In the liquid, it increases markedly when even greater interatomic distances result from configurational changes.

#### 2.4.4 Compressibility and Permanent Compaction

An important difference between crystals and liquids concerns the effects of pressure on their structures. The former are stable as long as the variations in their bond angles and distances induced remain consistent with their long-range symmetry. A transition to a new phase takes place when this constraint is no longer respected. In contrast, the lack of long-range order makes a wide diversity of densification mechanisms possible in a liquid, whose structure thus keeps constantly adjusting to varying pressures through changes in short-range order characterized by shorter equilibrium distances and steeper slopes around the minima pictured in Figure 18. The compressibility is thus greater for a liquid than for its isochemical crystal. It is also made up of vibrational and configurational contributions. Because the shape of interatomic potentials determines the vibrational energy levels, compression is termed vibrational for the elastic part of the deformation. As for the configurational contribution, it is related to the aforementioned changes in the potential energy wells.

If a liquid is quenched as a glass at high pressure, the final glass recovered after decompression will be denser than its counterpart formed at room pressure because only the vibrational part of the compression is eventually recovered (Figure 19). But permanent densification can also be achieved at room temperature through compression of a glass at a few tens of kbar (Chapter 10.11). The effects of pressure and temperature on the properties of glasses are thus of a different nature since the kinetics



**Figure 19** Permanent compaction of polyvinyl acetate after compression at 800 bar (80 MPa) in the liquid state. *Source*: Data from [44].

of pressure- and temperature-induced configurational modifications are markedly different for given frequencies or experimental timescales. This dissimilarity mainly originates in the fact that the shape of potential energy wells varies little with temperature, but significantly with pressure. If a high kinetic energy is needed to overcome potential barriers at constant pressure, the changes in these barriers with pressure can lead by themselves to new configurational states, at low temperatures, if the pressure is high enough.

#### 2.4.5 Kauzmann Paradox

When viscous liquids escape crystallization, why do they eventually vitrify instead of remaining in the supercooled liquid state? One answer to this question is purely kinetic and relies only on increasingly long relaxation times on cooling. If experiments could last forever, any glass would eventually relax to the equilibrium state. Then, the glass transition would result only from the limited timescale of feasible measurements. A simple thermodynamic argument known as Kauzmann's paradox [45] indicates that this answer is incorrect. At its basis is the existence of a configurational contribution that causes the heat capacity of a supercooled liquid to be generally higher than that of an isochemical crystal and its entropy to decrease faster than that of a crystal when the temperature is lowered (Figure 20). If the entropy is extrapolated to temperatures



**Figure 20** Kauzmann catastrophe for amorphous selenium and ortho-terphenyl ( $C_8H_{14}$ ). Differences between the glass transition and Kauzmann temperatures indicating the smallness of the  $C_p$  extrapolations performed. *Source*: Data from [46, 47].

below the glass transition range, it becomes lower than that of the crystal at a temperature  $T_{\rm K}$ , which is high enough for such an extrapolation to remain reasonable. Although this situation is not thermodynamically forbidden, it seems unlikely that an amorphous phase could have a lower entropy than an isochemical crystal.

The conclusion is that an amorphous phase cannot exist below  $T_{\rm K}$ . The temperature of such an entropy catastrophe constitutes the lower bound to the metastability limit of the supercooled liquid. As internal equilibrium cannot be reached below  $T_{\rm K}$ , the liquid must undergo a phase transition before reaching it. This is, of course, the glass transition. In its original form, Kauzmann's paradox implicitly neglects possible differences in vibrational entropy between the amorphous and crystalline phases. This simplification is actually incorrect but it does not detract from the gist of the argument, for taking into account such differences would only shift  $T_{\rm K}$  slightly. A more rigorous statement of the paradox is that the catastrophe would occur when the configurational entropy of the supercooled liquid vanishes.

# 2.4.6 Potential Energy Landscape: Ideal Glass and Fragility

Among the great many statistical mechanical models that have attempted to account for the glass transition and solve Kauzmann's paradox, the early one proposed by Gibbs and Di Marzio [48] is of special interest. It predicts that the supercooled liquid would transform to an *ideal* glass through a second-order transition at the temperature  $T_0$  at which its configurational entropy would vanish. Since then, the existence and the nature of such a transformation have been much debated. This debate notwithstanding, the important point for our discussion is the result subsequently derived by Adam and Gibbs [49] on the basis of a lattice model of polymers. This result is a very simple relationship between relaxation times and the configurational entropy of the melt, viz.

$$\tau = A_{\rm e} \, \exp\left(B_{\rm e}/TS^{\rm conf}\right),\tag{10}$$

where  $A_{\rm e}$  is a pre-exponential term and  $B_{\rm e}$  is approximately a constant proportional to the Gibbs free energy barriers hindering the cooperative rearrangements of the structure.

Qualitatively, this theory assumes that structural rearrangements would be impossible in a liquid with zero configurational entropy so that relaxation time would be infinite. If two configurations only were available for an entire liquid volume, mass transfer would require a simultaneous displacement of all structural entities. The probability for such a cooperative event would be extremely small, but not zero, and the relaxation times would be extremely high, but no longer infinite. When configurational entropy increases, the cooperative rearrangements of the structure required for mass transfer can take place independently in smaller and smaller regions of the liquid.

Within this picture, relaxation is determined by the topology of potential energy wells in an *n*-dimensional space and, particularly, by the density and relative depths of these wells as may be illustrated in a 1-d representation of such a *potential-energy landscape* (Figure 18, insets).



**Figure 21** Fragility as a measure of the extent of temperatureinduced configurational changes in inorganic and organic glassforming liquids: correlations between relative  $C_p$  increases at the glass transition and deviations of viscosities from Arrhenius laws (*Source*: After [52]). Lower panel, from top to bottom: SiO<sub>2</sub>, GeO<sub>2</sub>, BeF<sub>3</sub>, ZnCl<sub>3</sub>, LiCH<sub>3</sub>COO, 4 Ca[(NO<sub>3</sub>)]<sub>2</sub>·4 H<sub>2</sub>O, *o*-terphenyl, glycerol (C<sub>3</sub>H<sub>8</sub>O<sub>3</sub>), and H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>·3 H<sub>2</sub>O.

A simple distinction can then be made between strong and fragile liquids [43, 50]. For the former, a low density of wells translates into a small configurational heat capacity and entropy and thus, in small departures from an Arrhenian temperature-dependence of relaxation times as given by Eq. (7); for the former, the high density of wells is in contrast associated with high configurational heat capacities and entropies, and marked deviations from Arrhenian temperature dependences.

Owing to the simple proportionality between relaxation times and viscosity, this difference may be simply visualized in plots of viscosities as a function of  $T_g/T$ where  $T_g$  is the standard glass-transition temperature [51]. A well-known sketch (Figure 21) illustrates the point for a variety of inorganic and organic glass-forming liquids [52]. As particularly exemplified in Chapter 4.1, this duality between fragile and strong liquids will be a recurrent theme in many other chapters of the *Encyclopedia* to which the reader is thus referred.

# References

- Bontemps, G. (1868). Guide du verrier. Traité historique et pratique de la fabrication des verres, cristaux, vitraux,
   Paris: Librairie du dictionnaire des arts et manufactures (trans. Cable, M. (2008). Bontemps on Glass Making. Sheffield: Society of Glass Technology).
- 2 Figuier, L. (1873). Les Merveilles de l'industrie ou description des principales industries modernes [The Wonders of Industry or Description of the Main Modern Industries], vol. 1, 156–157. Paris: Furne, Jouvet et Cie.
- **3** Richet, P. (2000). *L'Âge du verre [The Glass Age]*. Paris: Gallimard.
- 4 Morse, D.L. and Evenson, J.W. (2016). Welcome to the glass age. *Int. J. Appl. Glass Sci.* 7: 409–412.
- **5** Cann, J.R. and Renfrew, C. (1964). The characterization of obsidian and its application to the Mediterranean region. *Proc. Prehist. Soc.* 30: 111–133.
- **6** Gasparyan, B. and Arimura, M. (eds.) (2014). *Stone Age of Armenia. A Guide-Book to the Stone Age Archaeology in the Republic of Armenia.* Kamazawa: Kamazawa University.
- 7 Shea, J.J. (2013). Stone Tools in the Paleolithic and Neolithic near East: A Guide. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- **8** Adler, D.S., Wilkinson, K.N., Bloc, S. et al. (2014). Early Levallois technology and the lower to middle Paleolithic transition in the southern Caucasus. *Science* 345: 1609–1613.
- 9 Glauberman, P., Gasparian, B., Wilkinson, K. et al. (2016). Introducing Barozh 12: a middle Palaeolithic open-air site on the edge of the Ararat depression,

Armenia. ARAMAZD, Armenian J. Near-East. Stud. 9 (2016): 7–20.

- **10** Petronius Arbiter, 51 (repr. 1987). *Satyricon* (trans. M. Heseltine). Cambridge: Harvard University Press.
- Shortland, A., Schachner, L., Freestone, I., and Tite, M. (2006). Natron as a flux in the early vitreous materials industry: sources, beginings and reasons for decline. *J. Archaeol. Sci.* 33: 521–530.
- 12 Stern, E.M. (1999). Roman glass blowing in a cultural context. *Am. J. Archaeol.* 103: 441–484.
- 13 Lomonosov, M.V. (1967). Pis'mo o pol'ze stekla (trans. H.B. Segel, Letter on the Use of Glass, 209–220 in The Literature of Eighteenth-Century Russia). New York: E.P. Dutton & Co.
- 14 Figuier, L. (1868). Les Merveilles de la science ou Description populaire des inventions modernes [The Wonders of Science or Popular Description of Modern Inventions], vol. I, 463. Paris: Furne, Jouvet et Cie.
- 15 Franklin, B. (1769). Letter to Giambatista Beccaria. In: Experiments and Observations on Electricity, Made at Philadelphia in America, to Which Are Added Letters and Papers on Philosophical Subjects, 4e, 427–433. London: D. Henry.
- 16 Mozart, W.A. Adagio in C for armonica (K. 356); Adagio and Rondo in C minor for armonica, flute, oboe, viola and cello (K. 617).
- 17 Cohen, A. (1981). Music in the French Royal Academy of Sciences: A Study in the Evolution of Musical Thought. Princeton University Press: Princeton.
- 18 Powell, A. (2002). The Flute. Yale: Yale University Press.
- **19** Knauth, P. (1979). A model for the origin of chert in limestone. *Geology* 7: 274–277.
- 20 Hesse, R. (1989). Silica diagenesis: origin of inorganic and replacement cherts. *Earth Sci. Rev.* 26: 253–284.
- 21 Bots, P., Benning, L.G., Rodriguez-Blanco, J.-D. et al. (2012). Mechanistic insights into the crystallization of amorphous calcium carbonate (ACC). *Cryst. Growth Design* 12: 3806–3814.
- Marron, A.O., Ratcliffe, S., Wheeler, G.L. et al. (2016). The evolution of silicon transport in eukaryotes. *Mol. Biol. Evol.* 33: 3226–3248.
- 23 Gibbs, G.V., Meagher, E.P., Newton, M.D., and Swanson, D.K. (1981). A comparison of experimental and theoretical bond length and angle variations for minerals and inorganic solids, and molecules. In: *Structure and Bonding in Crystals* (eds. M. O'Keefe and A. Navrotsky), 195–225. New York: Academic Press.
- 24 Richet, P. and Ottonello, G. (2014). The earth as a multiscale quantum-mechanical system. *C. R. Geosci.* 346: 317–325.
- 25 Zanotto, E.D. and Cassar, D.R. (2017). The microscopic origin of the extreme glass-forming ability of albite and B<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>. *Sci. Rep.* 7: 43022. https://doi.org/10.1038/ srep43022.

- 26 Sipp, A., Neuville, D.R., and Richet, P. (1997).
  Viscosity, configurational entropy and relaxation kinetics of borosilicate melts. *J. Non Cryst. Solids* 211: 281–293.
- 27 Mazurin, O.V., Startsev, Y.K., and Potselueva, L.N. (1979). Temperature dependences of the viscosity of some glasses at a constant structural temperature. *Sov. J. Glass Phys. Chem.* 5: 68–79.
- 28 Sipp, A. and Richet, P. (2002). Equivalence of the kinetics of volume, enthalpy and viscosity relaxation in glass-forming silicate liquids. *J. Non Cryst. Solids* 298: 202–212.
- **29** Nikonov, A.M., Bogdanov, V.N., Nemilov, S.V. et al. (1982). Structural relaxation in binary alkalisilicate melts. *Fyz. Khim. Stekla* 8: 694–703.
- **30** Vo-Thanh, D., Bottinga, Y., Polian, A., and Richet, P. (2005). Sound velocity in alumino-silicate liquids determined up to 2550 K from Brillouin spectroscopy: glass transitions and crossover temperatures. *J. Non Cryst. Solids* 351: 61–68.
- 31 Webb, S. and Courtial, P. (1996). Compressibility of melts in the system CaO-Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>-SiO<sub>2</sub>. *Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta* 60: 75–86.
- **32** Askarpour, V., Manghnani, M.H., and Richet, P. (1993). Elastic properties of diopside, anorthite and grossular glasses and liquids: a Brillouin scattering study up to 1400 K. *J. Geophys. Res.* B98: 17683–17689.
- **33** Stevens, J.R., Coakley, R.W., Chau, K.W., and Hunt, J.L. (1986). The pressure variation of the glass transition temperature in atactic polystyrene. *J. Chem. Phys.* 84: 1006–1014.
- 34 Thomas, S.B. and Parks, G.S. (1931). Studies on glass. VI. Some specific heat data on boron trioxide. *J. Phys. Chem.* 35: 2091–2102.
- 35 Hutchinson, J.M. (2009). Determination of the glass transition temperature. Methods correlation and structural heterogeneity. *J. Therm. Anal. Calorim.* 98: 578–589.
- 36 Adachi, K., Suga, H., and Seki, S. (1968). Phase changes in crystalline and glassy-crystalline cyclohexanol. *Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn.* 41: 1073–1087.
- **37** Maxwell, J.C. (1868). On the dynamical theory of gases. *Philos. Mag.* 35: 129–145. and 185–217.

- 38 Dingwell, D.B. and Webb, S.L. (1989). Structural relaxation in silicate melts and non-Newtonian melt rheology in geologic processes. *Phys. Chem. Minerals* 16: 508–516.
- **39** Mysen, B. and Richet, P. (2005). *Silicate Glasses and Melts. Properties and Structure.* Amsterdam: Elsevier.
- 40 Toplis, M.J. and Richet, P. (2000). Equilibrium expansivity of silicate liquids in the glass transition range. *Contrib. Mineral. Petrol.* 139: 672–683.
- **41** Richet, P., Robie, R.A., and Hemingway, B.S. (1986). Low-temperature heat capacity of diopside glass (CaMgSi<sub>2</sub>O<sub>6</sub>): a calorimetric test of the configurational-entropy theory applied to the viscosity of liquid silicates. *Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta* 50: 1521–1533.
- Angell, C.A. (1985). Strong and fragile liquids. In: *Relaxation in Complex Systems* (eds. K.L. Ngai and G.B. Wright), 3–11. Arlington, VA: Office Naval Research.
- **43** Goldstein, M. (1969). Viscous liquids and the glass transition: a potential energy barrier picture. *J. Chem. Phys.* 51: 3728–3739.
- 44 McKinney, J.E. and Goldstein, M. (1974). PVT relationships for liquid and glassy poly(vinyl acetate). *J. Res. N.B.S.* 78A: 331–353.
- **45** Kauzmann, W. (1948). The nature of the glassy state and the behavior of liquids at low temperature. *Chem. Rev.* 43: 219–256.
- **46** Chang, S.S. and Bestul, A.B. (1972). Heat capacity and thermodynamic properties of o-terphenyl crystal, glass, and liquid. *J. Chem. Phys.* 56: 503–516.
- 47 Chang, S.S. and Bestul, A.B. (1974). Heat capacities of selenium crystal (trigonal), glass, and liquid from 5 to 360 K. *J. Chem. Therm.* 6: 325–344.
- **48** Gibbs, J.H. and Di Marzio, E. (1958). Nature of the glass transition and the glassy state. *J. Chem. Phys.* 28: 373–383.
- **49** Adam, G. and Gibbs, J.H. (1965). On the temperature dependence of cooperative relaxation properties in glass-forming liquids. *J. Chem. Phys.* 43: 139–146.
- 50 Angell, C.A. (1997). Entropy and fragility in supercooling liquids. J. Res. NIST 102: 171–185.
- 51 Laughlin, W.T. and Uhlmann, D.R. (1972). Viscous flow in simple organic liquids. J. Phys. Chem. 76: 2317–2325.
- 52 Angell, C.A. and Sichina, W. (1976). Thermodynamics of the glass transition: empirical aspects. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* 279: 53–67.

# Appendix A

	Coordination <sup>a</sup>	lonic radius <sup>b</sup> (Å)	Field strength <sup>b</sup>	Electronegativity <sup>c</sup>
Anions				
$O^{2-}$	2, 6	1.35, 1.40	-	3.5
$F^{1-}$	2, 6	1.29, 1.33	-	4.0
$\mathrm{Cl}^{1-}$	6	1.81	-	3.0
Cations Network form	uers <sup>d</sup>			
Fe <sup>3+</sup>	4, 6	0.49, 0.55	0.88, 0.82	1.8
Ga <sup>3+</sup>	4, 6	0.47, 0.62	0.90, 0.77	1.6
$Al^{3+}$	4, 6	0.39, 0.54	0.98, 0.83	1.5
Te <sup>4+</sup>	3, 4 <sup>e</sup>	0.52, 0.66	1.13, 0.98	2.1
$\mathrm{Ti}^{4+}$	4, 6	0.42, 0.61	1.26, 1.03	1.5
$\mathrm{Ge}^{4+}$	4, 6	0.39, 0.53	1.31, 1.12	1.8
Si <sup>4+</sup>	4, 6	0.26, 0.40	1.52, 1.29	1.8
B <sup>3+</sup>	3, 4	0.01, 0.11	1.60, 1.41	2.0
$P^{5+}$	4	0.17	2.14	2.1
Modifier to in	itermediate: alkalis and alka	line earths		
$Cs^{1+}$	8	1.74	0.10	0.7
$Rb^{1+}$	8	1.61	0.11	0.8
$K^{1+}$	8	1.51	0.12	0.8
Na <sup>1+</sup>	6	1.02	0.18	0.9
Li <sup>1+</sup>	4, 6	0.59, 0.76	0.26, 0.22	1.0
Ba <sup>2+</sup>	8	1.42	0.26	0.9
Sr <sup>2+</sup>	8	1.26	0.29	1.0
Ca <sup>2+</sup>	6, 8	1.00, 1.12	0.36, 0.33	1.0
$Mg^{2+}$	4, 6	0.57, 0.72	0.53, 0.46	1.2
Be <sup>2+</sup>	4	0.27	0.75	1.5
Modifier to in	itermediate: selected others			
Sn <sup>2+</sup>	$8^e$	1.26	0.29	1.8
Pb <sup>2+</sup>	4, 8 <sup>e</sup>	0.98, 1.29	0.37, 0.28	1.9
Mn <sup>2+</sup>	6	0.83 <sup>f</sup>	0.42	1.5
Fe <sup>2+</sup>	6	$0.78^{f}$	0.44	1.8
Zn <sup>2+</sup>	4, 6	0.60, 0.74	0.52, 0.45	1.6
Ni <sup>2+</sup>	4, 6	0.55, 0.69	0.55, 0.48	1.9
La <sup>3+</sup>	8	1.16	0.47	1.1
Nd <sup>3+</sup>	8	1.11	0.49	1.1
Er <sup>3+</sup>	8	1.00	0.54	1.2
$Y^{3+}$	8	1.02	0.53	1.2
Sc <sup>3+</sup>	6	0.75	0.67	1.3
Sb <sup>3+</sup>	$4^e$	0.76	0.67	1.9
$Zr^{4+}$	8	0.84	0.83	1.4

**Table A.1** Coordination numbers, effective ionic radii, field strengths, and electronegativities of some cations and anions of interest in oxide glasses. Source: Compilation courtesy J.F. Stebbins.

# Appendix A 21

# Table A.1 (Continued)

	Coordination <sup>a</sup>	Ionic radius <sup>b</sup> (Å)	Field strength <sup>b</sup>	Electronegativity <sup>c</sup>
U <sup>4+</sup>	6	0.89	0.79	1.7
Mo <sup>6+</sup>	4, 6	0.41, 0.59	1.92, 1.58	1.8

<sup>*a*</sup> Common coordination numbers; others may occur. Five-coordinate states are also known for many cations listed with 4 and 6 coordination (e.g. Al, Si, Ti, Ni), which have intermediate radii and field strengths.

<sup>b</sup> Cation field strength, valence divided by square of cation–oxygen distance, with the radius of the latter taken as 1.36 Å, the typical value for threecoordinated O.

<sup>c</sup> Pauling electronegativity, from Pauling, L. (1970). General Chemistry. San Francisco: W.H. Freeman.

<sup>d</sup> "Network former" description is generally most appropriate for lower coordination numbers.

 $^{e}$  Lone-pair electronic structure may lead to lower coordination than expected from radius.

<sup>f</sup>Radii for high spin electronic state.

<sup>g</sup> Effective ionic radius, from Shannon, R.D. (1976). Revised effective ionic radii and systematic studies of interatomic distances in halides and chalcogenides. *Acta Cryst.* A32, 751–767.

	Symbol	Value	Unit
Universal constants			
Speed of light	С	$2.999\ 792\ 458\ 10^8$	m/s
Gravitation constant	G	$6.674\ 08\ (31)\ 10^{-11}$	m <sup>3</sup> /kg/s
Planck constant	h	$6.626070  10^{-34}$	J/s
		$4.135669\ 2\ (12)\ 10^{-15}$	eV s
Masses			
Electron	m <sub>e</sub>	9.109383 56 (11) $10^{-31}$	kg
Proton	m <sub>p</sub>	$1.672621898$ (21) $10^{-27}$	kg
Neutron	m <sub>n</sub>	$1.674927471$ (21) $10^{-27}$	kg
Physical constants			
Avogadro number	$N_{\rm A}$	$6.022140857$ (74) $10^{23}$	
Faraday constant	F	$9.648533212331001 \ 84 \ 10^4$	C/mol
Ideal gas constant	R	8.3144598 (48)	J/mol/K
Boltzmann constant	k	$1.380649  10^{-23}$	J/K
	k/hc	69.503 87 (59)	$m^{-1}/K$
Stefan–Boltzmann constant	σ	$5.670367$ (13) $10^{-8}$	$W/m^2/K^4$
Molar volume of ideal gases (at 273.15 K and 1 atm)	$V_{\rm m}$	22. 413 962 (13) $10^{-3}$	m <sup>3</sup>
Conversion factors			
Electron-Volt	eV	$1.6021766208$ (98) $10^{-19}$	J
Standard atmosphere	atm	101. 325 $10^3$	Ра

# Table A.2 S.I. units and physical constants.

Numbers in brackets denote the uncertainties in the final decimal places. Reported values by definition exact when no uncertainties are mentioned.

# Section I. Glassmaking

**Figure 1** The initial melting step in the making of float glass: the 1-m deep bath of raw materials melted by the flames of a cross-fired furnace (Chapter 9.7). Pulls ranging from 500 to 1000 tons/ day and mean residence times of at least 24 hours. Electro-fused refractory materials made up of alumina-zirconia-silica in contact with the melt, and of alumina and alumina-silica elsewhere (cf. Chapter 9.8). *Source:* Photo courtesy Simonpietro Di Pierro, Saint-Gobain Research Paris.



Compared with crude steel (1700 million tons/year worldwide) and especially with cement (4300 Mtons), glass (about 120 Mtons) is produced in relatively small quantities. In terms of product value or volume, however, the imbalance is significantly reduced since the cost of cement is about one sixth of that of window glass and steel about three times as dense. But what differentiates glass most from these other two inorganic pillars of modern civilization is the remarkable diversity of its uses illustrated throughout the Encyclopedia.

In Europe, for which the data are the most readily available, the 35 Mtons produced in 2017 were split into container (21.4), flat (10.1), domestic (1.3), reinforcement (0.7), and other (1.1) glass. For both container and flat glass, the world market is estimated to be in the 60–80 billion \$ range and is expected to keep growing in the years to come at yearly rates higher than 5% on average, with large geographical differences (cf. Chapter 9.6). And growth rates should be higher still for new products such as the *smart* glass used in a variety of electronic devices (cf. Chapter 6.10), whose market should increase by a factor of 3 from 2017 to 2023 from the current few billion \$ per year.

Like cement and steel producers, glassmakers sell more than 90% of their production to other industries. Most uses of glass are nonetheless familiar to anyone. These are summarized in the first chapter of this section where R. Conradt points out their strong dependence on chemical composition of the glasses and on their ensuing physical properties, explaining that the reason why the stilldominant soda-lime silicates were empirically found so early in the history of glassmaking is simply because they lie close to the eutectic of the Na<sub>2</sub>O–CaO–SiO<sub>2</sub> system.

Even though glass is now made in many different ways for different applications, the traditional procedure of making it by cooling of a batch melted at high temperatures remains by far prevailing. As one readily realizes when looking at the original glazing of late-nineteenthcentury buildings, the long-standing problem faced by glassmakers was to achieve chemical homogeneity. The mass production of defect-free glass is a relatively recent achievement. It has resulted from better furnaces (Figure 1; Chapters 9.7 and 9.8), higher melting temperatures, and more carefully selected raw materials. In the Chapter 1.2, S. Di Pierro thus discusses the importance of the specifications, sources, and management of raw materials needed to avoid high rejection costs after melting operations that must be as fast as possible for economic reasons (Chapter 1.2). Being common to most glassmaking processes, fusion itself is then reviewed by R. Conradt from a dual thermodynamic and kinetic standpoint; the account includes not only the fundamental reaction and dissolution steps of the batch ingredients but also the fining and homogenization of the melt produced (Chapter 1.3).

The second part of the section is devoted to the making of three basic products. Flat glass is dealt with by T. Kamihori. He begins with the first mechanical methods devised at the turn of the nineteenth and twentieth centuries, turns to the famous float process, which revolutionized the flat-glass industry in the 1960s, and ends with the recent downdraw processes widely used to produce new glasses for electronic applications with ever stricter quality specifications (Chapter 1.4). Container glass is considered by C. Roos who briefly presents the first forming devices designed at the beginning of the twentieth century before describing the various ways in which a bottle is now shaped with Individual Section machines at extremely high rates and may then be protected by treatments such as coating to enhance resistance to breakage (Chapter 1.5). In the next chapter, the drawing of continuous glass fibers for the relatively small but important reinforcement market is considered by H. Li and J. Watson in terms of both processes and composition evolutions driven by the need to improve chemical and physical properties (Chapter 1.6). That computer modeling of glassmaking has become an important tool to save time and money in the design or improvements of plants is explained by P. Prescott and B. Purnode in the final chapter of this section, which shows that, in industry too, fundamental insights and an accurate knowledge of the physical properties of melts have become badly needed (Chapter 1.7).

Other processes and their products are too diverse to be gathered into a common chapter. Hence, they are described along with some of their important applications: the secondary fabrication of flat glass in Chapter 9.2, the making of thermal insulation fibers in Chapter 9.3, of sol–gel products in Chapter 8.2, of glass tubes in Chapter 7.7, and of light bulbs in Chapter 6.9. Other fabrication issues are dealt with in chapters devoted to modern furnaces (Chapters 9.7 and 9.8), cullet recycling (Chapter 9.9), and the history of glassmaking processes (Chapters 10.5, 10.7, and 10.8).

# **Glass Production: An Overview**

Reinhard Conradt

RWTH Aachen University, Aachen, Germany

# 1 Introduction

The term "glass" may either refer to a special state of matter in general or to a group of industrially manufactured materials. The chart in Figure 1 presents, from a chemical point of view, an overview of a large number of systems that can be easily transferred into the glassy state. In this chart, special emphasis is given to the industrially relevant group of silicate glasses because, by volume or mass, the vast majority of the glasses produced belong to it. Nonsilicate oxide glasses and other inorganic nonmetallic glasses, nevertheless, play an essential role in the production of highly specialized functional materials such as optical fibers (Chapter 6.4). The group of "other glasses" comprises materials of very different nature. Within this group, metallic glasses (Chapter 7.11) are finding a variety of practical applications whereas organic glasses (Chapters 8.7 and 8.8) have long played a major role at the industrial scale.

No attempt is made here to present a concise definition of the glassy state in general. From a practical point of view, however, glasses comprise a group of noncrystalline homogeneous and isotropic materials characterized by the absence of any microstructure. Thus, in contrast to (poly)crystalline materials, the bulk properties of which are essentially tailored via their microstructure, those of glasses are chiefly designed via their chemical composition; by contrast, thermal treatment has a comparatively small "fine-tuning" effect, which may, nevertheless, become crucial for specific products (e.g. optical or *strong* glasses).

At the atomic scale, the very same bonding interactions are present in isochemical condensed phases, i.e. in liquids, glasses, and crystalline polymorphs. Therefore, the chemical and electronic properties of glasses resemble those of their crystalline counterparts - with the reservation that glasses typically possess larger molar volumes, higher entropies, and higher (less negative) enthalpies of formation. In other words, they are thermodynamically less stable than crystals. Nevertheless, their macroscopic properties reflect in essence the same dependences on chemical composition as their crystalline counterparts. Without mentioning a host of other polymorphs, SiO<sub>2</sub> may, for example, exist under ambient conditions as quartz, cristobalite, or vitreous silica; thermodynamic stability decreases in the given order. The same applies to hydrolytic stability, a macroscopic property for which all SiO2 polymorphs nonetheless stand out by comparison with other oxides.

In general, information on atomic bond strengths, compound formation energies, and phase equilibria in a system of a given chemical composition may serve as reliable guidelines to explore the relation between the chemical composition of a glass and its macroscopic properties. It would go too far to draw the same conclusion for the relation between the chemical composition and the short-range order structure. Although there is ample experimental proof for such a relation in many systems [1], the general claim may be misleading, even erroneous is specific instances. Yet, in any case, the energetics pertaining to a specific glass structure is in general very close to that of an isochemical crystalline system. Energetics, in turn, is the key factor governing the relation between the chemical composition of a glass and its macroscopic properties. For this reason, equilibrium phase diagrams ([2, 3], Chapter 5.2) and thermochemical databases [4–9] are most helpful tools in the design of glass compositions with desired properties.

*Encyclopedia of Glass Science, Technology, History, and Culture, Volume I*, First Edition. Pascal Richet. © 2021 The American Ceramic Society. Published 2021 by John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

Reviewers: Joachim Deubener, TU Clausthal University, Clausthal-Zellerfeld, Germany

Yuanzheng Yue, Aalborg University, Aalborg, Denmark



Figure 1 Glass-forming systems, classified by chemical composition.

The industrial synthesis of glasses can also be based on a large systematic collection of experimental data of the properties of glass-forming systems [10–14]. Because at a microscopic level, atomic interactions are primarily pairwise (Chapter 2.7), one can in particular make use of empirical composition–property relations [15–20] of the type

$$P = \Sigma a_i \cdot p_i + b_i \cdot p_i^2 + \cdots, \qquad (1)$$

where *P* denotes a macroscopic property,  $p_j$  is the mol or weight fraction of component *j*, and the  $a_j$  and  $b_j$  coefficients are sets of empirical parameters representing the contribution of component *j* to the property *P* of the glass.

# 2 Industrially Manufactured Glasses

# 2.1 Properties of Manufactured Glasses in General

In addition to the influence of chemical composition, it is the homogeneity, isotropy, and absence of any microstructure that brings about the main features shared by most industrially manufactured glasses. This group of materials stands out from others by

• aesthetics; historically, the fact that glass was looking like gems has been the predominant driving force for the invention of glass as a material (Chapter 10.2). Aesthetic requirements today remain an important aspect, technically expressed as *quality* since, for instance, the presence of a single blister calls for the rejection of a  $3 \times 6$  m sheet of flat glass.

- its suitability for large-scale continuous primary forming as sheets, rods, tubes, and fibers.
- its extreme variability of shapes in discontinuous forming, comprising shapes with undercut.
- optical transparency. By virtue of their electronic and ionic properties, homogeneity, and absence of any microstructure, most glasses have an excellent transparency in the visible range. A standard float glass (4 mm thick) is transparent for light at wavelengths from 300 to 3500 nm, covering the entire visible (400–760 nm) and the near-IR ranges, the reflection losses of a standard glass sheet remaining slightly lower than 8%.
- an extremely wide and continuous compositional variability. Glasses can also easily incorporate functional components such as colorants.
- an extremely smooth surface, which originally allowed glass not to "smell" the odors of the substances it was storing. Today an as-received float glass possesses a roughness (root mean squared [RMS] value) of approximately 0.5 nm on the atmosphere side, and 1 nm on the tin-bath contact side. Even after an extended exposure to water or humid air at room temperature, RMS remains well below 10 nm. This makes glasses ideal substrates for metal and other functional coatings.
- excellent dielectric properties. Lead silicate glasses used in the back part of cathode-ray tubes reach dielectric constants of 20. It is true, this number does not match the extremely high values of functional ceramics (polycrystalline TiO<sub>2</sub>  $\approx$  100, BaTiO<sub>3</sub>  $\approx$  1000). When it comes to breakthrough voltages, however, the lack of any microstructure confers a clear advantage to glasses over polycrystalline materials: polycrystalline alumina withstands less than 8–9 kV/mm, whereas alkali-free

glasses reach 40 kV/mm, like natural mica; glass ceramics doped with BaTiO<sub>3</sub> crystals may even reach values higher than 400 kV/mm.

- excellent chemical durability against most chemicals. This is especially the case for silicate glasses in the low-pH range (i.e. with strong acids), making them excellent materials for chemical-process plants.
- an extremely high stiffness and intrinsic strength, both again by virtue of the absence of any microstructure. With a tensile strength of up to 4000 MPa (glass fibers), glass ranges among the strongest materials available. Its proverbial fragility is not a matter of strength, but of vulnerability of its surface and of low fracture toughness (Chapter 3.11).

It is a combination of the above features which gives glass such a prominent and indispensable place in the world of materials.

# 2.2 Classification of Glasses by Commercial **Branches**

From a technical point of view, glasses are classified in terms of applications rather than chemical composition. The following list presents the most important groups of industrial products under this aspect.

# **Glass hollowware**

and acoustic

insulation

Container glass	Bottles (flint, green, amber)			
	Preserving jars			
	Flaconnage			
Tableware	Stemware, kitchenware, vases			
Flat glass				
Architectural glass				
Glass for personal se	curity and property protection			
Glass for photovoltai	c application			
Fire-resistant glass				
Automotive glass				
Decorative interior g	lass and mirrors			
Fiber glass				
Continuous fibers	Multi-purpose (E)			
(textile;	Acid resistant (A, C, E-CR)			
reinforcement)	Alkali resistant (AR)			
	High strength (R, S)			
	Dielectric (D)			
Fibers for thermal	Glasswool, stonewool			

# Other glass, comprising specialty glass

Soluble glass (water glass)	For chemicals and detergents			
Foam glass	For thermal insulation			
Laboratory and	Lab ware glasses			
industry	Glasses for process plants			
	Electrode glasses			
Artificial lighting	Incandescent lamps			
	Gas-discharge lamps			
	Semiconductor light sources			
	Reflectors			
Pharmaceutics	Ampoules and vials			
and medicine	Antibacterial glasses			
	Bioactive glasses			
Optics	Eyeglasses			
	Cameras, microscopes, telescopes			
	Fiber optics and endoscopy			
	Telecommunication fibers			
	Laser glasses			
Electronics and	Electronic tubes			
energy generation	Sealing glasses			
	Soldering and passivation glasses			
	Substrate glasses and display glasses			
	Glasses for thermal power generation			
Radiation	Radiation shielding windows			
protection	High-energy radiation detection windows			
Silica ("quartz")	For high-T processing			
glass	For silicon crystal growth			
	For silicon-wafer handling			
	For optical fibers			

The pie chart in Figure 2 provides a rough overview of the shares of these categories by amounts of worldwide production. The figures given are estimates based on an evaluation of multiple sources for the time span 2003-2008. By absolute amounts, the 2005 world production reached about 124 million metric tons (31 in the European Union, 8 in Germany). Since then, an average annual increase of about 3.5% is observed. Whereas the production is more or less leveling off in most industrialized countries, the PR of China is among the main driving markets for this increase as its 2005 output of flat glass already accounted for more than 50% of the world production (cf. Chapter 9.6).

For each type of glass products listed above, a typical chemical composition range has been adopted worldwide. The compositions of container and flat glass have never been developed by a scientific approach. Rather, they have remained pretty the same ever since the beginnings of glass makings (Chapter 10.2). Compositions have thus been very early constrained by the availability of affordable raw materials, the need to prevent water corrosion, and the highest temperatures reached in furnaces.

A systematic scientific approach to glass compositions did not begin before the nineteenth century, chiefly promoted by the work of individuals such as Fraunhofer,



Figure 2 Glass production by branches; figures in % in the sequence world/United States/Europe.

Faraday, Harcourt, Abbé, or Schott (Chapter 10.11). Since then, this scientific approach has remained the basis for designing not only the compositions of most specialty glasses but also to improve those of existing products. For example, there is a quest among the producers of continuous fibers for completely new compositions with outstanding mechanical or chemical properties such as high modulus for lightweight construction composites or extreme alkali resistance for concrete reinforcement. In other cases, the driving force for development stems from environmental or health concerns and legislation. As examples, lead and arsenic oxides are being replaced in the formulae of optical glasses, solder and sealant glasses, and even in crystal tableware, whereas insulation-fiber compositions have been reformulated to avoid any confusion with asbestos fibers whose cancerogenic potency is well known. The typical composition ranges of current glass products are summarized in Table 1.

# 3 Process-controlling Properties

### 3.1 Viscosity

Among all the properties of a glass-forming substance, the viscosity-temperature relationship is by far the most important practically in glass making. Referring to Chapter 4.1 for an in-depth review of this topic, here we will consider it from a simpler technological point of view. The main feature then is that the viscosity of a glass-forming liquid extends over a range of 12–14 orders of magnitude, which thus involves large rheology changes in the temperature range relevant to glass manufacturing

Table 1 Typical compositions of industrial glasses comprising main oxides only (no colorants or impurities); compositional ranges from multiple sources (e.g. [13]) or typical individual examples (wt %).

Oxide	Container glass	Float glass	Crystal glass	Display glass	E fiber glass	Glass wool	Stonewool	Low- $\alpha$ glass	Soluble glass
SiO <sub>2</sub>	66–75	70-74	66.0	65.0	52-60	56–66	35-48	70-81	66–77
$TiO_2$			1.0				0–3		
$Al_2O_3$	1-3	0.5 - 1.5	2.0	18.0	12-16	0-6	12-28	2.5 - 5	
$\mathrm{Fe}_2\mathrm{O}_3$							3-12		
$B_2O_3$				1.0	0–9	3–9		10-15	
MgO	0-4	0-4	4.0	7.0	0.5-4.5	1-5	2-11	1.0	
CaO	8-12	7-10	6.0	6.0	16-24	5-11	10-28	1.0	
BaO			2.0	3.0					
ZnO			3.0						
Li <sub>2</sub> O	0-1							0-1	
Na <sub>2</sub> O	11-15	12-14	8.0		0-2	13–17	1–6	4-8	23-34
K <sub>2</sub> O	0-2	0-1				0-2	1-6	0–3	

Viscosity as log η, η in dPa·s	Process range, technological meaning <sup>a</sup>
	Melting
2.0	Typical of a soda-lime silicate glass melt at 1450 $^\circ\mathrm{C}$
3.0	Transfer to forming area Volume relaxation time is $<1$ s Fixpoint $T(3.0)$ = gob temperature Bushing tip temperature for fiber production <sup>b</sup>
	Forming
4.0.	Upper limit of mechanical working range Fixpoint $T_{WP} = T(4.0)$ = working point
6.0	Lower limit of mechanical working range The difference $T(4.0) - T(6.0)$ is termed the "length" of a glass
	Tempering, annealing, and cooling
7.6	Upper limit of macroscopic shape stability Fixpoint $T_{\rm L} = T(7.6)$ = Littleton softening point
11.0 <sup>c</sup>	Dilatometric softening point $T_{\rm D}$ Above $T_{\rm D}$ , temperature gradients in a glass object no longer cause thermal stresses A related temperature level is $T_{\rm d} = T(11.5) =$ deformation point Glass objects deform under own weight at rates of a few µm/h
13.0	Technical definition of the glass transition Fixpoint $T_g = T(13.0) =$ annealing point Volume strain relaxation time is 60 s
14.5	Technical definition of ultimate transition to a rigid state Fixpoint $T(14.5)$ = strain point Volume strain relaxation time is 30 min

 Table 2 Viscosity ranges of industrially manufactured glasses.

<sup>*a*</sup> In the earlier days of mechanical forming, empirical indicators were in use. They remain worth to be consulted as empirical guidelines when the complex feature of "workability" is to be kept constant under a compositional change; these indicators read: gob temperature, GT =  $2.63 \cdot (T_L - T_g) + T_L$ ; working range index WRI =  $T_L - T_g$ ; RMS = relative machine speed =  $(T_L - 450)/(WRI + 80)$ ; DI = devitrification index = WRI - 160.

<sup>b</sup> Some stonewool processes use T(1.5) as fibrization temperature.

<sup>*c*</sup> Approximation, the exact value depending on the load applied by the dilatometer.

(Table 2). Conventionally, technologists do not report viscosities in terms of values found at given temperatures, but rather in terms of temperatures at which given viscosity values are obtained. Thus, T(n.n), the *isokom* temperature, denotes the temperature in °C at which the melt assumes a value log  $\eta$  = n.n in poise CGS units (1  $P = 0.1 Pa \cdot s$  so that all values compiled in Table 1 have to be decreased by 1 if one retains instead the Pa·s SI unit used in many recent publications). The importance of reporting temperatures instead of viscosities rests on the facts that the (Newtonian) rheological response of all substances is by definition the same at the same viscosity and that only the temperature of a glass - not its viscosity - can be operationally regulated during the various forming, tempering, annealing, or cooling steps of glass making.

Viscosity–temperature relationships do vary much with chemical composition: as illustrated in Figure 3 by the data for a soda-lime float glass, a stonewool and silica



**Figure 3** Viscosity–temperature relationship of different glassforming systems; pure metallic melts of Ag and Fe are displayed for comparison.

glass, and those for a bulk metallic glass and pure Ag and Fe liquids. The fixed points of Table 1 are pinpointed for each glass melt and read in this graph, as just explained, starting from its *Y* axis. The complete viscosity curves can be reproduced by Vogel–Fulcher–Tamman (VFT) equations,

$$\log \eta = A + B / (T - T_0),$$
(2)

where *A*, *B*, and  $T_0$  are empirical fit constants and *T* is expressed here in °C. The float glass DGG-1 included in Figure 3 is a certified viscosity standard whose VFT equation has been derived from 44 measurement points. These are reproduced with the parameters A = -1.601, B = 4330.9, and  $T_0 = 246.1$  ( $\eta$  in dPa·s) with a standard deviation of  $\delta \log \eta = \pm 0.16$ , illustrating that the VFT equation is a valuable tool for any technological purpose.

Viscosities are in addition an indicator of crystallization tendency at the liquidus temperature  $T_{\rm liq}$ , which is shown in Figure 3 on the viscosity curves. Melts with  $\log \eta(T_{\rm liq}) < 2.0$  tend to crystallize quickly, thus requiring very high cooling rates, whereas melts with  $\eta(T_{\rm liq}) > 4.0$  may in contrast be vitrified at moderately low cooling rates.

Of great interest, therefore, is the possibility to predict the viscosity of a glass melt as a function of its temperature and chemical composition. From measurements performed for a variety of samples, sets of incremental factors have been empirically derived by regression analysis for this purpose. The left-hand part of Table 3 presents such a widely used database [19] with which the effect of additions of individual oxides (by weight and molar amounts, respectively) have been calculated for a sodalime silicate. The temperature T(n.n) at which viscosity reaches  $10^{n.n}$  dPa·s is thus calculated as

$$T(\mathbf{n}.\mathbf{n}) = a(\mathrm{SiO}_2) + 100 \cdot \sum a(j) \cdot y(j) / y(\mathrm{SiO}_2),$$
(3)

where y(j) is the weight fraction of oxide *j*.

Helpful guidelines for the design of the viscosity curve of a mass-produced glass may be derived from the graphs of Figure 4. For example, replacement of 1 wt % SiO<sub>2</sub> by 1 wt % Li<sub>2</sub>O to yield a glass 73 wt % SiO<sub>2</sub>, 10 CaO, 16 Na<sub>2</sub>O, 1 Li<sub>2</sub>O lowers the temperature at log  $\eta$  = 4.0 and 13.0, relative to the base glass, by 45 and 29 K, respectively. Among the *alkali oxides*, lithia is the strongest liquidus flux; it significantly lowers viscosity at all levels. *Boron oxide* has a similarly strong effect, however, at hightemperature only. So it reduces the working range (the

Table 3	Empirical factor	s for the calculation o	f viscosities [1	19] and elastic p	properties [2	1, 22] (units revisited)	from composition	on
---------	------------------	-------------------------	------------------	-------------------	---------------	--------------------------	------------------	----

		Vi	Elastic properties			
		a(j) for		Validity range	V(i)	11(i)
Oxide j	<i>T</i> (2.0) (°C)	<i>T</i> (4.0) (°C)	<i>T</i> (6.0) (°C)	(wt %)	(cm <sup>3</sup> /mol)	(GPa)
SiO <sub>2</sub>	1847.80	1249.70	962.90	60–77 <sup><i>a</i></sup>	28.0	64.5
$TiO_2$	-4.00	-4.00	-4.00	$0-8^{b}$	29.2	86.7
$ZrO_2$	8.65	7.96	8.16	$0-8^{b}$	30.2	97.1
$Al_2O_3$	8.32	5.23	4.01	$0-8^{a}$	42.8	134.0
$B_2O_3$	-21.62	-11.97	-6.42	$0-14^{a}$	41.6	77.8
- "-	0.5122	0.3182	0.1900	c	_	_
MgO	-5.87	-0.12	0.91	$0-6^{a}$	15.2	83.7
CaO	-11.27	-3.99	-0.74	$4-13^{a}$	18.8	64.9
BaO	-5.67	-3.04	-1.88	$0-17^{b}$	26.2	40.6
ZnO	-5.37	-1.99	-0.71	$0-9^{b}$	15.8	41.5
PbO	-4.85	-3.17	-2.24	$0-12^{b}$	23.4	17.6
Li <sub>2</sub> O	-35.54	-30.04	-26.45	$0-3^{a}$	16.0	80.4
Na <sub>2</sub> O	-12.65	-9.19	-7.06	10–17 <sup>a</sup>	22.4	37.3
$K_2O$	-5.93	-4.17	-3.53	$0-9^{a}$	37.6	23.4
Error	±4.7 K	±3.4 K	±3.2 K	_	n.s.	n.s.

<sup>*a*</sup> Combinations of these oxides, plus one.

<sup>*b*</sup> Oxide only, keep the error within the given  $\pm$  range.

<sup>*c*</sup> For boron oxide, the factors in the second row are square terms; thus, the sum for each T(n.n) has to be expanded by a term  $10\ 000 \cdot a(B_2O_3) \cdot [y(B_2O_3)/y(SiO_2)]^2$ .



Figure 4 Temperature change brought about by a replacement of 1% of  $SiO_2$  by another oxide in the base glass composition  $74SiO_2$ , 10CaO, 16Na<sub>2</sub>O; left side: for oxide amounts by wt; right side: for molar amounts.

"length") of a glass. In the language of glass technologists, boron oxide makes a glass "short." *Lime* strongly reduces viscosity at high temperatures; the effect is almost as strong as with soda. Thus, if viscosity needs to be lowered in this range, inexpensive limestone as a calcium carrier raw material may be used instead of expensive soda ash as a sodium carrier. Also note that lime, quite in contrast to *magnesia*, makes a glass "short." One can thus extend the working range of a glass by manipulating its CaO/ MgO ratio. *Alumina* makes at the same time a glass more viscous and "longer." Although not giving any in-depth scientific understanding, these empirical tools undoubtedly have their merits in glass technology.

#### 3.2 Liquidus Temperatures

Most industrial glass-melting processes run in a continuous way 365 days per year over periods of 2–15 years. This operation time depends on the type of glass and on the corrosion wear of both the refractory lining of the melting tank and channels guiding the melt to the working stations. A maximum temperature of about 1500 °C is needed to achieve homogenous fusion; at the exit of the furnace, the melt still is at about 1350 °C. This temperature makes it necessary to cool steadily the melt down to T(3.0) while keeping a safety margin  $\Delta T$  above the liquidus temperature  $T_{\text{liq}}$  of the particular composition to prevent precipitation of crystals. This

yields a constraint of a minimum temperature of T(3.0) +  $\Delta T$  required to ensure a crystal-free glass. This constraint is especially critical for continuous glass fiber production (Chapter 1.5), but it applies to any other process as well before the forming step.

Traditionally, liquidus temperatures have been determined experimentally to be represented graphically for simple-enough systems in the form of phase diagrams (Chapter 5.2, [2]). For complex compositions of industrial interest, they are generally determined with a gradient furnace whereby a series of 5-10 samples are heated for typically 24 hours in a temperature gradient spanning the expected range of  $T_{liq}$ . After quenching, the samples are examined by optical microscopy. The liquidus temperature is then bracketed by the treatment temperatures of the last homogeneous glass and that of the first sample in which crystallites are observed. In a more accurate approach, samples from the gradient furnace containing tiny amounts of crystals are reheated in a heating-stage microscope at a rate well below 1 K/min, and the temperature at which the last crystal dissolves is adopted as  $T_{\text{liq}}$ .

Thanks to the progress made in thermodynamic modeling of melts (Chapter 5.3), an increasingly useful approach is to predict liquidus temperatures with one of the dedicated softwares designed to calculate phase equilibria relevant to glass making (e.g. 20). Empirically, however, simple rules have long been known to predict the effects on a given oxide on liquidus temperatures. Illustrating again the predominantly pairwise nature of atomic interactions, they rely particularly on the topology of binary phase diagrams (Figure 5). The tremendous freezing-point depressions of SiO<sub>2</sub> brought about by addition of alkali oxides as well as by boron and lead oxides are in fact so conspicuous that they have historically been at the basis of the development of glass technology. As illustrated by a comparison made between Li<sub>2</sub>O and  $K_2O$  (Figures 4 and 5), of particular interest is the fact that

the alkali oxide that most strongly decreases viscosity is the least effective in lowering liquidus. Only boron and lead oxides cause strong decreases of both viscosity and liquidus. This may shed some light on the technological challenge raised by the replacement of lead oxide in the glass formulae of modern tableware and solder glasses.

In ternary systems, the  $Na_2O-CaO-SiO_2$  and  $CaO-Al_2O_3-SiO_2$  phase diagrams are especially important as they serve as references for soda-lime and most stonewool and reinforcement-fiber glasses, respectively (Figure 6).



**Figure 7** Miscibility gaps. (a) Extension of stable gaps in ternary borosilicate systems with different oxides as third component; the area shaded in gray refers to BaO; (b) isotherms of the (metastable) subliquidus immiscibility dome in the system Na<sub>2</sub>O-B<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>-SiO<sub>2</sub>.



From Figure 6a, it is easy to understand why, in Antiquity (Chapter 10.3), glasses with silica contents of 70-74 wt % and amounts of lime not exceeding 12 wt % were already mass produced: Thanks to typical T(3.0) values of 1200  $\pm$  10 °C, it is comparatively easy to comply for them with the constraint  $T_{\min} = T(3.0) + \Delta T$ . The particular composition "16-10-74" has been investigated in many scientific studies. It may be considered as a reference and the mother of all mass-produced glasses, including of course today's float glass. That the  $T_{\min}$  constraint represents in contrast a real challenge for CaO-Al2O3-SiO2-based glasses is readily apparent in Figure 6b where only a narrow range around the ternary eutectic between tridymite [SiO<sub>2</sub>], wollastonite [CaSiO<sub>3</sub>], and anorthite [CaAl<sub>2</sub>Si<sub>2</sub>O<sub>8</sub>] qualifies for a successful production. In passing, note that Figure 6b has been calculated by using the thermochemical software and databases FactSage® [23]. The experimental position of the mentioned eutectic is also marked, thus displaying the degree of accuracy that may be expected from the calculation of liquidus for more complex compositions.

# 3.3 Liquid-liquid unmixing

If phase separation within a condensed system most commonly takes place via partial crystallization, it can also occur as liquid–liquid unmixing (Chapter 5.2). Ternary systems containing boron oxide illustrate that the phenomenon should certainly not be overlooked in glassforming systems. For ternary borosilicates, the boundaries of the composition domains where such an unmixing

takes place stably, i.e. above the liquidus, are indicated in Figure 7a. If temperature is represented in a third dimension, these domains define the base areas of immiscibility domes that eventually terminate at upper critical points at their tops. The isotherms of the immiscibility dome in the system  $Na_2O-B_2O_3-SiO_2$ , which is the base composition of all borosilicate glasses, are drawn in Figure 7b. Here, in contrast to Figure 7a, the entire dome comprising its upper critical point (755  $^\circ C$  at composition 25-05-70 by wt) is located below the liquidus surface. Hence, liquid unmixing cannot take place during the initial melting step, but at lower temperatures during the forming process. This is one of the reasons why, in order to minimize phaseseparation effects, pharmaceutical and low-expansion borosilicate glasses are designed around a composition of 80 wt % silica. The system Li<sub>2</sub>O–B<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>–SiO<sub>2</sub> (not shown here) displays a similar topology.

It is only with glasses known under the trade name *Vycor Glass* that liquid unmixing is exploited on purpose. Here, after forming by conventional technology to the desired shape, phase separation develops upon annealing at an appropriate temperature to yield two interconnected phases, namely an Na<sub>2</sub>O- and B<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>-rich glass along with another one that contains more than 96 wt % SiO<sub>2</sub>. Then the former is leached out by a hot strong mineral acid, leaving behind a nanoporous skeleton of high-SiO<sub>2</sub> glass. This material may then be used directly as filter, for example, or sintered at temperatures below 1300 °C to fabricate dense and almost pure silica glass articles much more readily than with pure SiO<sub>2</sub>.

The numerical calculation of liquid–liquid immiscibility ranges in multicomponent systems (e.g. by using the software and databases mentioned in Section 3.2) is even more challenging than the calculation of solid–liquid equilibria. This is because available experimental data hardly reach beyond what has been sketched in the present section, and such a narrow base of information does not allow to fine-tune the parameters used in the calculations.

# 4 Glass Composition – its Relevance to Glass Properties

# 4.1 Property Optimization

Both search and optimization of glass formulae begin with a given profile of target glass properties. In the following, three properties will be addressed as examples typically targeted in glass development, namely the elastic properties, the thermal expansion coefficient, and the chemical durability. From a scientific point of view, such a task should rest on deep insights on the relationships between chemical composition, glass structure, and glass properties. It is only from such a fundamental approach that ground-breaking developments of novel glasses with outstanding properties may be expected. But this goal is still a matter of fundamental research as expounded in the following chapters where this most challenging issue is pursued.

For the time being, however, only few manageable tools and procedures of this kind are available for the technological community. To optimize properties, technologists thus rely largely on empirical approaches whereby, as applied to glass viscosity in Section 3.1, they use incremental oxide factors derived by statistical means from large numbers of experiments. One has, however, to keep in mind that these approaches represent only interpolations of what is already known. Hence, limited areas in compositional space leading to truly outstanding properties should be easily overlooked so that developments similar to the famous low-expansion metallic alloy *Invar* are very unlikely to be found this way.

# 4.2 Elastic Properties

Incremental oxide factors for the calculation of the elastic properties from the composition compiled in the right-hand part of Table 3 are taken from a widely accepted earlier publication [21]; for the sake of clarity, they have been adjusted with respect to the units used, i.e. to  $\text{cm}^3/\text{mol}$  for volume, and to GPa for modulus increments. Young's modulus *E* is then calculated with



**Figure 8** Change of Young's modulus *E* in the base glass composition 74 SiO<sub>2</sub> 10 CaO 16 Na<sub>2</sub>O upon the replacement of *x* wt % silica by another oxide.

$$E = \left[\rho \cdot \sum V(j) \cdot x(j) / \sum M(j) \cdot x(j)\right] \cdot \sum U(j) \cdot x(j),$$
(4)

where x(j) and M(j) are the mole fraction and molar mass of oxide *j*, respectively, and  $\rho$  the density of the glass.

As for Poisson's ratio  $\mu$ , it is calculated as

$$\mu = 0.5 - 0.278 / \left[ \rho \cdot \sum V(j) \cdot x(j) / \sum M(j) \cdot x(j) \right]$$
(5)

The manner in which Young's modulus varies when a glass composition of (74 - x)SiO<sub>2</sub>, 10 CO, 16 Na<sub>2</sub>O (by wt) is modified by an addition of *x* wt % of another oxide is illustrated in Figure 8. Young's modulus can be raised by the addition of P, Li, B, Zr, Mg, and Al oxides, and in contrast lowered by oxides of heavy mono- and divalent ion oxides. True, such small additions do not yield major overall effects but the tendency is clearly shown.

# 4.3 Thermal Expansion Coefficient

Incremental oxide factors for the calculation of the thermal expansion coefficient are compiled in Table 4. Again, the factors are taken from a widely accepted earlier publication [24], see also [15]. When inspecting the entries in Table 4, the reader will notice a number of conditions that have to be obeyed for specific compositions. These conditions reflect intrinsic structural changes, which

**Table 4** Empirical factors for the calculation of the thermal expansion coefficient  $\alpha_{20-300}$  in ppm/K; it is calculated from the molar fractions of oxides *j* like  $\alpha_{20-300} = \sum x(j) \cdot \alpha(j)$ .

Oxide j	Increment $\alpha(j)$	Condition
$SiO_2$	$10.5 - 10 \cdot x(SiO_2)$	$x(SiO_2) > 0.67$
	3.8	Otherwise
$TiO_2$	$10.5 - 15 \cdot x(SiO_2)$	0.5 < x(SiO2) < 0.8
$ZrO_2$	-6.0	
$Al_2O_3$	-3.0	
$B_2O_3$	$-1.26 \cdot \varphi$	$\varphi < 4$
	-5.0	Otherwise
MgO	6.0	
CaO	13.0	
BaO	20.0	
MnO	10.5	
ZnO	5.0	
PbO	13.0	$\sum x(\text{R}_2\text{O}) < 0.03$
	13.0	$(1/\psi) \cdot \sum x(R_2O) < 3$
	$11.5 + 0.5 \cdot \sum x(R_2O)$	Otherwise
Li <sub>2</sub> O	27.0	
Na <sub>2</sub> O	41.0	in Na <sub>2</sub> O–SiO <sub>2</sub>
	39.5	Otherwise
$K_2O$	46.5	in K <sub>2</sub> O-SiO <sub>2</sub>
	42.0	Otherwise

 $\begin{aligned} \varphi &= (\mathrm{Na_2O} + \mathrm{K_2O} + \mathrm{BaO} + 0.7 \cdot \mathrm{CaO} + 0.7 \cdot \mathrm{PbO} + 0.3 \cdot \mathrm{Li_2O} + 0.3 \cdot \mathrm{MgO} + \\ 0.3 \cdot \mathrm{ZnO} - \mathrm{Al_2O_3}) / \mathrm{B_2O_3}; \end{aligned}$ 

 $\psi = \sum (RO + R_2O_3 + R_2O_5);$ 

Oxide amounts to be inserted as molar fractions.

can be understood only if the chapters in Part II are consulted. As an example, the sophisticated condition for the increment of boron oxide by the factor  $\phi$  reflects the expected coordination change between [BO<sub>3</sub>] and [BO<sub>4</sub>] units in the glass (Chapter 7.6). Predictions based on these factors yield estimates of the thermal expansion coefficient within an error margin of  $\pm 0.3$  ppm/K. The effect of addition of x wt % of another oxide is shown in Figure 9 for the base glass composition 74 SiO<sub>2</sub>·10 CaO· (16 - x) Na<sub>2</sub>O. Clearly, alkali oxides raise the thermal expansion coefficient whereas especially oxides of highly charged ions decrease it. Iso lines of the expansion coefficient within the ternary sodium borosilicate system are plotted in Figure 10. Optional compositions for so-called "hard" glasses with  $\alpha = 4 \text{ ppm/K}$  are marked. The base composition 6 Na<sub>2</sub>O·10 B<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>·84 SiO<sub>2</sub> may be considered as a starting point for further adjustment. When taking 6 Na $_2\text{O} \rightarrow 4$  Na $_2\text{O}$ , 10 B $_2\text{O}_3 \rightarrow 13$  B $_2\text{O}_3$ , 84 SiO $_2 \rightarrow$  $81 \operatorname{SiO}_2 + 2 \operatorname{Al}_2 \operatorname{O}_3$ , then the composition obtained is

# 74 SiO<sub>2</sub> (10–x) CaO 16 Na<sub>2</sub>O plus addition x of oxide of labeled cation



**Figure 9** Change of the thermal expansion coefficient  $\alpha_{20-300}$  in the base glass composition 74 SiO<sub>2</sub> 10 CaO 16 Na<sub>2</sub>O upon the replacement of *x* wt % of calcia by another oxide.

Thermal expansion coefficient  $\alpha$  in the system Na<sub>2</sub> O–B<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>–SiO<sub>2</sub>



**Figure 10** Ternary composition diagram of the system Na<sub>2</sub>O–B<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>– SiO<sub>2</sub> showing iso lines of the thermal expansion coefficient  $\alpha_{20-300}$ ; base glass compositions reaching coefficient  $\alpha_{20-300} = 4.0$  ppm/K are highlighted; the further development strategy toward an industrial product is sketched in the upper right corner and indicated by the arrow.



**Figure 11** Hydrolytic stability of different pure oxides in aqueous solution as a function of pH; the stability is given in terms of Gibbs energy of hydration  $\Delta G_{hydr}$ , negative values of  $\Delta G_{hydr}$  are plotted against pH to make the most stable cases appear at the bottom of the graphs.

indeed very similar to those of the commercial products *Duran* or *Pyrex* having a thermal coefficient of expansion  $\alpha_{20-300} = 3.3 \text{ ppm/K}$  between 20 and 300 °C.

# 4.4 Chemical Durability

Chemical durability is a very complex property. Attempts at generating an oxide increment system for the prediction of this property are not recommended because the most basic information on chemical durability must reflect the stability of a glass in strong acids, neutral water, and strong caustic solutions. Irrespective of their role in the glass structure, even pure oxides exhibit quite a complicated stability pattern as a function of the solution pH. This is shown in Figure 11 (from [25], revised version). Clearly, a general statement like "alumina enhances the chemical durability of a glass" is erroneous. It is true, alumina enhances the chemical durability under moderately acid to fairly caustic conditions, but it destabilizes a glass exposed to strong acids. Anyway, Figure 11 provides a first guideline of the effect which may be expected from a specific oxide in a given pH range, and hence, to base a first step of development on this information. In Chapter 5.11, the approach is further elaborated.

# 5 Perspectives

Challenges for future development mainly deal with the extension of both thermochemical and thermophysical databases for glass-forming systems. The usefulness of phase diagrams and of thermochemical calculations for glass development has been demonstrated. Yet, when it comes to the databases on which the calculations of phase diagrams rest, a severe lack of results for multicomponent melts relevant to the glass industry is felt. This situation is

due to the fact that the extension of databases is chiefly driven by the financially potent metallurgical industry whose compositional focus distinctly differs from the needs of the glass industry. A reliable approach to liquidus temperatures, even for the conventional container, float, or fiber glass branches, would open doors for significant process improvements, resulting in enhanced sand dissolution upon melting, higher pull rates, energy saving, enhanced glass quality, and reduced loss of expensive glass contact materials like platinum.

Whereas thermochemical data sets (standard enthalpies and entropies,  $C_{\rm P}$  polynomials) are available for about 6000 mineral substances, thermophysical standard data sets (including stiffness parameters, and their temperature coefficients) hardly exceed a number of a few hundreds only [26]. From such data, glass technologists might learn how the local atomic structure of a material in general influences the resulting mechanical properties. Thus, to date, the intense quest for stronger glasses rests on an extremely narrow scientific basis. The same is true for the adjustment of the thermal expansion coefficient of solder glasses and substrate glasses to contact materials with very high or very low thermal expansion coefficient (like copper, alumina, steel, or silica glass, low-expansion glass ceramics, respectively).

As stated above, as useful as the conventional oxide increment systems may be in the daily routine of industrial glass development, an approach to truly novel glass compositions with outstanding properties must be based on a deep understanding of the relation between chemical composition, structure, and properties. This is where the field of atomistic simulation should play a decisive role in a near future (cf. Chapters 2.7 and 2.8). The challenge for the coming decades thus consists in developing first-principles tools suitable for industrial applications.
Beyond this, new glass-forming systems with a high potential for application as functional materials are being developed. As described in Chapter 8.9, an important group with relevance at the industrial scale (not shown in the scheme of Figure 1) are hybrid glasses combining both inorganic and organic bonds in their structure. Such glasses have been synthesized via a sol–gel route for a long time (Chapter 8.2); recently, systems accessible by melting have been presented [27].

## References

- Shakhmatkin, B.A., Vedishcheva, N.M., and Wright, A.C. (2001). Thermodynamic modeling of the structure of glasses and melts, single-component, binary and ternary systems. *J. Non-Cryst. Solids* 293–295: 312–317.
- 2 Levin, E.M., Robin, C.R., McMurdie, H.F. et al. (eds.) (1964). *Phase Diagrams for Ceramists*, vol. I–XIV. Westerwille, OH: The American Ceramic Society. also available as: Phase Equilibria Diagrams, CD-ROM Database 4.1.
- 3 Mills, K.C. (1995). Viscosities of molten slags. In: *Slag Atlas*, 2e (ed. M. Allibert), 349–402. Düsseldorf: Verlag Stahleisen.
- 4 Kubaschweski, O., Alcock, C.B., and Spencer, P.J. (1993). Materials Thermochemistry. London: Pergamon Press.
- **5** Babushkin, V.I., Matveyev, G.M., and Mchedlov-Petrossyan, O.P. (1985). *Thermodynamics of Silicates*. Berlin: Springer.
- 6 Robie, R.A., Hemingway, B.S., and Fisher, J.R. (1978). Thermodynamic Properties of Minerals and Related Substances at 298.15 K and 1 bar (10<sup>5</sup> Pascals) Pressure and at Higher Temperatures, U.S. Geological Survey Bulletin, vol. 1452. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- 7 Barin, I., Knacke, O., and Kubaschewski, O. (1973 and 1977). *Thermochemical Properties of Inorganic Substance*. Berlin: Springer.
- 8 Chase, M.W. Jr., Davies, C.A., Downey, J.R. Jr. et al. (1986). *JANAF Thermochemical Tables*, 3e, vol. 2 vols. New York: American Institute of Physics.
- 9 Conradt, R. (2008). The industrial glass melting process. In: *The SGTE Casebook. Thermodynamics at Work* (ed. K. Hack), 282–303. Boca Raton: CRC Press.
- 10 Eitel, W., Pirani, M., and Scheel, K. (1932). *Glastechnische Tabellen*. Berlin: Springer.
- 11 Morey, G.W. (1938). *The Properties of Glass*. New York: Reinhold Publishing Corporation.
- 12 Mazurin, C.V., Streltsina, M.V., and Shvaiko-Shvaikovskaya, T.P. (1983). *Handbook of Glass Data. Pt.*

A: Silica Glass and Binary Silicate Glasses. Pt. B: Single-Component and Binary Non-silicate Oxide Glasses. Pt. C: Ternary Silicate Glasses. Pt. D: Ternary Non-silicate Glasses. Pt. E: Single-Component, Binary, and Ternary Oxide Glasses. Amsterdam: Elsevier, Engl. tr. 1983–93.

- 13 Bansal, N.P. and Doremus, R.H. (1986). *Handbook of Glass Properties*. New York: Academic Press.
- 14 Pye, D.L. (2005). Properties of Glass-Forming Melts (eds. A. Montenaro and I. Joseph). Boca Raton, Florida: CRC Press.
- 15 Scholze, H. (1990). *Glass. Nature, Structure, and Properties.* Berlin: Springer.
- **16** Volf, M.B. (1988). *Mathematical Approach to Glass*. Amsterdam: Elsevier.
- 17 Volf, M.B. (1984). *Chemical Approach to Glass.* Amsterdam: Elsevier.
- 18 Seward, T.P. III and Vascott, T.P. (eds.) (2005). *High-Temperature Glass Melt Property Database for Modeling*. Westerville, Ohio: The American Ceramic Society.
- 19 Lakatos, T., Johansson, L.G., and Simmingsköld, B. (1981). Viscosity and liquidus temperature relations in the mineral wool part of the system SiO<sub>2</sub>-Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>-CaO-MgO-Alkalies-FeO-Fe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>. *Glastek. Tidskr.* 36: 51–55.
- 20 Hack, K. (ed.) (2008). *The SGTE Casebook. Thermodynamics at Work*. Boca Raton: CRC Press.
- 21 Makishima, A. and Mackenzie, J.D. (1973). Direct calculation of Young's modulus of glass. *J. Non-Cryst. Solids* 12: 35–45.
- 22 Makishima, A. and Mackenzie, J.D. (1975). Calculation of bulk modulus, shear modulus and Poisson's ratio of glass. *J. Non-Cryst. Solids* 17: 147–157.
- 23 Bale, C.W., Bélisle, E., Chartrand, P. et al. (2009).
   FactSage thermochemical software and database recent developments. *Calphad* 33: 295–311.
- 24 Appen, A.A. (1949). Calculation of optical properties, density and thermal expansion of silicate glasses on the base of their composition. Rep. Acad. Sci. USSR 69: 841–844.
- 25 Conradt, R. (1999). Thermodynamics of glass corrosion. In: Analysis of the Composition and Structure of Glass and Glass Ceramics (eds. H. Bach and D. Krause), 435–446. Berlin: Springer.
- 26 Bass, J.D. (1995). Elasticity of minerals, glasses, and melts. In: *Mineral Physics & Crystallography: A Handbook of Physical Constants* (ed. T.J. Ahrens), 45–63. Washington, DC: American Geophysical Union.
- **27** Bennet, T.D., Tan, J.-C., Yue, Y. et al. (2015). Hybrid glasses from strong and fragile metal-organic framework liquids. *Nature Comm.* 6: 8079.

## **Raw Materials for Glassmaking: Properties and Constraints**

Simonpietro Di Pierro

EMC2 Department, Saint-Gobain Research Paris, Aubervilliers, France

## 1 Introduction

Even though industrial glasses may now be transported across the planet, glassmaking tends to remain a local industry. When selecting their raw materials, glassmakers target specific oxides or elements to fit quantitatively a calculated recipe [1, 2] by paying special attention not only to their composition and quality but, of course, also to their price. Raw materials in effect may represent up to one third of the total cost of glassmaking, strongly depending on local geographical and logistic conditions such as quarry-to-plant distance or transportation mode, which can be by waterways, rail, or truck. This concern holds especially true for commodity products which, like hollow ware, are facing fierce competition from metal or plastic materials.

Natural materials are in principle favored because, like for the mineral resources used in metallurgy or cement industry, their extraction, milling, and transportation are relatively inexpensive operations compared to the fabrication cost of synthetic materials. Some of the raw materials used in glassmaking must nonetheless be man-made when their natural counterparts are rare, geographically restrained, or of an insufficient purity. As such, their price can dramatically increase the overall batch cost. For instance, synthetic sodium carbonate may constitute up to 50 % of the total batch cost for window or bottle glass, whereas it constitutes less than 14 wt % of the recipe.

After batch preparation, melting and subsequent chemical homogenization are complex processes whose kinetics depend on a number of factors. The grain size distribution of raw materials is particularly important in this respect as the main starting product, quartz, dissolves into the forming melt at a rate of only a few hundred µm per hour, so that pull rates tremendously decrease with increasing grain size. The impurity content is another fundamental issue. As natural products, most raw materials are far from being pure chemicals. The infusible minerals they may bring in have a very high likelihood of surviving the glassmaking process and, therefore, of causing inacceptable production losses even when present at the ppb levels. Other impurities such as iron metal originate in the initial processing of the raw materials. In any case, impurities may cause raw materials to depart from the specified physical and chemical properties. Production yield and quality can then be strongly impacted.

Since many parameters may have either positive or negative consequences if not properly mastered, an in-depth knowledge of the chemical and physical properties of raw materials is necessary. In this chapter, the main chemical, physical, engineering, and economic criteria pertaining to raw materials specifications will thus be reviewed. Because high production yields cannot be obtained without high-quality and permanently controlled raw materials, attention will be paid to production problems most commonly met if the specifications and management of raw materials are not respected. The focus will be here on the raw materials used for silicate glasses manufactured in very large quantities. For specialty glasses, the reader is referred to the chapters that deal specifically with optical fibers (Chapter 6.4), chalcogenide (Chapter 6.5) or metallic glasses (Chapter 7.10), sol-gel products (Chapter 8.2), or bioglass (Chapter 8.4).

Reviewers: P. Christmann, Strategy direction, B.R.G.M., Orléans Cedex 2, France

O. Vidal, C.N.R.S., Institut des Sciences de la Terre de Grenoble, Gières, France

## 2 Raw-material Specifications

#### 2.1 The Specificity of Raw Materials

A very great many different raw materials can be used today for batch preparation (Table 1). On a chemical and mineralogical basis, they can be classified as silicates, carbonates, borates, oxides, and hydroxides. Recycled glass, known as *cullet* (cf. Chapter 9.9), as well as industrial by-products such as metallurgical slags can in addition enter the batch preparation as amorphous and chemically complex materials. As apparent in Figure 1, the compositions of these materials do not match those of the main glass products, which may thus need up to a dozen ingredients for batch preparation. Even the most common soda-lime silica glasses, circled in Figure 1, manufactured for building (windows), automotive (windshields), packaging (bottles), and solar (photo-voltaic panels) applications, require several of them.

Each raw material plays a specific role. Most of them, as oxides, form the building blocks of the glass network as formers or modifiers (see Chapters 20.4 and 2.5), but among the latter some act as fluxes (alkalis), strengthening agents (alkaline earths), refiners (Na sulfate, Sb, Sn, As oxides), reducers (coke, slags), or even as oxidizing, O<sub>2</sub>-releasing (BaNO<sub>3</sub>), or coloring (Fe, Cr, Mn, Co, etc.) agents.

Raw materials react in specific ways within the batch. Some are strongly hygroscopic, influencing as such the rheology and homogeneity of the still solid batch. As a matter of fact, water is present in most of the raw materials used to produce glass as either free water (moisture) or bound in the crystal structure of minerals. This essential and unavoidable component is crucial in rawmaterial management since it minimizes the formation of dust at both the batch plant and the dog-house (entrance of the furnace) levels, but it may also contribute to the formation of lumps made of the most hygroscopic materials, increasing the heterogeneity of the batch at the very beginning of melting. Furthermore, as a result, the batch may contain up to few wt% of water, whereas there are less than  $1000 \text{ ppm H}_2\text{O}$  in the final glass. Removing the water in excess may cost much in terms of both energy and furnace refractories, which may be corroded by acids such as HF and HCl formed when water reacts with other volatile components of the batch.

Without taking into account the formation of intermediate products, the overall meltability of the raw materials is highly variable [3]: H<sub>2</sub>O is released at around 100 °C; the deshydroxilation of OH-bearing minerals takes place at 400–800 °C; carbonates release large quantities of CO<sub>2</sub> at 700–900 °C; feldspars melt below 1200 °C; the other silicates are dissolved in the pre-existing glass melt above that range; bauxite has an even stronger refractory character, needing temperature above  $1300 \degree C$  to be digested by the surrounding liquid (cf. the DSC thermogram of Figure 3, in Chapter. 1.5).

Suppliers of raw materials process their products through several steps to match their customers' specifications [4]. First, rocks containing the desired raw material(s) are blasted or excavated. The bulk material so extracted is then retrieved, crushed, ground, screened, and sorted to achieve the required grain size, washed, dried, or dewatered before being stockpiled and transported in big bags or in bulk. In some cases a physical and/or chemical beneficiation stage may be needed to achieve the required specifications, especially to remove unwanted impurities. All these steps can have an impact on the final quality of the raw materials in terms of presence of impurities and heterogeneities.

#### 2.2 Grain Size

The particle (or grain) size distribution (PSD) is a crucial parameter of individual raw materials. The required PSD may be costly to achieve. It primarily depends on the hardness of the bulk material, which in turn roughly correlates with its melting temperature [5]. As examples, Kfeldspar has a hardness of 6 (out of a maximum of 10) on the Mohs scale and melts at about 1200 °C, guartz has a hardness of 7 and melts above 1700 °C (in the form of cristobalite), whereas corundum ( $\alpha$ -Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>) has a hardness of 9 and melts above 2000 °C. Hence, the glassmaker determines the final PSD of the raw material as a compromise between meltability, furnace technology, and price (cost) while also limiting the unnecessary fines that generate dust and furnace carryovers. For specific applications, the glassmaker may in addition request the supplier of raw material to cut the lower end of the PSD to get totally rid of dust from fines.

The sieve PSD curves of a variety of important raw materials are compared in Figure 2 to illustrate their variations with composition and overall batch meltability. The median diameter representing 50% of a sieved raw material is termed D50. For quartz, it ranges from 200 to 300  $\mu$ m when sand is used for standard window or bottle glass but is much lower at 50–100  $\mu$ m for the flour, for instance, used as SiO<sub>2</sub>-carrier for E-glass fiber, a peraluminous, boron-bearing, alkaline earth silicate (Chapter 1.5). At the other end, the D50 of limestone and dolomite may exceed 1 mm and that of basalt for insulating glass applications may even be 10 times larger because chemical heterogeneities are in this case much smaller than within a mixture of raw materials.

 Table 1 Natural and synthetic raw materials compositions and prices.

Oxide	Raw material	Bulk chemistry	Overall mineralogy	Sp – Fr – It – De	Price €/ <i>T</i> ∗
SiO <sub>2</sub>	Quartz-sand	>95 % SiO <sub>2</sub> ; H <sub>2</sub> O, Al <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> , RO, R <sub>2</sub> O, Fe <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub>	Quartz, free-water, mica, feldspars	Arena – Sable – Sabbia – Sand	20–200€/T
	Sandstone	>95 % SiO <sub>2</sub> ; H <sub>2</sub> O, Al <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> , RO, R <sub>2</sub> O, Fe <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub>	Quartz, mica, feldspars, FeTi-oxides, free-water	Arenisca – Grès – Arenaria – Sandstein	
	Quartzite	>95 % SiO <sub>2</sub> ; H <sub>2</sub> O, Al <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> , RO, R <sub>2</sub> O, Fe <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub>	Quartz, mica, feldspars, FeTi-oxides	Cuarcita – Quartzite – Quarzite – Quarzit	
Al <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> , R <sub>2</sub> O	Feldspar (concentrates from greywacke, arkose, pegmatite, granite, etc.)	17–20 % Al <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> ; 11–15 % R <sub>2</sub> O; <65 % SiO <sub>2</sub> ; H <sub>2</sub> O; Fe <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> , TiO <sub>2</sub> , CaO	Alkali-feldspars [(K,Na)AlSi <sub>3</sub> O <sub>8</sub> : orthoclase, microcline, sanidine, albite, and their solid solutions], quartz (15–20%), micas. Li-rich (up to 1.5 wt %) contain spodumene, petalite, or lepidolite (Li-mica), mainly.	Feldespato – Feldspath – Feldspato – Feldspat	80–150€/ <i>T</i>
	Nepheline(-syenite)	20–26 % Al <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> ; 15–18 % R <sub>2</sub> O; <56 % SiO <sub>2</sub> ; H <sub>2</sub> O; Fe <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> , TiO <sub>2</sub> , CaO	Alkali-feldspars $[(K,Na)AlSi_3O_8:$ microcline, sanidine, albite, and their solid solutions], alkali-feldspatoids $[(K,Na)AlSiO_4:$ nepheline, kalsilite, and their solid solutions], micas, titanite, perovskite, garnet, zircon, apatite, REE-silicates. Silica undersaturated = no quartz	Nefelina – Néphéline – Nefelina – Nephelin	100–130€/ <i>T</i>
	Phonolite	20–26 % Al <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> ; 15–18 % R <sub>2</sub> O; <56 % SiO <sub>2</sub> ; H <sub>2</sub> O; Fe <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> , TiO <sub>2</sub> , CaO	Alkali-feldspars [(K,Na)AlSi <sub>3</sub> O <sub>8</sub> : sanidine, albite, and their solid,solutions], alkali-feldspatoids [(K,Na)AlSiO <sub>4</sub> : nepheline, kalsilite, and their solid,solutions], leucite KAlSi <sub>2</sub> O <sub>6</sub> , sodalite, haüyne, carnegeite, micas, amphibole, pyroxene, titanite, ilmenite, perovskite. Silica undersaturated = no quartz	Fonolita – Phonolite – Fonolite – Phonolith	60−70€/ <i>T</i>
	Anorthosite	<30 % Al <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> , <15 % CaO, <45 % SiO <sub>2</sub> , Fe <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> , R <sub>2</sub> O, MgO	Anorthite $CaAl_2Si_2O_8$ , pyroxene, amphibole		
$Al_2O_3$	Bauxite (raw or calcined)	40 % < Al_2O_3 < 80 %; 10–15 % Fe_2O_3; H_2O; SiO_2	Gibbsite Al(OH) <sub>3</sub> , diaspore $\alpha$ -AlO(OH), boehmite y-AlO(OH), bayerite, corundum, goethite, hematite, kaolin, anatase	Bauxita – Bauxite – Bauxite – Bauxit	250–400€/ <i>T</i>
	Hydrated alumina	>60 % Al <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> , H <sub>2</sub> O, Fe <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> , SiO <sub>2</sub>	$Al(OH)_3$ polymorphs		250–300€/T
	Calcined alumina	99 % Al <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> , Fe <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> , SiO <sub>2</sub>	Corundum		500–600€/T
	Kaoline	>45 % SiO <sub>2</sub> , >35 % Al <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> , 13–14 % H <sub>2</sub> O, Fe <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub>	Kaolinite $Al_2Si_2O_5(OH)_4$ , quartz	Caolín – Kaolin – Caolino – Kaolin	100−300 $€/T$
	Pyrophyllite	>65 % SiO <sub>2</sub> , >25 % Al <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> , H <sub>2</sub> O	Pyrophyllite Al <sub>2</sub> Si <sub>4</sub> O <sub>10</sub> (OH) <sub>2</sub> , quartz		

(Continued)

Table 1 (Continued)

Oxide	Raw material	Bulk chemistry	Overall mineralogy	Sp – Fr – It – De	Price €/ <i>T</i> ∗
Na <sub>2</sub> O	Na-carbonate (soda ash)	58 % Na <sub>2</sub> O, 42 % CO <sub>2</sub>	Natrite $Na_2CO_3$ , natron $Na_2(CO_3) \cdot 10 H_2O$ , trona $Na_2CO_3 \cdot NaHCO_3 \cdot 2 H_2O$	Soda – Na-carbonate (Soude) – Soda – Soda	150–300 €/T
	Albite	67 % SiO <sub>2</sub> , 20 % Al <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> , 11 % Na <sub>2</sub> O, K <sub>2</sub> O	Albite NaAlSi <sub>3</sub> O <sub>8</sub>		
$K_2O$	K-carbonate	58 % K <sub>2</sub> O, 42 % CO <sub>2</sub>	$K_2CO_3$	Potasa – Potasse – Potassio – Pottasche	500–1500 €/T
CaO	Limestone	56 % CaO, 44 % CO <sub>2</sub> , MgO, SiO <sub>2</sub>	Calcite CaCO <sub>3</sub> , dolomite, quartz	Caliza – Calcaire – Calcare – Kalkstein	20–40 €/T
	Burnt lime	>98 % CaO, H <sub>2</sub> O	CaO, Ca(OH) <sub>2</sub>	Cal – Chaux – Calce – gebranntes Kalk	
	Marble	56 % CaO, 44 % CO <sub>2</sub> , MgO, SiO <sub>2</sub>	Calcite CaCO <sub>3</sub> , dolomite, quartz	Marmol – Marbre – Marmo – Marmor	
	Wollastonite	48 % CaO, 52 % SiO <sub>2</sub>	Wollastonite CaSiO <sub>3</sub>		80–450 €/T
MgO	Dolomite	30 % CaO, 22 % MgO, 47 % CO <sub>2</sub> , SiO <sub>2</sub>	Dolomite CaMg(CO <sub>3</sub> ) <sub>2</sub>	Dolomie – Dolomie – Dolomia – Dolomit	20–40 €/T
	Magnesite	48 % MgO, 52 % CO <sub>2</sub> , CaO	Magnesite MgCO <sub>3</sub>		250–400 €/ <i>T</i>
	Talc	32 % MgO, 63 % SiO <sub>2</sub> , <5 % H <sub>2</sub> O	Talc Mg <sub>3</sub> Si <sub>4</sub> O <sub>10</sub> (OH) <sub>2</sub>	Talco – Talc – Talco – Talk	100–300 $\in/T$
	Basalt	<10 % MgO, <15 % Al <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> , <12 % Fe <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> , <12 % CaO, <44 % SiO <sub>2</sub> , TiO <sub>2</sub> , R <sub>2</sub> O	Olivine, pyroxene, plagioclase, amphibole	Basalto – Basalte – Basalto – Basalt	10–20 €/ <i>T</i>
Li <sub>2</sub> O	Li-carbonate	40 % Li <sub>2</sub> O, 60 % CO <sub>2</sub>	Zabuyelite Li <sub>2</sub> CO <sub>3</sub> , Li(OH) <sub>2</sub>		5000–5020 k €/T
	Spodumene (concentrate from pegmatite)	7 % Li_2O, 27 % Al_2O_3, 65 % SiO_2	Spodumene LiAlSi <sub>2</sub> O <sub>6</sub> , quartz		900–1000 €/ <i>T</i>
	Petalite (concentrate from pegmatite)	4 % Li_2O, 16 % Al_2O_3, 78 % SiO_2	Petalite LiAlSi <sub>4</sub> O <sub>10</sub>		800–900 €/T
$B_2O_3$	Colemanite	50 % $\mathrm{B_2O_3}$ , 27 % CaO, 20 % H_2O, SiO_2	$Ca_2B_6O_{11}$ ·5 H <sub>2</sub> O, $Ca_2B_6O_8(OH)_6$ ·2 H <sub>2</sub> O		400−600 $€/T$
	Ulexite	42 % B <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> , 13 % CaO, 35 % H <sub>2</sub> O, 7 % Na <sub>2</sub> O	$NaCaB_5O_6(OH)_6{\cdot}5H_2O$		350–450 €/ <i>T</i>
	Borax	35 % $\mathrm{B_2O_3}$ , 45 % $\mathrm{H_2O}$ , 15 % $\mathrm{Na_2O}$	$Na_2B_4O_7$ 10 $H_2O$ , $Na_2B_4O_5(OH)_4$ · 8 $H_2O$	Borax – Borax – Borace – Borax	350–500 €/T
	Boric acid	56 % B <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> , 44 % H <sub>2</sub> O	Sassolite $H_3BO_3$	Acido borico – Acide borique – Acido borico – Borsäure	650–1000 €/T
BaO	Ba-nitrate	58 % BaO, 42 % NOx	$BaNO_3$		1200–1300 €/T

	Ba-carbonate	78 % BaO, 22 % CO <sub>2</sub>	Witherite $BaCO_3$		350–800 €/T
F	Fluorspar	49 % F, 72 % CaO equivalent	Fluorite CaF <sub>2</sub>	Fluorita – Spath Fluor – Fluorite – Flußspath	300 €/ <i>T</i>
$SO_3$	Na sulphate	56 % SO <sub>3</sub> , 44 % Na <sub>2</sub> O	Thenardite Na <sub>2</sub> SO <sub>4</sub>	Sulfato – Solphate – Solfato – Sulfat	100 €/T
	Gypsum	46 % SO3, 32 % CaO, 21 % $\rm H_2O$	Gypsum CaSO <sub>4</sub> ·2H <sub>2</sub> O	Yeso – Gypse – Gesso – Gips	$10 \in T$
	Anhydrite	59 % SO <sub>3</sub> , 41 % CaO	Anhydrite CaSO <sub>4</sub>	Anhidrita – Anhydrite – Anidrite – Anhydrit	30 €/T
$Fe_2O_3$	Iron-oxide	>98 % Fe <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> , FeO	Hematite Fe <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> , magnetite	Hierro – Fér – Ferro – Eisen	100−2000 €/ $T$
$Cr_2O_3$	Chromite	68 % Cr <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> , 32 % FeO	Chromite FeCr <sub>2</sub> O <sub>4</sub> , (Fe,Mg)(Cr,Al,Fe) <sub>2</sub> O <sub>4</sub> magnesio- chromite – spinel solid solution	Cromita – Chromite – Cromite – Chromit	300–500 €/ <i>T</i>
$TiO_2$	Rutile	>98 % TiO <sub>2</sub> , Fe <sub>2</sub> O3	Rutile TiO <sub>2</sub> , anatase, ilmenite, titanite	Rutilo – Rutile – Rutilo – Rutil	1400–1500 €/T
	Ilmenite	52 % TiO <sub>2</sub> , 48 % FeO, SiO <sub>2</sub>	Ilmenite FeTiO <sub>3</sub>		150−200 €/ $T$
$ZrO_2$	Zircon	70 % ZrO <sub>2</sub> , 30 % SiO <sub>2</sub> , HfO <sub>2</sub> , REE, Fe <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> , TiO <sub>2</sub>	Zircon ZrSiO <sub>4</sub>	Circón – Zircon – Zircone – Zirkon	1100–1200 €/T
$P_2O_5$	Ca-phosphate	35 % < $\rm P_2O_5$ < 45 %, 35 % < CaO < 45 %, R_2O, H_2O, F	Apatite Ca <sub>5</sub> (PO <sub>4</sub> ) <sub>3</sub> (OH, F, Cl)	Fosfato – Phosphate – Fosfato – Phosphat	500–1000 €/ <i>T</i>
$V_2O_5$	Vanadium-oxide	>98 % V <sub>2</sub> O <sub>5</sub>			15,500 €/T
С	Coke	>90 % fixed-C	Coke		100–200 €/T
Reducers	Slag	30–40 % CaO, 30–40 % SiO <sub>2</sub> , 10–15 % Al <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub>	Glass		50–200 €/T
$O_2$	Cassiterite	>98 % SnO <sub>2</sub>	Cassiterite SnO <sub>2</sub>		16,000 €/ <i>T</i>
	As-oxide, As acid	>98 % As <sub>2</sub> O <sub>5</sub>			>2500 €/T
	Sb-oxide	>98 % Sb <sub>2</sub> O <sub>5</sub>			
Colorants	Se, Co, Cu, Cd, Mn				

Prices only indicative as actual quotations strongly depend on quality (grain size distribution, iron content, and overall impurities), volumes, transportation costs (quarry-to-plant distance and transportation mode) and, of course, market-price fluctuations. RO = CaO and MgO; R<sub>2</sub>O = Na<sub>2</sub>O + K<sub>2</sub>O.



Figure 1 Comparison between the compositions of the main raw materials used in glassmaking and those of some important glass products as projected in the pseudo-ternary  $Al_2O_3-R_2O +$ CaO-SiO<sub>2</sub> diagram.

**Figure 2** Sieve particle size distribution (PSD) curves of the main raw materials used in glassmaking (<40  $\mu$ m laser PSD domain). The D50 is the median diameter representing 50% of a sieved raw material. The steeper the curve, the more homogeneous is the PSD.

## 2.3 Operational Parameters

Another crucial feature the glassmaker has to consider for raw-material management is the mass budget. It is common knowledge that to produce 1 ton of new, cullet-free glass, one needs around 1.2 tons of raw materials. The  $\sim 20$  wt % mass loss is mostly due to CO<sub>2</sub> released by Na, Ca, and Mg carbonates. Besides free or bound water, raw materials may in addition contain other volatile components such as unbatched carbon, fluorine, chlorine, sulfur, or boron. When present in traces, these components are not detected through standard chemical analyses (Chapter 5.1) but can nonetheless be quantified as loss on ignition (LOI) above 1000 °C. It is an important specification negotiated with the raw-material supplier since the glassmaker needs it to calculate the total mass budget of the process, including the chimney emissions that are most frequently submitted to regulatory obligations. Because the large majority of industrial glasses are oxides, they are manufactured under oxidizing conditions. The oxygen budget is a key element to control the combustion process and, thus, melting temperatures, as well as the overall color and optical transmission of the glass, which markedly depend on redox conditions ([6], Chapter 5.6). This feature is particularly important for applications such as solar panels, and is essential for glasses made with  $O_2$ -sensitive raw materials such as coloring agents and those that contain a significant fraction of multivalent elements.

For these reasons the glassmaker must take particular care of the total chemical oxygen demand (COD) whose proper analysis is mandatory for certain raw materials entering the batch calculation. The cullet may, for instance, contain significant amounts of organic components, such as PVC, paper, or any other residues from the downstream industrial chain. Metals, besides being detrimental to the overall quality of the glass, are oxygen sinks so that they may locally shift the overall redox budget of the process when they are oxidized. For iron as a coloring agent, for example, one cannot use iron metal, whatever its grain size, but iron oxides instead. Bearing only Fe<sup>3+</sup>, hematite (Fe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>) is generally selected along with magnetite  $[Fe_3O_4]$  whose mixed  $Fe^{3+}$ ,  $Fe^{2+}$  valence states make it suitable for reduced compositions such as amber-glass bottles. In contrast, wüstite  $[FeO_{1-x}]$  is generally of very limited use.

Finally, the apparent density is another factor needing to be specified simply because it must be known to dimension the silos where the raw materials are stockpiled at the plant site. As an example, the bulk density of quartz is 2.65 g/cm<sup>3</sup>. Depending on grain shapes and contact angles, that of dry quartz sand is in contrast lower than 2 as a result of a high open porosity. Practically this means that a sand-storage silo must be at least 32% bigger than estimated from the quartz density.

## 3 From Raw Materials to Melt

## 3.1 Effects of Digestion Kinetics

The sum of the oxide contents listed in Table 1 (column "bulk chemistry") is always lower than 100 wt %. The missing few percent mainly relate to impurities. Although it would be tempting to consider them as negligible for the overall glassmaking process, these are actually significant as illustrated by building and automotive glasses, which are manufactured with the float process (Chapter 1.3). Under standard market conditions, a float line averages 600–700 tons of daily production. This pull rate requires to introduce between 500 and 600 tons of quartz sand daily into the melter. With a SiO<sub>2</sub> content

of 99%, about 5 tons of impurities are then introduced at the same time. Even with an expensive 99.9% quartz, there remains about half a ton of impurities. These include different minerals, highly dispersed and diluted in the bulk, some of which may simply be incompatible with the glassmaking process because refractory materials are too slowly digested by the surrounding alkali-rich molten glass.

Even quartz does not melt during the glassmaking process, but is digested at rates of a few hundred µm per hour at 1400 °C [7]. It follows that 1 mm-sized quartz grain will need hours to be completely digested. That is why raw-material suppliers sieve and sort their products, and why the maximum PSD of quartz sand is fixed at less than 1 mm by glassmakers. But dissolution rates are typically as low as a few µm per hour for commonly found heavy minerals such as corundum [ $\alpha$ -Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>]; zircon [ZrSiO<sub>4</sub>]; kyanite, sillimanite, and andalusite [the Al<sub>2</sub>SiO<sub>5</sub> polymorphs]; spinel [MgAl<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub>]; and chromite [FeCr<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub>]. Now, corundum, for instance, melts at above 2000 °C whereas the glass temperature does not exceed 1500 °C at the hottest point in a melter where the average residence time of the batch is at most a few hours. As a consequence, part of the corundum introduced as mm-sized grains would survive the glassmaking process and occurs in the final product as tiny inclusions, causing mechanical stress and impairing the optical quality. Such a product would not reach the customer to be discarded instead to the internal recycling circuit or, in the worst cases, to be dumped.

The impact of such impurities may indeed be very serious. Consider a 20 m<sup>2</sup>, 5-mm thick float-glass slab. With a volume of about 0.1 m<sup>3</sup>, its weight is 200 kg and requires 170 kg of quartz sand to be made. If on average a single mm-sized grain of chromite was present in 1 kg of the sand, then the 20 m<sup>2</sup> slab would display 170 dot-like defects of chromite. It would clearly be unsellable since current specifications dictate that at most one dot-like defect be present in 100 m<sup>2</sup> of glass. To meet glassmaking specifications, raw materials thus have to be purified by the suppliers through flotation and other costly operations [4].

## 3.2 Quantification of Heavy Minerals

One finds approximately  $150 \times 10^6$  grains of quartz in 1 kg of fine sand [4]. In such a population it is obvious that one cannot detect one grain of chromite or other impurity by routine chemical analysis. To detect these minerals at the part-per-billion (ppb) level, one rather takes advantage of the fact that they are denser, or even much denser than quartz (e.g. corundum: ~4 g/cm<sup>3</sup>; chromite: ~5 g/cm<sup>3</sup>). One can thus concentrate them by immersing the test powder in a liquid with a density slightly higher than that

of quartz, which will then float while heavier minerals will sink, allowing the harmful ones to be identified and quantified with standard methods such as optical microscopy, Raman spectroscopy, or electron microscopy [8]. For this purpose, the most frequently used liquids have long been bromoform (CHBr<sub>3</sub>) and diiodomethane [CH<sub>2</sub>I<sub>2</sub>, also called methylene iodide], whose room-temperature densities of 2.9 and 3.3 g/cm<sup>3</sup>, respectively, can be slightly lowered through mixing with lighter ethanol [C<sub>2</sub>H<sub>6</sub>O]. Because strict precautions must be observed to handle these toxic liquids, however, sodium polytungstate [SPT,  $3 \text{ Na}_2\text{WO}_4 \cdot 9 \text{ WO}_3 \cdot \text{H}_2\text{O}$ ] has become an efficient alternative [9], thanks to the fact that this salt can readily dissolve in distilled water to yield liquids with a maximum density of  $3.1 \text{ g/cm}^3$ .

Proper sampling of raw materials [4] thus is needed to guarantee their conformity with regard to possible geological heterogeneity and product variability at the quarry level. It relies on suitable quartering techniques to obtain a true fingerprint of the mineralogy of all raw materials from which incorporation of harmful species may be ruled out or at least minimized. In other words, heavymineral content is an overwhelming and crucial specification concerning the physical and chemical properties that must be guaranteed by a producer of raw materials, especially when fabrication of a new glass has to be tested. Not complying with these specifications can generate longlasting yield drops and large financial losses for the glassmaker. Since glassmakers constantly need to diversify and secure their supplies of raw materials, heavy-mineral characterization must routinely be operated by wellequipped internal or academic laboratories.

Of course, the bulk chemistry must also be determined on a daily basis at the plant by XRF, ICP-MS, or wet chemistry (cf. Chapter 5.1) to monitor the variability of moisture and oxide content, especially for multielement raw materials, and thus to allow batch adjustments needed to keep the glass recipe constant to be calculated (cf. Chapter 1.3). As indicated above, the PSD, LOI, and COD parameters must in addition be included in the almost daily control of raw materials at the plant. In this way it is possible to anticipate possible drifts away from the targeted specifications of the raw-material feed. As for the overall meltability, energy demand, and expected quality, they may be tested less routinely through differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) measurements, while it should be compulsory to test the actual batch incrementally, first in the laboratory (few kg), then in a pilot furnace (~1 ton), and finally at the industrial scale (<1000 tons).

#### 3.3 Impurity-related and Other Melting Defects

Melting quality first and foremost depends on appropriate digestion rates. *Batch stones* can, for instance, readily occur when market requirements push glassmakers to increase pull rates and, consequently, to reduce the average residence time of the raw materials in the furnace. They also form in case of errors in batch calculation or of scale malfunction. The problem is illustrated with the overall texture and microstructure of the silica batch stone shown in Figure 3. Noteworthy are former quartz grains, whose shape have been preserved although they have been totally replaced by cristobalite (as a pseudomorph) from which newly formed tridymite lath-shaped crystals have grown radially in a groundmass of silica glass [10]. These textural features are typical of an insufficiently dispersed quartz sand within the batch.

(a)





Figure 3 Silica batch stone in a soda-lime silica glass, resulting from incomplete digestion of a lump of quartz grains as viewed under an optical microscope (a) and as observed in a thin section under transmitted light (b), where rounded grains of cristobalite formed as quartz pseudomorph are sluggishly digested while generating radially growing tridymite laths in a vitreous groundmass showing an overall open-porosity.

Regardless of the actual pull rate, the overall moisture content and distribution can provoke the formation of lumps when grains stick together at the batch plant and quickly sinter at the dog-house level, preventing natural convection within the melter from properly stirring the melt under formation. Moisture is of special concern in regions facing very wet or very cold (ice) seasons. Preheating or protecting the raw materials yard can then be an effective, but somewhat costly solution.

Quartz batch stones can also result from an inadequate overall PSD when other raw materials contain up to several weight % of free silica as impurities, whose size distribution differs from that of quartz sand. Limestone, dolomite, and feldspars are typical examples, the two carbonates having a  $d_{\text{max}}$  for quartz as high as 2 mm or more



(Figure 2). Given the aforementioned digestion rates of quartz, such large grains will end up as unmolten stones in the production process.

Refractory minerals, of course, raise special difficulties as illustrated in Figure 4 by an incompletely dissolved chromite inclusion. Its core is preserved as  $FeCr_2O_4$ , but it is surrounded by newly formed laths of eskolaite  $[Cr_2O_3]$  radially growing from it according to the decomposition reaction:

$$FeCr_2O_4 \rightarrow Cr_2O_3 + FeO.$$
(1)

Although  $Fe^{2+}$  then diffuses in the melt, the highly refractory eskolaite crystals (melting at 2435 °C) passivate the chromite core, which will thus remain throughout the production process.

Incomplete digestion can alternatively cause the existence of vitreous inclusions called *knots* in the glassmaker jargon. The example shown in Figure 5 is that of an mm-sized pocket of alumina-rich glass within the normal soda-lime silica matrix, which represents the ghost of a feldspar crystal. As already stated, feldspar minerals melt at temperature below 1200 °C, therefore early in the process, i.e. already at the dog-house level. When they do so, they generate an alumina-rich liquid phase whose viscosity of 10<sup>5</sup> dPa s at 1000 °C is 10 times higher than that of the soda-lime silica glass [11]. At high pull rates this difference prevents rapid enough interdiffusion from taking place to ensure complete mixing between the two liquids, whence the presence of knots. A simple solution to avoid them when Al-carriers are feldspars thus is to control the PSD of these minerals. But, with very different PSD ranges, feldspars can also be present as impurities in a variety of materials such as quartz-sand, limestone, and dolomite. Likewise, a proper



**Figure 4** Undissolved chromite crystal in a soda-lime silica glass as seen under a binocular microscope (a) and in a polished thin section photo under reflected light (b). The chromite grain shows a preserved  $FeCr_2O_4$  core, exsolution lamellae, and radially growing eskolaite  $Cr_2O_3$  laths in the outer shell.



**Figure 5** A feldspar knot with about 20 wt %  $Al_2O_3$ , enclosing bubbles (gas inclusions) in a soda-lime silica glass as seen under a binocular microscope.

PSD helps minimizing the presence of alumina-rich knots in the final product when the Al-rich phonolite and nepheline syenite rocks are used as raw materials.

Even cullet may be a source of defects, which has important practical consequences since it accounts for up to 80–90 % of the total batch for tinted soda-lime silica glasses used for packaging, and up to 30 % for standardwindow and windshield glass production. In this case, the culprit is metallic aluminum from soda-drink cans that pollutes household cullet or from framework residues of window cullet coming from building demolishing sites [10]. Through the redox reaction [12]

$$4 \text{ Al}^{0} + 3 \text{ SiO}_{2} \rightarrow 2 \text{ Al}_{2}\text{O}_{3} + 3 \text{ Si}^{0},$$
 (2)

metallic silicon forms while hydrogen is liberated by the reduction of OH-group from the glass network. The result is a sub-mm-sized silicon bead surrounded by  $H_2$ -rich gas inclusions (Figure 6), which are virtually indestructible because they are digested at rates of the order of a few µm per hour. Appropriate cullet management is thus needed to reduce this risk in glass production. For similar reasons, the absence of ceramic, porcelain, and glass-ceramic shards polluting the external cullet must also be checked carefully to avoid stones, knots, and slowing down of the production.

Another special case arises from the presence of nickel in raw materials. In sulfate-fined glasses, reduction of NiO yields nickel metal, which can react with trace amounts of sulfur to form small inclusions of NiS [millerite] [13]. The problem here is that this sulphide in principle undergoes near 390 °C a phase change from a high-temperature  $\alpha$ -polymorph to a denser low-temperature  $\beta$ -polymorph. The kinetics are slow



Figure 6 A sub-mm-sized silicon bead surrounded by  $H_2$ -rich gas inclusions in a soda-lime silica glass, resulting from aluminummetal contamination of recycled cullet.

enough, however, that the phase transition can take place at room temperature several days to several months or even years after tempering (Chapter 3.12). When it eventually does so, the 2–4% volume expansion generates cracking and sometimes the explosion of the finished glass product. Hence, both Ni metal and oxides are nowadays proscribed in raw-material specifications.

#### 3.4 The Problem of Dolomite Decrepitation

Even when all chemical, physical, and mineralogical specifications are respected, some raw materials may pose special difficulties upon heating. Decrepitation is such a special case affecting mainly dolomite [14] and, albeit to a lesser extent, limestone. It occurs at 300-400 °C, hence well before the onset of decarbonation and decomposition of the (Ca, Mg) carbonate. Although it is still poorly understood [14], decrepitation appears to result from a sudden change in the overall PSD of dolomite, and an overall increase of fines, when dolomite grains locally burst into smaller grains. The decrepitation factor is defined as the increment in the fraction of grains smaller than 60  $\mu m$  after heating at 1000  $^\circ C.$  It can range from a few to several 10% depending on geological history and, in particular, on the thermal pathway followed by the dolomite after its formation. High-decrepitation dolomites are detrimental to the glass process because they contribute to further increase in dust and carryover in the furnace atmosphere. The latter in turn contribute to clogging phenomena at the level of regenerator chambers, drastically decreasing their energy-recovery efficiency. Furthermore, dolomite dusts may increase the overall wear of the furnace-superstructure refractories through the formation of new Mg-bearing phases that decrease their overall durability. When a local supply of good-quality dolomite is lacking, glassmakers may thus find safer to produce Mg-free glass.

## 4 Special Raw Materials

## 4.1 Sodium Carbonate

Originally known as natron, sodium carbonate hydrates have been the main flux used ever since the beginnings of glassmaking. As exemplified by the celebrated Wadi el Natroun deposits in Egypt (Chapter 10.3), very pure Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> hydrates did form naturally but such deposits currently satisfy only about 30 % of 50 million tons used annually in industry, half of which for glassmaking. The cheapest source of sodium would be NaCl, but this salt is quite unfit for production of oxidized glasses in view of chlorinated emissions that would in particular dramatically degrade the wearing resistance of the furnace refractories. Soda [NaOH] would be a much better alternative, but its price on an Na<sub>2</sub>O basis is twice that of synthetic Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> as manufactured with the Solvay process [15], which currently supplies 59% of the market.

Sodium is most conveniently added to the batch as  $Na_2CO_3$ , whereas  $CaCO_3$  is the most common source of carbonate ions. Hence, the goal of the Solvay process is to achieve the overall reaction:

$$2 \operatorname{NaCl} + \operatorname{CaCO}_3 \rightarrow \operatorname{Na}_2 \operatorname{CO}_3 + \operatorname{CaCl}_2.$$
(3)

Now, this reaction could not proceed directly in the solid state even if its Gibbs free energy of about 100 kJ/ mol were not positive. But  $Na_2CO_3$  is readily obtained through heating of  $NaHCO_3$  precipitates at around 200 °C:

$$2 \operatorname{NaHCO}_3 \rightarrow \operatorname{Na}_2 \operatorname{CO}_3 + \operatorname{H}_2 \operatorname{O} + \operatorname{CO}_2.$$
 (4)

The trick of the Solvay process thus is to produce sodium bicarbonate in an aqueous solution from an NaCl brine with the reaction

$$NH_4HCO_3 + NaCl \rightarrow NaHCO_3 + NH_4Cl.$$
 (5)

which, as a by-product, yields calcium chloride, a valuable compound:

$$2 \operatorname{NH}_4 \operatorname{Cl} + \operatorname{CaO} \rightarrow 2 \operatorname{NH}_3 + \operatorname{CaCl}_2 + \operatorname{H}_2 \operatorname{O}.$$
 (6)

The first step then consists in producing a solution of ammonium bicarbonate with

$$CO_2 + NH_3 + H_2O \rightarrow NH_4HCO_3,$$
 (7)

such that  $NH_3$  and  $CO_2$  are in the end "totally" recycled within the process.

#### 4.2 Raw Materials with Very Low Iron Contents

Given its strong absorption bands (Chapter 6.2), iron badly needs to be present at the lowest possible concentrations in a variety of glasses for which optical transmission must be optimized. This is, for instance, the case of the sheets protecting silicon wafers from oxidation in solar panels or of the mirrors used for concentrating solar energy in thermal solar plants. Such solar glasses are currently the most transparent available on the market with an optical transmission that can be as high as 91-92%, against values lower than 90 % for standard glasses used in windows or car windshields. Although it might appear small, this difference is in practice significant so that it is worth the subsequent increases in the cost of the raw materials. Here, two factors must be considered, namely the total iron content and the iron redox state. Whereas the latter can be controlled through various process parameters, the former is, of course, determined by the batch

composition. Specifically, the total iron content of extraclear glasses for solar applications must be below 100 ppm [16], compared to the 600–1000 ppm of clear glass for windows. Natural raw materials with so low iron contents are rare, however, so that suppliers need beneficiation processes to reach them [4]. Grinding then becomes an issue because of potential iron contamination by the steel of the machines. Magnetic separation then is a convenient way to remove any added iron as the last step of raw-material preparation (Figure 7).

#### 4.3 Globetrotting Raw Materials

Like other capital-intensive activities, glassmaking plants traditionally are local industries so as to minimize transportation costs of both raw materials and finished products. Although not necessarily rare geologically, however, certain minerals are not commonly found in commercially exploitable amounts with the consequence that they have to be procured globally, national policies sometimes applying heavy, protectionist custom fees to limit exportations. This situation applies, for instance, to lithium, boron, and some aluminum carriers.

In glassmaking, lithium occasionally serves as an additive (flux) for the production of standard soda-lime silica glasses, but it is mainly used for glass-ceramics to form the  $\beta$ -spodumene [LiAlSi<sub>2</sub>O<sub>6</sub>] phase that gives them very low thermal expansion coefficients (Chapter 7.11). But the price of Li2O raw materials has been boosted - it has actually almost tripled - during the last decade, driven by the dramatically increasing demand for Li-ion batteries (Chapter 9.5). Among the available Li<sub>2</sub>O raw materials (Table 1), Li from brines is mostly used to manufacture Li-carbonate or hydroxide (battery-grade raw materials), whereas mineral Li is incorporated into glass and ceramics. Concentrates of both minerals, spodumene and petalite, are actually crucial sources for the glass industry [17, 18], which does not require as high a purity as Li-ion battery makers. These Li-silicate sources are abundantly available in Australia, China, the United States, and Canada, but much rarer and mostly unexploited in Europe (Austria, Finland, Ireland, Portugal, and Spain) where most of the glass-ceramic industries are in fact located.

As for boron, this element is important for the production of reinforcement fibers (Chapter 1.5) and for insulation (Chapter 9.3) and textile glasses. Borates are found in Turkey, the United States, China, Russia, and South America. Turkey is the world's biggest producer and holds the largest reserves. The United States ranks second both in terms of reserves production, with about 40% of the market [19]. In this case too, the heterogeneous distribution of boron sources translates into high transportation costs as a component of the raw-material supplies.

1.2 Raw Materials for Glassmaking: Properties and Constraints 50



Figure 7 Increases of iron contamination caused by grinding of quartz made with steel-bearing jaws to shift the particle size distribution. (a) Iron contents associated with the PSD curves of quartz sand and flour ground. (b) Alignment of steel particles in the magnetic field of the separator during the deferrization step of raw-material beneficiation. Picture scale of 0.5 m.

Concerning aluminum, bauxites and laterites are used as Al-carrier in standard industrial glasses. The main and largest exploited ores, representing more than 90% of the reserves, are located in Western Africa (especially Guinea), Brazil, Central America and the Caribbean (Jamaica, Trinidad and Tobago, Suriname) and Australia [20]. In this market, however, glassmakers are very distant followers of alumina-ceramics makers and especially of metallic aluminum producers whose needs are several orders of magnitude higher than theirs. In instances when relatively high contents of both aluminum and alkalis are required, it may be advantageous to use instead nepheline syenite, a rock consisting mainly of alkali feldspars and nepheline [NaAlSiO<sub>4</sub>], which is exploited and exported from Norway, Russia (Kola Peninsula), South-Africa, Brazil, India, and China.

#### 5 Perspectives

More than 100 million tons of glass (container, flat, fiber, and specialty) are produced yearly. In a society moving toward a CO2-less or -free economy, extra-clear glasses

will play a key role for the development of an efficient solar energy market. As the availability of extra-pure raw materials is not infinite [16], however, beneficiation techniques will need to be improved in order to meet cost-efficient requirements adapted to the forthcoming societal challenges. In terms of both volumes and quality, middle- and long-term availability of raw materials is a major challenge for sustainable, cost-related production. But a successful low-carbon society implies the fast development of infrastructures and commodity products, which contribute to the overall industrial minerals' demand in direct competition with the glass raw materials supply chain [16]. Governmental initiatives, such as the European Union ERA-MIN Program [21] and the EIT Raw Materials, intend to build an EU-wide network linking industry, academia, and research institutes capable of sustaining the domestic supply chain of non-energy mineral resources. In parallel, efforts are made to improve batch recipes through either the use of standard raw materials with lower energy consumption [22], or totally new ways exploiting the huge potential of the recycling supply chain. Food and agriculture wastes, for instance, could allow making glass with "exotic" sources such as eggshells for Ca-carbonate, banana peels as K-carrier, or rice husk for silica [23]. Major changes are likely on the way.

## References

- 1 Barton, J. and Guillemet, C. (2005). *Le verre: Science et Technologie*. Les Ullis: EDP Sciences.
- 2 Cable, M. (2010). *Bontemps on Glass Making: The Guide du Verrier of Georges Bontemps*. Sheffield: Society of Glass Technology.
- **3** Gouillart, E., Toplis, M.J., Grynberg, J. et al. (2012). *In situ* synchrotron microtomography reveals multiple reaction pathways during soda-lime glass synthesis. *J. Am. Ceram. Soc.* 95: 1504–1507.
- 4 Wills, B.A. and Napier-Munn, T. (1988). *Will's Mineral Processing Technology: An Introduction to the Practical Aspects of Ore Treatment and Mineral Recovery.* Amsterdam: Elsevier.
- 5 Railsback, L.B. (2008). Some fundamentals of mineralogy and geochemistry. *Melting – Hardness Plot.* http://www. gly.uga.edu/railsback/Fundamentals/ HardnessMeltingPlot06.pdf. (accessed October 2019).
- 6 Chopinet, M.-H. (2002). L'importance des phénomènes d'oxydo-réduction dans le verre. *C. R. Chim.* 5: 939–949.
- **7** Edwards, B.R. and Russell, J.K. (1996). A review and analysis of silicate mineral dissolution experiments in natural silicate melts. *Chem. Geol.* 13: 233–245.

- 8 Ando, S. and Garzanti, E. (2014). Raman spectroscopy in heavy-mineral studies. In: *Sediment Provenance Studies in Hydrocarbon Exploration and Production* (eds. R.A. Scott, H.R. Smyth, A.C. Morton and N. Richardson), 395–412. London: Geological Society.
- **9** Munsterman, D. and Kerstholt, S. (1996). Sodium polytungstate, a new non-toxic alternative to bromoform in heavy liquid separation. *Rev. Palaeobot. Palynol.* 91: 417.
- 10 Bartuška, M. (2008). Glass Defects. Glass Service: Prague.
- 11 Pascual, M.J., Pascual, L., and Duran, A. (2001). Determination of the viscosity-temperature curve for glasses on the basis of fixed viscosity points determined by hot stage microscopy. *Phys. Chem. Glasses* 42: 61–66.
- 12 Prabriputaloong, K. and Piggott, M.R. (1974). The reaction between silica and aluminum. *J. Electrochem. Soc.: SSST* 121: 430–434.
- 13 Kasper, A. and Stadelmann, H. (2002). Chemical behavior of nickel sulfide in soda-lime-silica glass melts. *Glass Sci. Technol.* 75: 1–11.
- 14 McCauley, R.A. and Johnson, L.A. (1991). Decrepitation and thermal decomposition of dolomite. *Thermochim. Acta* 185: 271–282.
- 15 Steinhauser, G. (2008). Cleaner production in the Solvay process: general strategies and recent developments. *J. Clean. Prod.* 16: 833–841.
- 16 Vidal, O., Goffé, B., and Arndt, N. (2013). Metals for a low-carbon society. *Nat. Geosci.* 6: 894–896.
- 17 Evans, R.K. (2012). An overabundance of lithium? Potential supply and demand estimates to 2020. *Proceedings of the 4th Supply and Markets Conference*, 23–25 January, 2012, Buenos Aires, Argentina.
- 18 Global Lithium Market Outlook: Projects and Strategies to 2020 for a New Era of Demand (2011). *Metal Bulletin Research*. London: Industrial Mineral Society.
- 19 Carpenter, S.B. and Kistler, R.B. (2006). Boron and borates. In: *Industrial Minerals and Rocks: Commodities, Markets, and Uses* (eds. J.E. Kogel, N.C. Trivedi, J.M. Barker and S.T. Krukowski), 275–283. Littleton, CO: Society for Mining Metallurgy and Exploration.
- **20** Metal Bulletin Research (2015). *A Strategic Global Outlook for the Bauxite and Alumina Industry out to* 2030. London: Industrial Mineral Society.
- 21 Vidal, O., Weihed, P., Hagelüken, C., et al. (2013) ERA-MIN Research Agenda. *Roadmap of the "ERA-MIN"*. https://hal-insu.archives-ouvertes.fr/insu-00917653. (accessed October 2019).
- 22 Li, H. (2014). Alumina and silica sources for E-glass fiber manufacturing – melting energy aspect. *Glass Technol: Eur. J. Glass Sci. Technol. A* 55: 7–13.
- 23 Cornejo, I.A., Reimanis, I.E., and Ramalingam, S. (2015). Method of making glass from organic waste food streams, US Patent 2015/0065329 A1.

## **Fusion of Glass**

Reinhard Conradt RWTH Aachen University, Aachen, Germany

## 1 Introduction

Fusion is of course the high-temperature process through which a glass is synthesized from the relevant raw materials. In this chapter, fusion and melting will be used synonymously as no preference for either term obtains in glass manufacturing. Nevertheless, the matter deserves a few comments because both are used to describe different processes under conditions of constant pressure. They may denote:

- 1) A first-order phase transition of a single-component system (such as pure H<sub>2</sub>O, SiO<sub>2</sub>, or CaAl<sub>2</sub>Si<sub>2</sub>O<sub>8</sub>) from the solid to the liquid state. This transition occurs at a unique melting (or fusion) temperature  $T_{\rm m}$  where the solid and liquid coexist; between them, however, there exist discontinuities in enthalpy and entropy, which are the enthalpy ( $\Delta H_{\rm m}$ ) and entropy ( $\Delta S_{\rm m} = \Delta H_{\rm m}/T_{\rm m}$ ) of melting (or of fusion).
- 2) The transition of a thermodynamically stable assemblage of different crystalline phases to the liquid state. Upon heating, such a system passes through a temperature range at which the solid and liquid phases coexist; the solidus ( $T_{sol}$ ) and liquidus ( $T_{liq}$ ) temperatures are the lower and upper bounds, respectively, of this interval.
- 3) The transition of any mixture of crystalline phases to the liquid state upon heating. Since such phases are not in thermodynamic equilibrium, they begin to react mutually in the solid state so that the actual path of fusion may be unpredictably complicated.
- 4) A special technique, often used by artists, to join pieces of glass together to form an object. It makes use of the fact that a glass, upon heating, undergoes gradual softening from a rigid condition below the

glass transition temperature  $T_g$  to the liquid state at  $T > T_g$ . At sufficiently high temperatures, glass pieces may then be joined together by viscous flow. The transition from a crystalline state is here nonexistent, which distinguishes clearly this special meaning of *fusion* from the three others.

In glassmaking, it is of course case (3) that matters, which is why it will be exclusively dealt with in this chapter. It begins with the heating of a mixture of granular solids, the *batch*, and is completed when a homogeneous liquid state is reached. Regardless of the complexity of its chemical composition, any glass is associated with a liquidus and a solidus temperature between which crystals and melt can coexist in thermo-dynamic equilibrium. Upon not too fast heating, a liquid for instance begins to form at the liquidus temperature of the system as determined by its overall chemical composition.

At the industrial scale, the fusion of glass is a most complex energy-intensive, high-temperature process. The transformations involved in are multiphase, multicomponent chemical reactions, which are quite different from a student's simple concept of chemical reaction. The goal of the fusion process consists in delivering a workable glass melt of high quality at high production rates and low specific-energy consumption, thereby abiding with environmental legislation. It brings together the issues of reactor technology, bulk solid melting, particle dissolution, as well as redox and acid-base chemistry of the melt. Fusion takes place in specifically designed glass furnaces. Small amounts of specialty glass are melted discontinuously in crucible, pot, or day tank furnaces; the melting compartments may be considered as crucibles of different size, ranging from a few kg to a few 100 kg. For continuous melting of small amounts of some specialty glasses, rotary kilns are used. But the vast majority of glasses is

*Reviewers*: E. Muijsenberg, Glass Service a.s, Vsetin, Czech Republic C. Rüssel, Friedrich Schiller University, Jena, Germany

Encyclopedia of Glass Science, Technology, History, and Culture, Volume I, First Edition. Pascal Richet.

<sup>© 2021</sup> The American Ceramic Society. Published 2021 by John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

continuously melted in large glass furnaces whose production capacities range from a few tons to 1000 t per day.

Regardless of this diversity, fusion involves the same steps that will be successively described in this chapter. The first is the careful preparation of the batch from the appropriate raw materials. The second takes place at high temperatures through the various reactions that lead to a melt through complete dissolution of even the most refractory starting materials. The third step aims at producing a homogenous, bubble-free product by physical and chemical fining. Finally, this chapter will briefly discuss the economically and environmentally important energetics of the fusion process. A review of earlier work dealing with these issues is the feature article by Cable [1].

# 2 Overview of Industrial Processes

A continuously operated industrial melting process can be split into two distinct room- and high-temperature parts within which well-defined different steps may generally be identified. Their main features are as follows:

#### Preparation (at room temperature)

P1	Acquisition and storage of raw materials
P2	Chemical analysis of raw materials
P3	Calculation of the proportions of the batch raw materials
P4	Weighing and then mixing of the batch raw materials
P5	Intermediate storage of the batch in a buffer silo
P6	Batch charging

#### Glass melting (at high temperatures)

- M1 Primary batch-to-melt conversion, yielding a *rough melt* still containing considerable amounts of gas bubbles and undissolved solids
  Time demand: about one hour
  Intrinsic energy demand: about 2000 MJ/t of produced glass (3.6 GJ = 1 kWh)
  Temperature range: 600–1200 °C
  M2 Sand dissolution (comprising the dissolution of any other
  - crystalline solids) Temperature range: 1200–1400 °C Intrinsic energy demand (mostly for heating up the melt): approx. 280 MJ/t of glass
- M3 Fining, i.e. physical removal of residual bubbles via the thermochemical generation of an adequately high-volume fraction of large bubbles of a fining gas Temperature range: 1400–1500 °C Intrinsic energy demand (for heating-up): approx. 140 MJ

M4 Refining, thermal, and chemical homogenization, whereby refining denotes the resorption of residual gas bubbles upon steady cooling Target temperature: 1350 °C Heat released: -220 MJ.

At the end of step M4, the melt is finally conveyed to the forming area where it is transformed into hollow ware (Chapter 1.5), or flat glass (Chapter 1.4), or any other type of product. To maintain a high glass quality, the filling level of the melting compartment must be kept constant. Therefore, the sequence of process steps P1 to M4 must be well balanced logistically. This constraint puts a stringent time interval to act for online corrections to steps P4–P6; the buffer silo between steps P5 and P6 thus serves the sole purpose of widening this interval. Along the path from P6 to M4, no action for correction is possible at all.

## 3 Batch Preparation

#### 3.1 Raw Materials

The fusion of a glass of a given composition requires a suitable set of raw materials (Chapter 1.2). These are selected according to their availability and quality, which, in turn, determine their price. The issue of availability may be complex since it includes geological occurrence (for natural materials), production capacity (for manufactured materials), infrastructure for recycling and upgrading (for cullet) as well as transport distance, number of tenders, political stability at the source, etc. Quality is likewise a manifold issue as it concerns chemical composition (from impurities to the main component), mineralogical composition (special attention being paid to side minerals difficult to melt), and grain size distribution (with a particular concern to under- and oversized grain fractions). Among chemical impurities, iron is a critical factor. It is present in virtually every natural raw material but is generally tolerated in glass only at very low levels (Table 1) except, of course, when it is itself a major component of the product as in fire-resistant glass fibers (Chapter 9.3). Here, the iron content is given in terms of stoichiometric Fe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> irrespective of its actual valence state. Yet, iron is generally present as  $Fe^{2+}$  and  $Fe^{3+}$  whose relative abundances depend on the redox state of the melt. Owing to the strong absorption bands of both cations, iron has a strong impact on the color of the glass even at low concentrations (Chapter 6.2). And because of its strong absorption in the 600-4000 µm wavelength range, which is that of the heat radiation in the furnace, Fe<sup>2+</sup> acts as a blinding agent to limit tightly the

Table 1 Maximum iron contents in various types of glasses, given in ppm of stoichiometric ferric iron  $(Fe_2O_3)$ .

Glass type	ppm Fe <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub>
Optical glass	10
Ultra-white glass	100
Continuous fibers	200
Flint container glass	250
Standard float glass	300
Amber container glass	2 500
Cr-green container glass	10 000



**Figure 1** Absorption bands of Fe<sup>2+</sup>, Fe<sup>3+</sup>, and Cr<sup>3+</sup> in a glass melt, and radiation intensity in the combustion space of a furnace illustrated in a simplified way by black-body radiation emitted at 1600 °C from the upper lining (the crown) of the furnace; relative intensities.

transparency of the melt to IR radiation (Figure 1). In Figure 1, the furnace radiation is illustrated by a backbody-type curve. This is an oversimplification. The actual flame radiation spectrum in a furnace is characterized by strong emission lines of the H<sub>2</sub>O and CO<sub>2</sub> molecules in the flame (H<sub>2</sub>O: 0.9–1.1, 1.8–2.0, 2.5–3.2  $\mu$ m; CO<sub>2</sub>: 2.7–3.0, 4.2–4.7  $\mu$ m) and by black-body radiation from soot particles. The radiation enters the melt directly to a certain extent; however, chiefly via emission (emission coefficient  $\varepsilon \approx 0.5$ ) and diffuse reflection from the top lining (the crown) of the furnace. The curve shown in Figure 1 is an envelope of the actual radiation only. Irrespective of the above details, furnaces in which glasses with high Fe<sup>2+</sup> contents are melted thus exhibit large vertical temperature gradients and low bottom temperatures; heat transfer from the combustion space has then to be brought about by the convective motion of the melt. By contrast, melts with very low amounts of  $Fe^{2+}$  weakly absorb energy from the combustion space since  $Fe^{3+}$  does not influence IR absorption. As a consequence, they display high temperatures at the bottom of furnaces. Controlling the redox state of the melt thus is important not only for color generation but also for furnace operation, a general conclusion that also applies for instance to green glasses colored by  $Cr^{3+}$ .

#### 3.2 Calculation of Batch Composition

An accurate chemical analysis of every raw material is a prerequisite for batch preparation (Chapter 1.2). On this basis, one swiftly determines the batch composition by solving a system of linear equations where data are arranged in a specific way (Table 2). First, the total number of different oxides in the raw material basis is determined (6 in the example shown). The target glass composition is entered as an oxide column vector  $Y_{\text{TARGET}}$ . The large matrix shaded in gray contains the results of raw-material analyses. It is arranged in the order of carriers of the respective glass oxides. For each oxide that is not represented by a specific raw material, the entry 1 is filled in the matrix. If an oxide has more than one carrier raw material (in the example,  $Al_2O_3$  has two carriers, namely feldspar and Calumite®), then their ratio has to be specified, and the respective column entries are merged to a single column in proportion of this ratio. Through these operations, the gray area takes the form of a square matrix M. Next, a preliminary vector  $R_{\rm PRE}$  of the batch composition is obtained from the product  $R_{\text{PRE}} = M^{-1} \cdot Y_{\text{TARGET}}$ . It may contain negative figures since it is impossible to make for example an iron-free glass from iron-containing raw materials. To derive the actual batch-composition vector *R*, these negative figures are thus set to zero. The real glass composition is then given by the product  $Y_{\text{REAL}} = M \cdot R$  before  $Y_{\text{REAL}}$  is normalized to 100 wt % and R to 1000 kg of resulting glass, or 2000 kg of sand (see following paragraph), or to any other convenient reference mass.

Final adjustment of the batch composition still requires allotments of the appropriate agents for controlling glass color, fining (as described in Section 5.2), redox conditions, and, thus, valence states and oxygen complex formation of polyvalent ions (cf. Chapter 5.6) at the industrial scale. For adjustment of the redox state, the so-called redox number concept [2] is widely accepted and empirically applied in industry. This incremental system assigns a specific redox factor  $R_i$  to every member of a set of redox-active ingredients *i* (Table 3). In the example of Table 4, the batch composition from Table 2 is complemented by 4 kg of sulphate (the amount of soda ash being reduced accordingly to maintain an identical amount of Na<sub>2</sub>O in the glass). Then the batch

#### Table 2 Batch calculation scheme.

			The raw material basis									
			Raw material	Sand	None	Feldspar	Calumite®	None	Dolomite	Limestone	Soda ash	None
			For oxide	SiO <sub>2</sub>	TiO <sub>2</sub>	Al <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub>	Al <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub>	Fe <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub>	MgO	CaO	Na <sub>2</sub> O	K <sub>2</sub> O
The glass			Ratio			0.5	0.5					
	YTARGET	Y <sub>REAL</sub>										
Oxide	wt %	wt %	Oxide	kg/kg	kg/kg	kg/kg	kg/kg	kg/kg	kg/kg	kg/kg	kg/kg	kg/kg
SiO <sub>2</sub>	72.00	71.80	SiO <sub>2</sub>	0.9960		0.6920	0.3550		0.0002	0.0040		
$TiO_2$	0.00	0.04	$TiO_2$	0.0001	1.0000		0.0080					
$Al_2O_3$	1.50	1.50	$Al_2O_3$	0.0009		0.2010	0.1250					
$Fe_2O_3$	0.00	0.03	Fe <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub>	0.0002			0.0020	1.0000		0.0007		
MgO	3.00	2.99	MgO				0.0650		0.2160	0.0057		
CaO	9.50	9.47	CaO				0.4090		0.3070	0.5502		
Na <sub>2</sub> O	14.00	13.96	Na <sub>2</sub> O			0.0620	0.0170				0.5868	
$K_2O$	0.00	0.21	$K_2O$			0.0370	0.0110					1.0000
Sum	100.00	100.00	Sum	0.9972	1.0000	0.9920	0.9920	1.0000	0.5232	0.5606	0.5868	1.0000
			Batch composi	tion vector l	R in kg raw	material per t	of glass.					
			kg/t	674.28	0.00	44.02	44.02	0.00	123.39	70.61	231.99	0.00

The results of the considered raw-material analysis is reported in the shaded gray area of the matrix.

**Table 3** Redox factors *R*(*i*) of selected active raw materials *i*; thesefactors refer to batch compositions normalized to a sand amount of2000 kg.

Raw material <i>i</i>	Chemical formula	<i>R(i</i> ) per 2000 kg sand
Carbon	C:100, 85, 65%	-6.70
Iron sulfide	FeS	-1.60
Pyrite	FeS <sub>2</sub>	-1.20
Fluorspar	$CaF_2$	-0.10
Calumite	Multicomponent slag	-0.073
Iron red	Fe <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub>	+0,25
Chili saltpeter	NaNO <sub>3</sub>	+0.32
Heavy spar	BaSO <sub>4</sub>	+0.40
Gypsum	CaSO <sub>4</sub> ·2 H <sub>2</sub> O	+0.56
Potassium dichromate	$K_2Cr_2O_7$	+0.65
Salt cake; sulfate	Na <sub>2</sub> SO <sub>4</sub>	+0.67
Gypsum anhydrite	CaSO <sub>4</sub>	+0.70
Sodium dichromate	Na <sub>2</sub> Cr <sub>2</sub> O <sub>7</sub>	+0.77
Manganese oxide	$MnO_2$	+1.09

composition is normalized to amounts  $m_{\text{III}}(i)$  per 2000 kg of sand, and the total redox number of the batch is calculated from the weighted sum  $R = \sum R_i \cdot m_{\text{III}}(i)$ . It is true that this number R does not have a straightforward scientific meaning but it allows one to set in a well-defined way the redox state to a desired level. For redox numbers in the

interval -25 < R < 25, a fair estimate of the Fe<sup>2+</sup>/Fe<sub>total</sub> ratio for is given by 0.4 – 0.015  $\cdot R$ . Because the chemical composition of the batch can no longer be corrected after charging, these rather simple calculations are mandatory for any successful melting process.

Finally, the raw materials are automatically weighed in proportions determined by batch calculations, conveyed to a mixer, and thoroughly mixed. During mixing, typically 2–3% of water is added to suppress dust formation and segregation induced either originally by transportation or subsequently by mixing. In batches containing soda ash, small amounts of this product dissolve in the water before reprecipitating on other batch grains. This process termed "impregnation" actually enhances the kinetics of batch melting.

## 4 The Conversion of Batch into Melt

#### 4.1 The Basic Importance of Convection

In principle, the melting compartment (the *tank*) is a shallow basin whose typical dimensions (length  $L \times$  width  $W \times$  depth D) are  $10 \times 6 \times 1 \text{ m}^3$  for medium-size container-glass furnaces and  $30 \times 10 \times 1.4 \text{ m}^3$  for float-glass furnaces. The required energy is delivered in a combustion space right above the melting compartment and transferred to the melt chiefly by black-body radiation. Additional energy (5–20%) is delivered by direct electrical heating (*boosting*) of the melt.

The very melting process, i.e. steps M1–M3, takes place in one single box-shaped compartment as sketched in Figure 2a, b. The sketches illustrate some essential

Table 4 Scheme for final batch adjustment with sodium sulphate set to 4 kg/t glass for a targeted redox number R of -24.

Raw material <i>i</i>	m <sub>l</sub> (i) <sup>a</sup>	m <sub>II</sub> (i) <sup>b</sup>	$m_{\rm III}(i)^c$	R(i)	R(i)∙m <sub>III</sub> (i)	
	kg/t glass	kg/t glass	kg/2000 kg sand			
Sand	674.28	674.28	2000.00			
Feldspar	44.02	44.02	130.57			
Calumite	44.02	44.02	130.57	-0.073	-9.53	
Dolomite	123.39	123.39	365.99			
Limestone	70.61	70.61	209.44			
Soda ash	231.99	229.01	679.26			
Sulfate		4.00	11.86	0.67	7.95	
Carbon		1.13	3.35	-6.70	-22.46	
Redox number $R = \Sigma R_i m_{III}(i)$						

 $\Sigma R_i \cdot m_{\text{III}}(i)$  matches the target value R = -24.

<sup>a</sup> Batch composition as calculated in Table 2.

<sup>b</sup> Batch composition with 4 kg of sulfate added, soda ash reduced accordingly.

<sup>c</sup> Batch composition normalized to 2000 kg of sand; amount of carbon varied until the sum.



**Figure 2** Convection cells (vortices) in the melting tank of a glass furnace (vertical projection): (a) float glass furnace (side port firing), transit to the refining zone indicated by the dotted vertical line on the right-hand side; (b) end port fired container glass furnace, transit to the refiner through a narrow opening at the lower right (the "throat"); D = depth of the tank.

features only (see Chapter 9.7 for details). Spatially, the individual process steps are separated – not in a rigorous but effective way – by two convective vortices. In furnaces with transversal flame direction (so-called side port fired furnaces; flow pattern Figure 2a), these are mainly generated thermally by an appropriate distribution of fuel input to a series of burners arranged along the *L* axis above the melt. This results in two well-developed vortices with a well-localized hot spot at the position of maximum energy input. In furnaces with longitudinal flame direction (end port fired furnaces; flow pattern Figure 2b), the energy input via combustion along the L axis cannot be controlled at the same distinction as in a side port fired furnace. Here, the flow pattern is typically dominated by a single predominant vortex; the hot spot is shifted toward the end of the furnace. Local stabilization of the vortices is achieved by electrical heating from below, and – for the second type of furnaces - also mechanically by the action of air bubblers or by implementation of a solid barrier (a wall) at the bottom of the tank. As seen from Figure 2, the batch floats on the surface of the molten phase and melts continuously in the L direction, thereby typically covering an area whose length is about L/3, or more than 2L/3 for side and end port firing, respectively. Processes M2 (sand dissolution) and M3 (fining) then take place in the first and second vortices, respectively. Note that the first vortex conveys very hot melt right underneath the batch, helping to satisfy the very high intrinsic energy demand of melting. As for the second, it transports a very hot (hence low-viscosity) melt along the surface area, thereby facilitating the escape of rising bubbles. This effect is especially pronounced in the pattern shown in Figure 2a while in Figure 2b, a large portion of the melt does not reach the surface at all.

At a given pull rate p in t/h, the nominal overall dwell time of the melt in the furnace is

$$\tau_{\rm NOM} = \rho \, L \, W \, D/p \tag{1}$$

where  $\rho$  is the density of the melt and  $L \cdot W \cdot D$  the volume of the melting tank. Depending on the size of the furnace and the targeted glass quality (in terms of residual bubbles),  $\tau_{\rm NOM}$  ranges from 20 to 40 hours. During this time, the average volume element circles 2-6 times in vortex 1, and about twice in vortex 2. For a detailed analysis of the role of the flow pattern on melting and fining, see [3, 4]. The process of refining (M4) already starts at the descent of vortex 2; it is completed in a subsequent compartment termed refiner, which is thermally separated from the *melter*. Thermal separation is accomplished either with a vertical wall leaving an opening of about  $0.5 \times 0.3 \text{ m}^2$  cross section (the *throat*) at half width right above the bottom of container-glass furnaces (Chapter 1.5), or by an area of moderately narrowed width (the *waist*) in float glass furnaces (Chapter 1.4). For the sake of glass quality (i.e. homogeneity), it is mandatory to keep the position of the hot spot constant at any pull rate.

#### 4.2 The Chemistry of Melting

The first high-temperature process is primary melting of the batch. It is typically accomplished within one hour and is characterized by a very high energy demand and the release of  $CO_2$  from the carbonated raw materials. For a glass batch, the individual reactions involved are the following ones:

- 1) Physical melting of salt-like raw materials, Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>, Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, NaNO<sub>3</sub>, NaOH, NaCl, etc.
- 2) Evaporation of batch and hydrate water in the temperature range 100–600 °C.
- 3) Decomposition of limestone and dolomite:

 $CaCO_3 \rightarrow CaO + CO_2$  near 900 °C;  $CaMg(CO_3)_2 \rightarrow (MgO, CaCO_3) + CO_2$  near  $600 \,^{\circ}$ C, followed by  $(MgO, CaCO_3) \rightarrow MgO + CaO + CO_2 near$ 900 °C.

- 4) Formation of a double carbonate:  $Na_2CO_3 + CaCO_3$  $\rightarrow$  Na<sub>2</sub>Ca(CO<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub> near 785 °C; in conventional batches, this is a side reaction of only minor importance.
- 5) Formation of silicate melts. These reactions assume noticeable turnover rates only after actual melting of soda ash:

 $Na_2CO_3 + n \cdot SiO_2 \rightarrow Na_2O \cdot nSiO_2 + CO_2, n = \frac{1}{2}, 1, 2;$ 

Formation of ternary melts (eutectic NS-NS<sub>2</sub>-N<sub>2</sub>CS<sub>3</sub>: 821 °C, eutectic

$$NS - NS_2 - N_2M_3S_5 : 713 \degree C, N = Na_2O,$$
  
M = MgO, C = CaO, S = SiO<sub>2</sub>).

6) Sulphate coal reaction:  $Na_2SO_4 + 4CO \rightarrow Na_2S +$  $4CO_2$  at approx. 900 °C.

(dPa·s) of primary melts formed during the

melts formed from soda ash and another

compound. (b) Primary oxide melts in the

Invariant points indicated by open circles.

7) *Reactions with cullet*. Although it appears as a neutral post in the energy balance, cullet vigorously react with soda ash; very fine cullet compete with sand for soda ash, delaying sand dissolution.

The liquidus temperatures and viscosities of the primary melts forming during the early stages of batch melting are plotted in Figure 3 in the cases of binary salt-like melts formed from soda ash and another compound (Figure 3a) and of the systems  $Na_2O-SiO_2$ ,  $Na_2B_4O_7 SiO_2$ , and  $B_2O_3$ – $SiO_2$  (Figure 3b).

Owing to their extremely low viscosities, the salt-like primary melts play an important role in bringing about high turnover rates during batch melting. When they are lacking, as in alkali and boron-free continuous fiber glasses, the products in contrast remain in a granular state until they reach their lowest eutectic temperature (compare with Figure 6b in Chapter 6.1).

These different stages of early batch melting are sketched in Figure 4 for a soda lime silicate glass batch. Before a soda-ash melt forms, the batch remains in a granular state (Figure 4a). Then, a primary salt-like, low-viscosity melt rapidly spreads throughout the batch, thereby wetting the solid grains (Figure 4b). This stage is characterized by a large ratio between the liquid interface and the melt volume. It is predominantly at this time that diffusion paths for oxygen exchange are short and that the surrounding atmosphere effectively interacts with the melt to determine its final redox state.

Upon further melting (Figure 4c, d), the melt becomes increasingly viscous and the ratio of liquid interface to melt volume decreases. In a real batch heap, stages (a) to (d) proceed longitudinally along the L axis (see Figure 2) and vertically from the outside to the inside of the batch. The batch melts from both its top and





**Figure 4** Early stages of batch melting, manually sketched after the scanning electron microscopy micrograph. (a) Open-pore stage with granular solids and gas, the gas composition being dominated by the equilibrium between  $CO_2$  and  $O_2$  from trapped air and the furnace atmosphere. (b) Closed-pore stage with the development of a widespread primary liquid, a large ratio *s* of effective liquid interface (solid/liquid and solid/gas) and liquid volume, and a gas composition dominated by  $CO_2$ , redox active materials, and polyvalent ions in the primary melt. (c) Reaction-foam stage characterized by large volumes of granular solids, bubbles, and melt, and by progressive melting of solids and decreasing *s* ratios. (d) Rough-melt stage, the melt being the predominant phase coexisting with considerable amounts of bubbles and undissolved grains and showing on top a seam of the primary foam formed.

bottom side, typically in an almost symmetrical way as the heat fluxes from above and below are of the same order of magnitude. The release of gases is in contrast asymmetric since those from the upper parts readily escape whereas those coming from the lower parts remain trapped below the batch. In a successful primary melting process, the majority of solids are digested, only a minor part being released to the rough melt. This requires good batch mixing and a well-balanced granulometry of the raw materials. The issue can be tested at the lab scale by so-called batch-free time crucible tests. In these simple tests, batch samples of 50–100 g are exposed to a laboratory furnace at 1400 °C and the progress of melting is inspected visually after a given time.

#### 4.3 Sand Dissolution

All solids surviving primary batch melting have to dissolve in the viscous rough melt by slow diffusion processes under comparatively low driving chemical forces. This is one of the reasons why, even today, long dwell times are required for the fusion process. By mass, the sand represents the major part of solids that have to dissolve in this way. The process suffers from an especially unfavorable feature (Figure 5): the decrease of the silica concentration from the sand grain to the melt phase represents a strong chemical gradient that causes the grain to be surrounded by a seam of melt with a high viscosity and a low basicity. This gradient affects not only



**Figure 5** Schematic view of a dissolving sand grain; the grain is surrounded by a solid reaction layer (e.g. tridymite) followed by a liquid high-viscosity diffusion seam with decreasing  $SiO_2$  concentration, hence decreasing acidity, from inside to outside; gas bubbles – mostly  $O_2$  – precipitate at the interface solid/liquid; upon complete dissolution of the sand grain, a bubble cluster remains in the melt.

mass transport but also the solubility of gases, which generally decreases with decreasing basicity (cf. Chapter 5.7). Thus, gases dissolved in the rough melt tend to form bubbles around a dissolving sand grain.

In addition, temperature-induced reduction of ferric iron takes place as described by the reaction

$$\left[Fe^{3\,+}\,O_4\right]^{5\,-} \to Fe^{2\,+}\,+\,\frac{7}{2}\,O^{2\,-}\,+\,\frac{1}{2}\,O_2 \eqno(2)$$

describing how firm  $[Fe^{3+}O_4]$  oxygen complexes give rise to the weak  $[Fe^{2+}O_6]$  complexes formed by ferrous iron. The equilibrium constant of the reaction is given by

$$K_{\rm p} = \frac{[{\rm Fe}^{2+}]}{[{\rm Fe}^{3+}]} \cdot [{\rm O}^{2-}]^{7/2} \cdot P({\rm O}_2)^{1/2}$$
(3)

so that, at constant redox state, tiny oxygen bubbles emerge at the boundary of the dissolving grain. Any dissolving sand grain leaves behind it a cluster of small bubbles, removal of these bubbles makes sense only if their generation is over. This is one of the reasons why sand dissolution and the fining process need to take place in separate parts of the furnace.

In summary, successful sand dissolution is a prerequisite for successful fining. Even apparently small differences in the grain-size distributions of sands have a big impact in this respect. This statement will be demonstrated for two different sands. Let us assume that a spherical sand grain with radius r dissolves according to Jander's kinetics:

$$\alpha(r,t) = 1 - \left(1 - \sqrt{\frac{t}{t^*(r)}}\right)^3, \quad t^*(r) = \frac{r^2}{4 \cdot D}.$$
 (4)



**Figure 6** Grain-size distributions of two different glass-grade sand qualities as determined with sieves of increasing mesh width.

Here,  $\alpha(r,t)$  denotes the turnover, with  $0 \le \alpha(r,t) \le 1$ and *D* a diffusion coefficient. The grain-size distribution is mathematically represented by a log-normal distribution, the differential form of which reads

$$q(r) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi} \cdot \sigma \cdot r} \cdot \exp\left[-\left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{2 \cdot \sigma}} \cdot \ln \frac{r}{r_{50}}\right)^2\right], \quad (5)$$

where  $r_{50}$  is the median radius of the particle size distribution and  $\sigma = \frac{1}{2} \cdot \ln(r_{84}/r_{16})$  is the standard deviation denoting the width of the distribution; 16 and 84% by mass of the sand are contained in the fraction smaller than  $r_{16}$  and  $r_{84}$ , respectively. The values of  $r_{50}$  and  $\sigma$  are determined by an evaluation of the sieve analysis (Figure 6). Both sand qualities have an identical median  $d_{50} = 2 \cdot r_{50} = 180 \,\mu\text{m}$ , but different  $\sigma$ . An ensemble of grains with a size distribution q(r) then dissolves according to the equation

$$A(t) = \int_{0}^{r = \sqrt{4Dt}} q(r) dr + \int_{r = \sqrt{4Dt}}^{\infty} \alpha(r,t) q(r) dr \quad (6)$$

where  $0 \le A(t) \le 1$  denotes the reaction turnover of the entire ensemble. The results for the two selected sand qualities upon isothermal dissolution are shown in Figure 7 as obtained with the solution of Eq. (18) given in the Appendix. At first sight, both kinds of sands dissolve in about the same manner. But on closer



**Figure 7** Dissolution turnover of the two sands of Figure 6 as a function of process time for isothermal diffusion with  $D = 1 \cdot 10^{-13} \text{ m}^2/\text{s}$ . Inset: magnification of the results for nearly complete dissolution.

inspection (see inset), the difference does become large toward the very end of the process since Sand 2 needs significantly many more hours than Sand 1 to reach a 99.9% dissolution level, which is crucial for glass quality.

## 5 Fining, Refining, Homogenization

#### 5.1 Physical Fining

As noted above, the ideal onset of fining takes place when sand dissolution is complete. Physically, fining relies on two simultaneous processes, namely bubble removal by buoyancy and coalescence of small bubbles to form larger ones. The latter is driven by the release of energy associated with the excess internal pressure of a bubble relative to ambient. As given by Laplace's formula, this excess pressure is  $\Delta P = 2\sigma/r$  for a bubble of radius r with a surface tension  $\sigma$  so that the energy gained amounts to about  $3.5 \cdot \sigma \cdot r$  when two bubbles of identical size merge. As for the buoyancy velocity  $\nu_0$  of a single bubble in a melt of viscosity  $\eta$ , it is given by a modification of Stokes' law for dispersed phases with mobile boundaries known as Hadamard's law:

$$\nu_0 = \Delta \rho \, g \, r^2 / 3\eta, \tag{7}$$

where *g* is the gravitation constant and  $\Delta \rho$  the density difference between the melt and bubble.

For a melt with a volume fraction  $\phi$  of bubbles, the effective viscosity becomes



**Figure 8** Rising velocity  $v_{SLIP}$  of bubble swarms in a melt at a viscosity of 150 dPa·s as a function of bubble radius *r* and volume fraction  $\phi$  of bubbles.

$$\eta_{\rm eff} = \eta \left( 1 - \phi / \phi_{\rm max} \right) \tag{8}$$

where  $\phi_{\text{max}} = 0.64$  is the maximum value of  $\phi$  as given by random close spherical packing. But the density decrease caused by the presence of bubbles, which is proportional to  $1 - \phi/\phi_{\text{max}}$ , must also be taken into account. The rising velocity  $v_{\text{SLIP}}$  of an individual bubble within a bubble swarm of volume fraction  $\phi$ thus is

$$v_{\rm SLIP} = v_0 \, \eta / \eta_{\rm eff} = \Delta \rho \, g \, r^2 / 3\eta \, (1 - \phi / \phi_{\rm max})^2.$$
 (9)

The situation is illustrated in Figure 8 for a viscosity of 150 dPa·s, which is that of a typical float glass melt near 1400 °C. Up to a volume fraction of 0.4, bubbles bigger than 0.5 mm in radius safely escape during the available process time, whereas those smaller than 0.1 mm hardly reach any noticeable rising velocity. They rather rest relative to the environment. An especially critical situation occurs when the volume fraction approaches the limit  $\phi_{max}$ . In this case, bubbles of any size become stagnant so that a foam forms on top of the melt in the fining area as observed in a glass of beer. Hence, this problem calls for utmost care in the design of the chemical part of the fining process, and especially of the amount of fining agent used.

#### 5.2 Chemical Fining

1

As indicated by old glass specimens, bubbles cannot be completely eliminated with only physical fining. In a somewhat paradoxical way, better results are achieved if additional bubbles are produced within the melt at a sufficiently high, yet not too high, volume fraction to coalesce with the bubbles formed or entrapped during melting. The process is known as *chemical* fining as it involves reactions with gas-releasing substances.

For reasons of cost, chemical compatibility, and effectiveness, the most widely used agent is sodium sulphate (Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>). By experience, 4 kg of Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> are added per ton of produced glass. During the early stages of batch melting, the sulfate dissolves in the melt. Under oxidizing conditions, it decomposes at 1400–1450 °C according to the reaction

$$\left\{ Na_2SO_4 \right\} \rightarrow \left\{ Na_2O \right\} + SO_2\left(g\right) + O_2\left(g\right) \text{,} \quad (10)$$

where the braces  $\{-\}$  denote the state "dissolved in the melt." Under reducing conditions, sodium sulphate reacts with the Na<sub>2</sub>S formed during primary batch melting as follows:

$$3 \{Na_2SO_4\} + \{Na_2S\} \rightarrow 4 \{Na_2O\} + 4 SO_2 (g).$$
  
(11)

The latter reaction already occurs at temperatures slightly below 1400  $^{\circ}$ C.

Oxygen fining is an alternative option. The agent typically used is  $Sb_2O_3$ ; it is added to the batch in amounts of 3–5 kg per 1000 kg of sand, in combination with a four- to eightfold amount of NaNO<sub>3</sub> [5]. At the moderately low temperatures of primary batch melting,  $Sb_2O_3$ converts to { $Sb_2O_5$ } provided that a sufficiently high oxygen partial pressure in the batch is established (Figure 4, stage b). This is achieved by the action of NaNO<sub>3</sub>, which decomposes at batch melting temperatures to release oxygen:

$$2 \text{ NaNO}_3 \rightarrow \{\text{Na}_2\text{O}\} + \text{NO}_x + (5 - x) \text{O}_2.$$
 (12)

At increasing temperatures, the higher valences of polyvalent ions become increasingly unstable (see Chapter 5.6) so that the fining reaction actually reads

$$\{\mathrm{Sb}_2\mathrm{O}_5\} \to \{\mathrm{Sb}_2\mathrm{O}_3\} + \mathrm{O}_2\ (g). \tag{13}$$

The release of oxygen bubbles reaches its maximum at about 1300 °C and extends beyond 1400 °C. The negative side effect of this procedure is the formation of the  $NO_x$  pollutant.

A simple calculation will finally explain why experience and empirical knowledge still play the predominant role in the allotment of fining agents. As used in the batch in Table 4, a mass of 4 kg of  $Na_2SO_4$  represents 56.3 mol of  $SO_2$ , which, at 1400 °C, 1 bar, would fill a volume of 7.6 m<sup>3</sup>. Now, 1 ton of melt, by contrast, fills 0.4 m<sup>3</sup> only. Obviously, only a very minor part of the nominal  $SO_2$ ends up in gas bubbles otherwise a foam instead of a clear melt would be obtained. The major part of  $SO_2$  is in fact lost during batch melting, by evaporation from the melt surface, or is retained in the glass. Thus, the proper allotment of fining rests on the small difference between sulfate input and the above losses. One of the rare attempts to perform a detailed sulfur balance of a glass furnace revealed that approximatively 0.25–0.3 kg of the sulfate added per t of glass are released in the form of fining bubbles [6].

#### 5.3 Homogeneization

After the fining process, the melt is cooled down and homogenized thermally in a steady way. Small residual bubbles resorb themselves because the solubilities of most volatile species strongly decrease with increasing temperatures (Chapter 5.5). For this reason, care has to be taken to prevent local temperature rises from happening during the homogenization process otherwise the so-called reboil bubbles would form in the melt and could not be removed in any way. Among dissolved gases, N<sub>2</sub> distinguishes itself by its decreasing solubility with decreasing temperatures. Thus, N<sub>2</sub>-containing bubbles escaping the fining process appear as very tiny bubbles called seeds in the final glass. Their number per unit mass of glass represents an important quality criterion. In container glass, a few tens of seeds per 100 g of glass are accepted. Float glass requires a much higher quality (one visible defect per 20 m<sup>2</sup> already is considered a high defect density) and hence, much longer dwell times (approx. 1.5-2 days vs. 1 day for container glass) in the melting compartment.

## 6 Energetics of Glass Melting

The amount of energy involved in the fusion of glass is an issue of great interest to the glass industry. Referring to comprehensive quantitative treatments ([7, 8] and Chapter 9.8), we will give only a brief sketch of this issue within the scope of this chapter. The approach rests on the fact that, at constant pressure, the heat (enthalpy) transferred to or drawn from a system is thermodynamically the variation of a state function: as such, the intrinsic energy demand depends only on the initial and final states of the system and it can be determined without any consideration of what is going on along the process road.

The initial enthalpy state is given by the sum of standard enthalpies  $H^{\circ}_{i}$  at 25 °C, 1 bar, of the individual raw materials *i*, weighted by their respective amounts  $m_{i}$  in the batch:

$$H^{\circ}_{BATCH} = \Sigma \, m_i \cdot H^{\circ}_{\ i}. \tag{14}$$

The final enthalpy is given by the standard enthalpies of the batch gases g,  $H^{\circ}_{GASES} = \Sigma m_{g} \cdot H^{\circ}_{g}$ , and of the glass,

 $H^{\circ}_{GLASS}$ , plus the heat content  $\Delta H(T_{ex})$  of the glass at the exit temperature  $T_{ex}$ . The standard enthalpy difference between inputs and products constitutes the chemical energy demand

$$\Delta H^{\circ}_{\text{chem}} = H^{\circ}_{\text{BATCH}} - H^{\circ}_{\text{GASES}} - H^{\circ}_{\text{GLASS}}.$$
 (15)

The heat content of the melt at  $T_{\rm ex}$  is given by  $\Delta H(T_{\rm ex})$ . For convenience, all enthalpy values are inserted in absolute figures, disregarding the minus sign given in thermochemical tables. The overall intrinsic heat demand  $H_{\rm ex}$  (exploited heat of the process) is given by

$$H_{\text{ex}} = (1 - y_{\text{CULLET}}) \cdot \Delta H^{\circ}_{\text{chem}} + \Delta H(T_{\text{ex}}), \quad (16)$$

where  $y_{\text{CULLET}}$  denotes the weight fraction of cullet per amount of glass produced.

It is true, real raw materials typically do not contain their main mineral phase only, but also contain minor amounts of side minerals. For example, a real quartz sand may contain, beside its main phase quartz, minor amounts of feldspar minerals, magnetite, spinel, etc.; a natural dolomite is typically composed of different minerals forming solid solutions in the system Ca- $Mg-Fe^{II}-CO_3$  with an overall composition not too far from the pure phase  $CaMg(CO_3)_2$ . An accurate determination of the enthalpy values  $H^{\circ}_{i}$  of real raw materials would thus require the evaluation of multicomponent phase diagrams. However, such an approach would hardly be accepted by the technological community. Beyond this, the gain of accuracy against a simpler approach is minor only. Thus, with the reservation to a more rigorous treatment [7, 8], only the enthalpy values  $H^{\circ}_{i}$  of pure raw materials are given here in units of MJ/kg:

Raw material <i>i</i>	Enthalpy $H^{\circ}_i$ in MJ/kg
Pure quartz sand	15.150
Pure albite (NaAlSi <sub>3</sub> O <sub>8</sub> )	14.952
Pure dolomite CaMg(CO <sub>3</sub> ) <sub>2</sub>	12.549
Pure calcite CaCO <sub>3</sub>	12.058
Soda ash	10.659
Sodium sulfate	9.782
Carbon	0.000
Calumite®	13.561

For the batch gases, the following values hold:

CO<sub>2</sub>: 8.941; H<sub>2</sub>O: 13.422; SO<sub>2</sub>: 4.633; O<sub>2</sub>: 0.000.

The energy calculation for the real glass composition of Table 2 (where the tiny amount of  $TiO_2$  has been allotted to  $SiO_2$ ) is summarized in Table 5. The position of the

glass composition in the phase diagram in units of kg of equilibrium compounds per t of glass is found by the following simplified procedure:

$$\begin{split} NAS_6 &= 51.440 \ Al_2O_3 - 55.697 \ K_2O, \\ KAS_6 &= 59.102 \ K_2O, \\ hm &= 6 \ Fe_2O_3, \\ FS &= 7.345 \ Fe_2O_3, \\ MS &= 24.907 \ MgO, \\ NC_3S_6 &= 35.112 \ CaO, \\ NS_2 &= 29.386 \ Na_2O + 19.346 \ K_2O - 17.867 \ Al_2O_3 \\ &- 10.824 \ CaO, \\ S &= difference \ to \ 1000 \ kg. \end{split}$$

Oxide amounts are to be inserted in wt %. For the components k, the shorthand notation hm = FeO·Fe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, F =  $Fe_2O_3$ , M = MgO, C = CaO, N = Na<sub>2</sub>O, K = K<sub>2</sub>O, S = SiO<sub>2</sub> is used. Column m(k) in Table 5 lists the resulting amounts of the constitutional components of the glass. By this procedure, one finds that the standard enthalpies of formation of the glass and melt are 14189.7 MJ/t at room temperature and 12 665.9 MJ/t at 1300 °C, respectively. The enthalpy physically stored in the melt at 1300 °C relative to the glass at 25 °C is thus 1523.8 MJ/t. By the weighted sum of the heat capacity of compounds k, the latter value can be adjusted to any other exit temperature of the melt. For the batch given in Table 4, column " $m_{\rm II}(i)$ ", a chemical energy demand of  $\Delta H^{\circ}_{\rm chem} = 461.8$ MJ/t is obtained. Fusion of the selected batch with 50% cullet ( $y_{\text{CULLET}} = 0.5$ ) thus requires an intrinsic energy demand of

$$H_{\text{ex}} = (1 - y_{\text{CULLET}}) \cdot \Delta H^{\circ}_{\text{chem}} + \Delta H(T_{\text{ex}})$$
  
= 1745.7 MJ/t. (17)

A well-constructed and operated melting furnace (end port, air-gas fired) reaches an efficiency of heat exploitation  $\eta_{ex}$  of 48%. Thus, the actual energy demand  $H_{in}$  of the melting process amounts to  $H_{in} = H_{ex}/\eta_{ex} = 3637$  MJ/t. This result is very much in line with industrial experience. Calculations of this kind are of high importance for the evaluation of glass furnace performance [9], for furnace design, as well as for the energy optimization of batch and glass compositions.

## 7 Perspectives

Although the energetics of the fusion process may be considered as satisfactorily assessed, the kinetic aspects of fusion are not yet well enough understood. The efficiency of heat exploitation  $\eta_{ex}$  of a furnace varies according to a hyperbolic law of the type  $\eta_{ex} = 1/(A + B \cdot p)$  with the production rate p (t/h). Thus, furnaces are preferentially operated at the highest achievable rates. The limits for p are determined by the rate of heat transfer or the time

156.1

3128.8

12665.9

H<sub>1300,MELT</sub>

Oxide	wt %	Compound <i>k</i>	$H^{\circ}_{k, GL}$	H <sub>k,1300</sub>	C <sub>P,k,L</sub>	m(k)	$m(k) \cdot H^{\circ}_{k,GL}$	<i>m</i> ( <i>k</i> )· <i>H</i> <sub><i>k</i>,1300</sub>
			MJ/kg	MJ/kg	kJ/kg·K	kg/t	MJ/kg	MJ/kg
$SiO_2$	71.84	hm	4.4313	3.0196	0.9217	0.18	0.8	0.5
$Al_2O_3$	1.50	FS	8.7888	7.3999	1.0589	0.22	1.9	1.6
$Fe_2O_3$	0.03	MS	14.9599	13.2740	1.4582	74.47	1114.1	988.5
MgO	2.99	$NS_2$	13.4194	11.6862	1.4335	284.99	3824.4	3330.4
CaO	9.47	$NC_3S_6$	14.0278	12.6137	1.3301	332.51	4664.4	4194.2
Na <sub>2</sub> O	13.96	NAS <sub>6</sub>	14.7131	13.2234	1.2358	65.46	963.2	865.6

Table 5 Calculation scheme for the energetics of a soda-lime silicate glass (composition in wt %).<sup>a</sup>

14.0258

15.0023

 ${}^{a}H^{\circ}_{k,GL}$  = standard enthalpy of component k in the glassy state;  $H_{k,1300}$  = enthalpy of k in the liquid state at 1300 °C;  $c_{P,k,L}$  = isobaric heat capacity of liquid k; m(k) = equilibrium amount of k in the multicomponent phase diagram;  $H^{\circ}_{GLASS}$  = standard enthalpy of the resulting glass;  $H_{1300,MELT}$  = enthalpy of the melt at 1300 °C;  $\Delta H_{1300}$  = heat content of the melt at 1300 °C relative to the glass at 25 °C.

12.5775

13.6179

 ${}^{b}hm = FeO \cdot Fe_2O_3$ ,  $F = Fe_2O_3$ , M = MgO, C = CaO,  $N = Na_2O$ ,  $K = K_2O$ ,  $S = SiO_2$ .

demand of the fusion process required to achieve an acceptable glass quality. As of now, however, one does not even known which of the above constraints controls the melting rate. As a matter of fact, the answer depends on both furnace and batch design.

 $K_2O$ 

Sum

0.21

100.00

KAS<sub>6</sub>

S

A better understanding of redox and acid base reactions in real furnaces is also desired. Although these reactions are well understood at the laboratory scale, the transfer to a real production situation is still set by experience rather than by scientific principles. In view of the large impact of these reactions on glass quality, progress in this area would be highly appreciated.

Finally, the glass industry is engaged in a quest to lower its overall energy consumption to decrease its operating costs and to satisfy increasingly stringent legislation imposed on high-temperature industrial processes. The design of faster conversion batches is becoming important in this respect. Conventional glass formulae and batch recipes are no longer taken for granted. Efforts are in particular made to design batches that would melt along reaction pathways ensuring higher turnover rates than current randomly mixed batches. Progress may be achieved with selective batching, granulation processes bringing the reaction partners into close contact at the µm scale, preparation of core-shell type pellets, or selective preheating of specific raw-material combinations of the batch. In each case, of course, a prerequisite would be that the obtained energy savings are not offset by increased batch costs.

## Appendix

1.3755

1.4347

12.41

229.75

Sum

1000.00

174.1

3446.9

 $H^{\circ}_{GLASS}$ 

14 189.7

 $\Delta H_{1300}$ 1523.8

The results plotted in Figure 7 for the dissolution of an ensemble of grains have been obtained from the analytical solution to the integral A(t) of Eq. (6) given by:

$$\begin{aligned} A(t) &= 1 - \frac{1}{2} \cdot \operatorname{erfc}\left(\frac{1}{s} \cdot \ln y\right) + \frac{3y}{2} \cdot \exp\left(\frac{s^2}{4}\right) \cdot \operatorname{erfc}\left(\frac{1}{s} \cdot \ln y + \frac{s}{2}\right) \\ &- \frac{3y^2}{2} \cdot \exp\left(s^2\right) \cdot \operatorname{erfc}\left(\frac{1}{s} \cdot \ln y + s\right) \\ &+ \frac{y^3}{2} \cdot \exp\left(\frac{9s^2}{4}\right) \cdot \operatorname{erfc}\left(\frac{1}{s} \cdot \ln y + \frac{3s}{2}\right), \end{aligned}$$
$$y &= \frac{\sqrt{4 \cdot D \cdot t}}{r_{50}}, \ s &= \sqrt{2} \cdot \sigma \end{aligned}$$
(18)

Here, erfc(z) denotes the complementary Gaussian error function of argument z, while y and s are used as abbreviations in the formula. It is true that sand dissolution does not proceed isothermally at a constant diffusion coefficient D in a real fusion process, but the utmost importance of the grain-size distribution for a successful fusion process is nonetheless demonstrated clearly.

## References

1 Cable, M. (1998). A century of development in glass melting. J. Am. Ceram. Soc. 81: 1083-1094.

- 2 Simpson, W. and Myers, D.D. (1978). The redox number concept and its use by the glass technologists. *Glass Technol.* 19: 82–85.
- **3** Nemeč, L. and Cincibusová, P. (2009). Glass melting and its innovation potentials: the potential role of glass flow in the sand dissolution process. *Ceramics Silikaty* 53: 145–155.
- **4** Nemeč, L., Jebavá, M., and Dyrčíková, P. (2013). Glass melting phemomena, their ordering and melting space utilization. *Ceramics Silikaty* 57: 275284.
- 5 Jebsen-Marwedel, H. and Brückner, R. (1980). Glastechnische Fabrikationsfehler, "Pathologische" Ausnahmezustände des Werkstoffes Glas und ihre Behebung; Eine Brücke zwischen Wissenschaft, Technologie und Praxis, 229. Berlin: Springer.

- 6 Müller-Simon, H. (1999). Sulfate fining in soda lime silicate glasses (in German). In: *HVG Course 1999*, 45–72. Offenbach: Deutsche Glastechnische Gesellschaft.
- 7 Conradt, R. (2008). The industrial glass melting process, Chapter II:24. In: *The SGTE Casebook. Thermodynamics at Work* (ed. K. Hack).
   Boca Raton: CRC Press.
- 8 Conradt, R. (2010). Thermodynamics of glass melting. In: Fiberglass and Glass Technology – Energy-Friendly Compositions and Applications (eds. F.T. Wallenberger and P.A. Bingham), 385–412. Berlin: Springer.
- **9** Conradt, R. (2019). Prospects and physical limits of processes and technologies in glass melting. *J. Asian Ceram. Soc.* 7: 377–396.

## 1.4

## **Primary Fabrication of Flat Glass**

Toru Kamihori

Production Technology Center, Asahi Glass Co., Ltd., Yokohama-shi, Kanagawa, Japan

## 1 Introduction

Flat glass is ubiquitous in the modern world, from the facades of high-rise buildings to the large windows of automobiles, the solar power generation systems, and the various kinds of displays that are now integral components of daily life. Not only did these new applications cause a tremendous increase of the world production from less than 7  $10^5$  in the early 1960s to 59  $10^6$  metric tons in 2014 (then with an annual growth rate of 7%), but they have also yielded dramatic improvements in glass quality and functionalities. For a glass material that had been manufactured for 2000 years with very little change, the industrial evolution observed during the last 50 years has been incredibly rapid indeed!

As experienced by ancient Roman glassmakers, flat glass made by pouring the melt on a solid substrate has a surface that is not smooth enough to ensure good transparency. Until the beginning of the twentieth century, flat glass had for this reason to be produced out of hollow glass to keep the defect-free surface conferred by fire polish. As made in this way with either the crown or the cylinder process (Chapter 10.8), production of flat glass was very labor-intensive, restricted to relatively small sheets and subject to wastage when cut into pieces for use. Besides, it did not yield high-quality products as is obvious to anyone looking at an old window where objects are often seen distorted through the glass in which defects and streaks are also generally present as a result of the detrimental effects of temperature or composition heterogeneities that could not be avoided during the melting and forming processes.

Mechanization was pioneered from 1894 to 1916 by J. H. Lubbers at the American Window Glass company. Glass cylinders of constant diameter and wall thickness began in 1904 to be blown successfully with a wellcontrolled low-pressure air flow issued for 15-18 minutes from a machine that was dubbed iron lung [1]. Making much bigger cylinders, which eventually reached 1 m in diameter and more than 13 m in length (Figure 1), did reduce considerably cost and labor (whence the very strong Union opposition met by the new process), but did not result in consistently good quality because of the wavy surface and optical distortion induced by the flattening stage. Thanks to updraw processes designed in Belgium and in the United States, it then became possible in the following decade to bypass the hollowglass step. But these processes remained discontinuous because devitrified material had to be removed periodically from the production line.

A true revolution in glass producing thus occurred when the float process was introduced in the 1950s to produce sufficiently good flat glass to make the grinding and polishing steps ensuring high-quality sheets obsolete. Production became in addition completely continuous, which allowed the productivity to be considerably increased without affecting surface quality. Because of the very large amount of glass produced, however, the float process may be impractical when production volumes are small or the glass composition has to be changed frequently. For specialties such as crown glass for niche markets or new glass for electronics markets, older processes are thus still used or new ones have been designed to achieve in particular a high flexibility of throughput and broad ranges of thickness and width.

In this chapter, we will review the various processes that have been designed to achieve these goals, beginning with the first developed ones whose interest is now only historical. The early processes are denoted as *updraw* because

*Reviewers*: S. Inoue, National Institute for Materials Science, Tsukuba-shi, Ibaraki, Japan

T. Yano, Tokyo Institute of Technology, Meguro-ku, Tokyo, Japan

*Encyclopedia of Glass Science, Technology, History, and Culture, Volume I*, First Edition. Pascal Richet. © 2021 The American Ceramic Society. Published 2021 by John Wiley & Sons, Inc.



**Figure 1** Very large glass cylinders blown mechanically with the Lubbers process for flat-glass production [2].

the glass was drawn upward, in contrast to the *downdraw* processes, which have subsequently been developed for specialty glasses. No attention at all will be paid to the synthesis of the glass itself, which is described in Chapter 1.3. The emphasis will thus be put on the forming process and on the material parameters such as viscosity, density, heat capacity, and surface tension that control it. For more detailed descriptions, the reader will be referred to the available technical literature [1–9].

## 2 Overview

The main features of past and current processes are summarized in Table 1. Although updraw processes are no longer used for commodity applications, it remains worthwhile to examine their mechanisms and forming principles from a technological viewpoint. For flat-glass forming, the essential requirement is to achieve the constant desired thickness, which now ranges from around 25 mm to less than 50  $\mu$ m, with the specified width at a commercially admissible cost. Additionally, a flatter and smoother surface is requested. The essential forming defects are mainly of two kinds depending on whether they are derived from locally uneven deformation or undesirable stress. The former is caused by viscosity heterogeneity of glass originating from chemical impurities or temperature irregularity, and the latter is caused by fluctuation of forming condition or stress imbalance.

Architectural glass must, for instance, satisfy appropriate transparency and reflection, but glass for automobiles and electronics products has to meet much more demanding quality specifications even for thinner glass whose production becomes increasingly difficult.

In all forming processes, two distinct steps are involved once the glass has been melted at about 1500 °C, refined, and homogenized in the melting tank. The first is its delivery under conditions at which the temperature, thickness, and flow rate must be as stable and uniform as possible throughout its whole width at a viscosity of about  $10^2-10^3$  Pa·s (i.e. at 1200–1000 °C for soda-lime silicate). In the second step, the more viscous molten glass cooled down to a temperature at which the viscosity is  $10^3-10^{6.65}$  Pa·s (i.e. at 1050–700 °C for soda-lime silicate) is stretched in the longitudinal direction, while minimizing simultaneous narrowing of the glass ribbon.

In both glass delivering and stretching systems, properties of the molten glass such as surface tension, gravitational force, and tensile stresses are critical factors, whereas the kinetic aspects of the process are tightly controlled by means of drawing chambers, *débiteuses*, draw bars, rolls, float baths, slots, fusion pipes, etc. Besides, heat management through variously devised heaters and coolers is another fundamental aspect because glass properties vary very strongly with temperature. In addition to physical effects, one must also take into account chemical factors such as possible devitrification and chemical reactions between the glass and other materials, which may themselves depend on glass composition.

Since annealing follows forming, the conditions of the former process are greatly influenced by those of the latter. The formed glass ribbon is cooled down and conveyed to an annealing lehr where the decreasing glass temperature is carefully controlled so that residual stresses caused by viscoelasticity are relaxed between the annealing and strain points (1012 Pa·s, 570 °C, and 10<sup>13.6</sup> Pa·s, 530 °C, respectively, in soda-lime silicate), and breakage caused by thermal stresses is minimized upon cooling down to room temperature. Finally, optical devices are installed at the downstream part of production line to detect in the glass at room temperature any visible defects such as bubbles, stones, streaks, etc., which originate either from the melting tank or the forming process. These defects are at once clearly marked on the glass ribbon and their positions are usually electronically recorded for optimized cutting either at the end of the production line or by the user according to its specific application. For flat glass to be used in buildings, any 10 m<sup>2</sup>-sheet must, for instance, have fewer than three defects with a maximum size of 1 mm (which would be tantamount to finding fewer than three coins on a football field!).

 Table 1 Comparison of forming processes.

		Mechan	ism				
Category	Process	Step 1: Preliminary forming (Molten glass delivering)	Step 2: Main forming (Stretching)	Advantage	Disadvantage	Current situation	
Updraw process	Fourcault process	Glass flow toward débiteuse and upward flow through débiteuse slot	Upward drawing against gravity by pairs of rolls	Earliest continuous production Smaller investment	Quality (Draw lines) Cyclic operation	Almost obsolete for commodity applications	
	Colburn process	Glass flow toward drawing point and upward flow from free surface	Upward drawing against gravity by pair of knurled rolls and bending roll	Higher output Wide range of thickness	Low surface quality Complex operation	Customized/ modified process operating for specialty glass	
	Pittsburg Pennvernon process	Glass flow around draw bar and upward flow above draw bar	Upward drawing against gravity by pairs of rolls	Better surface quality Longer cycle	Distortion Thickness deviation		
	Asahi process	Glass flow toward Asahi blocks and upward flow through gap between Asahi blocks	Upward drawing against gravity by pairs of rolls	Smaller investment Longer cycle	Cyclic operation		
Roll out process	Continuous double roll process	Horizontal glass flow through forehearth	Pressing by pair of rolls	Value added with patterns and wires Versatility Smaller investment	Limited applications	Popular for patterned glass, wired glass, and specialty glass	
Float process	For thinner sheet (Top roll process)	Viscous flow with equilibrium thickness in upstream area of bath	Horizontally stretching by conveyor rolls and top rolls	Large-scale production (productivity) Quality (flatness) Flexibility for thickness and width	Large investment Constraint of chemical elements in glass	Widely operating in the world for various applications	
	For thicker sheet(Fender process)	Viscous flow with restricted width by pair of fenders	Cooling to appropriate temperature in fender area (without stretching)	+ Thicker and larger sheet			
Downdraw process	Slot downdraw process	Glass flow toward slot and downward flow through slot	Stretching by pairs of rolls and gravity with anchored to slot	Thinner glass Small-scale production	Flatness and surface quality Limited width	Customized/ modified process operating for specialty glass	
	Fusion downdraw process	Glass flow through trough and over weirs, downward flow on both sides of fusion pipe	Stretching by pairs of rolls and gravity with anchored to root	Thinner glass High surface quality	Minute control required (temperature, glass flow) Constraint of liquidus viscosity	Popular for specialty glass	

## 3 Updraw Processes

#### 3.1 Fourcault

The first manufacturing method successfully industrialized and commercialized was invented from 1901 in Belgium by É. Gobbe and É. Fourcault and finally implemented industrially in 1912 by É. Fourcault in his family company in Charleroi. With this process, the molten glass was drawn vertically through a débiteuse into a continuous glass ribbon. The débiteuse, a rectangular refractory piece with a spindle-shaped slot at the center, was immersed into the molten glass. The molten glass flowing up from the slot was drawn upward and immediately cooled by the coolers while conveyed upward by pairs of rolls in a such a manner that its width was kept constant. The formed glass was annealed along the way and finally cut off at the top of the 8-10 m drawing tower (Figure 2). The flow rate was controlled by the immersion depth of the débiteuse, the shape of the slot, and the cooling exerted, whereas the thickness of the sheet was determined by the drawing speed.

The advantages of this process were many. Not only could production be made with several drawing machines for a single glass tank, but wide ranges of thickness (1-8 mm) and width (1.5-2.5 m) were possible for glass sheets formed with a relatively uniform thickness. In terms of disadvantages, continuous operation was impossible because of the need after about two weeks of operation to remove the devitrified glass that was accumulating around the slot of the débiteuse and on the inner surfaces of the drawing kiln. Whereas the former devitrified

Glass sheet Typical slot shape of Débiteuse Rolls Coolers Canal coolers Canal Molten glass Kiln Molten glass

Figure 2 Sketch of Fourcault process in cross section. The molten glass flows up through the débiteuse slot and is drawn upward [3].

material was causing draw lines, the latter changed the flow rate and flow pattern toward the débiteuse. In addition, it was impossible to maintain a completely stable throughput because of bubble formation at the beginning of a drawing cycle and draw-line problems and instability toward the end [1, 3–6].

## 3.2 Colburn

At the same time the Fourcault process was being developed, the American inventor I. W. Colburn (1861–1917) was experimenting vertical drawing without a débiteuse. His first patent was taken in 1902 but the company he founded in 1906 to produce glass went bankrupt five years later. Working thereafter for the Toledo Glass Company, which had bought his patent, Colby was eventually successful in 1913. With his process, the molten glass introduced into a shallow drawing chamber was drawn upward from the free surface, its edges being gripped and driven by pairs of knurled rolls, and cooled immediately. After being reheated by a gas burner, the formed glass was brought horizontally by a bending roll and conveyed to a horizontal annealing lehr (Figure 3). Since the surface condition and flatness of the bending roll directly determined the quality of the glass sheet, the choice of an appropriate metal as well as the surface treatment and temperature control of the bending roll were crucial. Typically, two drawing chambers were mounted on one glass tank. The 0.9-6 mm thickness range obtained was similar to that of the Fourcault process, but devitrification on the débiteuse was avoided and a much larger width of up to 4.2 m could be obtained, thanks to the horizontally conveying process. But the price to be paid was a lower glass quality because of thickness variations, optical distortions, and surface defects [1, 3-6].



**Figure 3** Sketch of Colburn process in a bird's-eye perspective. The molten glass is drawn upward from the free surface and bended horizontally by a bending roll [6].

#### 3.3 Pittsburg Pennvernon

A process similar to that of Fourcault was developed and introduced by the Pittsburg Plate Glass Company in 1926. In this Pittsburg Pennvernon process, the molten glass was not drawn through a débiteuse but upward from the free surface right above a drawbar, which was a long and thin refractory part immersed below the glass surface. The ribbon width was kept constant because the glass was cooled by edge folks and coolers. After being annealed and cooled in the drawing tower, the glass ribbon was cut off at the top of the tower (Figure 4). The drawbar served to anchor the drawing point and to ensure uniform temperature and glass flow rate across its width. In addition, ell blocks served to homogenize the drawing temperature by keeping the glass melt covered. The operation cycle was much longer than that of the Fourcault process with a better surface quality and without devitrification complications. Typically, the thickness range was 1-8 mm with a width of up to 3.2 m, but the disadvantages were thickness variations resulting from temperature fluctuations and inhomogeneities in chemical composition caused by drawing of the glass directly from its surface [3-6].

## 3.4 Asahi

The most recent updraw process has been developed by Asahi Glass Company around 1970 to overcome in a new way the disadvantages of the Fourcault process [5, 6, 8]. With it, a pair of hourglass-shaped rolls, called "Asahi blocks," is immersed into the molten glass instead of a débiteuse

**Figure 4** Sketch of the Pittsburg Pennvernon process in cross section. The molten glass is drawn upward from the free surface right above the drawbar immersed below the glass surface [3]. (Figure 5). The trick then is to make the Asahi blocks rotatable to renew the parting line where the glass leaves from the refractory and devitrification takes place. As a result, much longer drawing periods of up to 2-4 months can be achieved. An additional advantage is that thinner sheets down to 1.1-0.7 mm can be produced, especially for electronics applications, with a width of 1.5-2 m, thanks to the forming stability derived from the Asahi blocks.

## 4 Roll Out Process

The continuous double-roll process was developed in the United States in an effort led by the Ford Motor Company to meet a growing demand from the automotive industry. As delivered from the forehearth, the molten glass was pressed to a given thickness, cooled rapidly by a watercooled pair of rotating rolls, and then conveyed into a horizontal annealing lehr. The thickness was determined mainly by the gap between the rolls, whereas the output was fixed by the rotating speed of the rolls.

As made by Pilkington Brothers in the 1920s, this process was then improved to manufacture plate glass through online grinding after annealing, followed by polishing of the cut plates. The process was further developed by Saint-Gobain in the 1950s to grind *and* polish on line the glass ribbon (Chapter 10.9). Along with a waste of about 20% of the glass, very high investment and operating costs were major disadvantages of these mechanical methods, however, which in fact prompted Pilkington to develop the float process as described in Section 5.





**Figure 5** Sketch of the Asahi process in cross section. The rotatable Asahi blocks are immersed into molten glass instead of the débiteuse, and enable the parting line to be renewed where devitrification takes place [6].

Because the float process was not designed at all for patterned and wire-reinforced glass, the continuous roll out process, with which these products have been produced since the 1920s, has escaped oblivion (Chapter 10.9). Thanks to its versatility and facility for customization, it has even found new special applications, for instance, to make cover glasses for solar cells with excellent light diffusion through patterned textures on the surface. Usually the pattern is impressed on the lower surface by the lower roll, which is engraved. Generally the thickness range is 2–7 mm for the patterned and 8–25 mm for the polished glass.

Wire

Forehearth Lip tile Lower roll

As to wire-reinforced glass, it is produced in two ways depending on whether the wire is simply inserted into a molten glass (single-pass process, Figure 6) or sand-wiched between two glass layers (double-pass process). Although more complex, the latter process has advantages over the former in terms of larger output, wider width, and higher quality, and better suitability for subsequent conversion into polished wired glass because the wire mesh is always precisely located at the center in the thickness direction [1, 3–8].

## 5 Float Process

#### 5.1 Principle

When it was invented in the 1950s, the float process turned out to be an epoch-making method to produce flat glass with a smooth surface without any additional polishing. Its production cost was low enough to make possible an extensive use of the material in buildings and automobiles, which is one of the hallmarks of current civilization. The basic process of making flat glass on a molten metal was in fact patented in various ways as early as in 1848 in England by H. Bessemer, of steel-converter fame, and then several times in the United States by W. Heal and J. H. Forrest (1902 and then in 1925), and by Halbert K. Hitchcock (1905 and 1925), but a great many technical problems had to be solved before the process could be made practical. Through a seven-year expensive research program of Pilkington Brothers in the United Kingdom, which in its last stage included 13 months of production that had to be discarded, all these problems had eventually been overcome in July 1958 by a team led by L.A.B. Pilkington (no relationship with the Company's owners) and K. Bickerstaff. The following year it

**Figure 6** Sketch of single-pass wire roll out process (upper part insertion process). The wire is inserted into the molten glass, which is pressed and cooled by rotating water-cooled rolls [8].
even became possible to produce with the same process the distortion-free glasses needed for mirrors, thus abolishing the long-standing distinction between window and polished-plate glass (Chapter 10.9).

Although the float process became continuously profitable only in 1963, the previous year it began to be licensed all over the world by Pilkington Brothers in rapidly expanding markets. Within a decade, the good optical quality of float glass resulted in a vanishing share for other sheet- and plate-glass processes. As of 2015, more than 400 float plants are operated worldwide, units being up to about 500 m long (Figure 7). With a typical size of about  $25 \times 60$  m, melting tanks are bigger than Olympic swimming pools to produce 600 metric tons (and even up to 1300 tons in the biggest plants) of flat glass per day with an investment cost ranging from 70 to 200 million dollars or euros, depending on actual size, location, and product complexity. As for the inflation-adjusted production cost (cf. Chapter 9.6), it has been almost continuously decreasing by a factor of 4 from 1965 to reach today a range of 200-300 dollars or euros per ton (Chapter 9.6), raw materials and energy accounting both for about 20% of it.

When a molten glass is poured onto a clean molten metal bath, it floats, thanks to its much lower density, spreads out, and thins to the point where the gravitational forces and the surface tensions among the glass, molten metal, and atmosphere are in equilibrium to reach the so-called equilibrium thickness. The lower and especially the upper surfaces of the molten glass are fire-polished, perfectly flat, and parallel except at the edges. The float process is based on this principle. Among metals or alloys that are liquid between 600 and 1050 °C, the relevant temperature range for glass forming, pure tin was the obvious choice because of its low melting temperature of 232 °C, high density of about  $6.5 \text{ g/cm}^3$  at 1000 °C, low vapor pressure of about  $10^{-7}$  atm at 1000 °C, high boiling point of 2602 °C, low reactivity with silicates in the metallic state, and not too high cost (about 20 dollars/kg as of 2015).

The aforementioned equilibrium thickness  $T_{\rm e}$  is given by

$$T_{\rm e}^{2} = 2\rho_t \left( S_{\rm ga} + S_{\rm gt} - S_{\rm ta} \right) / \left[ g\rho_{\rm g} \left( \rho_{\rm t} - \rho_{\rm g} \right) \right], \qquad (1)$$

where  $S_{gav}$ ,  $S_{gt}$ , and  $S_{ta}$  are the surface tensions at the glass–atmosphere, glass–molten tin, and tin–atmosphere interfaces, respectively, *g* is the gravitational constant and  $\rho_t$  and  $\rho_g$  are the density of the molten tin and glass, respectively (Table 2). For soda-lime silicate glass floating on clean molten tin under a nitrogen-hydrogen atmosphere,  $T_e$  is 6.9 mm (Figure 8), a thickness that is actually insensitive to small changes in the chemical compositions of the atmosphere, metal bath, or glass [1, 3–9].

#### 5.2 Float Bath

The float bath contains several metric tons of molten glass. It is a large unit with a length of up to more than 50 m enclosed by a steel shell that is lined with thick insulating and nonreactive refractory materials and holds a pool of molten tin whose depth is 50-100 mm and total amount is up to more than 200 metric tons kept at temperatures decreasing from about 1000 to  $600 \,^{\circ}$ C from the



Figure 7 Overview of a float-glass plant (scale not right: size of the right-hand side, for instance, much exaggerated) http://www.glassforeurope.com/en/industry/float-process.php

 Table 2
 List of symbols regarding equilibrium thickness mechanism.

Symbol	Denotation
T <sub>e</sub>	Equilibrium thickness
$ ho_{ m t}$	Density of molten tin
$ ho_{ m g}$	Density of molten glass
$S_{ m ga}$	Surface tension at glass-atmosphere interface
$S_{ m gt}$	Surface tension at glass-molten tin interface
$S_{ m ta}$	Surface tension at tin-atmosphere interface
g	Gravitational constant



**Figure 8** Equilibrium thickness of floating glass on the molten tin when the gravitational forces and surface tensions are balanced [3].

hot to the cold end (Figure 9). A reducing gas mixture made up of 2-8% hydrogen and 98-92% nitrogen is supplied at a high rate of the order of  $10^3 \text{ m}^3/\text{h}$  from above to the bath to prevent oxidation of the molten tin and to maintain a positive pressure difference with the atmosphere at the bath exit where leakages are highest. The heaters, coolers, and other devices are installed and inserted in the bath. The molten glass is continuously supplied from the furnace conditioner via a canal where its flow rate is precisely controlled by an adjustable gate called a tweel. It arrives to a ceramic spout lip, which is an inlet of the float bath, through which it falls freely onto the molten tin. After many years of struggle at Pilkington Brothers to achieve excellent quality, the design and engineering of the inlet area were an outstanding invention to force the contaminated molten glass in contact with the refractory lip to flow outwardly so as to be brought forward at the outer edges of the ribbon [9].

Once poured onto the tin bath with a thickness of about 50 mm, the glass spreads out and thins to its equilibrium thickness in the upstream area in the float bath. As formed to the required thickness and width in the forming area (see Section 5.3), the glass ribbon is taken

out from the bath either to receive appropriate reflective, low-emissivity, solar-control, self-cleaning, or other specific coatings (Chapters 6.7 and 6.8) or to enter directly the annealing lehr at the temperature at which the viscosity is about  $10^{10}$  Pa·s (i.e. about 600 °C for soda-lime silicate). At the end of the lehr, whose length can reach 120 m, the ribbon is finally cooled down to room temperature and brought into the cutting area. Whereas both edges are cut out (to be recycled as cullet) because of the imprint left by the top rolls, the ribbon itself is cut either according to customers' specifications or as standard sheets, for instance, 6.0 × 3.21 m in Europe where tools used in the flat-glass transportation industry have been fitted to this size (which, by the way, is too large to allow flat glass to be shipped in containers).

## 5.3 Thinner (Top-Roll Process) and Thicker (Fender Process) Glass Ribbons

For forming thin sheets, the molten glass with its initial equilibrium thickness in the upstream area in the bath is subjected at the same time to longitudinal and lateral forces. The former are exerted by conveyor rolls that stretch the ribbon from the annealing lehr and pull it at a typical speed of up to 25 m per minute. The latter are exerted outwardly on the ribbon edges by pairs of top rolls, which are water-cooled rotating gears, to reduce the narrowing of the glass ribbon because the imposed longitudinal stretching reduces not only its thickness but also its width (Figure 10a). In parallel, the glass ribbon is cooled down to prevent it from returning to its equilibrium thickness until its width is constant at the end of the forming area. In view of the fundamental influence of viscosity within the glass ribbon upon stretching and thinning, the temperature distribution and the top-roll operations must be controlled very tightly to ensure a good forming quality. Besides, keeping the glass ribbon as wide as possible is important to maximize productivity.

For producing float glass thicker than the equilibrium thickness, a pair of water-cooled carbon fenders serves as slipping guides to the flowing glass in the bath (Figure 10b). The glass thus proceeds with a restricted width and a large thickness. As it passes down the fender area, the effects of gravitational forces and surface tensions make both its upper and lower surfaces flat and thickness uniform. The glass is then cooled to an appropriate temperature in the downstream area of the fender where its viscosity is high enough not to allow width changes. In contrast to what is taking place in the top-roll process, stretching is not significant at all and there is no drive to return to the equilibrium thickness because there is no glass-tin-atmosphere interface in the fender area. **Figure 9** Sketch of the tin bath part of the float process: (a) on vertical plane along centerline; (b) on horizontal plane. A reducing nitrogen–hydrogen gas mixture is supplied from above. Heaters and coolers are installed [10].



Figure 10 Sketch of the float process: (a) for sheets thinner than the equilibrium thickness, where the glass is stretched, from its edges by top rolls and from its downstream part by conveyor rolls; (b) for sheets thicker than the equilibrium thickness, where water-cooled carbon fenders serve as slipping guides to glass flowing [7].

# 5.4 A Complex Industrial Problem

In spite of the simplicity of its principles, the float process is not readily implemented because flow in both tin and glass and heat transfer among tin, glass, and the radiative field are really complex processes. Glass forming is mainly determined by parameters such as the glass flow rate, conveyor speed, rotating speed and angle of top rolls, and by the viscosity distribution within the glass ribbon. It goes without saying that the viscosity of the glass strongly depends on temperature, but the temperature distribution in the bath is itself influenced

by radiative heat transfer, the flow of molten tin, and the glass forming conditions. Radiative heat transfer is predominant in the bath at temperatures higher than 600  $^\circ$ C, but the flowing molten tin also contributes markedly to heat transfer as a result of its high heat capacity, high thermal conductivity (about 50 times higher than that of the glass), and low kinematic viscosity (about 8 times lower than that of water), whereas the glass flow carries a large amount of convective heat. On the other hand, molten tin flows by traction from the glass ribbon (i.e. velocity distribution) and buoyancy convection (i.e. temperature distribution in the bath). In order to understand forming conditions, one thus needs to understand the whole set of processes taking place in the bath since glass forming, heat transfer in the bath, and flow of molten tin affect one another in a very complex manner.

As summarized by C.K. Edge [4], the float bath thus is "a remarkable entity which, although first envisioned as a finisher of glass surfaces, also functions as a container, a conveyor, a forming unit, a chemical reactor and a heat exchanger." In view of this complexity, valuable information has been drawn from mathematical simulations not only of the glass forming mechanisms, but also of the temperature field and the mutually related dynamics of the molten tin and glass ribbon. As examples, calculations with finite-element methods of the thickness contour over the glass ribbon and of the lateral thickness distribution of the ribbon at the bath exit are shown in Figures 11 and 12 [10]. The rather good agreement of such model values with the temperatures, thicknesses, or ribbon shapes that can be measured on line illustrates how simulations can be used to optimize the operating conditions, to design new facilities, and to check new ideas for process improvement and development.

From a chemical standpoint, potentially annoying impurities are oxygen from leaks or the  $N_2-H_2$  gas mix, and sulfur originating from the molten glass. Both deteriorate productivity and glass quality if they induce alteration on the bottom surface of the glass caused by reactions with tin, and contamination adhesion on top and bottom surfaces (Chapter 5.6). In the so-called oxygen and sulfur cycles (Figure 13), SnO and SnS vapors form, condense, and precipitate, the former as SnO<sub>2</sub> and the latter as SnS (which is ultimately reduced to Sn particles). Thanks to extensive research, however, these impurities are now carefully managed through monitoring, sealing, cleaning, atmosphere controlling on flow and pressure, etc.

## 5.5 Trends in Float Production

The float process is advantageous because it yields excellent flatness, high flexibility with regard to thickness and



**Figure 11** Shape and thickness distribution of a 2 mm thick floatglass ribbon calculated with an integrated glass-forming model [10]. Forming (i.e. shape, thickness, and velocity distributions of the glass ribbon) and the flow of molten tin are first calculated for a given temperature distribution of the glass ribbon. Heat transfer (i.e. the temperature distribution) in the float bath then is simulated, and the whole calculation is iteratively repeated until convergence is reached for the three interrelated mechanisms.



Figure 12 Simulated thickness distribution at the exit of the bath for 2 mm thick glass ribbon. The lateral distance is normalized [10].

width, and high productivity owing to completely continuous operation during the whole lifetime of the melting furnace, which can now reach up to two decades. Ever since its conception, plenty of technological improvements have been conducted for achieving higher throughput, larger width, and higher still quality, the thickness currently extending down to less than 0.4 mm and up to around 25 mm.

Originally the float process was designed to produce glass sheets for architectural window and mirrors. Since the 1970s, the technology has evolved to meet other demands, especially that emerging from automotive



(b)



**Figure 13** The complex interactions of impurities with the atmosphere, tin bath, and glass ribbon in the float process: (a) oxygen cycle; (b) sulfur cycle. *Source:* After Pilkington [9].

market for higher optical quality and thinner sheets along with higher throughput to keep production costs reasonable. In addition, the float process has contributed to the growing solar generation market with products such as mirrors for solar power systems and cover glasses for photovoltaics.

In the early 1980s, the float process achieved production of ultrathin glass of less than 1.1 mm for twisted nematic (TN)/super TN (STN) liquid crystal display (LCD) substrates, touch panels, and other electronics products with a remarkably high quality for flatness, thickness constancy, defect level, etc. Beginning in the 1990s, the float process has been producing flat glass of various kinds of compositions other than the traditional soda-lime silicate. Examples are alkali-free glass for thin film transistor (TFT) LCD substrate, high strain-point glass for plasma display panel (PDP) and solar panel substrates, specialty glasses for heat-resistant products, hard disk drive (HDD) substrates, and other products such as touch panels and display covers that are then chemically strengthened.

# 6 Downdraw Processes

## 6.1 Slot Downdraw

It was for forming thin glass sheets that the slot downdraw process was developed in the 1940s. As driven by pairs of rolls, the molten glass is pulled downward through an accurately dimensioned narrow slot, made of platinum, which is fixed at the bottom of the forehearth. The glass sheet pulled from the slot is then gripped on its edges to prevent narrowing (Figure 14). The suitability of this process for making thin glass stems from the fact that a viscous molten glass can be pulled downward with a higher speed than if it were just subjected to free fall [3, 7, 11].

## 6.2 Fusion Downdraw

The slot downdraw process has disadvantages in terms of imperfect flatness and other defects caused by slot deformation and foreign contamination on the inside of the slot. It was to overcome them that the fusion downdraw process was developed by Corning [3, 5, 7, 11]. As sketched in Figure 15, the well-stirred molten glass is delivered through a conduit tube to one end of a rectangular trough that is the upper part of a fusion pipe. The molten glass flows over the weirs uniformly along the full length of the trough and then runs down on both sides of the fusion pipe. Two glass streams join and merge together at the "root," which is a bottom apex of the fusion pipe. A pair of rolls grips the edges of the glass sheet just below the root to prevent the sheet from becoming narrower as it is stretched downward. The glass sheet is then cooled down while its edges are still held by pulling rolls as it proceeds through a vertical annealing lehr, and is finally conveyed to the cutoff station. The distinguishing advantage of the fusion downdraw process thus is that the glass is formed without touching anything except air so that one obtains a smooth and defect-free fire-polished surface. To be achieved, however, this result requires a highly homogeneous molten glass and a minute control of the distribution of glass temperature and flow.

Since the 1960s, the fusion downdraw process has produced photochromic glass, heat-resistant glass, and glass for chemically strengthening. It provides ultrathin specialty glass of less than 1.1 mm thickness used for electrical capacitors, microscope slides, optical filters, touch panels, micro electronic mechanical systems (MEMS),



Figure 14 Sketch of slot downdraw process in cross section. The molten glass is pulled downward through a narrow slot driven by rolls [7].

substrates of TN LCD, and thin film solar cells. Besides, production of alkali-free glass for TFT LCD substrate was started in 1984 by Corning. Although the specifications are in this case much more severe, the fusion glass can also be used for TFT LCD substrate without polishing, thanks to its excellent surface quality. To meet the market demand for larger size substrates, the width has been extended up to around 3 m. In addition, the downdraw process is applied to specialty glass for emerging chemically strengthened products such as touch panels and display covers.

# 7 Perspectives

Over the years the demand for flat glass has paralleled the growth of the global economy. In addition to architectural applications, the automotive, solar energy, and electronics especially flat panel display (FPD) application markets have all been at the same time growing and an important source of new, value-added products (Chapter 6.10). Recently, glass sheets for chemically strengthened components such as cover glass for displays and ultrathin glass for touch panels have emerged as important products driven by the explosive diffusion of mobile phones and tablets with touch sensors [12]. These trends are supposed to continue and affect markets such as appliance, transportation, interior architecture, and many others. The important role of flat glass keeps increasing in these domains as well as in the field of information and communication, optics, healthcare, and so forth. Further improvements will thus be made to meet new specifications and respond to various market demands. From an industrial perspective, however, not only the cost and quality of the glass itself but also controllability, investment size, yield, delivery time, versatility, cost of post-processing, and other factors of the manufacturing process have to be taken into consideration for each application. Therefore, an overall and comprehensive understanding of the forming process remains a key issue.



Weir

**Figure 15** Sketch of fusion downdraw process in a bird's-eye perspective. Molten glass flows over weirs and run down on both sides of fusion pipe. Two glass streams join and merge together at the root and are stretched downward [3].

For new applications, work is in particular being conducted on ultrathin flexible glass  $(0.2 \text{ mm}-30 \mu\text{m})$  and on rolled glass for flexible display, OLED lighting, and organic thin-film solar cell to take advantage of unique features of glass such as bendability, impermeability to gas, transparency, surface quality, chemical and thermal durability, and so on [13]. Such products are not yet on the mass market because the fundamental technologies are not mature, but flexible and rolled glasses are nonetheless expected to come out in the near future. The applications to the field of health care, electrical and optical packaging, MEMS, and so forth are anticipated to become more popular as well [14]. The relevant information can be found on the websites of glass manufacturers.

Two directions for development of the forming process can be followed. One is to improve further currently existing processes in terms of flatness, thickness, width, productivity, controllability, cost, versatility, facility lifetime, etc. The other direction is to add values through online introduction of other features such as coating and surface treatment (cf. Chapters 6.7 and 6.8). A closer match and harmonization between forming process and glass composition and properties might be also attractive.

As for forming commodity glass, invention of a novel process surpassing float with regard to energy consumption and investment costs would be desirable. For specialty glasses, innovative processes with higher quality and lower cost will of course also be sought after. Advances in basic science, simulation methods, sensing procedures, and information technology are presumed to become still more important either in operation and engineering or in development and innovation. Moreover, newly developed materials could make other innovative progress possible. In this respect, could unprecedented innovations based on novel mechanism make the processes described in this chapter obsolete in a near future? Their advantages should be considerable to write off the capital invested in current production plants all over the world. But would those innovations give rise to new applications and create new markets? A never ending challenge will change the world [15, 16].

# References

1 Cable, M. (2004). The development of flat glass manufacturing processes. *Trans. Newcomen Soc.* 74: 19–43.

- 2 Yates, R.F. (May 1921). Revolutionizing the glassblowing industry. *Popular Monthly*: 30–32.
- **3** Hynd, W.C. (1984). Flat glass manufacturing processes. In: *Glass: Science and Technology, Vol. 2, Processing I* (eds. D.R. Uhlmann and N.J. Kreidl), 45–106. New York: Academic Press, Inc.
- 4 Yunker, R.W. (1984). Flat glass manufacturing processes, and C.K. Edge, Update. In: *The Handbook of Glass Manufacture*, 3rd ed., vol. 2 (ed. F.V. Tooley), 683–714 and p. 714/1–714/21. New York: Ashlee Publishing Co.
- **5** Cable, M. (1999). Mechanization of glass manufacture. *J. Am. Ceram. Soc.* 82: 1093–1012.
- 6 Mishima, Y. (1985). Flat glass forming, float process. In: *Glass Encyclopedia [in Japanese]* (ed. S. Sakka), 276–283. Tokyo: Asakura Shoten.
- 7 Abe, Y., Inaba, H., Okamoto, F. et al. (2010). Glass forming. In: *Glass Engineering Handbook [in Japanese]* (eds. M. Yamane, I. Yasui, M. Wada, et al.), 354–364. Tokyo: Asakura Shoten.
- 8 Mori, T. (2007). *Historical Development of Flat Glass Manufacturing Technologies, Research Report on technological systematization [in Japanese]*, vol. 9. National Science Museum: Tokyo.
- **9** Pilkington, L.A.B. (1969). The float glass process. *Proc. Roy. Soc. London* A314: 1–25.
- 10 Kamihori, T., Iga, M., Kakihara, S., and Mase, H. (1994). An integrated mathematical model of float process. *J. Non-Cryst. Solids* 177: 363–371.
- 11 Ellison, A. and Cornejo, I.A. (2010). Glass substrates for liquid crystal displays. *Int. J. Appl. Glass Sci.* 1: 87–103.
- 12 Lee, M.Y.M. (March/April 2013). Glass part 3: new generation of specialty glass for LCDs and AMOLEDs. *Gases Instrum*: 1–6.
- 13 Plichta, A., Habeck, A., Knoche, S. et al. (2005). Flexible glass substrates. In: *Flexible Flat Panel Displays* (ed. G.P. Crawford), 35–56. Chichester, UK: Wiley.
- 14 Schröder, H., Brusberg, L., Arndt-Staufenbiel, N. et al. (2011). Glass panel processing for electrical and optical packaging. In: 61st IEEE Electronic Components and Technology Conference Proceedings, 625–633. IEEE: Piscataway, NJ.
- 15 Bange, K., Jain, H., and Pantano, C.G. (2014). Making Glass Better. Functional Glasses: properties and Applications for Energy and Information. Madrid: International Commission on Glass.
- 16 Bange, K. and Weissenberger-Eibl, M. (2010). Making Glass Better, an ICG Roadmap with a 25 Year Glass R&D Horizon. Madrid: International Commission on Glass.

# **Fabrication of Glass Containers**

Christian Roos

IPGR - International Partners in Glass Research, Bülach, Switzerland

# 1 Introduction

At the beginning of the twentieth century, glass-container manufacturing still was a strenuous business, involving much manual labor and sweat. In 1903, Michael J. Owens developed in Ohio the world's first fully automatic glassforming machine (Chapter 10.9). The concept consisted of a rotating machine that sucked glass from a pool of melt into forming molds. A preform of the final container (the so-called "parison") was first produced, and then transferred into a second mold where the parison was blown to its final shape to form the container itself. This truly revolutionary concept gave major advantages over semiautomatic methods since it cut labor costs by 80% and also led to the end of child labor in glassmanufacturing companies. But this concept still had its drawbacks because the machine itself was expensive and cumbersome and a true monster of tons of rotated, lowered, and lifted metal.

In 1915, Karl E. Peiler and F. Goodwin Smith established a fully automatic press-and-blow rotary machine, which was fed with glass from above by an automatic paddle-needle gob-feeder (Chapter 10.9). Although this design resulted in a much less complex forming cycle, the machine was still a rotating system that involved again much mechanics and moving metal. And, most importantly, as soon as one section of a rotating machine experienced any problem, the machine as a whole had to be stopped. Hence, yield was significantly decreased when the complete machine had to be paused because only one section was experiencing problems. With gob-feeding getting more and more sophisticated, a search began for a more efficient forming process. In 1924, F. Goodwin Smith and Henry W. Ingle developed a totally new concept for automated glass-container forming: the IS-machine, where "IS" stands for *Individual Section*. The machine sections were no longer arranged in a circle but in a row. This meant that each section of the forming machine operated independently from the others. Hence, if failure occurred in one section, just this section and not the complete machine had to be stopped and fixed. This made production much more efficient and flexible. Production speed and container quality also were greatly increased.

With 4 individual sections in the first IS-machine, the concept was soon improved and enhanced from initially 4 single gob sections (in total, therefore, 4 containers in one complete machine cycle) to nowadays 12 section-systems with multi-gob delivery to each section. In the most recent form, IS-machines can consist of 12 sections, with 4 forming molds per section (quad-gob system), summing up to 48 containers produced in one machine cycle.

Looking at a modern IS-machine, however, one should nonetheless recognize the basic features that were designed when the concept was first developed. As shown in Figure 1, one section is made of the following zones, which will be explained more in detail later in this chapter:

- Delivery equipment, consisting of scoop, trough, and deflector.
- 2) Blank-side with plunger, neck-ring, guide-ring, moldhalves. and baffle.
- Invert with invert-arm holding neck-ring and guide-ring.
- 4) Blow-side with bottom-plate, blow-head, and mold-halves.
- 5) Take-out with tongs, dead-plate, and pusher to conveyor belt.

*Encyclopedia of Glass Science, Technology, History, and Culture, Volume I,* First Edition. Pascal Richet. © 2021 The American Ceramic Society. Published 2021 by John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

*Reviewers*: A.J. Faber, Celsian Glass & Solar, Eindhoven, The Netherlands

C. van Reijmersdal, Bucher Emhart Glass S.A., Niderwenigen, Switzerland



Figure 1 Schematic overview of one section of an Individual-section machine (here Narrow-Neck Press & Blow process, double-gob set-up).

Several major improvements have been implemented in the forming process since its beginnings. We will, for instance, describe how, following the *Press & blow* (PB) and *Blow & blow* (BB) processes, the *Narrow-neck press & blow* (NNPB) process has recently met with much success because of its more efficient forming. And it should also be stressed that the original pneumatic control of IS-machines has given way to servo-electric devices with which higher precision and reliability has been achieved.

# 2 Principles of Glass-Container Forming

Before a glass can be formed, it usually has to be melted out of the respective raw materials. The melting of container glass bears some peculiarities such as a high usage of foreign (external) recycled cullet or auxiliary devices such as batch and cullet preheaters. Because these features and the basics of the melting of container glass are described elsewhere in Chapter 1.3, we will focus solely on forming.

Glass containers for mass-market are formed with the aid of molds in which the molten glass is blown or pressed. The forming process consists of two steps. First a "parison" is made in cast-iron "blank-molds." Then, in the second step, this parison is formed into the final container in "blow-molds" that are made of either cast iron or aluminum bronze.

## 2.1 Heat Management in Glass-Container Forming

A basic feature of the forming process is that it is highly non-isothermal. On the one hand, temperature differences over the dimensions of the glass component are present and on the other, the glass experiences a great change in temperature and thus in glass properties. As a result, the forming process has of course to be designed to cope with these changes, which are the largest for viscosity.

When the gob enters the mold in the first forming step, it has a bulk temperature of about  $1050^{\circ}$ C. The mold itself has a temperature of  $450-520^{\circ}$ C at the end of the parison forming cycle, depending on forming conditions and container type. The glass-metal interface temperature  $T_{\rm C}$ , which is a very important parameter for the forming, is almost constant (Figure 2) because of the short contact time *t* of only a few seconds between the gob and mold material. It depends on the temperature of the glass  $T_1$ , on that of the contact material (mold)  $T_2$ , and on the thermal conductivity  $\lambda$ , heat capacity  $C_{\rm p}$ , and density  $\rho$  of both the glass and the mold material [1–3].

For soda-lime-silica glass, at the relevant temperatures these values can be taken as  $\lambda \approx 10 \text{ W/m}\cdot\text{K}$ ,  $C_{\rm p} \approx 870 \text{ J/kg}\cdot\text{K}$ , and  $\rho \approx 2500 \text{ kg/m}^3$ . For laminar cast iron, appropriate parameters are  $\lambda \approx 55 \text{ W/m}\cdot\text{K}$ ,  $C_{\rm p} \approx 500 \text{ J/kg}\cdot\text{K}$ , and  $\rho \approx 7300 \text{ kg/m}^3$ . From these values, one can estimate  $T_{\rm C}$  with:



Figure 2 Temperature gradients and interface temperature between contact-material and glass over time.

$$\frac{T_1 - T_C}{T_C - T_2} = \frac{\sqrt{\left(\lambda \cdot c_{\rm p} \cdot \rho\right)_{\rm mold}}}{\sqrt{\left(\lambda \cdot c_{\rm p} \cdot \rho\right)_{\rm glass}}} \tag{1}$$

One finds in this way that temperatures of  $1050^{\circ}$ C for the gob and  $470^{\circ}$ C for the blank mold yield an interface temperature of ca.  $614^{\circ}$ C if no oxide layer resulting from corrosion of the mold is present and if the heat balance of the blank mold is correctly managed.

A certain cooling of the glass during the forming process is mandatory to achieve a stable enough product that does not lose shape in subsequent processes (handling, coating, etc.). If cooling is not applied correctly, too low a viscosity will prevent the parison from maintaining its shape and, thus, correct dimensions from being achieved and the final container from conforming to its specifications. In glasscontainer forming, this stabilization is realized, thanks to the surface layer of the parison that cools down through contact with the mold. Heat transfer thus is, in general, an important aspect in the forming of container glass. Not only large amounts of heat need to be removed from the glass, but heat transfer must be controlled locally to avoid internal tension that would build up if the shrinking rate were variable throughout the glass. The average heat transfer  $Q_{0-t}$  during the short contact period t between the glass and mold can be calculated according to

$$Q_{0-t} = \frac{\lambda_{g} \cdot \lambda_{m}}{\lambda_{g} \sqrt{\lambda_{m'} (c_{p} \cdot \rho)_{m}} + \lambda_{m} \sqrt{\lambda_{g'} (c_{p} \cdot \rho)_{g}}} \cdot \frac{2(T_{1} - T_{2})}{\sqrt{\pi \cdot t}}$$
(2)

where m designates the mold and g denotes glass properties. With the aforementioned parameters, one, for instance, finds a very large average heat transfer of 647 kW/m<sup>2</sup> for a typical forming cycle for which t = 6 seconds.

# 2.2 Interface Interactions in Glass-Container Forming

Whenever a glass container is formed through contact with a solid material, such as a mold or roller, the interface between the two bodies is a crucial point. From the preceding presentation, it appears that problematic situations occur when the interface temperature is either too high or too low.

If cooling of the mold is not rapid enough in relation to the gob temperature, the interface temperature between the gob and mold increases and at a certain point the glass begins to stick to the mold. The sticking temperature has a lower bound at which the glass still can be separated from the mold without significant damage. Nevertheless, reaching this lower bound leads to process failure because sticking of the glass causes a bad loading and a inhomogeneous temperature distribution, which themselves give rise to defects in the final container. At the upper sticking temperature, removing the glass from the contact material inevitably leads to damages of the glass, like checks or torn-out pieces.

The glass sticking temperature is widely independent of the type of the contact material. It is basically a function of the interface temperature  $T_C$ , but surface conditioning of the contact material may play a role as well. Sticking appears when the viscosity of the glass at the interface becomes lower than  $10^{8.8}$  Pa·s [4, 5]. For an average container-glass composition that means sticking begins to take place when the interface temperature  $T_C$  between the gob and mold becomes higher than ~ 645°C.

The interface temperature of about 614°C calculated above is lower than the sticking temperature. However, it can easily happen in production that this temperature increases locally such that sticking of the glass does occur. This may happen because of changed cooling conditions, cooling failure, or the growth of an oxide layer on the molds, which significantly decreases thermal conductivity.

The friction coefficient  $\mu$  between the glass and contact material plays a crucial role during forming. A low dynamic friction between the contact material and the glass favors a good gob-loading and glass-forming. Often the molds and the finish equipment are coated with a lubricant that decreases the friction. This so-called swabbing process is widely used in glass-container manufacturing. The swabbing lubricant mainly consists of graphite with various additives. Periodically, the molds are swabbed automatically by robot or by human hand to allow precise and stable forming. The swabbing intervals depend on the respective machine setup and container produced and can range between 15 minutes and several hours. The effect of swabbing on the friction coefficient is a temporary decrease in friction as well as a change in the heat-transfer characteristics between the glass and mold.

There are also different permanent and nonpermanent coatings available that can be applied to the mold and forming equipment to extend or even avoid the swabbing. Important physical aspects of gob-loading, including models of the mechanics of gob/blank-mold interaction and of dynamical friction, have been extensively discussed in papers to which we refer for further details [e.g. 6, 7].

## 2.3 Deformation Rates in Glass-Container Forming

As already pointed out, in container-glass manufacturing, the gob is first formed into the parison, and then the parison into the final container. The (de-)formation of both the gob and parison depends on the actual viscosity of the glass. A low forming- or interface-temperature leads to a high viscosity at the glass surface. Hence the glass surface starts to get "brittle." If such a glass is then subjected to high deformation rates, as it happens not only upon pressing and blowing but also earlier in the process upon gob-cutting, it can experience too high tensile or shear stresses. The critical tensile stress  $\sigma_c$  (in MPa) that a hot soda-lime-silica glass can sustain at a given temperature T may be estimated from an empirically derived correlation [8]:

$$\sigma_{\rm c} = \frac{4.8 \cdot 10^3}{\sqrt{T}} \tag{3}$$

Hot fracture occurs if the tensile stresses exceed this critical value. The maximum velocity  $v_{max}$  at which a glass container with a thickness *d* can be formed at viscosity  $\eta$  without experiencing hot fracture can be approximated by:

$$\nu_{\max} = \frac{\sigma_{\rm c} \cdot d}{4\eta} \tag{4}$$

One thus concludes that at temperatures of about 1000°C, deformation velocities of ca. 500 m/s are, for instance, possible without hot fracture for a 2 cm-thick soda-lime-silica glass layer. At 900°C, the maximum allowed velocity is already down to 100 m/s and is lower than 10 m/s at 800°C. Below 700°C the risk of defects caused by hot fracture becomes significant. Because usually such defects cannot be inverted ("healed") in later forming steps, care must be taken to prevent them from appearing.

## 3 Glass-Container Forming Processes

## 3.1 Glass Composition

For cost reasons, glass containers are made out of sodalime-silica glass whenever special constraints do not apply. An exception is, for instance, laboratory ware for which borosilicate glass is used instead (Chapter 7.7). Even though the forming process needs to be adapted to account for the specific properties of each glass type, the principles at work are similar for given kinds of containers. Three different forming processes are applied, namely BB, PB, and NNPB. Their main differences concern blank-side forming where the parison is made, the subsequent forming steps to make the final container being identical. As a matter of fact, many containers can be produced with more than one process so that there is much overlap between them in terms of product range.

## 3.2 Blow & Blow Process

The BB process is the oldest and remains still widely used in manufacturing of large and heavy containers such as wine or sparkling wine bottles. The gob is loaded into the blank mold, often via a funnel (Figure 3a). After loading, the mold is closed with a baffle and a settle-blow is applied from above through the baffle (Figure 3b). The settle-blow presses the glass gob deeper into the mold and down to the finish equipment, which basically consists of a neck-ring, a guide-ring, and a short plunger. On loading, the plunger is in upper position. In this very first step, the opening, sealing surface, and thread (if present) are thus formed before the bulk of the container itself, which represents an important difference with respect to the other forming processes.

In the current IS-machines, the loading speed of the gob is often so high that the finish is already formed at the gob-loading step, which would make the settle-blow unnecessary for the finish forming. This step is nonetheless maintained in the process to guarantee a constant heat transfer between the glass and the blank, from cycle to cycle, before counter-blow. During settle-blow, a vacuum can be applied through cavities in the molds to support the parison and finish forming. Some modern BB ISmachines work without a funnel. They control the switch between settle-blow and counter-blow by a valve in the baffle to exhaust the compressed air that is used for settle-blow.

After settle-blow, the baffle is quickly lifted, the funnel is removed, and the baffle settles again and closes the blank-mold completely. A counter-blow is applied from the down side through the formed finish, blowing the glass fully into the mold shape and forming the parison (Figure 3c).

This two-step blowing process with settle-blow and counter-blow on the blank-side causes an inhomogeneity in the container because of different contact times between the glass and the mold above and below the loading line. Such an inhomogeneity can be seen as a horizontal, optical streak in the body of the containers. It is called



Figure 3 (a-d) Blow & blow process, blank-side.

settle- or feeder-wave and can be reduced in several ways, but not fully avoided. When looking at a final container, the existence or nonexistence of a settle-wave thus indicates whether or not the container has been produced with the BB process.

After the parison has been formed, the baffle is removed (Figure 3d), the mold opens, and the parison is transferred via the invert mechanism to the blow-side.

The final forming of the container is in principle the same for all three forming processes. The following description will thus apply to all of them. When transfer to the blow-side is over, the parison lengthens into the blow-mold as determined by its viscosity and the machine parameters. This causes the outside of the parison to be reheated by the heat stored in the hot inside and temperature to homogenize within the parison (Figure 4a). This reheat is essential to ensure that the container is to be precisely formed to its intended shape. The blow-mold is then closed, leaving the finish outside. The invert-tongs open and the container is released from the invert. Directly after releasing, the blow-head with a blowingtube is placed on top of the finish (Figure 4b). Through this blow-head, the final-blow is applied, giving the parison the final shape of the container (Figure 4c). Strictly speaking, the reheat ends when the final-blow is triggered.

After the container has been released by the blow-mold, a take-out grips it by its finish (Figure 4d) and places it over a dead-plate through which air is blown from below to cool it further. Finally the container is transferred via a pusher onto a conveyor belt.

## 3.3 Press & Blow Process

The PB process is used for wide-mouth containers of all weights, such as jars and baby-food containers. It differs



Figure 4 (a-d) Forming of the final container at the blow-side (same for all processes).

significantly from the BB process at the blank-side. After loading the gob (Figure 5), the blank-mold is closed fully by the baffle and a plunger presses in an upward movement the glass from below into the mold (Figure 5b). The plungers usually are made out of tungsten carbide (WC) or another hard metal to ensure a long lifetime. In contrast to BB-forming, the process causes the finish to be formed at the end of the blank-mold process (Figure 5c) and no disturbance such as settle-wave is introduced into the parison because it is formed by a single (smooth) motion at the blank-side. As in BB, the baffle is removed after the parison has been formed, the mold opens (Figure 5d), and the parison is transferred to the blow-side to get its final shape as described above.

## 3.4 Narrow-Neck & Blow Process

The NNPB process is mainly used for lighter containers such as beer bottles, small water and juice containers, and other lightweight containers. It is the most advanced forming process because it yields not only the highest machine speeds but also a homogeneous glass distribution in the final container. It is similar to the PB process in that the gob is not blown into the parison but pressed via a plunger. After loading the gob (Figure 6), the mold is closed fully by the baffle and a plunger smaller in diameter than in PB presses in an upward movement the glass into the mold (Figure 6b). The plungers are also made out of tungsten-carbide. As with PB, the finish is formed at the end of the blank-mold process (Figure 6c). Again, the baffle is removed after the parison has been formed,



Figure 5 (a-d) Press & blow process, blank-side.

the mold opens (Figure 6d), and the parison is transferred to the blow-side.

Restrictions in usage of the NNPB process are due to the plunger dimensions and finish openings and the corresponding cavities pressed into the parison. The parisons are usually shorter for NNPB than for BB if the same final container shape is to be produced (e.g. a 0.331 beverage bottle). Another significant difference between NNPB and BB is that the required gob temperature is from around 20 to 50°C higher in NNPB because of difficult pressing conditions. This difference in consequence leads to different thermal requirements during the process in terms of mold-cooling and reheat-timing.

# 4 Making of the Gob: Forehearth, Feeder, and Shears

Most forming processes take place at a viscosity of  $10^2$ –  $10^4$  Pa·s. Hence, for soda-lime-silica containers, the glass

needs to be cooled from melting and fining at ca.  $1500^{\circ}$ C and a viscosity of 10 Pa·s down to ca.  $1050^{\circ}$ C and a viscosity of  $10^{3}$  Pa·s. This quite demanding task is accomplished in the forehearth. The forehearth is directly connected to the working-end and ensures the required homogeneity of the glass while bringing it to the desired temperature and viscosity.

After the forehearth, a feeder enables glass-portioning and gob pre-shaping (Figure 7). It consists of a refractory tube and one or more plunger(s) that are moving periodically up and down. The tube is rotating to homogenize the melt in this final stage. With each upward stroke of the plunger, the glass stream is released from the shear blades in order to cut a gob without having a glass stream loaded on top of these shears. For a single-, double-, triple-, or quad-gob setup, the respective number of plungers operates simultaneously in the feeder, hence as many openings in the orifice ring are required. The final gob shape is influenced by the sizes of the orifice ring and plunger, and by the shape, height, and motion profile of the plunger.



Figure 6 (a-d) Narrow-neck press & blow process, blank-side.



**Figure 7** Cross section of a modern feeder (double-gob setup). *Source:* Courtesy Bucher Emhart Glass.

The originally continuous glass stream is cut by the shears right after it has been "pre-shaped" by the feeder and plunger and has passed though the openings of the orifice ring. The gob needs to be completely separated from the glass stream by the shears to prevent any glass fibers from being attached to it. Any misaligned or poorly operating shear will result in shear marks and, consequently, in defects in the final container. For shears, the materials most commonly used are steel (cheap, but short-lived) and hard alloys such as WC (more expensive, but long-lived). In all cases, the shears are cooled by a shear-spray, a mixture of water and cooling fluids.

# 5 IS-Forming Machine

# 5.1 General Principles

Rotational forming machines are nowadays used only in some rare cases. The principles of glass-container forming will thus be described for IS-machines, with which almost glass containers are made. Derivatives of the ISmachine such as the Emhart RIS and Heye H 1-2 machines have been developed in the past but are hardly in use any longer [9]. They work with two molds on the blow-side forming, which are loaded alternately. This approach is advantageous in terms of longer reheat and more homogeneous glass thickness distribution but is much more complicated, expensive, and prone to jamming.

In a narrow sense, IS-machines consist of a gobdistributor and delivery equipment, blank-side forming, invert, blow-side forming, and take-out and have several identical sections aligned in a row (Figure 1). The only differences between sections are the individual delivery (as different distances from gob-cut to mold need to be overcome) and the distance of the section to the annealing lehr. The differences in delivery distances cause different gob speeds and different gob arrival-times at loading and thus require different section-timings. The differences in distance to the annealing lehr may cause different containers temperatures at the hot-end coating and at lehr entrance. When entering the lehr, there is, for example, a difference of 50 K or more in surface temperature between containers from section 1 and from section 12, which are the farthest from the annealing zone.

The IS-machines in principle can be adapted to all three forming processes that have been mentioned earlier. To a certain extent the machines can be converted between a triple-gob setup to a quad-gob setup or, given another machine construction, from a triple-gob setup into a double-gob setup. How widely a machine can be adapted depends on different parameters, especially on the inner-section distance, which describes the possible center distances of the molds to each other within one section. The type of setup to be used depends on different parameters such as the size and weight of the container to be produced, desired machine speed, and portfolio of the respective glass-manufacturing plant.

#### 5.2 The IS-Machine Families

The IS-machines can be separated into three groups:

- 1) Pneumatic-controlled IS-machines with angular mold-opening.
- 2) Pneumatic-controlled IS-machines with parallel mold-opening.
- 3) Servo-electric-controlled IS-machines with parallel mold-opening.

In the earliest types of IS-machines, all movements are controlled by pneumatic valves. The mold opening and closing is in an angular motion, which means that in a multi-gob setup at the blank-mold-side, the inner blanks are more widely opened than the outer blanks, causing difference in radiation between the glass and the open blanks. At the blow-side, the inner molds are not opened as wide as the outer molds, which may lead to difficulties in machine accuracy and forming.

A significant step forward, therefore, was the introduction of pneumatic-controlled IS-machines with parallel mold-opening and closing. Here the mold-halves from the inner, middle, and outer cavity open in a parallel motion to each other. This leads to more comparable conditions between the molds of a given section. Furthermore, the parallel closing and opening is more precise, leading to a more reliable forming. In the color section of this Encyclopedia, a picture of a modern pneumatic-controlled IS-machine is shown.

The next logical improvement was to exchange the pneumatic-controlled movement for a servo-electriccontrolled motion to take advantage of the enhanced stability, reliability, and precision of servo-electric drives. In this way, motions are much more easily cushioned and are gentler for the hinges, molds, and also for the glass itself. In the latest generation of IS-machines, mold opening and closing, plunger motion, invert, blow-head, take-out, pusher, and other parts are thus servo controlled.

The machine speed is a general parameter to describe the production performance for a given container. It is expressed as the cavity rate (*C*), namely the number of containers produced per minute (cpm) for each cavity considering the total numbers of cavities ( $N_S$ ) of the ISmachine:

$$C = \frac{\text{cpm}}{N_{\text{S}}} \tag{5}$$

For a 12-section machine with a triple-gob setup and container output of 324 containers per minute, the cavity rate *C* is, for instance,  $324/12 \times 3= 9$ . Hence, a 12-section IS-machine with a triple-gob setup producing 240 containers per minute is running a lower cavity rate than a 10-section IS-machine with the same triple-gob setup producing the same number of containers per minute. Highly efficient IS-machines can go up to cavity rates of 25 for small container sizes. This rate translates to production speeds of more than 700 containers per minute. In general, one can state that the higher the gob weight and the larger the container size, the lower is the corresponding cavity rate.

As illustrated in Figure 8 for 0.3-l beverage bottles, the performance of IS forming machines has steadily improved since their inception in the 1920s. In 90 years, one forming line has been producing 26 times more containers per minute. And in the same period the weight of such containers could be decreased from more than 300 to less than 170 g. These figures show vividly the very strong potential that this forming process had when it was invented.



Figure 8 Performance increase of IS forming machines over the years in containers per minute.

#### 5.3 Delivery Equipment

The delivery equipment consists of the gob-distributor (also called scoop), the trough, and the deflector. After the gob has been cut, it falls into the scoop which distributes the gobs to the different sections in the forming machine. The gobs slide through the respective troughs and then are redirected by the deflectors into the blank-molds. Although the delivery section looks like a simple part of the IS-machine, it bears considerable neuralgic points. The gob temperature decreases during the delivery but the upward side of the gob loses less heat than the side in contact with the metal delivery, which in some cases is in addition cooled and lubricated. Forming problems can thus happen if the gob acquires a nonuniform temperature profile.

The speed of the gob when it leaves the deflector is also an important parameter. When leaving the deflector, the gob is loaded into the mold. The higher the speed of the gob, the more beneficial it is for a good loading. Too slow a gob speed may lead to incorrect loading and hence to problems in the forming process or defects in the final container. In extreme cases, the gob is not fully loaded into the mold and the upper end of the gob is caught by the baffle. This leads to immediate failure of the respective section. The average gob speed at loading is between 6.5 and 7.5 m/s.

#### 5.4 Blank-Side Forming

At the blank-side the three different forming processes come to play as explained in Section 3. Molds at the blank-side are usually made of laminar cast-iron. The glass gob is loaded into these molds and is formed into the parison. Because of process-sequence, the parison is formed upside down, the finish facing downward and the bottom of the container upward before the invert leads to the proper upright formed final container. Upon forming of the parison, the mold is always cooled by air to allow fast heat extraction from the glass. As already explained, this is necessary to have a stable parison with a high enough viscosity after the mold has opened. If the parison is too hot and hence has a too low viscosity, it may collapse after opening the mold, causing section failure.

Different mold-cooling techniques are available. Most dominant are inside-mold cooling systems, where air is lead through channels in the mold either from below or from above and an older technique called stack-cooling. Here, fins are attached to the outside of the mold and the mold is streamed by air. This version is less efficient than inside mold cooling so that it usually leads to lower machine speeds.

## 5.5 Invert and Reheat

After forming of the parison, the blank-mold opens and the parison is transferred via an invert to the blow-side. The invert consists of an invert-arm in which the finish equipment with neck-ring and guide-ring is fixed. As soon as the blank-mold opens and invert takes place, the so-called reheat starts. During the blank-side process, the glass-surface has been cooled down, especially through the contact with the molds and blowing air. The glass viscosity rises in this way, which is necessary to give the parison a certain rigidity to move it without deformation. After having been released from the blank-mold, the outer parts of the parison get reheated from the hotter inner part through thermal conduction, which is in fact needed to lower again surface viscosity before the last forming step that will give the container its final shape.

#### 5.6 Blow-Mold Forming

The forming of the final container in the blow-mold is from a mechanical point of view identical for all three forming processes (BB, PB, and NNPB) as explained in Section 3.

As with parison forming at the blank-side, final blowing at the blow-side can also be aided by vacuum. A main task for the blow-mold is to extract as much heat from the container as fast as possible to increase its viscosity, stabilize its shape, and avoid deformations during take-out and transport of the container after it has been released from the blow-molds. Because of this need to extract large amounts of heat in a short time, blow-molds often are made out of aluminum-bronze, which has much higher heat conductivity than cast-iron, hence allowing faster heat removal from the container. A picture of a triple-gob setup in the color-section of this Encyclopedia shows the parisons just having arrived at the blow-side and the final containers just having been removed from the blow-mold and placed over the deadplate by the take-out.

# 6 Hot-End Handling, Hot-End Coating, and Annealing

The conveyor belt transports the container to the annealing lehr for stress-relaxation. Once the container has left the IS-machine, a first inspection often takes place with cameras that record the infrared images of the hot containers. From these images, defects can be identified and immediate corrections of the process can be initiated. This is very beneficial as the feedback between defects and applied corrections is direct and without the time delay that would occur if the container were first annealed and then inspected.

Before entering the annealing lehr, the outside body (not the finish) of the containers receives a hot-end coating of a 5–15 nm thickness. Even so thin, the hot-end coating serves different important functions. It first saturates the highly reactive surface bonds that are present at the surface of the new glass container. It also provides a surface suitable for good adhesion of the cold-end coating, which is applied later. Furthermore, it may slightly increase the strength of the container by disabling surface flaws that have been introduced during the forming process.

As precursor for hot-end coating most frequently used is monobutyltin-trichloride,  $C_4H_9SnCl_3$  (MBTC) or tintetrachloride, which both gives rise to a  $SnO_2$  coating on the container. The process is chemical vapor deposition under air at atmospheric pressure (atmospheric CVD) and is supported by the moisture of the air. The reactions that take place are:

For MBTC: 
$$C_4H_9SnCl_3 + 3H_2O + 6.5O_2$$
  
 $\Rightarrow SnO_2 + 3HCl + 4CO_2 + 6H_2O$ 
(6)
For SnCl<sub>4</sub>: SnCl<sub>4</sub> + 2H<sub>2</sub>O  $\Rightarrow$  SnO<sub>2</sub> + 4HCl (7)

Other precursors based on titanium or titaniumsilicium are also in development to yield a  $TiO_2$  or  $TiO_2$ -SiO\_2 coating. As explained, after forming and hot-end transport, the containers from different sections experience different cooling whereas the surfaces of a given container cool faster than its bulk, the rate being higher for the outer than for the inner surface. These differences create tensile stresses in the container, which can lead to spontaneous breakage. Containers are thus reheated in the glass transition range in a continuous-annealing lehr long enough to ensure complete stress relaxation. The annealing times depend on the size of the containers, but are typically between 45 and 60 minutes. The containers can then cool down to room temperature homogeneously.

# 7 Cold-End Handling and Inspection

When they leave the annealing lehr, containers have a temperature between 80 and 120°C. They are coated a second time in a spray process. The main purpose of this cold-end coating is to protect the container against scratches upon further handling and later at the filling line. Usually a polyethylene wax is used to decrease surface friction, hence making the containers less susceptible to scratches when being handled or touching one another. The cold-end coating also serves to provide a surface suitable for good adhesion of the label, which is usually fixed at the filler.

After application of the cold-end coating, another inspection takes place in a highly automated way such that additional inspection by human eye is applied only in rare cases. Most inspection systems are based on various sophisticated optical systems, each checking for a certain type or group of potential defects that include flaws, scratches, cracks, blisters, seeds, loose or stuck glass particles, or dimensional errors of the container. Because special attention is paid to the finish of the container, mechanical inspection systems are, for instance, applied for testing that it is free of obstacles. Finally, random checks are made offline, e.g. to check that the strength exceeds definite values that depend on the kind of container. For impact strength, usually a minimum lot-size of 30 containers is tested on a shift, daily or some other regular basis, depending on the container made and plant procedures. The container is hit by a pendulum of a certain weight – depending on the chosen specification and domain of the container - in a well-defined matter until it breaks. As for the burst pressure strength, which is especially relevant for carbonated liquids such as sparkling wine, water, and champagne, the container is filled with water and its pressure is increased until breakage. Also here, due to the Weibull-characteristics of brittle materials, a minimum of at least 30 containers should be tested. After inspection, the containers are pelletized, wrapped, and prepared for shipment.

# 8 Perspectives

With the introduction of PET and other plastic containers, the glass industry has experienced a severe loss in market share for certain types of products such as juice, water, and milk. After years now the market seems balanced and the container-glass industry could maintain a quite stable production level of ca. 65 million tons worldwide, which amounts to ca. 200 billion containers in 2012.

Recently, however, disadvantages of plastic containers have been recognized. Because of the leaching of endocrine-active substances, phthalates and other substances into the container content [10, 11] and the dispersion of plastic waste on land and especially in the oceans [12], glass might even be able to gain more acceptance from the consumer. Here, glass can play out it strengths as, among other positive aspects, it is fully inert and can be 100% recycled. Furthermore, glass in a landfill does not pose any threat to the environment as it degrades to the components it was made of.

Nevertheless, glass has also its well-known drawbacks and a positive future of container glass strongly depends on the capabilities to overcome them. First, there is the fact that glass containers are energy-intensive to produce. Emission control, CO<sub>2</sub>-trading, rising energy costs, and other environmental regulation force the glass-industry to push limits farther (Chapter 9.7). As processes are already highly optimized, there are no more "low-hanging fruits." Although the effort that has to be made financially and risk-wise increases exponentially with the possible benefit that can be gained, the container-glass industry is aware of the need of innovations. The increasing number of batch and cullet preheaters or the latest concepts to allow heat recovery for oxy-fuel fired furnaces illustrate the kind of efforts made to keep shifting the limits.

Other weak points are the fact that glass containers are brittle and mostly regarded as heavy. In specific instances, however, weight is considered a positive aspect of glass packaging. For example, think of the smooth texture, the reassuring heft, and the feel of value when lifting a glass bottle of wine or perfume. Nevertheless, many investigations have been carried out to decrease the weight of glass containers while increasing their strength. Coatings based on silica-sol-gels (Chapter 8.2) can, for instance, increase the strength of glass containers by 20% or more.

Besides, most impressive are current developments which aim at thermal strengthening of containers. After forming, the containers are reheated and then cooled from both inside and outside much faster and in a much more controlled way than in an annealing lehr. In this manner, compressive stresses at the inner and outer surface are introduced, which significantly increase the strength of the glass so that containers can be lightweighted further or be reused. The key to this development is to control the cooling very precisely and to adjust the balance between compressive stresses at the surface and tensile stresses in the bulk of the container (Chapters 3.7 and 3.12).

Innovations are also targeted in the field of glasscontact materials. Coatings for enabling a full nonswabbing production of all types of containers are investigated, but this task is still unsolved. Furthermore, it is highly desirable to avoid all lubricants that are currently used in shear-, trough-, and mold-lubrication. This would allow a full "dry-gob" delivery that would give considerable advantages over current process.



**Figure 9** A modern pneumatic-controlled 12section double-gob individual-section machine; on the left, the conveyor belt evacuating the newly blown bottles (courtesy Bucher Emhart Glass).



**Figure 10** Parison just before blow-mold closing and final container on the blow-mold-side. *Source:* Courtesy Bucher Emhart Glass.

Concerning the IS-machine itself (Figures 9 and 10), a significant improvement would be to ensure a more precise and controlled forming process and, hence, a more homogeneous wall-thickness distribution in the final container. This could, for instance, be achieved by a direct gob-loading without the need of a delivery or by a forming process, which would allow a more precise reheat to have a more homogeneous final container forming. Because cost competition with alternative packaging is one of the biggest drivers and deciders for innovations, however, all the aforementioned approaches and concepts will have to distinguish themselves not only by their technical feasibility but also by their economic efficiency.

# References

- 1 Carslaw, H.S. and Jaeger, J.C. (1986). *Conduction of Heat in Solids*, 2e. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press.
- 2 Rieser, D., Manns, P., Spieß, G., and Kleer, G. (2004). Investigations on sticking temperature and wear of mold materials and wear of coatings. In: *Advances in Fusion and Processing of Glass, Part IV* (eds. J.R. Varner, T.P. Seward and H.A. Schaeffer), 281–289. Hoboken: Wiley.
- **3** Eales, J. (1977). *Manual and Databook of Glass Technology Calculations*. Holon, Israel: Ordentlich.
- 4 Falipou, M., Donnet, C., Maréchal, F., and Charenton, J.-C. (1997). Sticking temperature investigations of glass/metal contacts – determination of influencing parameters. *Glass Sci. Technol.* 70: 137–140.
- 5 Rieser, D., Spieß, G., and Manns, P. (2008). Investigations on glass-to-mold sticking in the hot forming process. *J. Non Cryst. Solids* 354: 1393–1397.
- 6 Manns, P., Döll, W., and Kleer, G. (1995). Glass in contact with mould materials for container production. *Glass Sci. Technol.* 68: 389–399.
- 7 Falipou, M., Zahouani, H., and Donnet, C. (1999). Effect of surface morphology upon friction of a metal substrate sliding against hot viscous melt under extreme conditions. In: *Lubrication at the Frontier: The Role of the Interface and Surface Layers in the Thin Film and Boundary Regime* (eds. D. Dowson, M. Priest, C.M. Taylor, et al.), 91–99. Amsterdam: Elsevier.
- 8 Coenen, M. (1978). Festigkeit von Glasschmelzen. *Glastech. Ber.* 51: 17–20.
- **9** Schaeffer, H.A. (2010). *Hohlglas, Glass Hollowware*. Munich: Deutsches Museum.
- 10 Muncke, J. (2009). Exposure to endocrine disrupting compounds via the food chain: is packaging a relevant source? *Sci. Total Environ.* 407: 4549–4559.
- 11 Sax, L. (2010). Polyethylene terephthalate may yield endocrine disruptors. *Environ. Health Perspect.* 118: 445–448.
- 12 Moore, C.J. (2008). Synthetic polymers in the marine environment: a rapidly increasing, long-term threat. *Environ. Res.* 108: 131–139.

# **Continuous Glass Fibers for Reinforcement**

Hong Li and James C. Watson

Fiber Glass Science and Technology, PPG Industries, Inc., Shelby, NC, USA

# 1 Introduction

Numerous examples of the use of glass drawn as fibers can be found throughout history. The early Egyptians wrapped glass fibers over clay vessels and then fused them to form glass vessels. Venetian glass blowers in the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries used glass fibers to decorate elaborate glass articles. Glass fibers were even used as fabric elements in fashion garments in the late nineteenth century. It was in the mid-1930s, however, that two key developments created the means for glass fibers to become the base for a new industry based on composites-organic polymers reinforced with glass fibers, more commonly known as glass reinforced plastics, or GRP. The first was improvements in the process of manufacturing glass fibers at the Owens-Illinois Glass Company so that commercial fibers could be made in a multifilament strand form that met basic material handling requirements for downstream processing into composite structures [1]. The second was the development of polymeric resin systems by DuPont and others that could be combined readily with glass fibers. These glass-fiber reinforced polymer-matrix composites offered key material advantages over conventional metallic materials, including light weight, stiffness, and strength, and resistance to corrosion and fatigue.

Today, glass fibers have become the most widely used and cost-effective reinforcing fibers in the arena of commercial polymer-matrix composites. Early melt spun processes producing discontinuous fibers have evolved to today's large-scale direct melt continuous fiberforming operations. One of the first needs for continuous fibers was for insulation of electrical wires for hightemperature applications, leading to the development of a new glass composition based on a  $CaO-Al_2O_3-SiO_2-B_2O_3$  system that met the electrical requirements and subsequently became known as E-glass. Because these fibers also exhibited excellent mechanical properties and could be made in relatively high-volume manufacturing operations, the original E-glass compositions rapidly spread into many composite applications. Today, the glass fiber reinforcement spectrum has grown to include an increasing array of specialty glass compositions that are targeted for key expanding markets in electronics, transportation, corrosion, construction, and in energy management.

Prior to 2000, most major glass fibers manufacturers were concentrated in North America and Western Europe. Today, fiberglass production facilities are flourishing in China and beginning to spread to other regions of the world to satisfy a constantly growing demand of GRP. It is the intent of this overview to provide insight into the technology that is associated with the continuing success of glass as a reinforcing fiber. Fiberglass technology associated with both material characteristics and manufacturing processes are described at a high level.

# 2 Commercial Glass Fibers

# 2.1 History of Fiberglass Development and Glass Chemistry

## 2.1.1 Fiber Types

Reinforcement glass fibers can be broadly divided into two categories – general-purpose and premium specialpurpose fibers. The former are known as E-glass and subject to specific compositional ranges as defined by recognized standards such as ASTM D578 [2]. Historically, E-glass fibers have been predominant in the commercial production of fiberglass products for use as

*Encyclopedia of Glass Science, Technology, History, and Culture, Volume I*, First Edition. Pascal Richet. © 2021 The American Ceramic Society. Published 2021 by John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

*Reviewers*: R. Conradt, RWTH University of Aachen, Aachen, Germany J. Thomason, The University of Strathclyde, Glasgow, Scotland, UK

reinforcements in various industrial polymer-matrix composites applications. Other types of fibers that have been used in special purpose and low-volume applications include S-glass, R-glass, D-glass, ultrapure silica fibers, and hollow fibers [3].

Continuous glass fibers for composite reinforcement have been categorized by the specific properties required for end-use applications (Figure 1). An overview of the historical timeline of the development and commercial use of these major glass types is represented on the horizontal axis. Further detail on the typical oxides and oxide ranges, physical and mechanical properties, and processing-related properties that are characteristic of the major glass types used in glass fibers are listed in Tables 1 and 2, respectively. More specific examples of recent developments in the areas of D-, S-, and R-glasses are also included.

#### 2.1.2 E-Glass

First commercialized in the late 1930s [1], E-glass fiber remains the most widely used class of fiberglass for GRP materials [3, 4]. Its composition primarily lies within the ternary CaO-Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>-SiO<sub>2</sub> system with  $B_2O_3$  and  $F_2$ contents that vary from 0 to 10 wt % and 0 to 2 wt %, respectively. For much of its history, E-glass fiber production incorporated B<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> in commercial compositions at levels of 7–8 wt %, which provided an optimal balance of melting and fiber-forming characteristics, mechanical properties, and electrical properties. Over time, however, increasingly restrictive environmental emissions requirements for particulates have been driving costs up for emission control systems. Countries such as Canada and Norway were leaders in the push to improve environmental conditions, leading to the introduction of the first boron-free commercial glass fibers. These glasses had in addition excellent corrosion resistance under strongly acidic conditions [7]. They have been designated as E-corrosion resistant (E-CR) glass fibers in the late 1970s. Over time, optimizations of minor oxide components such as TiO<sub>2</sub>, ZnO, and MgO served to improve their cost and manufacturing efficiencies while also providing proprietary regions in the compositional space as their use was growing rapidly.

In key areas outside of the corrosion markets, however, there was resistance to move to low-boron compositions. The electronics industry, dominated by E-glass fabrics used in printed wiring boards (PWB), relied on the unique value set of electrical consistency, dimensional stability, processing predictability, and low cost provided by conventional E-glass over many years and resisted any change in the E-glass standards. The aerospace industry also resisted the change, based on a well-defined history of performance of conventional E-glass and a desire to minimize any risk, however small, which might be incurred by what was perceived as a significant material change.

As a consequence of these developments, commercial E-glass fibers today fall into two major categories: low or zero B<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> levels for general reinforcements, and higher  $B_2O_3$  levels (>5%) for electronic and aerospace applications. The distinction between these categories is clearly defined in ASTM D578 [2].

#### 2.1.3 C-Glass

Other reinforcement fibers containing  $B_2O_3$  were developed in the early 1940s as C-glass, which has limited use as discontinuous fiber products for roofing materials. Continuous boron-free variants of C-glass fibers with improved chemical resistance to acids came to market in the mid-1960s. The composition is primarily composed of Na<sub>2</sub>O, CaO, Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, and SiO<sub>2</sub>. The absence of boron resulted in improved acid resistance; the mechanical performance (strength and modulus) of C-glass fiber is inferior to those of both E-glass and E-CR glass, however, so that applications of this glass in the reinforcements industry have been limited to nonstructural uses



continuous fiberglass development (most active period in development shown and beyond 2015 most intensive research areas projected are S, R, and D glass fibers) and standard nomenclature/ classification based on their key properties used in commercial applications [4].

Fiberglass	SiO <sub>2</sub> (wt %)	Al <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> (wt %)	MgO (wt %)	CaO (wt %)	SrO (wt %)	BaO (wt %)	B <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> (wt %)	R <sub>2</sub> O (wt %)	F <sub>2</sub> (wt %)	ZrO <sub>2</sub> (wt %)
E including E-CR	52-62	12–16	0–5	16–25	_	—	0–10	0-2	0-2	_
C (China) <sup><math>a</math></sup> C (Europe)	67.0 53–65	6.2 3.8–16	4.2 2.4–3.8	9.5 14–16	_	_	0 3–6	12 7–9	<1 0.3	_
$A^b$	72-72.5	1 - 1.5	2.5-3.8	9–10	0	0	0	13-14	0	0
AR <sup>c</sup>	61–71	0-3	_	<5	_	_	0	<18	_	16-22
D	72–76	0-1	_	<1	_	_	20-25	<4	_	—
D (derivative I)	52-60	10-18	0	4-8	_	_	20-30	Trace	0-2	_
D (derivative II)	50-60	10-18	1–6	2-5	1–9	1-5	14 - 20	<1	0-2	—
D (derivative III)	60-77	9–15	5-15	0-11	_	_	5-13	0-4	0-2	—
R	58-60	23-26	5-6	9–11	_	_	0	_	_	_
R (derivative)	56-65	12-20	6-12	8-16	_	_	0-2	0-2	_	0-2
S	64–66	24-25	9.5–10	< 0.2	_	_	0	<0.3	_	_
S (derivative)	55-65	23-26	9–15	_	_	—	0-4	<1	_	—

Table 1 Composition of glass fibers found in literature and/or commercial market [2–6].

<sup>a</sup> C-Glass (China) is specified by Chinese Standard JC583-1995.

<sup>b</sup> A-glass fiber (close to window glass composition) has low hydrolytic resistance, sensitive to moisture attack at room temperature, and, hence, is inappropriate for GRP composite applications.

<sup>c</sup> ZrO<sub>2</sub> in AR-glass is specified by ASTM C1666/C1666M-08.

such as nonwoven fabrics for corrosion liners, building insulation materials, sewage pipes, etc. For many years, C-glass served as the primary form of glass fiber for low-cost regions of the world in emerging markets, at present less than 10% in volume relative to E-glass fibers produced each year in China. The balance of mineral components with no need for a boron source provided a glass fiber based on widely available raw materials that could be easily manufactured in low-technology operations. Hence, these properties led to the broad commercialization of C-glass as a low-cost substitute for E-glass fibers in regions where modern fiberglass furnace technology was not commonly available. Many early fiber producers in China used C-glass. The trend today, however, is to move away from C-glass fibers to the production of E-glass and other high-performance fibers. Little development has occurred since the mid-1980s, and C-glass fibers represent less than 5% of fibers used in glass fiber reinforced composites today.

#### 2.1.4 AR-Glass

As named for its alkali-resistant properties, AR-glass fiber was invented in the mid-1960s and first commercialized by Pilkington Brothers in the United Kingdom in the early 1970s under the trade name Cem-Fil®. It was presented as a glass fiber option for reinforcing concrete structures. The glass chemistry was actually developed by a chemist at the Building Research Establishment and licensed to

Pilkington by the National Research and Development Corporation, leading to its initial commercial application. The glass chemistry is primarily comprised of Na<sub>2</sub>O, CaO,  $ZrO_2$ , and  $SiO_2$  with a small amount of  $Al_2O_3$ . The higher Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> found in most commercial glass fibers results in lower ZrO<sub>2</sub> solubility. Unlike E-CR fibers, AR-glass fiber offers high resistance to alkaline corrosion as well as to acid corrosion. This resistance is attributed to the formation of a protective layer rich in ZrO<sub>2</sub> on the fiber surface in corrosive media. Because of the relatively high Na<sub>2</sub>O and low Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> levels, the fiber modulus and tensile strength are lower than for E-glass fibers despite the high concentration of ZrO<sub>2</sub>. The overall higher production and material cost of AR-glass limits its utility to challenging fiber applications in cement reinforcement. Current developments are focused on increasing ZrO<sub>2</sub> solubility to improve further corrosion resistance and to improve melting and fiber-forming costs.

## 2.1.5 D-Glass

An optimum combination of dielectric constant  $(D_k)$  and dissipation factor  $(D_f)$  over a frequency range of 1 MHz to 40 GHz is provided by pure SiO<sub>2</sub> glass. This property set is of particular utility in the field of PWB and electronic chips and circuitry, driven by the dramatic growth of computers and consumer electronics. It is to allow production of glass fibers approaching the performance of SiO<sub>2</sub> glass in a reasonable commercial process that

Fiberglass	Fiber density ρ (g/cm <sup>3</sup> )	Pristine strength σ <sub>f</sub> (GPa)	Sonic modulus E (GPa)	Dielectric constant <i>D<sub>k</sub></i> (1 GHz)	Coefficient thermal expansion CTE (10 <sup>-6</sup> /°C)	Softening temperature T <sub>soft</sub> (°C)	Liquidus temperature T <sub>liq</sub> (°C)	Forming temperature T <sub>F</sub> (°C)	Melting temperature T <sub>M</sub> (°C)
E (including E-CR)	2.60-2.65	2.8-3.5	70-85	6.6–7.1	5.4–5.9	846–920	1080-1220	1180-1282	1345-1460
C (China) C (Europe)	2.53 2.52	2.6 3.3	65 69	7.5 —	8.4	 750	1095 1127	1217 1157	1469 1400
А	2.46	3.0	62	10.6	9.0	704	996	1185	1443
AR	2.68 - 2.78	3.2-3.7	73–77	_	_	820-847	1049-1192	1237-1247	1430 - 1467
D	2.11 - 2.14	2.4-2.5	52-55	3.8-4.0	3.1	771	953	1410	>1600
D (derivative I)	2.30	_	55–59	4.7–5.0	3.3–3.5	850	997-1270	1314–1382	>1550
D (derivative II)	2.30	2.5-3.1	57-64	5.4–5.8	4.0-4.9	830–875	1000-1054	1174–1298	1384–1502
D (derivative III)	2.34-2.42	3.3-4.1	73-82	4.8-5.6	4.1	944	1083–1287	1244-1388	1465–1641
R	2.55	4.1 - 4.5	85-87	6.4	3.3	952-975	1330	1410	_
R (derivative)	2.55-2.62	3.7-4.5	85-90	6.5	4.5–5.0	920–980	1170-1238	1265-1300	1468-1550
S	2.45 - 2.49	4.7-5.0	87-88	5.4	1.6-2.8	1030-1056	1439–1471	1424 - 1448	1620-1640
S (derivative)	2.53-2.56	4.2-4.8	86–95	_	2.8	920–968	1320-1450	1283-1450	_

Table 2 Typical properties of fiberglass found in literature and/or commercial market [3, 4, 6, 7].

*Note:* CTE values correspond to temperature range from room temperature to 300 °C;  $T_{soft}$  corresponds to glass viscosity of 10<sup>7.6</sup> Pa·s as typically used in fiber glass production;  $T_{F}$  is defined by melt viscosity of 10<sup>2</sup> Pa·s as a reference temperature to be reached in the industrial melting process.

D-glass has been designed. The earliest D-glass fiber composition was essentially a binary mixture of SiO<sub>2</sub> and B<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>. Although D-glass fiber has significantly lower processing temperatures than pure SiO<sub>2</sub>, these temperatures are still substantially higher those of E-glass fibers for PWB yarns. Melting temperatures are greater than 1600 °C and fiber drawing temperatures greater than 1400 °C. Recent developments have widened the D-glass fiber composition space by introducing Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, alkaline earth oxides (MgO, CaO, BaO, and SrO), and/or small amounts of Li<sub>2</sub>O (Table 1) [5]. These composition modifications significantly lowered glass melting and fiber drawing temperatures, providing more favorable production costs and improved commercial viability. The drawback is a modest increase in  $D_k$  and  $D_f$  relative to the original D-glass composition. To achieve target product electrical properties, PWB laminators can use different resins with lower  $D_k$  and  $D_f$ . It is also possible to change the PWB layer stack and layout to meet target electrical performance for high-end PWB substrates. Another development is to lower the coefficient of thermal expansion of the glass fiber to improve PWB substrate thermal stability. This reduces thermal fatigue susceptibility and leads to a reduction in thermally induced cracking on chips. Continuing improvements in D-glass compositions keeps glass fiber at the forefront as a key element of choice in smaller, faster, lighter, and more electrically dense electronic components.

## 2.1.6 S-Glass

Known as S-glass, fibers primarily composed of MgO,  $Al_2O_3$ , and  $SiO_2$  were first developed in the late 1960s for high-temperature and high-strength applications and further expanded into military ballistic protection applications in the 1970s [6]. Because of high liquidus temperature (1470 °C), fibers must be drawn at temperatures significantly greater than 1500 °C to avoid fiber breakage caused by crystallization as the fibers are formed. This property attribute means that S-glass fibers must be drawn in a much lower viscosity range than that of typical commercial fibers (Section 3.2). The challenges of this severe process limit the number of product forms and result in very high costs that have limited the commercial utility of S-glass fibers to high-performance markets such as aerospace and military applications where strength and weight combined can justify a premium over other materials. There are no large-scale commercial production platforms in the S-glass family. Derivatives of S-glass have been investigated through introduction of small amounts of B<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> and other oxides (Li<sub>2</sub>O, CeO<sub>2</sub>) to improve glass melting and fiber-forming performance. To date no large commercial-scale production has materialized.

## 2.1.7 R-Glass

For military applications, R-glass was first developed in the mid-1960s within the quaternary SiO<sub>2</sub>-Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>-CaO-MgO system. In its original chemistry, its production, like that of S-glass, was limited because of the requirements imposed by its high melting temperature. The addition of CaO to the S-glass ternary system improved the processing conditions required to make glass fibers while still providing a high level of strength, but conditions were still more challenging than E-glass. Developments centered around the R-glass compositional range increased in the mid-00s, driven by the needs of wind-turbine blade producers who required longer blades with higher-modulus glass fibers to reduce the unit cost of electricity generation. Most of the improved technology made is based on reducing glass melting temperature while increasing fiber modulus, which has been realized by optimization of mixed alkaline earth oxides (MgO/CaO). As a result, large-scale furnaces and large direct-draw bushing operations are possible. [4]. These developments have provided a balance of mechanical performance, cost, and large-volume production capability that is in good alignment with the scale of production and cost of energy drivers in the wind-energy composites market. The speed at which these new high modulus fibers have been put on the market is unprecedented in glass-fiber history.

#### 2.1.8 Glass Type Summary

With its derivatives such as ECR glass, E-glass continues to dominate global commercial sales of glass fibers for reinforcement applications. The unique combination of mechanical properties, weight savings, and durability combined with a wide array of available form factors in the form of fiber diameter, strand size, resin compatibility as delivered by sizing chemistry, continuous or chopped forms, and cost-effectiveness make E-glass fibers by far the best value for designing and manufacturing high-performance composites on a large scale. In parallel with ongoing improvements in E-glass performance, technology developments associated with highperformance fibers, i.e. re-engineered or derivatives of S-glass, R-glass, and D-glass will continue to be key focus areas in the future. These technologies serve to expand the growth of glass-fiber reinforcements in transportation, aerospace, both traditional and renewable energy, and safety and security markets. These added technology options in glass fiber address light weight, high strength and high modulus [4, 6], improved durability, and improved electrical performance such as low signal loss and high-speed communication in the PWB industry [5].

In developing new glass fibers, a fundamental understanding of glass network structures and glass properties for both performance and processing are critical. In boron-containing glasses such as E- and D-glass, speciation of boron in the network, i.e.  $BO_4 \leftrightarrow BO_3 + NBO$ (non-bridging oxygen), is affected by both melting temperature and glass composition [8]; in turn, melt viscosity and glass dielectric property are affected. Besides the speciation of silicate network affected by modifying oxides [9], all commercial silicate glass fibers contain alkaline earth oxides and alumina; an in-depth understanding of composition effect (particularly high field strength metal oxides,  $MO_x$ ) on speciation of aluminum, i.e.  $MO_x +$  $AlO_y \leftrightarrow MO_{x-1} + AlO_{y+1}$  (x = 7, 8 and y = 4, 5, 6) [9–11], can assist in glass design for achieving better glass mechanical properties and facilitating melting and fiberforming processes.

#### 2.2 Major Fiberglass Producers

Worldwide production of E-glass fibers reached about 7.3 million metric tons  $(7.3 \ 10^{12} \ \text{kg})$  in 2018 and is projected to grow continuously. The expansion of E-glass fiber production capacity is expected to occur in parallel. Fiberglass companies can be ranked by total annual sales in volume whereas total production capacity of each company is much more difficult to find in the public domain. The current top 10 fiberglass producers globally based on sales in past 5 years are listed in Table 3. The largest rate of expansion has taken place in China, where newly built furnaces in recent years ranged from annual capacity of 30 000 metric tons to 120 000 metric tons per furnace.

# 3 Manufacturing of Glass Fibers

## 3.1 Primary and Secondary Processes

The production of glass fibers encompasses a wide range of processes, from raw-material sourcing, batch weighing and mixing, batch-to-glass melting and fining, fiber drawing with the application of a water-based organic sizing, to finally drying. Much of today's glass-fiber production for reinforcements incorporates direct processing wherein the finished product, whether wound into a continuous spool of fiberglass strand or chopped directly after the fibers are formed and coated with sizing, is produced in one step as a part of the forming operation. Secondary downstream processes are still in use for some applications and may include twisted yarn on bobbins, roving packages made by assembling collections of smaller strands into larger strands, fibrous mats made from chopped or continuous strands bound together by mechanical or chemical binders, and chopped products for some specialty applications. The general process is sketched in Figure 2. For E-glass fiber production, combustion technology is moving from natural gas-air or oil-air to natural gas-oxygen to achieve better energy transmission efficiency. Where C-glass fiber is still in production, the use of syngas remains prevalent for furnace and combustion systems because of lower capital costs. For both types of fibers, electric boost technology has increased in utilization for energy efficiency and for lowering top firing and hence lowering the crown temperature of the furnace to prolong its life. The following sections briefly discuss some of the key areas of glass melting/fining, fiber drawing, and sizing chemistry design.

Name	Headquarter	Sales ranking	Major market	History
Owens Corning (OC)	US	1	Construction/Transportation	Since 1938
China Fiberglass Co., Ltd. (Jushi)	China	2	Construction/Infrastructure	Since 1993
PPG Industries, Inc. $(PPG)^a$	US	3	Transportation/Renewable energy/Electronics	Since 1945
Chongqing Polycomp International Corporation (CPIC)	China	4	Transportation/Renewable energy	Since 1986
Johns Manville (JM)	US	5	Construction	Since 1958
Taishan Fiberglass Inc.	China	6	Renewable energy/Construction	Since 1983
Nippon Electronic Glass (NEG) <sup>a</sup>	Japan	7	Transportation	Since 1976
3B – Binani (3B)	India	8	Automotive	Since 1996
Sichuan Weibo	China	9	Transportation/Infrastructure	Since 1996
Taiwan Glass Group (TGG)	Taiwan	10	Construction	Since 1990

Table 3 Top 10 fiberglass producers (2008 – 2013).

<sup>*a*</sup> PPG sold its Fiber Glass business to NEG in 2017, which makes NEG's rank No. 3. *Source:* Fiber glass market study, PPG, 2014.



**Figure 2** Schematic illustrations of continuous fiberglass manufacturing processes: (a) batch operation, batch melting/glass fining, and glass delivery to bushing positions, common burner locations used in the primary canal and forehearth (not shown) and (b) steps in fiber drawing and downstream processes. *Source:* Fiber glass market study, PPG, 2014.

## 3.2 Glass Melting and Fining

Commonly used raw materials for E-glass fiber include sand  $(SiO_2)$  as the primary silicon source, kaolin or china clay consisting of kaolinite (Al<sub>2</sub>Si<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub>(OH)<sub>4</sub>) as the primary source of aluminum, limestone (CaCO<sub>3</sub>) or quicklime (burnt lime, CaO) as that calcium, and boric acid  $(H_3BO_3)$  as that of boron. More complex minerals are often used in place of or in combination with these major components to manage cost, improve melting performance, or utilize locally sourced ingredients. Some examples of commonly used complex minerals include pyrophyllite  $(Al_2Si_4O_{10}(OH)_2)$ , colemanite  $(Ca_2B_6O_8(OH)_6\cdot 2H_2O)$ , ulexite (NaCaB<sub>5</sub>O<sub>6</sub>(OH)<sub>6</sub>·5H<sub>2</sub>O), borax (Na<sub>2</sub>B<sub>4</sub>O<sub>5</sub>(OH)<sub>4</sub>· 8H<sub>2</sub>O), fluorspar (CaF<sub>2</sub>), dolomite [(Mg, Ca)(CO<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub>], spodumene (LiAl(SiO<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub>), and soda ash (Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>). For C-glass fiber, albite (NaAlSi<sub>3</sub>O<sub>8</sub>) is commonly used to reduce the need for soda ash. For simplicity, primary phases of the above natural raw materials are used; all of them can contain other mineral phases and/or impurities, for example, iron from ore and grinding process.

Batch reaction chemistry and kinetics in glass melting have been widely studied with various experimental techniques, including differential thermal analysis (DTA), differential scanning calorimetry (DSC), X-ray diffraction, electrical resistance and temperature distributions from molten glass to the batch pile, for laboratory batch sizes from as little as 0.1 g up to 10 kg in mass [12–14]. Models have also been developed from a thermodynamic approach [15].

As illustrated in Figure 3, the batch-to-melt conversion process of representative E-glass and ECR-glass batches can be characterized in the following steps:

 i) De-hydroxylation of batch ingredients, i.e. removal of both moisture water (120–150 °C) and crystalline water in the minerals, (colemanite, 350–450 °C; kaolinite or pyrophyllite, 500–600 °C).

- ii) Decarbonization, i.e. removal of carbonates (limestone, 700–800 °C).
- iii) Formation of intermediate crystalline phases (~1000 °C).
- iv) Liquid phase formation (1000–1400 °C).
- v) Final dissolution of residual phases (sand, 1250 °C) [12].

The majority of the batch reactions are endothermic, the energy consumption of these steps constituting a significant portion of the total energy spent in the glass melting process. Finally, the glass fining step, which varies as a function of furnace throughput, consumes even more energy. The fiberglass industry is continuously searching for new raw materials to lower the energy consumption in batch melting [12] and improved technology to increase the furnace throughput without sacrificing glass quality. This in turn reduces the unit energy consumption of glass melted and glass fiber produced. In practical terms, successful implementation of these approaches can provide savings of up to 20% compared to typical E-glass melting energy demands of 7000–8000 kJ/kg of glass [12].

One generally carries out glass melting and fining by controlling the melt temperature of the furnace hot spot near or higher than  $T_M$  at which the melt viscosity is 10 Pa·s (Figure 4), which will ensure sufficient fluidity of the molten glass to promote both mixing of the batch components and removal of seeds (or bubbles). The latter is also aided by the use of fining agents such as sodium sulfate (Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>), which is commonly used in making E-glass fibers. However, because much higher melting temperatures are often required for specialty glass fibers, other fining agents such as manganese dioxide (MnO<sub>2</sub>) or cerium dioxide (CeO<sub>2</sub>) are also used with or without



**Figure 3** Differential scanning calorimetry output of E-glass batches with and without boron from room temperature to 1400 °C (10 K/min heating rate), illustrating both endothermic and exothermic reaction events as batches are converted into glass through initial steps of dehydration and decarbonation. The intermediate silicates formed are anorthite (CaAl<sub>2</sub>Si<sub>2</sub>O<sub>8)</sub> and/or wollastonite (CaSiO<sub>3</sub>). *Source:* PPG, 2014.

**Figure 4** Viscosity curves of E-glass, E-CR-glass, ARglass, D-glass (derivate), S-glass, and C-glass, illustrating composition effects on reference temperatures of glass melting/fining and fiber drawing. *Source*: PPG, 2014.



added sodium sulfate. Fining agents may also serve as oxidizing agents to control the iron oxidation states for both glass melting and fiber drawing process as will be discussed in more detail in a later section.

Fining action from the decomposition of Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> dissolved in the melt is created as the molten glass stream moves toward the higher temperature fining zone, or hot spot, of the furnace. The melt with dissolved sulfate becomes oversaturated at higher temperatures (>1350 °C) and sulfate decomposition and bubble formation begins to occur. The onset temperature of sulfate decomposition depends on many factors - water vapor pressure in the furnace combustion space, water dissolved in the glass, organic species in the batch materials, any addition of carbon to the batch, partial pressure of oxygen above the melt, and others [16]. Driven by buoyancy action, bubbles containing  $SO_2$  and  $O_2$  travel to the melt surface; along the way the sulfate bubbles expand, stripping smaller bubbles of CO<sub>2</sub> (primarily from decomposition of carbonates) and air (primarily  $N_2$ ) trapped in the melt. The sulfate fining process can be described by the reaction

$$\mathrm{SO_4}^{2-}\left(\mathrm{m}
ight)\leftrightarrow\mathrm{SO_2}\left(\mathrm{g}
ight)+~\frac{1}{2}~\mathrm{O_2}\left(\mathrm{g}
ight)+\mathrm{O^{2-}}\left(\mathrm{m}
ight)$$
, (1)

where  $O^{2-}$  is the free oxygen, which depends on glass composition. With other fining agents, for example CeO<sub>2</sub>, oxygen fining gas is generated according to the reaction

$$Ce^{4+}(m) + \frac{1}{2} O^{2-}(m) \leftrightarrow Ce^{3+}(m) + \frac{1}{2} O_{2}(g).$$
(2)

Adequate use of fining agents is critical. The quantity needs to be optimized based on the furnace firing setup, types of fuel and air or oxygen used, glass composition, and types of fiber products to be made. Excessive use of fining agents can result in uncontrolled melt foaming. The foam layer reduces energy transfer from the combustion space to the glass melt beneath the foam blanket, resulting in energy waste because of excessive firing required to maintain the underglass temperature and in poor glass quality caused by inhomogeneous melting. Excessive foam can also lead to potential overheating of the furnace crown, shortening the furnace service life.

## 3.3 Fiber Forming

The *bushing* is the device that controls the fiber-drawing process. It is the interface between the glass melting and fiber formation processes. Bushings are made of precious metal alloys of platinum (Pt) and rhodium (Rh), typically in alloys of 90Pt/10Rh or 80Pt/20Rh. The tip plate of the bushing contains an appropriate number of tips or nozzles, typically ranging in number from 100 up to 8000 and in diameter from 0.75 to 2.00 mm. Proper selection of these parameters then enables production of the desired number and diameter of glass fiber filaments in a strand of fiberglass (Figure 2b). The bushing is electrically heated to provide very precise control of the temperature and, thus, of the viscosity of the glass flowing through the nozzle. The combination of tip size and glass viscosity coupled with the controlled speed of the take up winder allows for very good control of finished-product filament diameters and linear-strand density.

The rate of melt flow (*F*) through the bushing nozzle or bushing tip follows Poiseuille's relationship, i.e. flow is proportional to  $r^4h/l\eta$  where *r* is the fiber radius, *h* is the depth of molten glass above the bushing tip plate, *l* is the length of nozzle, and  $\eta$  is the melt viscosity at the tip plate [3]. In practice, the actual interior geometry of the nozzle may be varied, which affects the melt flow rate for a given winder speed; modified Poiseuille equations can be found in the literature [3].

The fiber attenuation process is usually completed in less than a second, during which the diameter of the melt stream through the tip changes by three orders of magnitude from millimeters at the tip to micrometers in the finished filament. At a fiber attenuation speed between  $3 \, 10^4$ and 3 10<sup>5</sup> m/s, depending on bushing type and specified fiber product, the estimated fiber cooling rate is approximately 0.5 10<sup>6</sup> K/s for a typical commercial fiber-forming process. Stable drawing processes require adequate control of the fiber cooling rate, which is managed through a combination of process controls, including appropriate bushing design, cooling manifolds (commonly known as fin coolers), cooling air flow, and water spray. In addition, one optimizes the fiber drawing and cooling rates by tuning the oxidation state of iron (either from raw material impurities or intentionally added) in the glass, specifically the concentration of ferrous ion  $(Fe^{2+})$ .

The oxidation–reduction of iron in the melt is affected by glass chemistry and oxygen partial pressure ([16, 17], Chapter 5.6)

and by the presence of other multivalent species either from additives or impurities,

$$Fe^{3+}(m) + M^{(n-y)+}(m) \leftrightarrow Fe^{2}$$
  
+ (m) +  $M^{n+}(m)$ , where M = S, Mn, Ce, etc. (4)

In general, drawing processes for making finer or smaller diameter fibers (and typically smaller bushings also) require glasses with a relatively lower concentration of  $Fe^{2+}$  (hence, slower cooling rate) than coarse fibers made from larger bushings (hence, higher cooling rate). The control of the iron oxidation state (or ferrous ion concentration in glass) is directly related to the amount of fining agent in the batch and the total iron in the batch, both of which are adjustable variables to maintain process stability. The ferrous ion concentration in glass is routinely monitored in production with a colorimetric method through acid digestion of a glass powder sample or with a calibrated UV-VIS spectroscopic method on an optically polished glass disk.

In commercial production, glass fibers are drawn at a temperature  $T_{\rm F}$  where melt viscosity is near 100 Pa·s (Figure 4). Stable melt viscosity at the tip plate is critical for an efficient fiber-forming process. If melt viscosity at the tip plate is too low (i.e. too high temperature at the tip plate), spreading of the glass melt across multiple tips on the tip plate results in flooding and disruption. If melt

viscosity is too high (i.e. too low temperature at the tip plate), fiber drawing tension increases and the stable forming cone at the tip exit begins to fail, causing fiber breakage [3]. In addition, the actual forming temperature must be greater than the glass liquidus temperature,  $T_{\text{liq}}$ , by at least 50 °C to reduce the risk of devitrification. Microcrystals formed in colder spots along a primary canal or forehearth (Figure 2a), no matter how small, can lead to significant fiber breakage in the drawing process and hence, adversely impact productivity.

In making commercial glass fiber products for reinforcements, various processes are used to provide the desired end form. Direct draw or single end winding, direct chopped fibers, and numerous downstream secondary processes may be employed. Depending on the product needs, the types of bushings vary in dimension, number of tips, and tip diameters. In addition to the glass and process elements necessary to produce commercial glass fibers, the surface of the fiber must be treated to provide optimum compatibility of the inorganic glass fiber with the organic resins used in the reinforcements industry. This leads naturally into a discussion on the role of sizing chemistry.

# 3.4 The Role of Sizing/Binder in Glass Fiber Products

The long history of growth in both volume and breadth of glass-fiber commercial successes has been driven by unique combinations of strength, stiffness, weight, and cost attributes that can be achieved through glass chemistry. However, to realize fully the value of the glass fiber in a reinforced composite, a means must be provided to facilitate the effective interactions between the inorganic fiber and the organic polymer that together make up a reinforced composite material. One maximizes this interaction by designing an interface that synergistically combines the material properties of each element. A design that provides for effective load transfer between the constituents transforms an inherently heterogeneous material into one that behaves as a homogeneous structure.

In fiber-glass composites, the system that delivers the optimum interfacial properties is the *sizing* or binder that is applied to the surface of the fiberglass. The sizing is generally applied as a continuous coating just after the fibers are formed and before the individual glass filaments are gathered into a strand below the bushing. The most common sizing formulations comprise a water-based mixture of molecular species such as adhesion promoters, film formers, lubricants, and other processing aids as summarized in Table 4. It is the role of the sizing chemist, working in conjunction with the glass scientists and the process engineers, to deliver a sizing formulation that appropriately enables efficient production rates of the

Classification	Functionality
Coupling agents	Adhesion promoters that bond or couple the glass surface with specific matrix resin systems; may also provide excellent filament protection and increased dry breaking strength.
Film formers	Hold filaments together and provide protection to the fiberglass strand.
Film modifiers	Modify the film formation to increase strength, flexibility, and tackiness.
External lubricants	Provide resistance to abrasion damage at external contact points such as strand guides in downstream processes.
Internal lubricants	Reduce the filament-to-filament abrasion within the fiberglass strand.
Emulsifiers/ Surfactants	Form stable suspensions or emulsions of immiscible ingredients, generally in water-based systems.
Other process aids	May be used as required to control foam, wetting, static behavior, biological activity, and any other special requirements by a particular end-use or internal processing need.

Table 4 Classification and functionality of ingredients in fiber sizing/binder formulations.

fiberglass while also providing maximum compatibility with the targeted composite polymer matrix and the end-use performance requirements.

Good sizing design begins with a selection of the appropriate adhesion promoter that will provide good bonding between the inorganic glass surface and the reactive sites in the targeted polymer system. The most widely used class of chemicals for this function are organosilanes. These species can be designed to promote reaction between the silanol sites on the glass surface and on the organosilane molecule, leading to an Si-O-Si bond at the glass/polymer interface. The silanes as supplied are hydrolyzed in the final sizing formulation to provide Si-OH groups that can then condense with the Si-OH groups on the glass surface to provide strong interfacial bonds. The organic functionality of the silane is then chosen to maximize compatibility with the target polymer in the final composite. Common examples are shown in Table 5. Other classes of chemicals that have seen more limited utility as adhesion promoters include organotitanates and organo-chromium complexes.

It is important to note that characterization of the guality of the sizing as well as the glass fiber in the finished composite is critical to confirming technical success of a fiberglass product. Good adhesion at the interface implies the formation of an interphase that makes the materials compatible through covalent bonding, and provides a discrete pathway for stress transfer between the materials. Many standardized tests related to interfacial adhesion, interfacial shear stress, tensile stress, modulus, and hydrolytic stability have been developed over the years and are widely available in international standard testing organizations such as ASTM and ISO. Many academic laboratories have also developed more sophisticated tests. One example is the measurement of composite critical fiber length [18]. As defined by Eq. (5), the critical fiber length  $(l_c)$  is the minimum fiber

length at which fibers with given diameter *d* reach their ultimate tensile strength  $\sigma_{fu}$  and the matrix/fiber interface experiences a maximum interfacial shear stress  $\tau_y$ [18]. When  $l > l_c$ , an increase in interfacial adhesion will result in a decrease in critical fiber length and may lead to improvements in other properties such as impact strength in certain resin systems. However, the sizing may also act to protect the fiber from surface damage and defects in addition to providing improved adhesion. In that case, reduction of fiber surface damage would lead to an increase in the critical fiber length by increasing  $\sigma_{fu}$ . Interestingly enough when  $l > l_c$ , and the composite is stressed to failure, then the fiber will break at regular intervals of  $l_c$  within the composite. This result can be used to estimate the interfacial shear stress:

$$l_{\rm c} = \frac{\sigma_{\rm fu}}{2\tau_{\rm y}}d\tag{5}$$

This example also serves to illustrate that broader conclusions from micromechanical experiments should consider that different outcomes may result depending upon material selection. The most common material options include chopped or short fibers vs. continuous fibers and thermoset vs. thermoplastic resin systems, which of course complicates the task of the sizing chemist in product development.

It remains for the sizing chemist to complete the establishment of the final formulation from a virtually limitless palette of film formers, process aids, and modifiers to deliver the desired performance of the fiberglass as a commercial product. Commercially, the resultant amount of sizing on the fiberglass surface is typically in the range of 0.3-1.5 wt % of the dry fiberglass.

An excellent in-depth review of the complexity of this field from the sizing chemists' point of view can be found in Thomason's book, *Glass Fibre Sizings: A Review of the Scientific Literature* [19].

Table 5	Common	organosilanes.

Chemical name	Structure	Class
γ-Aminopropyl trialkoxy silane	$(RO)_3Si-(CH_2)_3-NH_2$	Amine
γ-Methacryloxypropyl trialkoxy silane	$(RO)_3Si-(CH_2)_3-OOC(CH_3)C=CH_2$	Methacryl
γ-Glycidyloxypropyl trialkoxy silane	$(RO)_3Si-(CH_2)_3-O-CH_2CHCH_2O$	Epoxy
Vinyl trialkoxy silane	$(RO)_3Si-CH=CH_2$	Vinyl
	$R = CH_3CH_2 - \text{ or } CH_3 -$	

## 4 Markets and Applications

## 4.1 Global Glass Fiber Reinforced Polymeric Composite Markets

The glass fiber reinforced polymeric composites market will grow from about \$18 000 million in 2010 to an estimated \$30 000 million in annual shipment value by 2017 according to a recent survey. These composites find many applications in commercial markets globally. A breakdown by major regions of the world is shown in Figure 5 for the Americas, EMEA (Europe, Middle East, and Africa), and Asia Pacific.

Construction and transportation dominate the Americas market place for GRP composites, with construction taking the largest share. Other segments are more or less equally distributed among industrial, oil and gas, and wind-turbine blade applications, along with numerous smaller segments. In the EMEA region, construction and transportation are also the largest markets, but here the leading industry is transportation. The wind-turbine blade segment is much higher in Europe, and the other segments hold similar shares as seen in America. In the Asia Pacific region, once again transportation and construction combined are the largest segments. In this region, however, electronics and industrial markets are more prominent, combined with a large "other" segment driven by the large variety of needs and applications in the region. The electronic segment is particularly strong, reflecting the strong position of the PWB industry and its supply chain of E-glass fiber, fabric, and laminators in the Asia Pacific region.

Generally, GRP composite materials are classified into two categories: thermoplastic and thermoset. Thermoplastic GRP products most commonly use resins based on polypropylene, polyamides (nylon 6 and 6,6), polyesters (polybutylene terephthalate, polyethylene terephthalate), and many other specialized thermoplastic polymers. Thermoset GRP products commonly use resins based on epoxies, unsaturated polyesters, and vinyl esters, with smaller but growing applications use phenolic and urethane-based resin systems as well as other specialty resins. Thermoplastic resins generally exhibit higher ductility and impact resistance, while thermoset resins offer better strength and modulus and higher thermal stability. There are many new developments underway in both processing and resin chemistry that often blur the traditional divisions between thermoplastic and thermoset-based glass fiber composites. The glass fiber industry will continue to be at the forefront in supplying reinforcement solutions for these new developments.

Thermoplastic automotive applications include window frames, automobile body components, dashboard sections, and bumper beams. Typical processes for combining fiber forms with thermoplastics resins as intermediates for molding of final parts include extrusion compounding of short fibers, glass-mat thermoplastic sheet, and long-fiber thermoplastic compounding.

Major thermoset products include composite pipes for oil and gas, marine, and industrial applications; windturbine blades; flue-gas desulfurization tanks and towers; PWB; boats; construction beams and structures; composite leaf springs; and numerous sporting-goods applications. Other components are countless and limited only by the imagination. Typical conversion processes for thermoset composites include filament winding, pultrusion, resin transfer molding, hand lay-up, spray deposition, continuous laminating, centrifugal molding, sheet molding compounds, and bulk molding compounds.

Glass fibers can also be used as a reinforcement for cement structures, in many cases with AR-glass fibers as already noted. Like E-glass, it also finds utility in some of these applications where short-term strength is the major requirement. Some geotextile reinforcements also use E-glass as a base in a coarse mesh form. Chopped glass fibers are the predominant reinforcement for asphalt roofing shingles, primarily in North American markets (*Source*: fiber glass market study, PPG, 2014).

## 4.2 Emerging GRP Composite Markets

Traditional E-glass still dominates total glass fiber volume produced around the world, with a well-established



Figure 5 Global GRP composite market shares in America, EMEA, and Asia Pacific regions. Source: Fiber glass market study, PPG, 2014.

history of delivering value in many markets for more than 70 years. This trend is expected to continue because of the E-glass value in use and the maturity of the manufacturing technology. Along with its variants, E-glass will continue to be the material of choice in most applications. Fiber manufacturers will continue to move toward more environmentally compliant variants, and product development scientists will continue to tailor the glass composition, form factor, and surface chemistry to maximize synergy with developing resin chemistries and process technologies. A good example of this evolution is E-CR glass and its performance in strongly acidic environments. This adequacy has resulted in the specification of E-CR glass as a requirement in applications such as waste water pipe systems, desulfurization towers in power plants, and filtration bags in power plant or cement productions (Figure 6a).

Specialized fibers, including redesigned and more manufacturing friendly versions of S-glass, R-glass,

and D-glass for high-strength, high-modulus, and premium electrical properties, respectively, continue to be in demand where limits are being pushed to the extreme for traditional E-glass. Some examples include aerospace, driven by weight and fuel economies; wind energy, driven by the need for increased stiffness at a fair value cost in order to achieve lower energy costs; transportation, driven by fuel economy and energy management in crashes; better electrical properties, driven by increased bandwidth, faster computing speeds, and miniaturization; and energy storage, driven by higher strength for hydrogen storage tanks and other components. A specific example of the role of improved glass design is related to the design of ultra-long wind-turbine blade. Newly designed high modulus and low-density glass fibers will likely replace E-glass fibers (Figure 6b) in the future, helping to drive the unit cost of electricity generation to a more competitive level.



**Figure 6** Improvement in fiber properties through compositional changes. (a) Effects of boron reduction on acid stress corrosion performance as shown by a comparison of boronfree ECR and E-glass fibers [7]. (b) Improvement of composite unidirectional tensile modulus with newly designed R-glass fibers for various potential applications for both thermoplastic and thermoset composites [4] ( $\sigma_{app}$  – applied tensile stress on rod samples,  $\sigma_{UTS}$  – ultimate tensile strength of as-received rod samples, unidirectional nonwoven fabric reinforcement – UD composite panel, long fiber thermoplastics

# 5 Perspectives

It is expected that E-glass and its variants will continue to be the predominant form of glass fiber for most reinforcements markets in the near term. However, as larger volume applications grow with increased performance needs, the glass fiber industry will face challenges to develop manufacturing technology platforms capable of making these products at costs acceptable to the markets. Innovation is needed in both glass chemistry and manufacturing technology to grow specialty fiber businesses that usually provide higher profitability than traditional glass fiber markets. Some examples of manufacturing technologies could include new melting furnace designs, new melting techniques, new fining methods for higher temperatures, and new refractory materials for hightemperature operations. In terms of fiber-glass chemistry, an in-depth fundamental understanding of glass structure–property relationships will aid glass optimization for performance and manufacturing scalability. Most ongoing research, including molecular dynamic modeling, focuses on local structure of both network work formers (primarily Si, B, and conditionally Al) and network modifiers (primarily alkali, alkaline earth, and rare earth).
# References

- 1 Slayter, G. and Thomas, J.H. (1938). Glass Fabric. US2,133,238. Owens-Illinois Glass Company, Ohio.
- **2** ASTM D578/D578M-05 (2011). *Standard Specification for Glass Fiber Strands*. West Conshohocken, PA: ASTM International www.astm.org.
- **3** Lowenstein, K.L. (1993). *The Manufacturing Technology of Continuous Glass Fibres*, 3e, 5–12–29–39. Amsterdam: Elsevier.
- **4** Li, H., Richards, C., and Watson, J. (2014). High performance glass fiber development for composite applications. *Int. J. Appl. Glass Sci.* 5: 65–81.
- 5 Longobardo, A.V. (2009). Glass fibers for printed circuit boards. In: *Fiberglass and Glass Technology, Energy-Friendly Compositions and Applications* (eds. F.T. Wallenberger and P.A. Bingham), 175–196. New York: Springer.
- 6 Hausrath, R.L. and Longobardo, A.V. (2009). Highstrength glass fibers and markets. In: *Fiberglass and Glass Technology, Energy-Friendly Compositions and Applications* (eds. F.T. Wallenberger and P.A. Bingham), 197–225. New York: Springer.
- 7 Li, H., Gu, P., Watson, J., and Meng, J. (2013). Acid corrosion and mechanism of E-glass fibers: boron factor. *J. Mater. Sci.* 48: 3075–3087.
- 8 Wu, J. and Stebbins, J.F. (2013). Temperature and modifier cation field strength effects on aluminoborosilicate glass network structure. *J. Non-Cryst. Solids* 351: 73–81.
- **9** Mysen, B.O. and Richet, P. (2005). *Silicate Glasses and Melts Properties and Structure*, Developments in Geochemistry 10, 231–285. Amsterdam: Elsevier.
- **10** Neuville, D.R., Cormier, L., and Massiot, D. (2006). Al coordination and speciation in calcium aluminosilicate

glasses: effects of composition determined by <sup>27</sup>Al MQ-MAS NMR and Raman spectroscopy. *Chem. Geology* 229: 173–185.

- 11 Quintas, A., Charpentier, T., Majerus, O. et al. (2007). NMR study of a rare-earth aluminoborosilicate glass with varying CaO-to-Na<sub>2</sub>O ratio. *Appl. Magn. Reson.* 32: 613–634.
- 12 Li, H. (2014). Alumina and silica sources for E-glass fiber manufacturing-melting energy aspect. *Glass Tech.: Eur. J. Glass Sci. Tech. A* 55: 7–13.
- 13 Dolan, M.D. and Misture, S.T. (2004). Analysis of glass batch reactions using in situ x-ray diffraction, part III. Borosilicate glass batches. *Glass Tech.* 45: 212–219.
- 14 Conradt, R., Suwannathada, P., and Pimkhaokham, P. (1994). Local temperature distribution and primary melt formation in a melting batch heap. *Glastech. Ber. Glass Sci. Technol.* 67: 103–113.
- 15 Conradt, R. (2009). Thermodynamics of glass melting process. In: *Fiberglass and Glass Technology, Energy-Friendly Compositions and Applications* (eds. F.T. Wallenberger and P.A. Bingham), 358–412. New York: Springer.
- 16 Beerkens, R.G.C., Laimbock, P., Faber, A.J., and Kobayashi, S. (1998). Interaction between furnace atmosphere and sulfate fined glass melts, 347–354. San Francisco, US: Proc. Inter. Cong. Glass XVIII.
- 17 Goldman, D. S. (1985). REDOX and sulfur solubility in glass melts. *International Commission on Glass: Gas Bubbles in Glass*, Charleroi, Belgium, pp. 74–91.
- 18 Agarwal, B.D. and Broutman, L.J. (1990). Analysis and Performance of Fiber Composites. New York: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- 19 Thomason, J.L. (2012). *Glass Fibre Sizings: A Review of the Scientific Literature*. James L Thomason: Charleston.

# Simulation in Glass Processes

Patrick J. Prescott and Bruno Purnode Owens Corning Science & Technology Center, Granville, OH, USA

# 1 Introduction

Numerical simulations of glass processes are performed in lieu of physical trials, which often involve conditions too harsh to allow measurements, are difficult to control, or are prohibitively expensive. Used as a screening tool, a simulation model can thus allow technologists to avoid several iterations of actual physical trials on an industrial apparatus. Alternatively, simulations can be used to examine phenomena which are too difficult to observe in practice because of the extreme environment of glassmaking. Moreover, numerical simulation allows for fundamental phenomena to be studied, thanks to its capability of identifying and controlling factors that influence the process. Such factors cannot usually be independently modified in the real process, in view of its complexity, and the insights gained from such virtual experiments can be used to guide technology development efforts.

Following the advent of electronic computers in the mid-twentieth century, these methods were pioneered in the 1960s to deal with glassmaking problems elementary enough to be handled with the simplifying assumptions required by the then limited computing power. Much more complex and realistic 3-D problems can of course be tackled now as massive increase in this computing power has dramatically changed engineering analysis in general. Concomitant with hardware advances have been significant developments in software, including both computational algorithms and user interfaces. Several commercial offerings of the relevant software are available for glassmaking. Process engineers are encouraged to utilize such tools. Some of these software packages are general purpose, adaptable to a wide range of situations, whereas others serve the glass-processing industry specifically.

Both general-purpose and niche-software products will be used in the example simulations presented in this chapter where the focus will be put on the mathematical techniques used to simulate the two major phenomena involved in glassmaking, namely fluid flow and heat transfer. Mathematical models, formulated from the classical laws of physics, are used to calculate relevant field variables, such as temperature, velocity, stress, etc., within a glass manufacturing process. Modeling results are then interpreted with post-processing procedures, which are less abstract than ever before, thanks to modern techniques capable of displaying results in a geometrical context. When applied to fluid flow and heat transfer, these techniques are collectively referred to as *computational fluid dynamics* (CFD).

To review these new methods, we will first summarize the main six steps they successively involve from the definition of the problem of interest to its solution. The various physical phenomena relevant and their mathematical description and computational treatment will then be expounded. Subsequently, a few representative examples of model simulation will be presented to demonstrate the capabilities and the value of modeling to a glass manufacturing enterprise. Finally, a brief section on the importance of managing simulation data will be provided.

## 2 A Brief Overview

Numerical simulation is a process made up of the six steps summarized in Table 1. These are: (1) identify the objectives of the modeling study, (2) construct a geometrical domain and discretization of the system of interest (i.e. meshing or grid generation), (3) build the simulation

111

*Reviewers*: W. W. Johnson, Corning Incorporated, Corning, NY, USA E. Muijsenberg, Glass Service, Inc., Vsetin, Czech Republic

*Encyclopedia of Glass Science, Technology, History, and Culture, Volume I*, First Edition. Pascal Richet. © 2021 The American Ceramic Society. Published 2021 by John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

Table 1	Summary	of simulation	process steps.
---------	---------	---------------	----------------

Step	Process	Description
1	Objective	Identify needed results – quantitative summaries – qualitative insights – comparisons.
2	Geometry and mesh	Construct CAD model and discretize into elements or cells.
3	Physical conditions	Assign materials and properties to regions, boundary conditions, sources, and other abstractions to account for physical behavior. (Can affect Step 2)
4	Solve	Select solver options, such as under-relaxation coefficients, gradient estimation methods, convergence criteria, etc., and solve. (Can affect Step 2 or 3)
5	Post-process	Review computed results, prepare contour plots, vector plots, flow pathlines, and other computed values from results.
6	Document and archive	Prepare presentation or report and store all information in appropriate database.

model by selecting physical phenomena and applying various physical data (e.g. material properties, boundary conditions), (4) choose numerical parameters to execute the calculations and effect a solution, (5) post-process the simulation results, and (6) document them and archive the modeling data. Each of these is important, and some are mutually dependent on one another.

The first step of identifying the objective cannot be overemphasized. It will drive the rest of the process and will lead to key assumptions to be applied along the way. The complexity of the model or its level of detail can very much depend on its purpose. Thus, the second step of geometrically defining the computational domain and discretizing it very much relies on the modeling objectives and requires good judgment in order to resolve the details of interest without adding human and computational effort that are not key to the objectives sought. Therefore, it is crucial to determine a good balance between model accuracy and the effort needed to reach a solution.

Generating a mesh is often the main bottleneck in the modeling process, as it is often rendered difficult by geometrical details which have a negligible effect on the results of interest. Meshing software with de-featuring options may be helpful, but good guidance at the outset of the modeling project is very valuable. This point is well illustrated in Figure 1a where are sketched two ways to represent a burner block used in a forehearth (i.e. the heated canal lined with refractory material separating the melting furnace from the forming machinery). The geometry shown in Figure 1a more accurately represents the actual shape of the burner block, but it yields highly skewed and undesirable mesh cells. The low-quality mesh is the result of three surfaces, one of which is curved, intersecting at a point, which will either cause divergence of the computational algorithm or lead to spurious results. Extreme grid refinement thus is required to achieve acceptable mesh quality. An alternative that alleviates the meshing problem, without having a significant effect on computed results, is shown in Figure 1b.

Sound engineering judgment is also needed to build the simulation model, the third step of the simulation process. Many decisions are required. For example, can symmetry be assumed? Another example is linked to the steadiness of the process and whether an assumption of steady state is justified or if transient conditions must be considered. Treating fundamental properties like viscosity (Chapter 4.1) and thermal conductivity (Chapter 4.5) as constant or temperature-dependent represents another decision that must be made by the numerical analyst. Sometimes, it is advantageous to use constant properties to establish an initial solution, followed by another solution attempt with variable properties. This strategy has been used effectively where the initial constant property solution serves as the initial estimate for the more accurate, variable property simulation. It is recommended to begin a simulation project erring on the side of simplicity, and then to add complexity in subsequent simulations.

It is also the case that the physical modeling decisions will affect the geometrical and meshing procedures. For example, a perforated plate through which a fluid flows could require extremely detailed meshing (Figure 2); or the effects of the hole pattern could be accounted for with a much less refined mesh using a more abstract method, in which the screen is characterized by a permeability which relates velocity and pressure drop. The decision on how to proceed will depend on the objectives of the study.

Post-processing (Step 5) is also very important, as it requires the analyst to execute good judgment on the results obtained. Before extracting information and insights from the results, the analyst must scrutinize the calculated field variables, as well as checking for balanced conservation laws; that is, checking for sufficient numerical convergence must be performed. Finally, management of simulation data (i.e. electronic model files) should not be overlooked since it determines the efficiency with which the simulation process is executed.







**Figure 2** Example of a screen with small-scale features requiring a high mesh density to be resolved.

# 3 Fundamental Phenomena, Governing Equations, and Simulation Tools

### 3.1 Glass as a Continuum

The basic principles of engineering science are applied in CFD simulations. These involve fluid mechanics and usually various other phenomena that are typically considered to fall within the category of thermal sciences. A brief overview is provided, but for complete development, interested readers not yet familiar with the details are referred to various textbooks (e.g. [1-3]). Physical

phenomena specific to glass processes must be accounted for within the framework of three fundamental principles and will be reviewed later with respect to a few chosen examples. Readers are also directed to a volume edited by Krause and Loch [4] for a collection of excellent examples of numerical simulations applied to glass processes.

Forming the foundation on which CFD models are constructed, the fundamental principles of classical physics account for conservation of mass, momentum, and energy. Conservation of momentum follows from Newton's three laws of motion, whereas energy conservation is of course the first law of thermodynamics. Contrary to what is done for the very small systems simulated in theoretical studies (Chapters 2.8 and 2.9), it is impractical to account for the motion or energy level of each individual atom or structural entity at the scale relevant to industrial processes. Instead, it is recognized that, for length scales of engineering practicality, substances can be characterized with intensive properties (i.e. per unit volume or mass). Because it describes the mass per unit volume of a particular substance, density is a simple example of such a property that is independent of the size of the system. This abstraction allows substances to be treated as a continuum and allows for powerful mathematical models to be constructed.

### 3.2 Transport by Advection and Diffusion

Referring again to well-recognized texts [1, 2], we will remind that the principle of conservation of mass, applied to an infinitesimally small control volume (CV), is mathematically expressed as 114 1.7 Simulation in Glass Processes

$$\frac{\partial \rho}{\partial t} + \nabla \cdot \left( \rho \vec{V} \right) = 0, \tag{1}$$

where  $\rho$  is the density and  $\vec{V}$  is the velocity vector. Equation (1) is often called the continuity equation. A mathematical expression of the conservation of momentum is

$$\frac{\partial \left(\rho \vec{V}\right)}{\partial t} + \nabla \cdot \left(\rho \vec{V} \vec{V}\right) = \nabla \cdot (\vec{\sigma}) + \vec{B}, \qquad (2)$$

whose left-hand side represents the time rate of change of momentum (i.e. mass times acceleration), and the right the forces acting upon the fluid by adjacent fluid particles (i.e. the divergence of the stress tensor,  $\ddot{\sigma}$ ) and other relevant objects through gravity or electromagnetically generated forces (i.e. a net body force per unit volume,  $\vec{B}$ ). Forces attributable to adjacent fluid particles are collectively represented by *stress*, which is another intensive property quantifying force per unit area.

An important requirement for mathematical modeling of fluid flows is to relate internal fluid stresses to characteristics of the fluid's motion. Such a relationship, which depends on the substance, is termed a *constitutive relationship*. There are many types of material behavior, requiring different constitutive models, but the most commonly used model relates shear stresses to strain rate (i.e. velocity gradient) in a linear manner. Fluids to which this linear relationship applies are known as Newtonian fluids. For example, a shear stress component  $\tau_{xy}$  for a Newtonian fluid is characterized with

$$\tau_{xy} = \mu \frac{\partial u}{\partial y},\tag{3}$$

where  $\mu$  is the dynamic viscosity and u is the *x*-direction component of the velocity vector. For a Newtonian fluid, viscosity is independent of the strain rate. As long as it is homogeneous, glass is a Newtonian fluid although its viscosity is a very strong function of both composition and temperature (Chapter 4.1).

When the Newtonian constitutive model is substituted into the more general momentum Eq. (2) and the fluid is assumed to be incompressible, the result is the wellknown Navier–Stokes equation

$$\frac{\partial \left(\rho \vec{V}\right)}{\partial t} + \nabla \cdot \left(\rho \vec{V} \vec{V}\right) = \nabla \cdot \left(\mu \nabla \vec{V}\right) - \nabla P + \vec{B}, \quad (4)$$

where P is the fluid pressure. Not all fluids behave according to Eq. (3). Such non-Newtonian fluids must be mathematically modeled with different constitutive relations substituted into Eq. (2) [5, 6].

Note that Eq. (4) is a vector equation, although it can be decomposed into vector component (scalar) equations, which is often done for the numerical application. In Cartesian coordinates, these component (scalar) equations are the following:

$$\frac{\partial(\rho u)}{\partial t} + \nabla \cdot \left(\rho \vec{V} u\right) = \nabla \cdot \left(\mu \nabla u\right) - \frac{\partial P}{\partial x} + B_x, \quad (5)$$

$$\frac{\partial(\rho v)}{\partial t} + \nabla \cdot \left(\rho \vec{V} v\right) = \nabla \cdot (\mu \nabla v) - \frac{\partial P}{\partial y} + B_y, \tag{6}$$

$$\frac{\partial(\rho w)}{\partial t} + \nabla \cdot \left(\rho \vec{V} w\right) = \nabla \cdot \left(\mu \nabla w\right) - \frac{\partial P}{\partial z} + B_z.$$
(7)

In fluid mechanics problems, the unknown field variables are the three components of velocity (e.g. u, v, and w) and fluid pressure, requiring four independent equations, which are the three momentum component Eqs. (5)–(7) and the continuity Eq. (1).

The equation for energy conservation is derived in a similar fashion. A common form of the energy equation is

$$\frac{\partial (\rho C_{\rm p} T)}{\partial t} + \nabla \cdot \left( \rho C_{\rm p} \vec{V} T \right) = \nabla \cdot (k_{\rm t} \nabla T) + S_{\rm T}, \quad (8)$$

where  $C_p$  and T are the specific heat and temperature, respectively, and  $k_t$  the thermal conductivity. In Eq. (8), the transient and advective transport terms are on the left side, whereas the right side has the conduction term and all other energy transfers accounted for as "sources." An example of a "source" is Joule dissipation; that is, electrical energy converted to thermal energy by an electrical current passing through a resistive material (with an associated drop in electric potential).

In CFD, various transport phenomena are cast in the following general form known as the advection–diffusion equation [7],

$$\frac{\partial(\rho\phi)}{\partial t} + \nabla \cdot \left(\rho \vec{V}\phi\right) = \nabla \cdot (\Gamma \nabla \phi) + S_{\phi}, \tag{9}$$

where  $\phi$  represents a generic field variable related to the property of interest, and  $\Gamma$  a generic diffusion coefficient. For example, temperature is the relevant field variable in the energy Eq. (8). (Likewise,  $\rho c_p$  is substituted for  $\rho$  in the energy equation as it represents its "thermal inertia" per unit volume.) The first member on the left side of Eq. (9) is a transient term, which can be ignored for steady-state problems. The second is the advection term, representing transport by fluid motion. The first member on the right side of Eq. (9) is the diffusion term, representing transport by atomic-scale interactions, and all others are treated as "sources," often because the model contains mathematical expressions which do not admit to the form of the one of the three standard terms.

Several commonly used mathematical expressions for the advective–diffusive transport of various field variables

		φ	Transient	+	Advection	=	Diffusion	+	Source
A	Continuity	1	$\frac{\partial \rho}{\partial t}$	+	$ abla \cdot \left(  ho \overrightarrow{V}  ight)$	=		+	0
В	Momentum (x-direction)	и	$\frac{\partial(\rho u)}{\partial t}$	+	$ abla \cdot \left(  ho \overrightarrow{V} u  ight)$	=	$\nabla \cdot (\mu \nabla u)$	+	$-\frac{\partial P}{\partial x} + B_x$
	Momentum (y-direction)	ν	$\frac{\partial(\rho \nu)}{\partial t}$	+	$ abla \cdot \left(  ho ec V  u  ight)$	=	$ abla \cdot (\mu \nabla \nu)$	+	$-\frac{\partial P}{\partial y} + B_y$
	Momentum (z-direction)	w	$\frac{\partial(\rho w)}{\partial t}$	+	$ abla \cdot \left(  ho \overrightarrow{V} w  ight)$	=	$ abla \cdot (\mu \nabla w)$	+	$-\frac{\partial P}{\partial z} + B_z$
С	Energy	Т	$\frac{\partial \left(\rho C_{\rm p} T\right)}{\partial t}$	+	$\nabla \cdot \left( \rho C_{\mathbf{p}} \vec{V} T \right)$	=	$ abla \cdot (k \nabla T)$	+	$S_T$
D	Turbulent kinetic energy	k	$\frac{\partial(\rho k)}{\partial t}$	+	$ abla \cdot \left(  ho ec V k  ight)$	=	$\nabla \cdot (\mu_{t, k} \nabla k)$	+	$S_k$
E	Turbulence dissipation	ε	$\frac{\partial(\rho\varepsilon)}{\partial t}$	+	$ abla \cdot \left(  ho ec V arepsilon  ight)$	=	$ abla \cdot (\mu_{t, \ \epsilon} \nabla \varepsilon)$	+	$S_{\varepsilon}$
F	Electric charge/potential	Ε		+	0	=	$\nabla \cdot (k_{\rm e} \nabla E)$	+	0
G	Species A	$mf_{\rm A}$	$\frac{\partial(\rho  \mathit{mf}_{\mathrm{A}})}{\partial t}$	+	$\nabla \cdot \left( \rho \overrightarrow{V} m f_{\mathrm{A}} \right)$	=	$\nabla \cdot (\mathcal{D} \nabla \textit{mf}_{A})$	+	S <sub>A</sub>

Table 2 List of commonly used transport equations in advection-diffusion form.

are listed in Table 2. Some are expressions of a fundamen-

Table 2. The source terms  $S_k$  and  $S_e$  are related to the rate of strain of the average flow.

prolific, which is why its two equations are mentioned in

$$S_k = \mu_t S^2 - \rho \varepsilon \tag{10}$$

and

$$S_{\varepsilon} = C_{1,\varepsilon} \mu_t \frac{\varepsilon}{k} S^2 - C_{2,\varepsilon} \rho \frac{\varepsilon^2}{k}, \qquad (11)$$

where  $C_{1,\varepsilon}$  and  $C_{2,\varepsilon}$  are model constants, and S represents the modulus of the strain rate tensor determined from the time-averaged velocity field. (The rate of strain tensor is defined as  $\ddot{E} = \frac{1}{2} \left| \nabla \vec{V} + \left( \nabla \vec{V} \right)^T \right|$ .) Sometimes, these sources are embellished with additional terms to account for effects such as buoyancy or compressibility.

The purpose of a turbulence model is to account for transport occurring through the turbulent eddies that are not explicitly resolved in the simulation. Such transport occurs through advection as represented by the second term on the left side of the generic transport Eq. (9), averaged over time for steady-state problems. As mentioned above, these eddies are smaller than typical features of interest, but they are much larger than the molecular scale associated with diffusion through the first term on the right side of Eq. (9). The  $k-\varepsilon$  model accounts for turbulent transport by treating it as a diffusive phenomenon characterized by a "turbulent viscosity,"  $\mu_t$ ,

 $\mu_{\rm t} = \rho C_{\mu} \frac{k^2}{c},$ (12)

tal principle, while others are consequences of further abstraction (e.g. turbulent kinetic energy), although still derived from first principles.

In Table 2, the rows D and E show the components of turbulence quantities for turbulent kinetic energy, k, and turbulence dissipation rate,  $\varepsilon$ . Glass flows are never turbulent, thanks to the stabilizing influence of glass extreme viscosity, in contrast to flows of air, gas, oxygen, combustion fumes, and other fluids that are part of glass processes.

#### Turbulence 3.3

Turbulence represents an unstable flow condition that is naturally unsteady. Nevertheless, turbulent flows are commonly treated as steady because the velocity field can be well described with time-averaged values, and similarly for other field variables such as temperature. That is, for any given location, a field variable can be decomposed into a time-invariant average, plus a fluctuating component. The time and length scales associated with turbulent fluctuations are small compared with the important features of a glass process, but the effects of these fluctuating quantities are profound and must accounted for in simulation models.

There are many model formulations to account for turbulence, most having variations tuned for specific flow conditions. It is beyond the scope of this chapter to review even a few of them. The so-called  $k-\varepsilon$  model is the most

where  $C_{\mu}$  is another model constant, which adds up to the Newtonian viscosity to yield an effective viscosity,  $\mu_{\text{eff}}$ ,

$$\mu_{\rm eff} = \mu + \mu_{\rm t}.\tag{13}$$

It is usually the case that  $\mu_t \gg \mu$  and  $\mu_{eff} \approx \mu_t$ . Likewise, similar substitutions are made for the diffusion coefficients of other transport equations.

### 3.4 Radiative Heat Transfer

Heat transfer by conduction and convection is accounted for by Eq. (8) (or C in Table 2), which is also compatible with radiative heat transfer applied as a boundary condition on an opaque surface. However, glass and other media (e.g. combustion gases) are commonly semitransparent in glass processes, that is, they emit, absorb, and scatter IR radiation volumetrically.

Radiative heat transfer significantly differs from transport by advection and diffusion so that it cannot be mathematically described by an equation of the form of Eq. (9). It is instead governed by an integrodifferential equation, known as the radiative transfer equation (RTE) [3],

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}I\left(\overrightarrow{r},\overrightarrow{s}\right)}{\mathrm{d}s} + (\alpha + \alpha_{S})I\left(\overrightarrow{r},\overrightarrow{s}\right) = \frac{\alpha n^{2}}{\pi}\sigma T^{4} + \frac{\alpha_{S}}{4\pi}\int_{0}^{4\pi}I\left(\overrightarrow{r},\overrightarrow{s}\right)\Phi\left(\overrightarrow{S},\overrightarrow{S'}\right)\mathrm{d}\Omega,$$
(14)

where  $I(\vec{r}, \vec{s})$  represents the radiation intensity at a position  $\vec{r}$  and in the beam direction  $\vec{s}$ ;  $\alpha$  and  $\alpha_s$  are absorption and scattering coefficients, respectively; n is the index of refraction;  $\Phi(\vec{s}, \vec{s}')$  the scattering phase function quantifying the portion of incident radiation from any direction  $\vec{s}'$  redirected into direction  $\vec{s}$ ; and  $d\Omega$  is a differential solid angle. The absorption coefficient and index of refraction are material properties, whereas the scattering coefficient and phase function  $\Phi$  depend on physical conditions (e.g. size of soot particles), as well as on material characteristics. Note that Eq. (14) reduces to a first-order differential equation when scattering is not considered.

As for the first term on the left side of Eq. (14), it represents the change in beam intensity per unit length in beam direction  $\vec{s}$ , whereas the second accounts for the decrease in beam intensity caused by the combined actions of absorption and scattering. While absorption has the effect of increasing local temperature, scattering only redirects a portion of the beam without absorbing energy. Finally, on the right side of Eq. (14), the first term accounts for emission, which tends to lower local temperatures, and the last term for scattering of IR from all directions into the beam path  $\vec{s}$ .

Radiation is a directional phenomenon and is in addition spectral in nature in that its intensity in principle depends on the wavelength of the IR beam. When spectral variations can be assumed to have negligible effects, Eq. (14) is written for a medium that is said to be *gray*. Extending the RTE to include spectral effects is straightforward [3], but not presented here.

Note that, Eq. (14) only accounts for IR intensity without determining directly temperatures within a material. Integrated over all directions, however, the net effects of absorption and emission are added to the source term  $S_T$ in the energy Eq. (8), thereby affecting local temperatures. There are several methods to account for the directional nature of the RTE. Referring to texts on radiation heat transfer for the details of their derivation [3], we will discuss some of them in Section 4.

# 3.5 Discretization Methods, Solution Algorithms, and Model Specifications

### 3.5.1 Finite Element and Control Volume Formulations

Several kinds of computational algorithms exist to solve for the field variable in Eq. (9). One category is known as the finite element method (FEM), where the field variable is assumed to have a functional form or shape over discrete portions of the problem domain. In finite element, the governing equations are multiplied by a weight function and then integrated over an element. The weight function can have various forms. As an example, with the Galerkin method, the weight function is the shape function itself. Another category is known as the CV method, where the problem domain is divided instead into a multitude of small volume elements, each characterized by a single, representative value for each relevant field variable. The conservation laws and fluxes are enforced on each CV, where transport or exchange across adjoining boundaries are determined with finite-difference estimates (usually, a truncated Taylor Series expansion based on unknown or estimated adjacent CV values) of the various derivatives in the governing equation. Whereas both of these numerical methods involve discretizing the problem domain into a multitude of elements or volumes that appear to be virtually the same, they are different as explained in detail in [7, 8]. Generally, more mathematics are involved with the FEM whereas the CV method, dealing with fluxes, can easily be associated with representations giving a physical significance to the problem.

### 3.5.2 Physical and Numerical Specifications

Once geometrical definition and meshing are done, simulation models are set up with various input

physical characteristics of the process, which in turn affect the degree to which field variables at neighboring grid cells (or mesh nodes) influence each other. Essential are material specifications and associated properties, such as viscosity (for fluids), thermal conductivity, density, specific heat, etc. Many software products have material properties defined for commonly used materials, which must be complemented for materials of interest not dealt with in the existing material database. Various boundary conditions such as flow rates, temperatures, and other state parameters at all flow inlets are other physical specifications to be included along with wall boundaries conditions, which could be, for example, a prescribed temperature, heat flux, or temperature-dependent heat flux.

Every portion of the boundary of the simulation domain requires a boundary condition for each transport equation considered. These conditions can be in the form of a prescribed field variable (e.g. temperature *T*), prescribed flux by definition proportional to the gradient of the field variable  $\left(\text{e.g. } q'' = -k_t \frac{\partial T}{\partial n}\right)$ , or a mixed condition where the flux depends on the field variable (e.g.  $q'' = h(T - T_c)$ ). Software products generally provide default values for many of these but, for best practice, much care is recommended to review and verify each boundary condition specification with a checklist. Experience has shown that unintended specifications can be the root cause of the frustrating experience of trying to resolve inconsistencies between simulation results and measured data and/or expectations.

In Table 1, model set up specifications for Step 4 are related to the numerical methodologies employed to render a solution. Examples include so-called underrelaxation coefficients (URCs), which are used to stabilize the evolution of iterative calculation procedures required to solve nonlinear problems. These coefficients are very important since many factors cause virtually all glassprocess simulations to be nonlinear.

URCs have values between 0 and 1, where 1 represents no under-relaxation and 0 does not allow the estimated field variable to change from one iteration to the next. In general, larger URC values thus allow for more rapid convergence, but divergence will occur instead if a URC is too high. Conversely, small values of URCs tend to be more robust but require many more iterations to satisfy convergence criteria. It remains a bit of an art to specify URCs, especially because optimal values can very much depend on other numerical specifications.

Additional specifications can include the manner in which advection terms are discretized, whether velocity components are solved consecutively as scalar components or coupled to one another, along with pressure, or if energy and radiation equations are solved in a coupled or uncoupled manner. Choosing these options can depend on the capabilities of the computer used as algorithms that couple equations require larger amounts of memory.

As just noted, prescribing numerical parameters is an art so that experience is required for an analyst to become efficient and develop realistic expectations. Nevertheless, many commercial software providers offer recommended or default values to begin a simulation. Most numerical parameters will not affect the converged solution, but only the time required to obtain the solution. However, some numerical schemes will provide more accurate results for a given mesh than others although their differences should become imperceptible with sufficient grid refinement. For example, a second-order upwind differencing scheme for advection terms will produce less "false diffusion" than a first-order upwind scheme [7].

# 4 Simulations in Glass Manufacturing Processes: A Few Examples

### 4.1 Fundamental Studies

As already stated, the importance of a particular phenomenon can be explored by numerical simulations in such a way that the mathematical treatment and/or its numerical implementation can be examined to assess the best way to account for the physical effects of interest. A good example of this approach was the early onedimensional study of Glicksman [9] of various physical effects on fiber formation. He formulated his model by manipulating the conservation equations (A)-(C) in Table 2, where glass velocity, filament diameter, and temperature were assumed to vary only in the axial direction of the fiber draw. This relatively simple model was very helpful in understanding the relative roles of glass viscosity and surface tension on fiber-forming dynamics, as well as the influences of radiative and convective cooling.

As computational resources grew, more sophisticated models were developed to explore further fiber-forming dynamics from 2-D axisymmetric models with free surface boundary conditions [10, 11]. Both steady-state and transient simulations were performed and revealed the onset of unstable forming conditions, which could lead to poor product quality and/or reduced process efficiency. A view of the deformed finite element mesh, representing fiber attenuation as it is drawn, is shown in Figure 3, whereas the excellent agreement found between numerical and experimental results of the fiber attenuation (Figure 4) illustrated the reliability of the method.



Figure 3 Deformed finite element mesh during a simulation of the drawing of a glass fiber. *Source: International Congress on Glass* [10].



**Figure 4** Fiber radius attenuation: comparison of numerical and experimental results for an extension ratio of 19 000. *Source: International Congress on Glass* [10].

Another study examined the manner in which radiation within a semitransparent glass is considered [12, 13]. It was performed in the context of a simplified glass furnace geometry. Because radiative energy is both absorbed and emitted volumetrically, this study examined two methods for accounting the radiative transport with equations (A)–(C) in Table 2. One method is the computationally convenient Rosseland approximation [3], in which one accounts for radiative transport by appropriately adjusting the thermal conductivity of glass; the other employs the discrete ordinates method (DOM) [3] to solve independently the radiative-transport Eq. (14), the results of which are then coupled to the energy Eq. (8) through source terms. The DOM requires significantly more computational effort and, thus, longer run times. For large models with millions of mesh cells/elements, the difference in run times can be significantly important. For many problems in glass processing, the Rosseland approximation will yield sufficiently accurate results but some situations require a more detailed accounting of the radiative transport. For example, if the refractory-wall temperatures are of interest to assess wear rates, then a DOM might be a better choice. Also, in forming operations, length scales associated with the forming apparatus may be significantly smaller than those for which the Rosseland approximation is valid. A modeling simulation aimed at assessing such fundamental matters is sometimes an appropriate ancillary simulation to perform. Both methods were investigated and compared in [12].

### 4.2 Glass Melting Furnace

### 4.2.1 Models

Relatively small simulation models provide a means to understand the behavior of an isolated part or function of a glass process, or to assess numerical treatments. However, many problems require the mutual interactions of several parts or processes to be considered simultaneously. A good example is a glass melting furnace, in which there exist several flow regimes, multimode heat transfer, physical and chemical reactions, and other related phenomena.

Modeling a glass melting tank provides a means to estimate the effects of many things contemplated by a glass maker. Simulations made with a properly constructed model can, for instance, assist in prescribing or changing the profiles of combustion burners, E-boost power zones, or bubbler flow rates. Changes in pull rate, insulation thickness or type, added wind cooling to outside walls, and surface treatments to alter emissivity of crown materials are just a few other examples of what can be considered with a furnace model.

The effects of various changes can be measured in different ways, too. The overall rate of energy consumption is often a key performance index (KPI). Other KPIs relate to the glass quality. For example, the distribution of residence times for material passing through the melting furnace is important to its operators because, with the shortest times, the material is least likely to have been fully conditioned and, thus, is most likely to have some sort of imperfection such as seeds or cords (Chapter 1.2). Other effects of interest include the maximum temperatures of various refractories, the shear stresses and other





conditions contributing to wear, the position of the batch line, and the strength of the backflow of glass against the batch layer.

$$B_i = \rho(T)g_i,\tag{16}$$

### 4.2.2 Interacting Zones

Within a complete furnace model (Figure 5), the common zones included are the glass melt, a batch cover and a foam layer both floating on the top surface of the glass, the hot combustion zone above the glass/batch/foam surface, and the wall zones enclosing the glass and combustion zones. Most of these zones are coupled to each other through exchange of mass, momentum, and energy. The governing equations, boundary conditions, and sources applied to each zone depend on the physical phenomena which occur within each of them, as well as the manner in which they are coupled to the others.

Glass flow in the melter is laminar so that Eqs. (1) and (5-7) apply. To account for the exponential dependence of viscosity upon temperature in a manner, the empirical Fulcher law is often used,

$$\mu = 10^{F_1 + \frac{F_2}{(T+F_3)}},\tag{15}$$

where  $F_1$ ,  $F_2$ , and  $F_3$  depend on the specific glass composition (Chapter 4.1).

Glass flow is forced to a certain extent by the introduction and melting of batch as well as by draining through the throat of the furnace. However, additional forces significantly affect flow patterns. Density changes caused by temperature variations give rise to buoyancy forces, which significantly affect flow patterns in the glass melt. These are accounted for through a body force, which is the last term on the right side of each momentum Eqs. (5)–(7). It is convenient and typical for one of the coordinate directions (e.g. the *z*-direction) to be aligned with the direction of gravity (or at least opposite to it), so that the body force in its respective momentum equation is represented as where  $\rho(T)$  is the local density evaluated at the local temperature and  $g_i$  represents gravitational acceleration in coordinate direction *i* (e.g.  $g_z = -9.806 \text{ m/s}^2$ ).

Although the glass is heated from above, which usually results in a stable, vertical temperature gradient, freshly melted material from the batch blanket is relatively cool and dense so that it provides a significant driving force for recirculation in the melt. These buoyancy-driven recirculation velocities can be an order of magnitude larger than those resulting from the forward flow of glass associated with the melter pull. Furthermore, lateral temperature gradients along sidewalls and electrodes provide additional density variations that alter the flow structure. Accounting for flow-inducing density variations thus is essential in the glass melt.

Bubblers also induce significant recirculation of glass caused by forced convection. Buoyancy forces acting on the bubbles cause them to rise, and in doing so, they drag glass upward along with them (Chapter 1.3). With sufficient multiphase modeling techniques, it is possible to track explicitly the flow of both glass and bubbles, but one commonly treats the effects of the glass bubbles more abstractly by applying a momentum source to the appropriate component of the momentum equation in the columnar region associated with each bubbler. That is, the source term will be augmented by a calculated force per unit volume based upon either Stokes' law or a modified version of it [14].

Another means of affecting glass flow is with mechanical stirrers. These can be accounted for in several ways including appropriately scaled volumetric-source terms or through basic boundary conditions where the motion of a wetted wall is prescribed.

Other walls, such as the sidewalls, floor, and electrode surfaces, are simply treated as nonslip boundaries where the fluid velocity is zero. Along the top surface, the glass interacts with the batch, foam and possibly the combustion fumes. Because of extreme density differences, the influences of foam and combustion fumes on the glass velocities are often assumed to be negligible. The interface between the batch and glass, however, represents a greater challenge, because the momentum exchange between these two zones is not considered negligible, and the interface itself can be difficult to define precisely. Moreover, the batch–glass interface is where freshly melted glass enters the glass domain from the batch layer. Commercial codes treat this interface in different ways. Because it is beyond our scope to cover the details, we will just note that this topic is an area of needed, ongoing development.

Equation (8) governs some of the energy transport in the glass and is the basis for which temperature distributions are determined. Sometimes an enthalpy formulation is used in place of Eq. (8) to couple intrinsically the batch and glass zones with a single equation governing energy transport, in which case temperatures are determined from enthalpy through an appropriate thermodynamic equation of state. Energy is also transported into and through the glass by electrical dissipation and thermal radiation. Joule dissipation is determined from the solution of equation (F) in Table 2. The rate of conversion of electrical energy to thermal energy is represented by the following:

$$E_I^{\prime\prime\prime} = \nabla E \cdot \vec{J} = k_{\rm e} \nabla E^2, \tag{17}$$

where  $\nabla E$  is the gradient in electric potential, J is the current flux density, and  $k_e$  is the temperature-dependent electrical conductivity of glass. The Joule dissipation calculated in this way is included in the source term,  $S_T$ , in the energy Eq. (8).

Thermal radiation is usually accounted for with the aforementioned Rosseland approximation. But a more detailed accounting of thermal radiation transport is possible with methods such as discrete ordinates, which can, for example, be used to resolve spectral characteristics. Other means are available [3].

The combustion zone above the glass is modeled with the same basic governing equations for momentum and energy conservation, but their application is different for a variety of reasons. Furthermore, transport equations for individual species and thermodynamic state relationships must be applied to account for the reaction of fuel and oxidizer and the creation of products of combustion.

Since the combustion zone is turbulent, all diffusion coefficients are replaced with effective values that account for diffusive-like transport. Hence, it is common to include the *k* and *e* equations (D and E in Table 2), from which  $\mu_t$  is determined. Another difference involves radiation for which the assumption of optically thick media required by the Rosseland approximation is not valid.

Use of discrete ordinates in combustion zones is common. The absorption coefficients required of the DOM depend on species concentrations, especially  $CO_2$  and  $H_2O$ , which must be determined from a combustion model that accounts for chemical reactions (i.e. the creation and destruction of molecular species) and the transport of the related species.

Through radiative and convective transport, the combustion gases heat virtually all surfaces, including the walls of the superstructure, the top of the batch layer, the foam, and the glass. Furthermore, these surfaces exchange heat through radiation, which is intrinsically included with a discrete ordinates model. Owing to nonlinearities and to the strong coupling between the various zones and between the various transport equations within a zone, a robust, iterative solver is required to converge on a solution. Typically, iterations are performed until conservation laws are satisfied to within 0.1%, whereas adjustments to URCs are sometimes required to improve convergence.

A model of a glass melting furnace must account for transport not only in the glass and combustion zones, but also within the batch, foam, and walls. Whereas all of these zones must obey the same basic laws of physics, their dissimilar material characteristics require different mathematical treatments. Perhaps the easiest to consider are the walls and other solid objects. The energy Eq. (C) (in Table 2) is applied without the advection term since velocities in the walls are zero. Equation (F) is in addition applied to account for electrical current and Joule heating with the assumption that the electric potential is uniform within an electrode, since its electrical conductivity is orders of magnitude larger than that of any other material.

The batch and foam require additional considerations. Considering first the foam, there are many questions to ask. Where does it exist? How thick is it? Does it absorb radiation from the combustion zone and crown, or does it transmit such radiation? What is the gaseous species within the liquid glass membrane? How large are the foam cells? All of these and other factors will affect transport so that choosing a modeling method presents a significant challenge.

One way to deal with foam is to invoke several simplifying assumptions allowing adjustments based on foam conditions, without requiring detailed information regarding its phenomenological behavior. For example, foam can be treated as a layer of material that acts to impede heat transfer between combustion and glass zones, but ignores advection transport within it. A relatively small number of parameters can be used to characterize the thermal behavior of the foam, which can be adjusted, within reason, to render a well-tuned model.

A similar set of questions arises when considering the batch. Whereas the foam is a two-phase mixture of liquid membranes enclosing gas cells, the batch is a multiphase mixture of solid particles, with interstitial gas and liquid, whose proportions depend on temperature. Unlike in the foam, advective energy transport within the batch zone cannot be ignored without large compromises such that, therefore, the velocity field within the batch layer must be computed. A common way to accomplish it is to treat the batch as a pseudo-fluid with a characteristic viscosity that depends on temperature. The batch is assumed to float on top of the glass and to provide an inflow of melt whenever the temperature at its interface with the glass achieves or exceeds a specified temperature where melting occurs. In this way, the batch zone is treated as another fluid zone governed by equations similar to those of the glass. In addition to providing an inlet flow of melt to the glass zone, the batch zone also produces a small amount of gases into the combustion zone because of the chemical reactions that occur upon melting.

The model described in the preceding paragraphs is an example of a powerful tool constructed from well-defined assumptions and mathematical abstractions. It is summarized in Table 3, which indicates for each zone of the furnace the governing equations and interactions with other zones. The required boundary conditions and other physical parameters needed to specify the operating conditions are summarized in Table 4 where a "coupled" condition indicates an internal boundary condition between two zones where the field variable and associated flux are forced to be the same. In addition, many numerical parameters must be specified in such a way as to bring about a converged solution that satisfies the various conservation principles. Modeling procedures and material properties for glass are discussed in greater detail elsewhere [15].

### 4.2.3 Post-processing Assessments

One gains additional insights by displaying the computed field variables in a graphical form. A common illustration is a temperature-contour plot, sometimes with flow streaks superimposed. A 3-D rendering of a glass melting furnace (Figure 6.), for instance, clearly shows the batch layer that melts at the glass surface and the flame developing from the rear wall, the extent of these zones being important operational characteristics. An alternative to horizontal flames is presented in Figure 7, where the pair of flames from oxy-fuel burners yield the temperature contours and flow streaks shown for a cross-section of the combustion zone. The fuel and oxidizer react as they flow downward from their nozzles mounted in the furnace crown, and the resulting flame directly impinges on the batch and promotes improved melting efficiency. Similar plots can be drawn on different sections or in different orientations within combustion or glass zones. Furthermore, contour plots of electric potential, Joule dissipation, oxygen concentration, or other field variables can be made directly from the computed solution to provide important insights, especially when comparisons are made between plots drawn for differing possible operating conditions.

Other important information can be gleaned from a converged simulation. For example, quantified values of the energy transfers between the zones illustrated in Figure 5 can be extracted from the simulation results. Examining and comparing these values is very insightful, as it can draw the attention to various things such as how the batch is melted and the sources of inefficiency.

Other quantifiable data that can be directly extracted from a model solution include operating currents and potentials of electrodes, average glass temperature, total volume of batch layer, and temperatures at prescribed

Table 3 Interacting zones of a complete glass melting-furnace model.

			Zone couplings					
Zone	Equations (Table 2)	Radiation treatment	Glass	Batch	Foam	Walls	Combustion	
Glass	A,B,C,F	Rosseland						
Batch	A,B,C,F	Surface emissivity	Mass, momentum, energy, electric current					
Foam	С	Surface emissivity and transparency	Energy	Energy				
Walls	<i>C</i> ,F	Surface emissivity	Energy, electric current	Energy, electric current	Energy			
Combustion	A,B,C,D,E,G	DOM	Energy	Mass, energy	Energy	Energy		
			Glass	Batch	Foam	Walls	Combustion	